
Location: 

WASHOE COUNTY COMMISSION CHAMBERS    
1001 E. 9TH Street, Bldg. A, Reno 
Date/Time: 9:00 AM, Friday, October 21, 2022 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

I. The Washoe County Commission Chamber is accessible to individuals with disabilities. Requests for
auxiliary aids to assist individuals with disabilities should be made with as much advance notice as
possible. For those requiring hearing or speech assistance, contact Relay Nevada at 1-800-326-6868
(TTY, VCO or HCO). Requests for supporting documents and all other requests should be directed to
Denise Thompson at 775-348-0400 and you will receive a response within five business days.
Supporting documents may also be found on the RTC website: www.rtcwashoe.com.

II. This meeting will be televised live and replayed on RTC’s YouTube channel at:
bit/ly/RTCWashoeYouTube, and on the Washoe Channel at:
www.washoecounty.us/mgrsoff/Communications/wctv-live.php

III. Members of the public in attendance at the meeting may provide public comment (limited to three
minutes) after filling out a request to speak form at the meeting. Members of the public may also
provide public comment by one of the following methods: (1) submitting comments via online Public
Comment Form (www.rtcwashoe.com/about/contact/contact-form/); (2) emailing comments to:
rtcpubliccomments@rtcwashoe.com; or (3) leaving a voicemail (limited to three minutes) at (775) 335-
0018. Comments received prior to 4:00 p.m. on the day preceding the meeting will be entered into the
record.

IV. The Commission may combine two or more agenda items for consideration and/or may remove an
item from the agenda or delay discussion relating to an item on the agenda at any time.

V. The supporting materials for the meeting will be available at www.rtcwashoe.com/meetings/. In
addition, a member of the public may request supporting materials electronically from Michelle Kraus
at the following email address: mkraus@rtcwashoe.com.

1. Call to Order
1.1. Roll Call
1.2. Pledge of Allegiance
1.3. Special Recognitions

1.3.1. Proclamation - Recognizing Neoma Jardon for her efforts as former RTC Chair 
1.3.2. Congratulations to Keolis Employee of the Month - Mrs. Cheryl Player 
1.3.3. Congratulations to MTM Employee of the Month - Mr. Tommie Paris 

2. Public Comment
Public comment taken under this item may pertain to matters both on and off the agenda. The
Chair may take public comment on a particular item on the agenda at the time it is discussed.
Comments are to be made to the Board as a whole and not to individual commissioners.

http://www.rtcwashoe.com/
http://www.washoecounty.us/mgrsoff/Communications/wctv-live.php
mailto:mkraus@rtcwashoe.com


 
3. Approval of Agenda (For Possible Action) 

 
4. Consent Items (For Possible Action) 

4.1. Minutes 
4.1.1. Approve 08/19/22 Draft Meeting Minutes (For Possible Action) 
4.1.2. Approve 09/16/22 Draft Meeting Minutes (For Possible Action) 
4.1.3. Approve 10/13/22 Draft Special Meeting Minutes (For Possible Action) 

 
4.2. Reports 

4.2.1. Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.2. Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.3. Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report (For Possible 
Action) 

4.2.4. Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations 
Report (For Possible Action) 

 
4.3. Planning Department 

4.3.1. Approve an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with the Board of Regents, Nevada 
System of Higher Education, on behalf of the University of Nevada, Reno, for the 
Multimodal Traffic Data LiDAR Study and Analysis, in the amount of $100,000 
(For Possible Action) 

 
4.4. Engineering Department 

4.4.1. Approve a contract with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., to provide design 
services and optional engineering during construction for the Sparks Intelligent 
Corridor (IC) project on Sparks Boulevard and Vista Boulevard in an amount not 
to exceed $780,625 (For Possible Action) 

4.4.2. Approve a contract with Nichols Consulting Engineers, CHTD., to provide design 
services and optional engineering during construction for the North Virginia 
Street University Rehab Project, in an amount not to exceed $478,819.50 (For 
Possible Action) 

4.4.3. Approve a contract with Eastern Sierra Engineering to provide design services 
and optional engineering during construction for the Stanford Way Rehabilitation 
Project from Greg Street to Glendale Avenue in an amount not to exceed 
$451,635 (For Possible Action) 

4.4.4. Approve the proposed sale of a remnant parcel acquired in connection with the 
Moana Lane Widening Project (APN# 020-051-02) to an adjoining property 
owner and adopt a resolution required by NRS 277A.255(1)(b) (For Possible 
Action) 

 
4.5. Executive, Administrative and Finance Department 

4.5.1. Approve revenue contract with State of Nevada allowing the Department of 
Public Health - Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) to purchase bus 
passes from RTC (For Possible Action) 
 
 



 
 

4.5.2. Approve a contract with Kaempfer Crowell, LTD, for Nevada government affairs 
services in an amount not-to-exceed $65,000 per year for two years (For Possible 
Action) 

 
5. Discussion Items and Presentations  

5.1. Acknowledge receipt of a report on the update to the Vision Zero Truckee Meadows 
Action Plan and RTC Transportation Safety Program (For Possible Action) 

5.2. Update, discussion, and potential direction to staff regarding legislative issues being 
reviewed by the Nevada Sustainable Transportation Funding Study for the 82nd Session 
of the Nevada Legislature (Informational Only) 

5.3. Acknowledge receipt of a report on the status of the McCarran Boulevard Corridor Study 
(For Possible Action) 

 
6. Reports (Informational Only) 

6.1. Executive Director Report 
6.2. Federal Report 
6.3. NDOT Report 

 
7. Commissioner Announcements and Updates 

Announcements and updates to include requests for information or topics for future agendas. No 
deliberation or action will take place on this item. 

 
8. Public Comment 

Public comment taken under this item may pertain to matters both on and off the agenda. The 
Chair may take public comment on a particular item on the agenda at the time it is discussed. 
Comments are to be made to the Board as a whole and not to individual commissioners. 

 
9. Adjournment 

 
Posting locations: RTC, 1105 Terminal Way, Reno, NV, RTC website: www.rtcwashoe.com, State website: https://notice.nv.gov/ 

https://notice.nv.gov/


���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

� �� !"#$%�&�$#'("�&$&!"#�)"**!''!"#�+$',"��)"-#&./�#�0$1$��2�!1$.� 3455�$6*6� $7879:�;3/�<5<<��(��'�#&4� �=�%>?9@A/�*>B@C�@D�'E>CF9/�0GHI�)J>GC�0>78JA�,>C:7A8/�+>9J@I�)@7A:B�)@KKG99G@AIC�,GLL>CB�'JGIMI/�*>B@C�@D��IA@�N>CCGMI=�>:�34;<O�P@Q�%7HIB/�+>9J@I�)@7A:B�)@KKG99G@AIC�NMG>�:ILIEJ@AIO�P@AAGI�+IQIC/��IA@�)G:B�)@7AHGL�*IKQIC/�N$L:ICA>:IO��PGLL�&J@K>9/��&)��RIH7:GMI�1GCIH:@C�$=>K�'EI>C/�%I8>L�)@7A9IL�SCG9:GA>�'?>LL@?/�1GCIH:@C�@D�#1"&���TUV�WVXYZ[W�\]̂_UZ̀�\VV_âXb�UVZc�â�_UV�dU[\eVWf�]g�_UV�h[fU]V�d]Ŷ_̀�d]\\affa]̂b�ijji�kl�m_U�n_WVV_b�oV̂]b�pVq[c[b�r[f�s[ZZVc�_]�]WcVW�è�tasV�dU[aW�u[rf]̂l��v]ZZ]râX�_UV�W]ZZ�s[ZZ�[̂c�_UV�wZVcXV�]g�xZZVXa[̂sV�_]�_UV�vZ[X�]g�]YW�s]Ŷ_Ẁb�_UV�y][Wc�s]̂cYs_Vc�_UV�g]ZZ]râX�eYfâVffz��x�WV{YVf_�r[f�\[cV�è�oTd�|V̂VW[Z�d]ŶfVZ�_]�\]qV�}_V\�~�_]�s]\V�eVg]WV�}_V\�il��]̂�_UV�[XV̂c[�[f�}_V\�il��r[f�rWa__V̂�[f�[̂�[s_a]̂�a_V\l��}_V\�il�� n�Vsa[Z�oVs]X̂a_a]̂fz����d]̂XW[_YZ[_a]̂f�_]��T��k\�Z]̀VV�]g�_UV��]̂_U����Wl��VfYf�}�{YaVWc]���d]̂XW[_YZ[_a]̂f�_]��V]Zaf�k\�Z]̀VV�]g�_UV��]̂_U����Wl��]U[\\Vc�n[Wr[W���������� ��������������dU[aW�u[rf]̂�]�V̂Vc�_UV�\VV_âX�_]��YeZas�â�Y_�[̂c�s[ZZVc�]̂�[̂ ]̀̂V�rafUâX�_]�f�V[��]̂�_]�asf�WVZVq[̂_�_]�_UV�oVXa]̂[Z�TW[̂f�]W_[_a]̂�d]\\affa]̂��oTd��_U[_�[WV�̂]_�âsZYcVc�â�_UV�sYWWV̂_�[XV̂c[l������Wl�d[WZ]f�kZa�]̂c]b�Z]s[Z�WVfacV̂_b�[ccWVffVc�_UV�y][Wc�_]�fYXXVf_�_U[_�o]Y_V�m�X]�è�_UV�U]f�a_[Zl���V�[Zf]�fYXXVf_Vc�_U[_�̂Vr�cWaqVWf�faX̂�[�s]̂_W[s_�WV{YaWâX�_UV\�_]�f_[̀�ra_U�oTd�g]W�]̂V�̀V[W�g]ZZ]râX�_W[ââXl��u[f_Z̀b�UV�V��WVffVc�s]\�Z[â_f�[e]Y_�_UV�sZV[̂ZâVff�]g��_U�n_WVV_�n_[_a]̂l��TUVWV�eVâX�̂]�]̂V�VZfV�rafUâX�_]�f�V[�b�_UV�tasV�dU[aW�sZ]fVc��YeZas�â�Y_l��}_V\�il�� kZVs_�[�s]\\affa]̂VW�_]�gaZZ�_UV�q[s[̂_�]ggasV�]g�dU[aW�_UW]YXU��VsV\eVW��ib�~j~~b�[̂c��]ffaeZ̀�VZVs_�[�s]\\affa]̂VW�_]�gaZZ�_UV�]ggasV�]g�tasV�dU[aW�ag�_UV�sYWWV̂_�tasV�dU[aW�af�VZVs_Vc�_]�gaZZ�_UV�q[s[̂_�]ggasV�]g�dU[aW���������� ¡¢£�¤¥¦ �§̈��
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� �����
��

��� !" #�$%&��%'(�)*�+%* ,�-./"(0(�! �%11 "#!�!/(�.2,,(#!�3".(�4/%",5�6'�7%$& #5�! �8298"99�4 ��"&&" #(,�:%,' #;&�1 &"!" #� 8�4/%",�!/, 2</�=(.(�)(,�>?5�@A@@B��C/(�� !" #�$%&�&(. #'('�)*�4 ��"&&" #(,�D%,!2#<B���������� !" #�$%&��%'(�)*�+%* ,�-./"(0(�! �%11 "#!�4 ��"&&" #(,�D%,!2#<�! �!/(�1 &"!" #� 8�3".(�4/%",�2#!"9�=(.(�)(,�>?5�@A@@B��C/(�� !" #�$%&�&(. #'('�)*�4 ��"&&" #(,�E()(,B��3".(�4/%",�D%,!2#<�%&F('�"8�%# !/(,�(9(.!" #�$"99�)(�,(G2",('�%!�!/(�(#'� 8�!/(�*(%,B��HC4�I(#(,%9�4 2#&(9�. #8",�('�!/%!�%# !/(,�(9(.!" #�$"99�)(�,(G2",('5�/(�)(9"(0(&�"#�=(.(�)(,B����JKLM�N�� OPPQRSOT�RU�OVWXYO��Z#�� !" #� 8�4 ��"&&" #(,�-./"(0(5�&(. #'('�)*�4 ��"&&" #(,�E()(,5�$/"./�� !" #�2#%#"� 2&9*�.%,,"('5�4/%",�7%$& #� ,'(,('�!/%!�!/(�%<(#'%�8 ,�!/"&��((!"#<�)(�%11, 0('B��JKLM[�\]̂�K_̀a�\]̂b�cRXdWXe�JeWfd�� fghaKL[�ijk� lmmnopq�rstuvqw�ox�vyq�zu{|�k}~�����~��qqvst���U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h���QL��̀K[�ij�� l��to�{q��q�nq�qsmv�ox�vyq��otvy{|��{�ttst��l�vspsv|��qmonv��U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h��ij�� l��to�{q��q�nq�qsmv�ox�vyq��otvy{|��t�stqqnst��l�vspsv|��qmonv��U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h��iji� l��to�{q��q�nq�qsmv�ox�vyq��otvy{|��u�{s���n�twmonv�vsot��mqn�vsotw�l�vspsv|��qmonv��U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h��ij}� l��to�{q��q�nq�qsmv�ox�vyq��otvy{|��no�unq�qtv�l�vspsv|��qmonv��U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h��ij�� l��to�{q��q�nq�qsmv�ox�vyq��otvy{|��u���n|��qmonv�xon�vyq��q�yts��{~��svs�qtw�ru{vs�o��{~��t���q�sot�{��o�����m��v��qq�l�pswon|��o��svvqqw��U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h���P��hhgh��YL��̀KMLhK�ij�� lmmnopq����ut�st�� qvvqn�ox�l�nqq�qtv��svy�vyq��{��qn��outv|��n�twmonv�vsot��{�ttst��l�qt�|�¡����l¢�xon�wummonv�ox�vyq����n��qtvo�vo��qto��qnps�q��{�ttst���vu�|~�st��t���outv�tov£vo£q¤�qq��¥¦~k��� ��U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h���Wh�ghLL̀gh��YL��̀KMLhK�ij§� lmmnopq����otvn��v��svy�̈oo���o��qnw~��t�j~�vo�mnops�q�mnq{s�st�n|�©qws�t��t��ª��l�wqnps�qw~��t��omvsot�{�xst�{��qws�t��t��qt�stqqnst���unst���otwvnu�vsot�wqnps�qw�xon�vyq��ouvy�«sn�sts���vnqqv�¬uw��t{|� �tq�xno��ro�t�� �tq�vo�tonvy�ox�qtvn|�̈�|�st��t���outv�tov£vo£q¤�qq��¥�~i�k~¦�}��U�̀�P�[[g��L�O�Kg�h���
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

� !� "##$%&'�(�)%*+$()+�,-+.�/%%0�1%02'$34�5*) 4�+%�#$%&-0'�0'3-2*�3'$&-)'3�(*0�%#+-%*(6�'*2-*''$-*2�07$-*2�)%*3+$7)+-%*�8%$�+.'�9%7+.�:'(0%,3�;$(88-)�<*.(*)'='*+3�>$%?')+�-*�(*�(=%7*+�*%+@+%@'A)''0�BCDE4F�G�HIJK�LJMMNOPQ�RSTNJUV�� DG�"7+.%$-W'�(�$'X7'3+�8%$�#$%#%3(63�8%$�+.'�$-2.+@%8@,(Y�3'$&-)'3�$'6(+'0�+%�+.'�:-66�9+$''+�/-0'*-*2�>$%?')+�HIJK�LJMMNOPQ�RSTNJUV�� �LZOPNS�[K\UM]JKT\TNJÛ_]QK\TNJUM�̀Q]\KTaQUT�� DD�"##$%&'�(*�5*+'$6%)(6�b%%#'$(+-&'�"2$''='*+�,-+.�+.'�c'&(0(�d'#($+='*+�%8�;$(*3#%$+(+-%*�+%�$')'-&'�(*0�73'�b%*2'3+-%*�:-+-2(+-%*�(*0�"-$�e7(6-+Y�fb:"eg�(*0�97$8()'�;$(*3#%$+(+-%*�h6%)i�j$(*+�f9;hjg�8'0'$(6�87*03�-*�(*�(=%7*+�*%+@+%@'A)''0�BE4EkG4GGG�8%$�+.'�1'2-%*(6�;$(*3#%$+(+-%*�b%==-33-%*�f1;bg�;$-#�1'07)+-%*�>$%2$(=�HIJK�LJMMNOPQ�RSTNJUV�� �lmQSZTNnQo�RpaNUNMTK\TNnQ�\Up�INU\USQ�̀Q]\KTaQUTM�� DE�")i*%,6'02'�$')'-#+�%8�+.'�5*&'3+='*+�b%==-++''�$'#%$+�8%$�+.'�X7($+'$�'*0'0�q7*'�rG4�EGEE�HIJK�LJMMNOPQ�RSTNJUV��st�uvwxvt�vy�z{|v}�~��x��������vt�����|��vuux��xvt�}�����|����x���uvwxvt��{}}x����t{txuv���|����{x}��{��vt�v}��}���w�{w��vt��tw��w�u������w�}v������������{��}v�������TQa������T�KZ����� �̀������_���[l���R�̀ �L�l�l�[R[�_����C D� ")i*%,6'02'�$')'-#+�%8�(*�7#0(+'�$'2($0-*2�+.'�:-66�9+$''+�/-0'*-*2�>$%?')+�HIJK�LJMMNOPQ�RSTNJUV����{x}��{��vt�v��t���w���u��wxt��wv�����x��xt��w�{t���{�����vt�{t|vt���x��xt��wv����{��vt��w�u� �����z}��¡{��{}|�¢���t��}��}���twxt��£v��}w�¢���t�¤vv���¥�~�{���{��}������w���¦v{}��wv�u�twxvt�w�{w��x��w�}����{}�����{}��xt�������xt�w����vw�twx{���uxt�tw��vu{xt�yv}�w���zx���~w}��w�¤}v§��w���̈��x��tvw�v��v����wv�w����}v§��w����w��{���v�xt��wv��vtwxt���v��}{wxt���x�����xt����xt�w�x���v�{wxvt�xy�{w�{����v��x������©��}����xt��tv�vt��������x��xt��wv����{���w�����{x}���v��������x��xt��w���z}��ª{���«����}��£©��ªx}��wv}�vy�¬t�xt��}xt����{���{��}���tw{wxvt�vt�w�����}}�tw��w{w���vy�w����}v§��w���©���u{xt��v{���vy�w�x���}v§��w�{}���{y�w|�{t��w�����xuxt{wxvt�vy��vt���wxvt���©��}���{������t�t�u�}v����xyy�}�tw�w|����vy����x�����}{������xw��vw��}����x�������x�|��x�w��{t�������w}x{t��{���{�vt��w����v}}x�v}���̈��w��t���w{x�����vu��vy�w�����{tt�����{t�����xt����xt���x�|�����{t���{�vt��w����v}}x�v}���¤}v��}w|�v�t�}��xt�v�����xt�w����}v��}w|�{��x�xwxvt���x������w}�{w���xt�{�y{x}�{t����xw{����u{tt�}�{t������}v�x�����xw��}��v�{wxvt�{��x�w{t�����£©���x���yv��v��w���®txyv}u�¢�w����x���x��w���y���}{���v�x�|��t��}���x���£©��x���v��}t�����̄v}u{��tvwxyx�{wxvt���x�������}v�x����xt�y{���vy��°���v}��{}�|�
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

� �!"��#$%&'()*'+$%�+&�,-.%%/0�1$(�&)22/(�$1�� �3"��4,$%�*$%*-)&+$%5�6("�7/--/(�$11/(/0�'$�.%&8/(�.%9�:)/&'+$%&"��;+*/�#<.+(�=.(')%>�.&?/0�6("�7/--/(�'$�&<$8�$%�'</�2.,�8</(/�6("�@--/%A&�,($,/('9�+&�-$*.'/0"��6("�7/--/(�&<$8/0�'</�-$*.'+$%�$%�'</�2.,�.%0�/B,-.+%/0�'<.'�.�&+>%.-+C/0�+%'/(&/*'+$%�+&�,-.%%/0�1$(�'<.'�-$*.'+$%"��;+*/�#<.+(�=.(')%>�8.%'&�'$�2.?/�&)(/�,($,/('9�$8%/(&�.(/�2.0/�8<$-/"��6("�7/--/(�'</%�/B,-.+%/0�'</�4%+1$(2�@*'�.%0�8<.'�+&�+%D$-D/0�'$�2.?/�,($,/('9�$8%/(&�.&�8<$-/�.&�,$&&+E-/"��@�,($,/('9�.*:)+&+'+$%�&,/*+.-+&'�8+--�E/�<+(/0�1$(�'<+&�,($F/*'"��G"H"�I<$2.&�.00/0�'<.'�'</�-.&'�'<+%>�'</�JI#�8.%'&�+&�'$�1$(*/�'</�.*:)+&+'+$%�$1�.%9�,($,/('95�&$�JI#�8+--�*$%'+%)/�'$�<.D/�0+&*)&&+$%&�.%0�E/�&/%&+'+D/�'$�,($,/('9�$8%/(&�%//0&5�.-$%>�8+'<�'</�,($F/*'�%//0&"��#$22+&&+$%/(�K/E/(�+&�*$%*/(%/0�.E$)'�<$8�2.%9�*$%D/(&.'+$%&�<.D/�.-(/.09�'.?/%�,-.*/5�$(�%$'"��6("�7/--/(�(/&,$%0/0�'<.'�*$%D/(&.'+$%&�<.D/�.-(/.09�E/>)%"��6.9$(�L*<+/D/�.&?/0�8<.'�'</�'+2/-+%/�+&�.%0�6("�7/--/(�(/D+/8/0�/.*<�&'/,5�&'.'+%>�.>.+%�'<.'�*$%&'()*'+$%�+&�,-.%%/0�1$(�&)22/(�$1�� �3"��6.9$(�L*<+/D/�.&?/0�8</%�*$%D/(&.'+$%&�E/>.%�8+'<�,($,/('9�$8%/(&"��6("�7/--/(�(/&,$%0/0�'<.'�*$%D/(&.'+$%&�E/>.%�+%�M)-9"��N%�2$'+$%�$1�6.9$(�L*<+/D/5�&/*$%0/0�E9�;+*/�#<.+(�=.(')%>5�8<+*<�2$'+$%�*.((+/0�)%.%+2$)&-95�#<.+(�O.8&$%�$(0/(/0�'<.'�(/*/+,'�$1�'</�(/,$('�E/�.*?%$8-/0>/0"��PQR�STTUVWX�SYXZ[YXZ\�]̂_�\V�\̀X�aVZ\Uba\�cVU�VTXUb\dVZ�bZ[�YbdZ\XZbZaX�Vc�TbUb\UbZed\�bZ[�VZf[XYbZ[�\UbZed\�eXUWdaXe�gd\̀�hih�iUbZed\j�kklj�\V�dZaUXbeX�\̀X�mXWXZnX�oX̀dapX�qVnU�mb\X�cVU�ZVUYbp�eXUWdaX�dZ�\̀X�cdUe\�\gV�VT\dVZ�rXbUe�\V�stuQPv�dZ�wxRy�bZ[�stzQvv�dZ�wxRPj�dZaUXbeX�\̀X�wd{X[�hVZ\̀pr�|brYXZ\�dZ�\̀X�cdUe\�\gV�VT\dVZ�rXbUe�\V�su}juyt�dZ�wxRy�bZ[�s}_jz}R�dZ�wxRPj�bZ[�UX[naX�\̀X�aVZ\Uba\nbp�dZenUbZaX�UX~ndUXYXZ\e�\V�YXX\�dZ[ne\Ur�e\bZ[bU[e��bn\̀VUd�X�\̀X��{Xan\dWX��dUXa\VU�\V�X{XUadeX�mil�e�VT\dVZ�cVU�\̀X�cdUe\�\gV�VT\dVZ�rXbUe������������������������6("�#<(+&'+.%�L<$%-.)5�JI#�H+(/*'$(�$1��+%.%*/�.%0�#�N5�.00(/&&/0�'</��$.(0�'$�<+><-+><'�&$2/�1.*'$(&�+2,.*'+%>�*$&'&�$1�*$%'(.*'&�1$(�'</�JI#"���%1-.'+$%�+&�.'�.�3 �9/.(�<+><�.%0�'</(/�.(/�*$%'+%)/0�&),,-9�*<.+%�&<$('.>/&5�-.E$(�&<$('.>/&5�/'*"5�8<+*<�</.D+-9�+2,.*'&�'</�E+0&�(/*/+D/0"���
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

� !��" #��"$%&'()�*+,�-. '/0% �%1�234$./�+ "&56% 0"0.%&�"&7�86' "0.%&5)�09'&�"77 '55'7�09'�:%" 7�0%�7.5/355�09'�9.50% (�"&7�63 6%5'�%1�09'�';0'&5.%&�4'.&<�6 %6%5'7!��='�';6$".&'7�9%>��+��>% #'7�>.09�09'�*+,�0%�#''6�"5�?"&(�7 .@' 5�'?6$%('7�>.09� '73/'7�0 .65�/"35'7�4(�,8AB-� '50 ./0.%&5�"&7�"$5%�>% #'7�>.09�*+,�0%�4"/#1.$$�%6' "0.%&"$�59% 0"<'5�%&/'�,8AB-� '50 ./0.%&5�4'<"&�0%�$.10!��*+,�/%&0 "/0'7�>.09�C4' )�D(10�"&7�0";.�5' @./'5�0%�5366% 0�09'�4"/#1.$$�&''75!����B&�/$%5.&<)�� !�E/9%&$"3�"77 '55'7�09'�:%" 7�0%� '?.&7�09'?�09"0�634$./�0 "&56% 0"0.%&�.5�13&7'7�4(�$%/"$�5"$'5�0";)�>9./9�.5�&%0�"$>"(5�50"4$')�5%�*+,�?350�"$>"(5�#''6�09"0�.&�?.&7!����8&�?%0.%&�%1�A./'�,9". �=" 03&<)�5'/%&7'7�4(�,%??.55.%&' �D3/'()�>9./9�?%0.%&�/"  .'7�3&"&.?%35$()�,9". �D">5%&�% 7' '7�09"0�F?'&7?'&0�GHI�0%�09'�/%&0 "/0�1% �%6' "0.%&�"&7�?".&0'&"&/'�%1�6" "0 "&5.0�"&7�%&J7'?"&7�0 "&5.0�5' @./'5�>.09��+��+ "&5.0)�DD,)�4'�"66 %@'7!��KLM�NOOPQRS�NTSUVTSUW�XM�WQ�WYS�ZQUWP[ZW�\QP�QOSP[W]QU�[UV�T[]UWSU[UZS�Q\�\]̂SV_PQ̀WS�WP[Ua]W�aSPR]ZSa�b]WY�cSQd]a�eP[Ua]W�fSPR]ZSag�hhig�WQ�]UZPS[aS�WYS�jSRSÙS�kSY]ZdS�lQ̀P�j[WS�\QP�UQPT[d�aSPR]ZS�[UV�aOSZ][dmŜWP[�aSPR]ZS�]U�n[aS�oS[P�p�WQ�qrsLsM�]U�touMg�[UV�]U�WYS�\]PaW�WYPSS�QOW]QU�vS[Pa�WQ�qrKLsw�]U�toupg�qrrLpM�]U�touKg�[UV�qrwLrs�]U�touxy�[̀WYQP]zS�WYS�{̂SZ̀W]RS�|]PSZWQP�WQ�ŜSPZ]aS�jei}a�QOW]QU�\QP�WYS�\]PaW�WYPSS�QOW]QU�vS[Pa�~������������������������ !�,9 .50."&�E9%&$"3)�*+,�-. '/0% �%1��.&"&/'�"&7�,�8)�"77 '55'7�09'�:%" 7�0%�50"0'�09"0�9.5�6 '@.%35�/%??'&05�3&7' �B0'?��!��"$5%�6' 0".&�0%�B0'?��!��"&7�09'� '$"0'7�/%&0 "/0�4'.&<�7.5/355'7!��� !��" #��"$%&'()�*+,�-. '/0% �%1�234$./�+ "&56% 0"0.%&�"&7�86' "0.%&5)�09'&�"77 '55'7�09'�:%" 7�"&7�50"0'7�09"0�09'��'%$.5�+ "&5.0�E' @./'5)�DD,)�9"5�"�HIJ('" �/%&0 "/0�>.09�"��J('" �4"5'�"&7�0>%��J('" �';0'&5.%&5!��E0"11�.5� '�3'50.&<�09"0�09'�1. 50�%60.%&�0%�';0'&7�4'�"66 %@'7�"$%&<�>.09�09'� '$"0'7�>"<'�"7�350?'&05�1% �5' @./'�9%3 � "0'5!��='�09'&�<"@'�"�9.50% (�%1�09'. �6' 1% ?"&/'�"&7�09'�< '"0�.?6 %@'?'&05�09"0�9"@'�4''&�?"7'�"10' �,8AB-� '50 ./0.%&5�'"5'7�"&7�7.5/355.%&5�09"0�0%%#�6$"/'�>.09�*+,!��C6%&�/%&/$35.%&)�� !��"$%&'(�%11' '7�1% �9'�"&7�� !�E/9%&$"3�0%�"&5>' �"&(��3'50.%&5!���!-!�+9%?"5�"77'7�09"0�9'�7%'5&�0�09.&#�"&(%&'�9"5�4''&�5"0.51.'7�>.09�09'�6 '@.%35� '$"0.%&59.65�4'0>''&�*+,)�09'�+'"?50' 5�C&.%&�"&7��'%$.5!��='�09"&#'7�09'��" (��"05%&)�,9 .5��3�3"�1 %?�09'�+'"?50' 5�C&.%&)�"&7��.#'�F#'�1 %?��'%$.5�1% �09'. �>.$$.&<&'55�0%�>% #�%&�"�/%&0 "/0� '5%$30.%&!����='�"$5%�?'&0.%&'7�09"0�09'�3&.%&�9"7�4''&�"5#'7�0%�7 "10�"�$.50�%1�.0'?5�4'.&<� '�3'50'7)�>9./9�09'(�7.7!�B0�>"5�.&�"�$'00' �1% ?"0)�>9./9�>"5�<.@'&�0%�09'�/$' #)�"&7�09'&�"5#'7�09'�:%" 7�09"0�09'�$'00' �4'�/%&5.7' '7�"5�6" 0�%1�09'�/%&0 "/0�<%.&<�1% >" 7!����A./'�,9". �=" 03&<�"5#'7�.1��'%$.5�9"5�09'�5"?'�?"&"<'?'&0�0'"?�% �"�&'>�%&'!��� !��"$%&'(�50"0'7�09"0�.0�9"5�"$$�&'>�?"&"<'?'&0�>9%�>"&0�0%�/9"&<'�09.&<5�"&7�?"#'�.?6 %@'?'&05�1% �'@' (%&'�.&@%$@'7!���
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

� !"�#$% &�'%&()*+�($"*�%,-".�%/0)(�($"�+& "1%*!",�%*.�$02�3%*4�0!!)&&".�5& 0&�(0�($"�6%,(�" +$(�30*($,7����8&7�8%60*"4�,% .�($"&"�2"&"�9:�56),�%*.� *�($"�6%,(�" +$(�30*($,�($"&"�$%1"�/""*�; 1"7��8%40&�<!$ "1"�%,-".�2$%(�/"*!$3%&-,�2 66�/"�5)(� *(0�56%!"�%*.�2$%(�2%,�($"�. ;;"&"*!"�/"(2""*�($"�*"+0( %( 0*,�2 ($�8=8�%*.�*"+0( %( 0*,�2 ($�>"06 ,�2$"*�($"�,%3"�="%3,("&,�?* 0*�&"5&","*(%( 1",�2"&"� *1061".7��<$"�20)6.�6 -"� (�(0�/"�!6"%&�;0&�($"�5)/6 !7��8&7�8%60*"4�&"3 *.".�($"�@0%&.�($%(�A=#�2%,�*0(� *1061".� *�($"�*"+0( %( 0*,B�/)(�2$%(�2%,�. ;;"&"*(� ,�($%(�($"�@0%&.�10(".�(0�+ 1"�8=8�%�0*"C4"%&�5%!-%+"�(0�$"65�($"3�2 ($�01"&&)*,�%*.�(0�%6602�( 3"�(0�, (�.02*�%*.�.0�($"�*"+0( %( 0*,7��8%40&�<!$ "1"�%,-".�(0�$"%&�;&03�>"06 ,�(0�+"(�($" &�5"&,5"!( 1"�0*�2$%(�$%,�%*.�2 66�!0*( *)"�(0�!$%*+"7��8&7�8 -"�D-"B�>"06 ,�<&7�� !"�E&", ."*(B�,% .�($%(�($"�"*( &"�6"%."&,$ 5�("%3�2%,�!$%*+".�%*.�($"4�/&0)+$(� *�E$ 6�')35$& ",�2$0� ,�1"&4�"F5"& "*!".�%*.�-*02,�$02�(0�20&-�2 ($�($"�"35604"",7��=$"�; &,(�G8�H),(�2%,*I(�%�+00.�; (�2$ !$�$%55"*,�0!!%, 0*%6647��� !"�#$% &�'%&()*+�%,-".�J"+%6�#0)*,"6�D.%3�<5"%&�2$%(�05( 0*,�%&"�%1% 6%/6"�(0�10("�0*�(0.%47��8&7�<5"%&�&",50*.".�($%(�($"&"�%&"�("&3 *%( 0*�05( 0*,�%1% 6%/6"� *�($"�%+&""3"*(7��#033 ,, 0*"&�J)!"4�,% .�($%(�%(�($"�( 3"�($ ,�!0*(&%!(�2%,�*"+0( %(".B�8%40&�A0*�<3 ($�2%,�($"�A=#�#$% &�%*.�$"�2%,�($"�� !"�#$% &7��D*�AKE�2%,�.0*"�(0�/& *+� *�. ;;"&"*(�3)6( 56"�0;;"&,�/)(�($"&"�2"&"�1"&4�;"2�&"!" 1".7��>"06 ,�!%3"�0)(�0*�(05� *�!%("+0& ",�&"1 "2".B�/)(�$"�.0",�%+&""�($%(�($"� * ( %6�3%*%+"3"*(�("%3�2%,�*0(�%�+00.�; (7��#033 ,, 0*"&�J)!"4�!0*( *)".B�,%4 *+�($%(�$"�2%,�. ,%550 *(".�.)& *+�($"�?* 0*L>"06 ,�*"+0( %( 0*,�/"!%),"� *,("%.�0;�(%6- *+�($ *+,�01"&�%*.�3%- *+�!0*!",, 0*,B�($"4� 33". %("64�2"*(�(0�6%24"&,�%*.� (�6";(�A=#� *�($"�3 ..6"�%*.�)*%/6"�(0�.0�%*4($ *+7��'"�20)6.�6 -"�(0�,""�30&"�%!!0)*(%/ 6 (4�%*.�A=#�,$0)6.�$%1"�,03"�2%4�(0� *("&H"!(7��M7N7�=$03%,�%*.�($"�@0%&.�2"&"�(&"%(".�$0&& /64�/4�($"�5)/6 !�2$"*�($"&"�2%,�*0($ *+�6"+%664�($%(�($"4�%66�!0)6.�.07��D.. ( 0*%664B�$"�20)6.�6 -"�(0�-*02�2$4�($"�2%+",�%&"�H)35 *+�,0�$ +$7��8&7�8%60*"4�,% .�($%(�%!()%6�!0,(,�2"&"�&"1 "2".�;0&�,)556 ",B�5%&(,�%*.�($"�*"2�#@DB�(0�!03"�(0�%�/&"%-C"1"*�!0,(7��#033 ,, 0*"&�J)!"4�($"*�%,-".�;0&�%�6 *"C/4C6 *"�/&"%-0)(�0;�($0,"�!0,(,�+0 *+�;0&2%&.7��M7N7�=$03%,�,% .�($%(�,(%;;�20)6.�/"�+6%.�(0�+0�01"&�"%!$� ("3� *. 1 .)%664B�/)(�($"�@0%&.�%6,0�*"".,�(0�$%1"�,03"�;% ($�%*.�(&),(� *�($"�A=#�(0�-*02�2$%(�($"4�%&"�.0 *+7��8&7�8%60*"4�%..".�($%(�%55&0F 3%("64�O:P�0;�($"�!0,(� ,�;0&�6%/0&�%*.�/"*"; (,�;0&�($"�.& 1"&,7���
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

� !"�#$% &�'%&()*+�%,-".�/$%(�$%00"*,� 1�0& !",�!2*( *)"�(2�+2�)03��4&3�4%52*"6�,% .�($"&"�%&"�(& ++"&,� *�($"�!2*(&%!(�($%(�/ 55�%..&",,�($%(3��4%62&�7!$ "8"�%,-".�/$%(�($"�)5( 9%("�."! ."&� ,� *�!$22, *+�%�!2*(&%!(2&�:"!%),"�%55�,$"�"8"&�$"%&,�52/�: .3��4&3�4%52*"6�,% .�2)(�21�($"�9"%,)&"9"*(�21�;<<=>�2*56�?=�/%,�&"5%(".�(2�!2,(3��#$% &�@%/,2*�($"*�20"*".�($"� ("9�(2�0):5 !�!299"*(�%*.�!%55".�4&3�A6%*�4!B **"6�(2�($"�02. )93��4&3�4!B **"6�,)++",(".�($%(�($"�82("�:"�(%:5".�12&�C<�.%6,�:"!%),"� (�,""9,�D$ *-6E�($%(�F3G3�H$29%,� ,�*2(�. ,!),, *+�($"�5"(("&�1&29�($"�)* 2*3��H$"&"�:" *+�*2�2*"�"5,"�/ ,$ *+�(2�,0"%->�#$% &�@%/,2*�!52,".�0):5 !�!299"*(�12&�($ ,� ("93��#299 ,, 2*"&�I":"&�%,-".�12&�!2*1 &9%( 2*�($%(�,$"� ,�%:5"�(2�82("�2*�($ ,� ("93��@"+%5�#2)*,"5�J.%9�70"%&�!2*1 &9".�($%(�%,�($"�%,, +*".�%5("&*%("�:6�($"�A"*2�# (6�#2)*! 5>�,$"�!2)5.�82("3��K*�92( 2*�21�� !"�#$% &�'%&()*+>�,"!2*.".�:6�#299 ,, 2*"&�@)!"6>�/$ !$�92( 2*�!%&& ".�LM;�/ ($�4%62&�7!$ "8"�2002,".>�#$% &�@%/,2*�2&."&".�($%(�J9"*.9"*(�NC�(2�($"�!2*(&%!(�12&�20"&%( 2*�%*.�9% *("*%*!"�21�1 O".M&2)("�(&%*, (�,"&8 !",�/ ($�B"25 ,�H&%*, (�7"&8 !",>�@@#>�:"�%00&28".3��#$% &�@%/,2*�($"*�!%55".�4&3�B6�P5%,-2*�(2�($"�.% ,�12&�0):5 !�!299"*(�2*� ("9�Q3;3��4&3�P5%,-2*>�&"0&","*( *+�($"�H&)!-""�4"%.2/,�R !6!5"�J55 %*!">�,)++",(".�($%(�%�9 !&2M92.%5�,0"! 1 !�:).+"(�:"�2)(5 *".� *�($"�G &"!(2&S,�&"02&(�12&�(&%*,0%&"*!6�0)&02,",3��'"�%5,2�,(%(".�($%(�T?=�21�($"�&", ."*(,� *�I%,$2"�#2)*(6�.2�*2(�$%8"�%�.& 8"&S,�5 !"*,"�%*.�($"*�9"*( 2*".�,"8"&%5�)0!29 *+�"8"*(,�&"5%(".�(2�: !6!5 *+�%*.�!299)( *+3��4&3�P5%,-2*�/2)5.�%5,2�5 -"�(2�$%8"�%�. ,!),, 2*�%:2)(�$2/�: !6!5"�5%*",�"*.�:"!%),"� (� ,�8"&6�.%*+"&2),�12&�($"9�(2�, 9056�"*.�%(�:),6� *("&,"!( 2*,3��H$"&"�:" *+�*2�2*"�"5,"�/ ,$ *+�(2�,0"%->�#$% &�@%/,2*�!52,".�0):5 !�!299"*(�12&�($ ,� ("93��UVWXY�Z[\�V]̂_�Z[̀��abcdaef�� � �ghi�� jkl�mnopqrsto�usvoprwv�joxwvr�� ;3�#2*+&%()5%( 2*,�(2�($&""�21�2)&�"90526"",�12&�($" &�9 5",(2*"�,"&8 !"�%** 8"&,%& ",y�z�7!2((�4 -52,�/ 55�!"5":&%("�$ ,�1 8"M6"%&�AH#�%** 8"&,%&6�7"0("9:"&�?($3�z�J*+"5%�A" !$�/ 55�!"5":&%("�;?�6"%&,�%(�($"�AH#�7"0("9:"&�;<($3�z�J*.�@%)&"*�R%55� ,�!"5":&%( *+�$"&�1 1($�%** 8"&,%&6�7"0("9:"&�;;($3��
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

� �!"�#$%&�'&()*#+,$#+"-�./0"�"12$&3""%�&(�+4"/*�*"'"(+�2*&1&+/&(% �5�6#$"�7"$$"*�+&�6/*"'+&*�&.�8()/(""*/() �5�9"..�:/$;*"'4+�+&�8()/(""*/()�<#(#)"*�5�6"(/%"�=4&12%&(�+&�>*&',*"1"(+�#(-�?&(+*#'+%�@(#$3%+ �A4"�B/$$�'&(+/(,"�+&�'&&*-/(#+"�;&#*-�1""+/()%�,(+/$�+4"�1""+/()%�#*"�1&0"-�+&�="*1/(#$�:#3 �5�A,%/�=*/(/-#-�/%�(&B�C=?D%�@6@�>#*#+*#(%/+�@-1/(/%+*#+&* �5�@(-�E/'&$"�?&&+%�1&0"%�+&�A"(/&*�F*#24/'%�6"%/)("* �� G �8 6 �=4&1#%�+4"(�B"$'&1"-�C=?D%�+4*""�("B"%+�"12$&3""% �5�>#,$�E"$%&(�%+#*+"-�9,$3��H+4�#%�C=?D%�F&0"*(1"(+�@..#/*%�I../'"* �5�@1#(-#�?#$$")#*/�#(-�7/1�6/")$"J�;&+4�%+#*+"-�#%�#(�8()/(""*�KK�&(�@,),%+�LH+4 ��M �?*"B%�#*"�B*#22/()�,2�%"0"*#$�2*&N"'+%�+4/%�1&(+4 �I("�&.�+4"�$#*)"%+�B#%�&(�O"11&(�6*/0" �:"�4"$-�#�*/;;&(P',++/()�'"*"1&(3�.&*�+4/%�/12&*+#(+�1/$"%+&("�$"%%�+4#(�+4*""�B""Q%�#)& ��� ?&()*"%%1#(�<#*Q�@1&-"/J�C"(&�<#3&*�!/$$#*3�A'4/"0"�#(-�?&,('/$1"1;"*%�R&((/"�:";"*J�6"0&(�C""%"�#(-�&+4"*%�%2&Q"�#+�+4"�"0"(+ �!"�+4#(Q"-�"0"*3&("�B4&�2$#3"-�#�*&$"�/(�1#Q/()�+4/%�2*&N"'+�2&%%/;$" �� H �A/"**#�E"0#-#�?&(%+*,'+/&(�N,%+�./(/%4"-�*"2#0/()�="*1/(#$�:#3�.*&1�>$,1;�O#("�+&�</$$�A+*""+ �=4/%�B#%�2#*+�&.�+4"�ST H�1/$$/&(P-&$$#*�>*"0"(+/0"�<#/(+"(#('"�>*&N"'+ �K+%�2,*2&%"�/%�+&�Q""2�)&&-�*&#-%�/(�)&&-�%4#2" �=4"�2*&)*#1�B/$$�#$$&B�C=?�+&�*"2#0"�1&*"�+4#(�LHU�$#("P1/$"%�&.�*")/&(#$�*&#-%�/(�+4"�=*,'Q""�<"#-&B% �� T �?&(%+*,'+/&(�&(�7/()%�C&BJ�?#$/.&*(/#�@0"(,"V<#3;"**3�6*/0"�#(-�</$$�A+*""+�#*"�#$%&�%"+�+&�B*#2�,2�+4/%�1&(+4 �� W �O#%+�B""QJ�C=?�4"$-�#�2,;$/'�1""+/()�.&*�+4"�@*$/()+&(�@0"(,"�R*/-)"%�>*&N"'+ �@�$&+�&.�2&%/+/0"�/(2,+�B#%�*"'"/0"-�.*&1�+4"�'&11,(/+3 �=4"�%,*0"3�/%�%+/$$�&2"(�.&*�2"&2$"�+&�)/0"�+4"/*�/-"#% �@(&+4"*�B#3�+&�2#*+/'/2#+"�/%�+&�4"#-�+&�@*$/()+&(;*/-)"% '&1�#(-�'$/'Q�&(�+4"�XR,/$-P@PR*/-)"�=&&$ Y�=4/%�#$$&B%�2"&2$"�+&�%""�+4"�-/.."*"(+�-"%/)(�&2+/&(%�#0#/$#;$" �� Z �=4"�R"%+�/(�+4"�:"%+�E,))"+�C/;�?&&QP&..�%+#*+%�$#+"*�+4/%�1&(+4 �C=?�:#%4&"�/%�2#*+("*/()�B/+4�+4"�E,))"+�?#%/(&�C"%&*+�+&�2*&0/-"�.*""�+*#(%2&*+#+/&(�&(�&,*�C@>K6�O/('&$(�O/("�#(-�C&,+"�LL�+*#(%/+�%"*0/'"%�.*&1�:"-("%-#3J�@,),%+�GL%+�+4*&,)4�<&(-#3J�A"2+"1;"*�H+4�PP�#$$�-#3 �C=?�/%�$&&Q/()�.&*B#*-�+&�#(&+4"*�)*"#+�%2"'/#$�"0"(+�#(-�"('&,*#)"%�2"&2$"�+&�+#Q"�+*#(%/+ �� [ �@+�+4"�C=?J�%#."+3�/%�&,*�+&2�2*/&*/+3 �=4#+\%�B43�B"�#*"�,%/()�+*#(%/+�+&�%2*"#-�]/%/&(�̂"*&�%#."+3�1"%%#)/() �=4/%�1&(+4J�/(�2#*+("*%4/2�B/+4�]/%/&(�̂"*&J�+4"�C=?�/(%+#$$"-�%#."+3�1"%%#)/()�&(��L�C=?�;,%"% �=4"�1"%%#)"%�*"1/(-�-*/0"*%�+&�%$&B�-&B(�#(-�3/"$-�+&�2"-"%+*/#(% �=4"3D*"�#$%&�#�'&(+/(,#+/&(�&.�+4"�C=?\%�_O&'Q"-83"%A#0"O/0"%�2"-"%+*/#(�%#."+3�'#12#/)( ��� K(�#--/+/&(�+&�+4"�"̀+"*/&*�;,%�#-0"*+/%/()J�+4"�C=?�#$%&�4#%�_O&'Q"-83"%A#0"O/0"%�1"%%#)/()�/(%/-"�&.�+4"�;,%"% ���
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ��������

�� �!"# $%&'&()�*$&(%&()�+,'%'�- $ �*!&"�./�!�0&(&1)$!(%�!-!$" "�./�234�5'�6&+/+7 �!("�8 " '%$&!(�9"#&',$/�6,!$":��� �;�<�",(!% "�%� �!"# $%&'&()�'*!+ �,(�%� �.=' ':��6 %-  (�>!(=!$/�?�!("�>=( �@AB�CACCB�D!'�, �<,=(%/��!'��!"�%�$  �* " '%$&!(�E!%!7&%& ':���!%5'�",-(�CFG�E$,0�%� �'!0 �%&0 �* $&,"�&(�CAC?:�D�&7 �H&'&,(�I $,J'�),!7�$ 0!&('�%,��!# �K $,�* " '%$&!(�E!%!7&%& '�./�CA@AB�%� �+,00&%%  �&'� (+,=$!) "�./�%� �",-(-!$"�%$ (":������LMN�� OPQ�RSTSUVW�OSXYUZ��[:3:���,0!'�0 (%&,( "�%�!%�!�-$&%% (�$ *,$%�-!'�&(+7=" "�&(�%� �!) ("!�*!+\ %�E,$�%�&'�0  %&()�!("�!"" "�%�!%�;�<��!"�*=%�&(�!�;9]̂[�)$!(%�E,$�%� �_ 00,(�H!77 /�8�!' �C�*$,̀ +%�!("�"&"�(,%�$ + &# �&%:��9""&%&,(!77/B�;�<��!"�!�$ a= '%�&(�E,$�.='�!("�.='�E!+&7&%/�E=("&()�%�!%�-!'�(,%�)$!(% ":��b,- # $B�2,$%� $(�2 #!"!5'�E " $!7�$ *$ ' (%!%&# '�*=%�&(�0,( /�E$,0�%� �<,()$ ''&,(!77/�3&$ +% "�c=("'B�',�;�<�+!(�0,# �E,$-!$"�-&%��%� �*$,̀ +%:��LMd�� efgP�fhUSiZYU�OSXYUZ��3&$ +%,$�j$&'%&(!�̂-!77,-�)!# �� $�0,(%�7/�*$ ' (%!%&,(�,(�%� �E,77,-&()�%,*&+'k��$!EE&+�'!E %/�!("�'=.'%!(+ �&(#,7# "�E!%!7&%& 'B�%� �̂6l�*$,̀ +%�!("�$ 7!% "�%,=$�%�!%�-!'�� 7"B�=*"!% '�,(�$,!"�*$,̀ +%'�&(�](+7&( �H&77!) �!("�8/$!0&"�b&)�-!/B�!(�"&'+='' "�!�234��$ '&7& (+ �*$,)$!0B�%� �234��-,$\�*$,)$!0�!("�̂�]8B�%$!('*,$%!%&,(�E=("&()B�!("�>='%&+ mA�$ a=&$ 0 (%':��nopq�r�� stuunvvntwxy�zwwt{wsxuxw|v�zw}�{~}z|xv��<,00&''&,( $�_=+ /�'!&"�� �-!'�"&'!**,&(% "�%,�� !$�%�!%�%� �;9]̂[�)$!(%�-!'�(,%�$ + &# "�!E% $�;�<�D!'�, ��!'�'�,-(�$ * !% "7/�%�!%�E " $!7�E=("'�!$ �*=%�%,�),,"�=' :��b �-!(%'�%,�0!\ �'=$ �%�!%�;�<�&'�E,+='&()�,(�E " $!7�$ 7!%&,('�&*'�!("�=%&7&K&()�,=$�7,../&'%':��b �-!(%'�!7% $(!%&# �$,=% '�%,�. �E,=("�),&()�%,�%� �&("='%$&!7�+ (% $'�!("�E=$%� $� !'%�&(�,$" $�%,�*$,#&" �',0 �$ 7& E�,(�]1�A:��b �%� (� �*$ '' "��,-�-,(" $E=7�&%��!'�.  (�%,�-,$\�-&%��3&$ +%,$�-̂!77,-�!("�E,$�!77�'� 5'�",( �E,$�2,$%� $(�2 #!"!:��H&+ �<�!&$�b!$%=()�!'\ "�&E�;�<�&'�),&()�%,��!# �!(/�%/* �,E�$ +,)(&%&,(�",( �E,$�2 ,0!�>!$",(�)&# (�!77�%� �!++,0*7&'�0 (%'�'� ��!"�-�&7 �'&%%&()�,(�%�&'�6,!$":����[:3:���,0!'�$ '*,(" "�%�!%�!�$ +,)(&%&,(�,E�',0 �',$%�-&77�. �",( �&(�%� �( �%�+,=*7 �,E�0,(%�':��nopq���� ~{��ns�nw~{|��<�!&$�_!-',(�,* ( "�%� �0  %&()�%,�*=.7&+�&(*=%�!("�+!77 "�,(�!(/,( �-&'�&()�%,�'* !\�,(�%,*&+'�$ 7 #!(%�%,�%� �; )&,(!7��$!('*,$%!%&,(�<,00&''&,(��;�<��%�!%�!$ �(,%�&(+7=" "�&(�%� �+=$$ (%�!) ("!:������$:�<!$7,'�[7&K,(",B�7,+!7�$ '&" (%B�!""$ '' "�%� �6,!$"�%,�0 (%&,(�%�!%�%� �!&$�+,("&%&,(&()�", '�(,%�-,$\�,(�!�7,%�,E�%� �.=' ':���� $ �. &()�(,�,( � 7' �-&'�&()�%,�'* !\B�%� �<�!&$�+7,' "�*=.7&+�&(*=%:��
DRAFT



���������	�
�

� ����������������������������������� ���������

�� !�""� #$%&'()*+),��-./0/�1/234�35�6708./0�17923/99�85�:5;/�1/650/�8./�<5=0>?�8./�;//8234�=>@5703/>�=8�AABAC�=D;D�����EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE�FG�HIJKLM?�N.=20�O/4253=P�-0=39Q508=8253�N5;;299253����RRN5Q2/9�56�=PP�Q0/9/38=82539�=0/�=S=2P=1P/�1T�:538=:8234�U2:./PP/�V0=79�=8�;W0=79X08:Y=9.5/D:5;D��
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  ����	��

�� !"#$%&'(�)!'&*+%!)')$%&�,%--$**$%&�.'*/%"�,%0&)12�&"3'4'��5!$4'1� 6788�'9-9� *:;<:=>:?�@A2�B8BB��+!"*"&)7� "C�(DEFGH2�-DIG?�GJ�*;D?KF2�,LDM?�3DNOLH�/D?<NHO2�.DFLG:�,GNH<I�,G==MFFMGH:?2�3MP:�,LDM?�/MQQD?I�*LM:R:2�-DIG?�GJ�!:HG�'Q:SMF�/MQQ2�.DFLG:�,GNH<I�,G==MFFMGH:?�T'Q<:?HD<:U�VGHHM:�.:>:?2�!:HG�,M<I�,GNHPMQ�-:=>:?�T'Q<:?HD<:U��VMQQ�)LG=DF2�!),�"S:PN<MR:�4M?:P<G?�'CD=�*;:D?2�(:ODQ�,GNHF:Q�,GQ:�-G?<:HF:H2�4:;N<I�4M?:P<G?�GJ�&4%)�T'Q<:?HD<:U��&%)�+!"*"&)7� W?MF<MHD�*EDQQGE2�4M?:P<G?�GJ�&4%)���XYZ�[Z\]̂_[�̀abcŶd�̀ZZceb\f�YẐg�eb�cYZ�hY_̀iZ[j�ak�cYZ�l_jYaZ�ha]bcd�hà èjjeabf�mnnm�op�qcY�rc[ZZcf�sZbaf�tZu_g_f�v_j�w_̂̂Zg�ca�a[gZ[�id�hY_e[�x_vjabp��XYZ�ya_[g�wabg]wcZg�cYZ�kâ̂aveb\�i]jebZjjz��{|}~���� ��������������� mpmp�sâ̂�h_̂̂��mp�p��̂Zg\Z�ak��̂ Ẑ\e_bwZ��mp�p�r�Zwe_̂�sZwa\beceabj����hab\[_c]̂_ceabj�ca��X��ò �̂adZZ�ak�cYZ��abcY����jp�rYe[ZZ��_[Zbce����hab\[_c]̂_ceabj�ca��Zâej�ò �̂adZZ�ak�cYZ��abcY����jp��_b_�tẐjab��{|}~���� ����{��{������hY_e[�x_vjab�a�ZbZg�cYZ�̀ZZceb\�ca��]îew�eb�]c�_bg�w_̂̂Zg�ab�_bdabZ�vejYeb\�ca�j�Z_��ab�ca�ewj�[ẐZu_bc�ca�cYZ�sZ\eab_̂�X[_bj�a[c_ceab�hà èjjeab��sXh��cY_c�_[Z�bac�ebŵ]gZg�eb�cYZ�w][[Zbc�_\Zbg_p������[p��_cc�yZ[bjf�̂aw_̂�[ZjegZbcf�_gg[ZjjZg�cYZ�ya_[g�ca�cẐ̂�Yej�Z��Z[eZbwZ�vecY�_ccZ̀�ceb\�ca�]jZ�sXh�s��o�ca�cYZ�y_̂̂aab�s_wZjp�����_[Zbĉdf�[a]cZj�vZ[Z�gZca][Zg�vecYa]c�bacewZ�_bg�cYZ��Za�̂Z�v_eceb\�_c��cY�rXsooX�rX�X��t�vZ[Z�bac��ew�Zg�]��_c�_̂̂p���[p�yZ[bj�cYZb�g[auZ�ca�cYZ�y_̂̂aab�s_wZjf�Y_g�ca��_[����̀êZ�_v_d�_bg�wà �̂ZcẐd�̀ejjZg�cYZ�a�Zbeb\�wZ[Z̀abeZjp��XYZ[Z�iZeb\�ba�abZ�ẐjZ�vejYeb\�ca�j�Z_�f�cYZ�hY_e[�ŵajZg��]îew�eb�]cp��
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  �������

!"#$�%�� &''()*&+�),�&-./0&��123456783�97:346;:�<=;>?@�:3A53@63B�6=?6�C63>�DEF�G3�H5II3B�J:;>�6=3�?K3LB?�?LB�76�M7II�G3�>;83B�6;�?�J565:3�>3367LKE��NL�>;67;L�;J�O743�P=?7:�Q?:65LKR�@34;LB3B�GS�P;>>7@@7;L3:�T3G3:R�M=74=�>;67;L�5L?L7>;5@IS�4?::73BR�P=?7:�U?M@;L�;:B3:3B�6=?6�6=3�?K3LB?�J;:�6=7@�>3367LK�G3�?HH:;83B�M76=�6=3�?J;:3>3L67;L3B�4=?LK3E��!"#$V�WXY�"Z[\�WXY]�̂ )/_./̀ �!̀.a_�� bcdc�efghijk��lEmEmE�n4oL;MI3BK3�:3437H6�;J�6=3�>;L6=IS�pI?LL7LK�n467876S�q3H;:6�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����lEmEFE�n4oL;MI3BK3�:3437H6�;J�6=3�>;L6=IS�1LK7L33:7LK�n467876S�q3H;:6�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����lEmE�E��n4oL;MI3BK3�:3437H6�;J�6=3�>;L6=IS�p5GI74�<:?L@H;:6?67;L�?LB�NH3:?67;L@�q3H;:6�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt���lEmElE�n4oL;MI3BK3�:3437H6�;J�6=3��5>>?:S�q3H;:6�J;:�6=3�<34=L74?IR�P767�3L@��5I67>;B?IR�?LB�q3K7;L?I�q;?B�C>H?46��33�nB87@;:S�P;>>76633@�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����lEmE�E�n4oL;MI3BK3�:3437H6�;J�6=3�>;L6=IS�p:;45:3>3L6�n467876S�q3H;:6�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����bc�c�����������fg�ij�f�j��lEFEmE�nHH:;83�?��3>;:?LB5>�;J��LB3:@6?LB7LK���N���M76=�6=3�q3L;��H?:o@�CLB7?L�P;I;LS��q�CP��J;:�4;;:B7L?67;L�;L�6=3�H:3@3:8?67;L�;J�?L�3?@3>3L6�J;:�H;63L67?I�4;L@6:5467;L�;J�6=3�U3>>;L�O?II3S��H?L7@=��H:7LK@�P;LL346;:�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����lEFEFE�n56=;:7�3�?�:3A53@6�J;:�H:;H;@?I@�J;:�?�4;L@5I6?L6�6;�B383I;H�6=3�n46783�<:?L@H;:6?67;L�pI?L�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����bc�c������ffi�����fg�ij�f�j��lE�EmE�nHH:;83�n>3LB>3L6��;E�m�6;�6=3�CL63:I;4?I�P;;H3:?6783�nK:33>3L6�M76=��9N<�J;:�p=?@3�m�;J�6=3�pS:?>7B�Q7K=M?S��������P;LL346;:�p:;�346�6;�?56=;:7�3�?BB767;L?I�J3B3:?I�J5LB@�J;:�4;L@6:5467;L�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����lE�EFE�n56=;:7�3�?�:3A53@6�J;:�H:;H;@?I@��q�p��J;:�6=3�@3I3467;L�;J�?�4;L@5I6?L6�6;�H3:J;:>�?�J3?@7G7I76S�@65BS�?LB�H:;87B3�H:3I7>7L?:S�B3@7KLR�3L87:;L>3L6?I�?L?IS@7@R�J7L?I�B3@7KLR�?LB�B3@7KL�@5HH;:6�B5:7LK�4;L@6:5467;L�J;:�6=3��3S@6;L3��:7BK3�p:;�346�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt����bcbc��������ji��kghij�j�h�� gfi�j�h�k��fg�ij�f�j��lElEmE��nHH:;83�?�4;L6:?46�M76=��3M��IS3:�J;:�6=3�H5:4=?@3�;J�6M;��F��=SB:;K3L�J53I�43II�G5@3@�567I7�7LK�6=3��6?63�;J�T?@=7LK6;L¡@�P;;H3:?6783�p5:4=?@7LK�nK:33>3L6�J;:�<:?L@76��5@3@��?@63:�P;L6:?46��;E�¢D£m�R�7L�?L�?>;5L6�L;6�6;�32433B�¤FRll�RD¢m�rstu�vtwwxyz{�|}~xt�����
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  ����!��

"#$#�%&'()*+,'-�./0+1+2*34*+,'�41/�5+141('�6'743*0'1*��89:9;9��<=>?@�@AB�C>DEF�G>HBIJKBJ@�LBD>I=M�NEJEOBKBJ@�PI>OIEK�NEJQEF�RST;UV�WI>K�XBHE=E�Y@E@B�CZ[IEI\]�<IDAZHBM�EJ=�PQ[FZD�LBD>I=M]�EJ=�EJ\�WQ@QIB�KEJQEF�Q?=E@BM]�EM�L̂ _̀M�?I>OIEK�W>I�@AB�KEJEOBKBJ@�>W�IBD>I=M�abcd�ecffghij�klmgcno��pJ�K>@Z>J�>W�qZDB�_AEZI�rEI@QJO]�MBD>J=B=�[\�_>KKZMMZ>JBI�sB[BI]�tAZDA�K>@Z>J�DEIIZB=�QJEJZK>QMF\]�_AEZI�CEtM>J�>I=BIB=�@AE@�_>JMBJ@�u@BKM�89;9;�@AI>QOA�89:9;�[B�E??I>HB=9��vwxy�z�� {|}~v������v���� :9;9� _>J=QD@�E�?Q[FZD�ABEIZJO�IBOEI=ZJO�E??I>HEF�>W�<KBJ=KBJ@�X>9���@>�@AB�����STS;�STS:�LBOZ>JEF�̂IEJM?>I@E@Z>J�uK?I>HBKBJ@�PI>OIEK�RL̂ uPV��E=>?@�E�IBM>FQ@Z>J�E??I>HZJO�<KBJ=KBJ@�X>9���@>�@AB�L̂ uP�abcd�ecffghij�klmgcno����Y@EWW�?IBMBJ@E@Z>J����PQ[FZD�ABEIZJO����<D@Z>J��NI9�GIEAEK��>FFEIAZ=B]�L̂ _�YBJZ>I�̂BDAJZDEF�PFEJJBI]�E==IBMMB=�@AB��>EI=�EJ=�?I>HZ=B=�EJ�>HBIHZBt�>W�@AB�L̂ uP]�tAZDA�ZM�E�WB=BIEFF\�IB�QZIB=�=>DQKBJ@]�EF>JO�tZ@A�=>DQKBJ@M�IBFE@B=�@>�@AB�L̂ uP9��rB�@ABJ�FZM@B=�@AB�?I>�BD@M�[BZJO�E==B=�@>�@AB�L̂ uP�EJ=�tAE@�@ABZI�?QI?>MBM�EIB9��̂AB�?I>�BD@�JEKBM�EIB�ZJDFQ=B=�ZJ�@AB�[ED��Q?�KE@BIZEFM�W>I�@AZM�EOBJ=E�Z@BK9��̂ABIB�tEM�J>�EZI��QEFZ@\�EJEF\MZM�IB�QZIB=�[BDEQMB�J>JB�>W�@AB�?I>�BD@M�E==�DE?EDZ@\9��<�?Q[FZD�D>KKBJ@�?BIZ>=�tEM�ABF=�WI>K�YB?@BK[BI���;:]�STSS]�EJ=�J>�D>KKBJ@M�tBIB�IBDBZHB=9��L̂ _̀M�<=HZM>I\�_>KKZ@@BBM�[>@A�IBD>KKBJ=B=��>EI=�E??I>HEF9��qZDB�_AEZI�rEI@QJO�EM�B=�ZW�@AB�CBKK>J�qEFFB\�PI>�BD@]�PAEMB�S�ZMJ̀@�E�DE?EDZ@\�?I>�BD@9��NI9��>FFEIAZ=B�IBM?>J=B=�@AE@�@AB�?I>�BD@�J>�F>JOBI�ZJH>FHBM�tZ=BJZJO�>W�@AB�I>E=tE\�[Q@�M@ZFF�ZJDFQ=BM�@AB�M@>IKtE@BI�ZK?I>HBKBJ@M9��NI9��EFB��BFFBI]�L̂ _��ZIBD@>I�>W��JOZJBBIZJO]�@ABJ�E==IBMMB=�@AB��>EI=�@>�B�?FEZJ�@AE@�@AB�tZ=BJZJO�?>I@Z>J�tEM�IBK>HB=�=QB�@>�E�FED��>W�WQJ=ZJO�EM�L̂ _�=Z=�J>@�IBDBZHB�@AB�L<uY��OIEJ@�E??FZB=�W>I�>J�@AZM�?I>�BD@9��uJ�@AB�WQ@QIB]�@AB�tZ=BJZJO�KE\�O>�W>ItEI=�MA>QF=�WB=BIEF�WQJ=ZJO�[BD>KB�EHEZFE[FB9��qZDB�_AEZI�rEI@QJO�M@ZFF�[BFZBHBM�@AZM�?I>�BD@�ZM�J>@�O>ZJO�WEI�BJ>QOA�>Q@�EJ=�MEZ=�Z@�AEM�EFtE\M�[BBJ�D>JMZ=BIB=�E�8�FEJB�tZ=BJZJO�?I>�BD@9��NI9��BFFBI�MEZ=�@ABIB�tBIB�ED@Z>JM�@AE@�tBIB�IB�QBM@B=�W>I�?I>�BD@]�@AB�WZIM@�tEM�@>�WB=BIEFZ�B�@AB�?I>�BD@]�M>�tZ@A�@AE@�DAEJOB]�WB=BIEF�WQJ=ZJO�KQM@�[B�>[@EZJB=9���
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  ����!��

"#$�%$&'()�*&+,'(�-*%�+'�*))�+#$�./'0$&+�+'�+#$�1232�4"5�6'/�*�&7*/,6,&*+,'(�'6�*(�,+$89��:$�'66$/$)�+'�8$$+�%$.*/*+$7;�-,+#�*(;�'6�+#$�<'88,%%,'($/%�,6�+#$;�-'=7)�7,>$�8'/$�)$+*,79��?,&$�<#*,/�:*/+=(@�/$A=$%+$)�+#*+�+#$�./'0$&+�$B$(+=*77;�C$�$D+$()$)9��<#*,/�E*-%'(�*%>$)�-#*+�+#$�+,8$7,($�,%�6'/�+#$�./'0$&+9��F/9�G$77$/�/$%.'()$)�+#*+�+#$�./'0$&+�,%�%.7,+�,(+'�5*&>*@$�H�*()�5*&>*@$�19��5*&>*@$�H�,%�+#$�6,(*7�)$%,@(I�%'�+#*+�8=%+�C$�&'8.7$+$)�+'�@$+�*)),+,'(*7�6=(),(@�C$6'/$�5*&>*@$�1�&*(�8'B$�6'/-*/)9��<'88,%%,'($/�J$C$/�%*,)�%#$�-'=7)�7,>$�+'�C$�,(&7=)$)�,(�6=+=/$�&'(B$/%*+,'(%9��"#,%�C$,(@�*�.=C7,&�#$*/,(@I�<#*,/�E*-%'(�'.$($)�+#$�8$$+,(@�=.�+'�.=C7,&�&'88$(+9��"#$/$�C$,(@�('�'($�-,%#,(@�+'�%.$*>I�<#*,/�E*-%'(�&7'%$)�.=C7,&�&'88$(+9��K(�8'+,'(�'6�?,&$�<#*,/�:*/+=(@I�%$&'()$)�C;�<'88,%%,'($/�J$C$/I�-#,&#�8'+,'(�&*//,$)�=(*(,8'=%7;I�<#*,/�E*-%'(�'/)$/$)�+#*+�L8$()8$(+�M'9�N�+'�+#$�OOP�121HQ1213�4$@,'(*7�"/*(%.'/+*+,'(�R8./'B$8$(+�5/'@/*8�S4"R5T�C$�*../'B$)�*()�*�/$%'7=+,'(�*../'B,(@�L8$()8$(+�M'9�N�+'�+#$�4"R5�C$�*)'.+$)9��UVWX�Y�� ZU[\][[Û_�Ùab[�c_Z�dea[a_̀ c̀ Û_[�� f9H9��L&>('-7$)@$�/$&$,.+�'6�*�/$.'/+�/$@*/),(@�+#$�4"<�?*(.''7�./'@/*8�ghij�killmnop�qrsmitu���F/9�F*/>�F*7'($;I�4"<�v,/$&+'/�'6�5=C7,&�"/*(%.'/+*+,'(�*()�K.$/*+,'(%I�*))/$%%$)�+#$�w'*/)�*()�/$8,()$)�+#$8�+#*+�+#$;�#*)�./$B,'=%7;�*%>$)�#'-�+#$�4"<�%=..'/+%�'=/�/$%,)$(+%�,(�+#$�*/$*%�'6�,(&/$*%,(@�6=$7�&'%+%�*()�+'�&/$*+$�+/,.�/$)=&+,'(%9��:$�+#$(�,(+/')=&$)�F/9�x&'++�F,>7'%I�4"<�"/,.�4$)=&+,'(�L(*7;%+I�-#'�@*B$�*�./$%$(+*+,'(�'(�+#$�4"<�x8*/+�"/,.%�./'@/*8I�-#,&#�,(&7=)$%�/,)$�%#*/,(@�y�),66$/$(+�6/'8�/,)$�#*,7,(@I�%=&#�*%�zC$/�'/�E;6+9��"#$�?*(.''7�5/'@/*8�,%�,(&7=)$)�,(�+#$�x8*/+�"/,.%�./'@/*8�*()�F/9�F,>7'%�%+*+$)�+#*+�4"<�&=//$(+7;�#*%�N{|�B*(.''7%�*()�,+}%�@/'-,(@�)*,7;I�#$�+#$(�-$(+�'(�+'�$D.7*,(�#'-�+#$�./'@/*8�,%�=%$)9��"#$�6$)$/*7�/$A=,/$8$(+%�%+*+$�+#*+�*�<'88=+$/�:,@#-*;�?$#,&7$�8=%+�%$*+�*+�7$*%+�%,D�*)=7+%I�('+�,(&7=),(@�+#$�)/,B$/I�*()�*+�7$*%+�~2��'6�+#$�6=$7�=%$�8=%+�C$�6'/�+#$�+/*(%.'/+,(@�'6�$8.7';$$%�6/'8�+#$,/�/$%,)$(&$�+'�+#$,/�.7*&$�'6�$8.7';8$(+9��<'88=+$/%�8*;�*7%'�C$�.,&>$)�=.�*+�*�&$(+/*7�7'&*+,'(I�%=&#�*%�%#'..,(@�&$(+$/%I�%+/,.�8*77%I�'/�.*/>�*()�/,)$�6*&,7,+,$%I�C=+�4$('�)'$%�('+�#*B$�8*(;�.*/>�*()�/,)$%�,(�+#$�/$@,'(9��"#$�&'%+�'6�+#$�B*(.''7�,%�.*,)�6'/�C;�+#$�$8.7';$$%�'/�+#$�&'8.*(;I�'/�,+�8*;�C$�*�%#*/$)�$D.$(%$9��"#$�B*(.''7%�&*(�C$�%=C%,),�$)�=%,(@�32��'6�./$Q+*D�6$)$/*7�6=()%9��4"<�)'$%�%=C%,),�$�*�.'/+,'(�'6�$*&#�B*(.''7�=%,(@�*�B*/,$+;�'6�*B*,7*C7$�6=()%I�*()�+#$�%=C%,);�,%�C*%$)�'(�8'(+#7;�8,7$*@$9��L)),+,'(*77;I�B$#,&7$�/$B$(=$�8,7$%�8=%+�C$�/$.'/+$)�+'�<'88=+$�-,+#��(+$/./,%$I�-#'�4"<�.*/+($/%�-,+#�,(�+#,%�./'@/*8I�+#$(�<'88=+$�-,+#��(+$/./,%$�$(+$/%�+#$�,(6'/8*+,'(�,(+'�+#$�M*+,'(*7�"/*(%,+�v*+*C*%$9����
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  ����!��

"#$�"%&'()�*+,-�.#(/%0,0�1�21.�)+(3%-4�3+,#,�1''�(5�*+,�/1-.((')�1#,�67##,-*'8�4(%-4$��9)�(5�:7'8�;<;;=�*+,�-72>,#�(5�1--71'�*#%.)�#,076,0�*+%)�8,1#�%-�(7#�#,4%(-�%)�?7)*�7-0,#�1�+1'5�2%''%(-�*#%.)�1-0�*+,�1--71'�2%',)�0#%/,-�+1)�>,,-�#,076,0�>8�@A�2%''%(-�2%',)$��B+,),�-72>,#)�1#,�6(-*%-7(7)'8�4#(3%-4�1)�3,''$��966(#0%-4�*(�*+,�C1*%(-1'�B#1-)%*�D1*1>1),=�*+,�EBF�(5�G1)+(,�F(7-*8�+1)�*+,�H*+�2()*�I1-.(('�#%0,#)+%.�%-�*+,�-1*%(-$��B+,�.#(4#12�%)�%-6#,1)%-4�,/,#8�2(-*+�3+%6+�%)�%2.(#*1-*�>,617),�5(#�#,/,-7,�/,+%6',�2%',�0#%/,-=�*+,�EBF�4,*)�1�'%**',�(/,#�J<�6,-*)�>16&=�1-0�*+1*�%)�)7..(),0�*(�4(�7.�*(�H<�6,-*)�.,#�2%',�%-�*+,�-,1#�57*7#,$��K.(-�6(-6'7)%(-=�"#$�"%&'()�(55,#,0�*(�1-)3,#�1-8�L7,)*%(-)$��F(22%))%(-,#�M%''�)1%0�*+,#,�1#,�-72,#(7)�>7)%-,)),)�%-�*+,�N-6'%-,�I%''14,�1#,1�*+1*�1#,�6(-)%0,#%-4�7*%'%O%-4�*+,�EBF�I1-.(('�P#(4#12$����"#$�"%&'()�)1%0�*+,�4#,1*�*+%-4�%)�*+1*�%*Q)�1�2(-*+R*(R2(-*+�',1),=�)(�-(�(-,�%)�)*76&�3%*+�1�/1-�5(#�1�'(-4�.,#%(0�(5�*%2,$��N5�1�>7)%-,))�*#%,)�%*�5(#�(-,�2(-*+�1-0�%*�0(,)-Q*�3(#&�5(#�*+,%#�-,,0)=��*+,8�61-�*7#-�*+,�/1-�%-�1-0�>,�0(-,�3%*+�*+,�.#(4#12$��F(22%))%(-,#�G,>,#�1)&,0�%5�?7)*�(-,�.,#)(-�%)�*+,�0#%/,#�(#�61-�(*+,#)�0#%/,�*(($��"#$�"%&'()�)1%0�*+,#,�%)�4,-,#1''8�1�21%-�0#%/,#�3%*+�1�6(7.',�(5�>16&R7.�0#%/,#)=�1''�#7-�*+#(74+�*+,�F(227*,�3%*+�S-*,#.#%),�>16&4#(7-0�6+,6&$��F(22%))%(-,#�G,>,#�*+,-�1)&,0�%5�*+,8�1#,�#,L7%#,0�*(�.7#6+1),�57,'�%-�G1)+(,�F(7-*8$��"#$�"%&'()�)1%0�+,�3(7'0�+1/,�*(�6+,6&�%-*(�*+1*$��I%6,�F+1%#�M1#*7-4�1)&,0�%5�*+,#,�%)�1�.'74R%-�2(07',=�)76+�1)�*+,�%-)7#1-6,�6(2.1-%,)�7),=�*+1*�*#16&)�0#%/,#�>,+1/%(#$�M,Q)�),,-�I1-.(('�0#%/,#)�).,,0%-4�(#�0#%/%-4�,##1*%61''8$��"#$�"%&'()�)1%0�+,�0(,)�-(*�>,'%,/,�*+,8�+1/,�*+1*�2(07',=�>7*�%5�1-8(-,�),,)�*+1*�*8.,�(5�0#%/,#�>,+1/%(#=�*+,8�)+(7'0�4,*�*+,�'%6,-),�.'1*,�-72>,#�1-0�61''�*+,�-72>,#�(-�*+,�/1-$��EBF�3%''�.#(/%0,�*+,�%-5(#21*%(-�*(�F(227*,�3%*+�S-*,#.#%),=�3+(�3%''�*+,-�61''�*+,�0#%/,#�*(�0%)67))$��N5�,-(74+�6(2.'1%-*)�6(2,�%-�1>(7*�1�.1#*%67'1#�0#%/,#=�*+,�EBF�+1)�*+,�(.*%(-�*(�3%*++('0�)7>)%0%,)�5(#�1�.,#%(0�(5�*%2,$��B+%)�%*,2�31)�%-5(#21*%(-1'�(-'8�1-0�-(�T(1#0�16*%(-�31)�*1&,-$��H$;$��K.01*,=�0%)67))%(-=�1-0�.(*,-*%1'�0%#,6*%(-�*(�)*155�#,41#0%-4�',4%)'1*%/,�%))7,)�>,%-4�#,/%,3,0�>8�*+,�C,/101�U7)*1%-1>',�B#1-).(#*1*%(-�V7-0%-4�U*708�5(#�*+,�W;-0�U,))%(-�(5�*+,�C,/101�X,4%)'1*7#,�YZ[\]̂_̀ab][̀c�d[cef�ghijk�lmnnjo�pq�rsijo�tr�hijk�uv������
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  ����
��

!"#$%�&'(�")*+�&',��-./0-12�� � �345�� 678�9:;<=>?@;�A?B;<>CB�6;DCB>�� EF�GH�IJH�KILLM�NO�PHQROSH�NKH�THPHUN�SHSVHJ�OW�NKH�XYZ�WIS[QMF�\IJI�]O[T̂�̂I_H�V[JNK�NO�I�KHIQNKM�VIVM�̂[JQ̀�YaHUbIMF�XOTT[H�cTTH�dHQQ�]O[T̂�[U�UH_HT�LOaTbÙ�NPO�OaTRHU�ee�ITb�EfeITbeKIQW�[TRKHU�QOT̂F�\KHgU�TISHb�IWNHJ�\IJIgU�bIbF�dONK�SOS�ITb�VIVM�IJH�bO[T̂�PHQQF��� hF�i�IS�LQHIUHb�NO�ITTOaTRH�OTH�S[QHUNOTH�ITT[_HJUIJMF�cbIS�\LHIJ�P[QQ�SIJj�W[_H�MHIJÙ�POJj[T̂�P[NK�XYZ�OT�kRNOVHJ�hTbF�� lF�GH�IQUO�KI_H�I�JHN[JHSHTN�ROS[T̂�aLF�dQI[TH�mHNHJUHT�KIU�VHHT�P[NK�NKH�XYZ�WOJ�En�MHIJU�IU�I�YJIWW[R�oT̂[THHJ�ITb�mJOpHRN�qITÎHJF�rH�KIU�VHHT�NKH�QHIb[T̂�Ib_ORINH�WOJ�iTNHQQ[̂HTN�YJITULOJNIN[OT�\MUNHSU�s�[TRQab[T̂�NKH�ROOJb[TIN[OT�OW�U[̂TIQ�N[S[T̂�ITb�iY\�W[VHJ�THNPOJjF�r[U�QIUN�bIM�[U�kRNOVHJ�tNKF�GH�P[UK�dQI[TH�IQQ�NKH�VHUN�[T�NKH�WaNaJHF�� uF�i�IS�HvNJHSHQM�LJOab�OW�OaJ�w[TITRH�NHISF�YKITjU�NO�NKH[J�KIJb�POJj̀�NKH�]O_HJTSHTN�w[TITRH�kWW[RHJU�cUUOR[IN[OT�OW�NKH�xT[NHb�\NINHU�ITb�ZITIbI�IPIJbHb�NKH�XYZ�P[NK�I�LJHUN[̂[OaU�IPIJbF�YKH�ZHJN[W[RINH�OW�cRK[H_HSHTN�WOJ�ovRHQQHTRH�[T�w[TITR[IQ�XHLOJN[T̂�[U�NKH�K[̂KHUN�WOJS�OW�JHRÔT[N[OT�[T�̂O_HJTSHTNIQ�IRROaTN[T̂�ITb�W[TITR[IQ�JHLOJN[T̂F�YK[U�IRROSLQ[UKSHTN�[U�I�JHUaQN�OW�OaJ�ITTaIQ�W[TITR[IQ�JHLOJN�WOJ�NKH�W[URIQ�MHIJ�NKIN�HTbHb�yaTH�lzNK̀�hzhEF�]JHIN�pOV�VM�OaJ�_HJM�NIQHTNHb�W[TITRH�NHIS{�� nF�ZOTUNJaRN[OT�OT�NKH�q[QQ�\NJHHN�ZOSLQHNH�\NJHHN�mJOpHRN�PJILLHb�aL�paUN�I�WHP�PHHjU�ÎOF�YKH�|nFn�S[QQ[OTebOQQIJ�LJOpHRN�SIbH�I�QON�OW�[SLJO_HSHTNU�WOJ�LHbHUNJ[ITÙ�V[RMRQ[UNÙ�NJITU[N�J[bHJÙ�ITb�bJ[_HJU�VHNPHHT�YHJS[TIQ�GIM�ITb�qRZIJJIT�dOaQH_IJbF�GH�IbbHb�U[bHPIQjU�ITb�Q[̂KN[T̂�OT�VONK�U[bHU�OW�NKH�UNJHHNF�GH�IQUO�ROJJHRNHb�UOSH�c}c�bHW[R[HTN�VaU�UNOLUF�kW�ROaJUH̀�NKH�q[QQ�\NJHHN�G[bHT[T̂�mJOpHRN�VHNPHHT�~[HN�jH�ITb�YHJS[TIQ�[U�UQINHb�NO�̂HN�aTbHJPIM�[T�NKH�THvN�ROaLQH�OW�MHIJUF�� �F�YK[U�P[QQ�VH�NKH�UHROTb�UNJI[̂KN�PHHjHTb�OW�JOIbPIM�bHNOaJU�OT�\LIJjU�dOaQH_IJb�WOJ�LI_[T̂F�YKH�XYZ�P[QQ�ROTN[TaH�NO�LJO_[bH�WJHH�wQHvXi}o�UHJ_[RH�WOJ�LHbHUNJ[ITU�NO�UIWHQM�RJOUU�ie�z�VHNPHHT�]JĤ�\NJHHN�ITb��[TROQT�GIM�NKJOâK�}HRHSVHJ�OW�NK[U�MHIJF�� tF�YKH�XYZ�[U�IQPIMU�QOOj[T̂�IN�PIMU�NO�HTKITRH�[NU�NJITU[N�UHJ_[RHUF�\[v�JOaNHU�KI_H�THP�URKHbaQHUF�GH�IbbHb�YqZZ�NO�NKH��OJNK��IQQHMU�wQHvXi}o�UHJ_[RH�IJHI�câaUN�hzNK�NO�RO[TR[bH�P[NK�NKH�UNIJN�OW�NKH�WIQQ�UHSHUNHJF�GH�UNITbIJb[�Hb�JHUHJ_IN[OT�KOaJU�WJOS���NO�ǹ�UH_HT�bIMU�I�PHHj�WOJ�cZZo\\�\HT[OJ�Xi}o�\HJ_[RHU�ITb�wQHvXi}oF�YKHUH�RKIT̂HU�IJH�NKH�W[JUN�OW�SITM�aLROS[T̂�[SLJO_HSHTNU�NO�XYZgU�NJITU[N�UMUNHS�VIUHb�OT�ROSSaT[NM�JHROSSHTbIN[OTU�IU�LIJN�OW�NKH�YJITU[N�kLN[S[�IN[OT�mQITU�\NJINĤ[HU�s�jTOPT�IU�Ykm\F�YKH�RKIT̂HU�P[QQ�KILLHT�O_HJ�NKH�THvN�W[_H�MHIJU�IU�WaTb[T̂�ITb�UNIWW[T̂�IQQOPF�� �F��IUN�PHHjHTb̀�NKH�XYZ�LJO_[bHb�WJHH�NJITULOJNIN[OT�WOJ�NKH�]JHIN�XHTO�dIQQOOT�XIRH�IQOT̂�NKH�Xcmi}��[Ĵ[T[I��[THF�YKH�UHJ_[RH�JIT�H_HJM�En�S[TaNHU�VHNPHHT�u�zz�IFSF�ITb�Ez�zz�IFSFF�iN�JIT�VHNPHHT�NKH�XHTOe\LIJjU�ZOT_HTN[OT�ZHTNHJ�ITb�XITRKO�\IT�XIWIHQ�mIJjF�GH�OWWHJHb�I�U[S[QIJ�UHJ_[RH�NPO�PHHjU�ÎO�WOJ�NKH�J[V�ROOjeOWWF�GH�IQPIMU�HTROaJÎH�SHSVHJU�OW�OaJ�ROSSaT[NM�NO�aUH�LaVQ[R�NJITU[NF��
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  ����!��

� "#�$%&�'&(&)*+�$)*,-./�0(1.,.-/)*/.2,�%*-�*33)24&(�/%&�)&/.)&1&,/�25�526)�789:;�<)2/&))*�&+&=/).=�>6-&-?�,&*)+@�526)�@&*)-�&*)+@#�$%&�A$B�C*-�2,&�25�/%&�5.)-/�/2�3)2=6)&�/%&-&�>6-&-?�>*=D�.,�EFGH?�/%*,D-�/2�'$0�$IJJ8A�K)*,/�56,(-#�L&�6-&(�/%&�>6-&-�2,�26)�M.&))*�M3.)./�)26/&#�8N�/)*,-./�/&=%,2+2K@�.-�16=%�>&//&)�,2C�/%*,�./�C*-?�&.K%/�@&*)-�*K2#�$%*/�3)24.(&-�&*-.&)�1*.,/&,*,=&�*,(�>&//&)�)*,K&�>&/C&&,�=%*)K&-#�$%&�'$0�*33)24*+�*++2C-�6-�/2�>&K.,�/%&�3)2=&--�25�)&3+*=.,K�/%&1�C./%�/%&�12)&�(&3&,(*>+&�OP9;�12(&+#��� GF#�$%&�L*-%2&�B26,/@�Q61*,�M&)4.=&-�0K&,=@?�/%&�A$B?�RSTS�U�V&C-�V2C?�*,(�$*)K&/�*)&�%2-/.,K�/%&�EFEE�B%.+()&,�.,�B*)&�M/655�*�76-�W).4&97@�W2,*/.2,�W).4&�2,�$%6)-(*@?�S=/2>&)�EF#��� M/*55�C.++�>&�=2++&=/.,K�,&C?�C.,/&)�=+2/%&-�5)21�,22,�/2�X�3#1#?�52)�12)&�/%*,�UFF�=%.+()&,�.,�=*)&#�Q9M90�C.++�(.-/).>6/&�/%&�(2,*/.2,-�/2�52-/&)�*,(�*(23/&(�=%.+()&,�*/�/%&�QM0�'*1.+@�8,K*K&1&,/�B&,/&)�/%)26K%26/�/%&�,&Y/�-&4&)*+�12,/%-#�$%&�=2116,./@�.-�*-D&(�/2�().4&�>@�*,(�()23�255�(2,*/.2,-�*/�/%&�A$B�>6-�.,�5)2,/�25�/%&�$*)K&/�.,�M3*)D-?�,&*)�T&K&,(-�Z*++�2,�8*-/�T.,=2+,�L*@#�7)*,(�,&C�=+2/%.,K�./&1-�,&&(&(�.,=+6(&�[*=D&/-?�=2*/-?�K+24&-?�-2=D-?�>+*,D&/-?�-C&*/3*,/-?�>22/-?�>&*,.&-?�%22(&(�-C&*/-%.)/-?�*,(�K.5/�=*)(-\��]\̂�� _̀ a�bcdcefg�_chiej�� 0�C).//&,�)&32)/�.-�.,=+6(&(�.,�/%&�*K&,(*�3*=D&/�52)�/%.-�1&&/.,K#��Z)#�<*6+�V&+-2,?�A$B�J24&),1&,/�055*.)-�Z*,*K&)?�*(()&--&(�/%&�72*)(�*,(�*((&(�/%*/�A$B�%*-�36/�.,�*,�*33+.=*/.2,�/2�/%&�M*5&�M/)&&/-�*,(�A2*(-�52)�0++�<)2K)*1�52)�/%&�1*Y.161�*126,/�25�k;F�1.++.2,�(2++*)-#��$%&�A$B�%*-�3.,32.,/&(�+2=*/.2,-�*++�24&)�/%&�)&K.2,�C%&)&�/%&-&�56,(-�C.++�>&�-3&,/�.5�)&=&.4&(#��Z)#�V&+-2,�*+-2�-*.(�/%&�A$B�.-�*+-2�+22D.,K�52)C*)(�/2�)&=&.4.,K�5&(&)*+�K)*,/�56,(.,K�52)�/%&�lM9:";�L.(&,.,K�<)2[&=/�.,�/%&�V2)/%�N*++&@-�*,(�2/%&)�K)*,/�32--.>.+./.&-�*)&�=2,/.,626-+@�>&.,K�+22D&(�.,/2#��]\m�� nop̀ �oqecrjie�_chiej��VWS$�W&36/@�W.)&=/2)�B2+&�Z2)/&,-&,�K*4&�/%&�12,/%+@�)&32)/�3&)/*.,.,K�/2�/)*55.=�-*5&/@?�/%&�K)*,/�56,(.,K�3)&4.26-+@�1&,/.2,&(�>@�<*6+�V&+-2,?�/%&�,&C�;GG�-@-/&1�C%.=%�C.++�%*4&�+.4&�63(*/&-�/2�)2*(�=2,(./.2,-�.,�/%&�-/*/&?�/).3�3+*,,.,K?�&/=#?�*,(�36-%�,2/.5.=*/.2,-�C.++�>&�*4*.+*>+&#��0((./.2,*++@?�VWS$�C.++�)&=&.4&�63�/2�kGFG�1.++.2,�.,�*((./.2,*+�2>+.K*/.2,�5)21�/%&�'QL0�)&(.-/).>6/.2,�3)2K)*1#��T*-/+@?�%&�K*4&�*�>).&5�63(*/&�2,�/%&�M7P�<)2[&=/�*=/.4./.&-#��B211.--.2,&)�L&>&)�*-D&(�C%@�/%&�<*))�726+&4*)(�24&)3*--�.-�.,=+6(&(�.,�/%&�3+*,�52)�/%&�lM9:";�L.(&,.,K�<)2[&=/#��Z)#�Z2)/&,-&,�)&3+.&(�/%*/�./�C*-�.,�/%&�2).K.,*+�3+*,-�*,(�/%&,�VWS$�(&=.(&(�/2�[613�*%&*(�*,(�K&/�/%*/�32)/.2,�=213+&/&(�*,(�26/�25�/%&�C*@�.,�*(4*,=&#��
DRAFT



����������	
������ ������������������������������������  ����!��

"#$$%&&%#'()�*(+()�,-('�.&/(0�.+#1,�,-(�,%$(2%'(�3#)�456789:�3)#$�;<".)).'�,#�=#20('�>.22(?@��;)@�;#),('&('�&.%0�<#'&,)1<,%#'�%&�.',%<%A.,(0�,#�+(B%'�%'�;.?�CDC7@��E'?�.00%,%#'.2�31'0%'B�,-.,�<#$(&�%'�F%22�B#�,#�G-.&(�C�#3�,-(�A)#H(<,�.'0:�%'�.'&F()�,#�.'#,-()�I1(&,%#'�3)#$�"#$$%&&%#'()�*(+():�,-(�A)#H(<,�%&�'#,�B#%'B�.22�,-(�F.?�,#�J(0�J#</@��KLMN�O�� PQRRKSSKQTUV�WTTQXTPURUTYS�WTZ�X[ZWYUS��"#$$%&&%#'()�\%22�F#120�2%/(�3#22#F61A�#'�,-(�].22##'�J.<(�,).'&%,�%'<%0(',@��>%<(�"-.%)�\.),1'B�F#120�2%/(�,#�&((�,-(�G?).$%0̂_($$#'�̀)%a(�"#''(<,#)�+(�.00(0�.&�.�31,1)(�JbcG�E$('0$(',@��\(�F#120�.2&#�2%/(�,#�&((�.00%,%#'.2�d2(eJc̀f&�.00(0�,#�5A.'%&-�5A)%'B&@��KLMN�g�� [XhiKP�KT[XY��"-.%)�_.F&#'�#A('(0�,-(�$((,%'B�,#�A1+2%<�%'A1,�.'0�<.22(0�#'�.'?#'(�F%&-%'B�,#�&A(./�#'�,#A%<&�)(2(a.',�,#�,-(�J(B%#'.2�b).'&A#),.,%#'�"#$$%&&%#'�jJb"k�,-.,�.)(�'#,�%'<210(0�%'�,-(�<1))(',�.B('0.@�����b-()(�+(%'B�'#�#'(�F%&-%'B�,#�&A(./:�,-(�"-.%)�<2#&(0�A1+2%<�%'A1,@��KLMN�lm� WZnQXVTRUTY��b-()(�+(%'B�'#�31),-()�+1&%'(&&�,#�<#$(�+(3#)(�,-(�]#.)0:�,-(�$((,%'B�.0H#1)'(0�.,�oDpo8�.@$@�����qqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqqq�f̀ �_E*5rs:�"-.%)�J(B%#'.2�b).'&A#),.,%#'�"#$$%&&%#'����tt"#A%(&�#3�.22�A)(&(',.,%#'&�.)(�.a.%2.+2(�+?�<#',.<,%'B�;%<-(22(�u).1&�.,�$/).1&v),<F.&-#(@<#$@�� DRAFT



October 13, 2022 RTC Special Board Meeting D R A F T Page 1 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 

THURSDAY 9:30 A.M. October 13, 2022 

PRESENT: 
Ed Lawson, Mayor of Sparks, Chair 

Vaughn Hartung, Washoe County Commissioner, Vice Chair 
Bonnie Weber, Reno City Council Member (Alternate) 

Bob Lucey, Washoe County Commissioner 
Hillary Schieve, Mayor of Reno 

Bill Thomas, RTC Executive Director 
Adam Spear, Legal Counsel 

NOT PRESENT: 

Kristina Swallow, Director of NDOT 

The special meeting, held via Zoom in the Regional Transportation Commission offices, 
located at 1105 Terminal Way, 1st Floor Conference Room, Reno, Nevada, was called to order 
by Chair Lawson. The Board conducted the following business:   

Item 1 MEETING OPENING 

1.1 Roll Call 
1.2 Pledge of Allegiance 

Item 2 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

On motion of Commissioner Hartung, seconded by Commissioner Weber, which motion 
unanimously carried, Chair Lawson ordered that the agenda for this meeting be approved. 

Item 3 PUBLIC COMMENT 

Chair Lawson opened the meeting to public input and called on anyone wishing to speak on 
topics relevant to the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC).  

Mr. Gary Watson, President of Teamsters, Local 533.  While Teamsters Local 533 supports 
Ms. Smothers decision to accept the settlement in terms of the RTC Washoe, the union believes 
Ms. Smothers was unjustly terminated and rightfully should be returned to her former position. 
Ms. Smothers should be reconsidered for reemployment. 

There being no additional comments submitted, the Chair closed public input. 

DRAFT



October 13, 2022 RTC Special Board Meeting D R A F T Page 2 

Item 4   DISCUSSION ITEMS 

4.1 Ratify a mutual release and settlement agreement to settle all claims in Smothers 
v. RTC (Case No. CV21-01185) at a total cost of $106,872.69 (For Possible Action).

Chair Lawson opened discussion to the Board.  As there was no further discussion, and on 
motion by Commissioner Lucey seconded by Commissioner Hartung, which motion carried 
unanimously, Chair Lawson ordered that Discussion Item 4.1 be approved. 

Item 5 PUBLIC COMMENT 

Chair Lawson opened the meeting to public input pertaining to topics relevant to the Regional 
Transportation Commission (RTC) included in the current agenda.    

There being no wishing to speak, the Chair closed public input. 

Item 6  ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting adjourned at 9:37 a.m.  

______________________________ 
ED LAWSON, Chair 
Regional Transportation Commission 

**Copies of all presentations are available by contacting Michelle Kraus at mkraus@rtcwashoe.com. DRAFT



Meeting Date: 10/21/2022  

From: Dale Keller, P.E., Director of Engineering 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Engineering Activity Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

See Attachment A for background and discussion. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for this item is included in the approved FY 2023 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous board action taken. 



ATTACHMENT A 

BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS 

Bus Stop Improvement and Connectivity Program 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/bus-stop-

improvement-connectivity-program/ 

Status: Phase 4 of the program is currently in the NDOT permitting stage. 

Center Street Multimodal Improvements 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/center-

street-multimodal-improvements-project/ 

Status: Thirty percent (30%) design plans are produced. Additional traffic analysis of the downtown 
road network supports the efforts of City of Reno to complete The Downtown PlaceMaking Study. 
Once the final report is published, final scope and design will be completed.  

CAPACITY/CONGESTION RELIEF PROJECTS 

South Virginia Street & I-580 Exit 29 Capacity & Safety 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-

virginia-street-nb-lane-widening/ 

Status: Wood Rodgers, Inc., was the consultant selected from the qualified list and the agreement was 
awarded in May 2022. A Programing Document (Traffic Analysis and Forecast) was submitted to the 
agencies. Preliminary design is under way and 30% design plans are expected by the first quarter of 
2023. Construction is tentatively scheduled for fiscal year 2025 (summer 2024).  

Sparks Boulevard 
Amanda Callegari, South Phase 
Project Manager  
Jeff Wilbrecht, North Phase Project 
Manager 

SparksBLVDproject.com. 

Status: Work is ongoing on the South Phase of the project (widening from four to six lanes from Greg 
Street to Lincoln Way). Granite Construction Company is working in both the southbound and 
northbound directions between Lincoln Way and Greg Street to place new Portland Cement Concrete 
Pavement alongside new barrier rail and multiuse path. Construction is expected to occur through the 
end of 2022.  

Work during the last reporting period included submittal of technical reports and documents 
associated with Environmental Assessment for the North Phase of the project to NDOT. Final design 
of the project is advancing. Utility relocations are being evaluated to ensure project improvements are 
not in conflict. A public meeting will be planned for the Fall to review the findings within the 
Environmental Assessment. 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/bus-stop-improvement-connectivity-program/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/bus-stop-improvement-connectivity-program/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/center-street-multimodal-improvements-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/center-street-multimodal-improvements-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-virginia-street-nb-lane-widening/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/south-virginia-street-nb-lane-widening/
https://sparks-boulevard-project.constantcontactsites.com/


 

 
 

 
Steamboat Parkway Improvement 
Andrew Jayankura, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/steamboat-

pkwy-improvement/ 
 

Status: The 90% design plans are under agency review. Construction is anticipated to start by spring 
of 2023. 
 
Traffic Signal Timing 6 
Andrew Jayankura, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

timing-6-project/ 
 

Status: Signal timing on Damonte Ranch Parkway is underway and anticipated to be complete this 
month. 
 
Traffic Engineering (TE) Spot 10 – South 
Blaine Petersen, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-

engineering-spot-10-south-2/  
 

Status: Sierra Nevada Construction began preliminary/ utility work on the roundabout on September 
29, 2022.  
 
Traffic Management – ITS Phase 4 
Blaine Petersen, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/its-traffic-

management-phase-4/ 
 

Status: Titan Electrical Contracting continues construction of improvements on Prater Way between 
Pyramid Way and Sparks City Hall. 

 
Traffic Signal Installations 22-01 
Blaine Petersen, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

installations-22-01/  
 

Status:  Titan Electrical Contracting continues underground work for the traffic signal at South 
Meadows Parkway and Wilbur May Parkway through October 2022. 
 
Traffic Signal Modifications 22-01 
Sara Going, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-

modifications-22-01/  
 

Status:  The project is in the 90% design stage. 
 
 
 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/steamboat-pkwy-improvement/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/steamboat-pkwy-improvement/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-timing-6-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-timing-6-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-engineering-spot-10-south-2/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-engineering-spot-10-south-2/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/its-traffic-management-phase-4/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/its-traffic-management-phase-4/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-installations-22-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-installations-22-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-22-01/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/traffic-signal-modifications-22-01/


 

 
 

CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 
 
Arlington Avenue Bridges 
Judy Tortelli, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-

avenue-bridges-project/  
 

Status:  The design team is moving towards 60% design and addressing agency comments received.  
Coordination with utility companies is on-going.  Environmental studies continue and the public 
comment period ended on September 16, 2022.   
 
Lemmon Drive 
Amanda Callegari, Segment 2 
Project Manager 

Segment 2 - https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-
project/lemmon-drive-segment-2/  
 

Segment 2 - The project team finalized the Level 2 screening alternatives analysis where the Project 
Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) identified the Natural Berm Alignment as the Agency Endorsed 
Alternative.  The team is advancing the agency endorsed alternative to a 30% design. 
 
Mill Street Capacity and Safety 
Kimberly Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/mill-street-

capacity-and-safety/ 
 

Status: The RTC invites the community to learn more about the Mill Street Capacity and Safety Project 
by viewing a virtual video presentation online at MillStreetWidening.com. Preliminary Design is 
progressing as the design team reviews public comments made during the open comment period. 
 
Oddie/Wells Multimodal Improvements 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager http://oddiewellsproject.com/ 

 
Status: Paving has been completed on the north half of the road within the limits of Phase 1 (Pyramid 
Way to Sullivan Lane in Sparks) and construction activities will continue until the end of November 
2022. A seasonal winter shutdown is expected until next March 2023 (weather permitting) and 
construction activities will begin at Phase 2 (Sullivan Lane in Sparks to Silverada Boulevard in Reno). 
Overall construction, including the remaining phases, is anticipated to continue over the next 
construction seasons and be complete by the third quarter of 2024.  
 
 
Sky Vista Parkway Widening Rehabilitation 
Judy Tortelli, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sky-vista-

widening-rehabilitation-project/  
 

Status:  Spanish Springs Construction is completing earthwork, retaining walls, and underground 
utility work along the north side of Sky Vista Parkway.  The construction management team is 
coordinating with TMWA and NV Energy to schedule reimbursable work included within the project.  
Coordination with various developments along the corridor is on-going.  The team is working closely 
with North Valleys Regional Park for tree inventory, removals, and replacements.  Public outreach 
efforts continue to develop as the team works on a roundabout education campaign tailored to the 
project area.  

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-avenue-bridges-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arlington-avenue-bridges-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/lemmon-drive-segment-2/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/lemmon-drive-segment-2/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/mill-street-capacity-and-safety/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/mill-street-capacity-and-safety/
http://oddiewellsproject.com/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sky-vista-widening-rehabilitation-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/sky-vista-widening-rehabilitation-project/


 

 
 

 
Truckee River Shared Use Path 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-

river-shared-use-path-project/  
 

Status: The RTC is continuing to coordinate with the Reno Sparks Indian Colony (RSIC) for the 
necessary property in which the pathway will traverse.  
 
PAVEMENT PRESERVATION PROJECTS 
 
2022 Preventive Maintenance 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager  

 
Status: This project keeping good roads good is underway.  The project includes crack sealing, 
patching, and microsurfacing on approximately 150 lane miles of regional streets.  Microsurfacing 
activities are complete and the contractor is finalizing striping and utility adjustments. 
 
4th Street (Sparks) Reconstruction 
Judy Tortelli, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/lemmon-dr-

segment-1/  
 

Status: Ninety percent (90%) design submittal is currently under agency review.  The team is 
coordinating with NV Energy and the City of Sparks to schedule replacement of aging infrastructure 
within the project limits.  Coordination with Washoe County School District is on-going.  The Right-of-
Way engineering process is underway.  Construction is anticipated to start in April 2022. 
 
Arrowcreek Parkway Rehabilitation 
Kimberly Diegle, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-

pkwy-rubblestone-to-virginia/  
 

Status: Ninety percent (90%) design plans are under agency review. Right-of-way easement 
acquisition process is getting underway. Beginning of construction is anticipated for late Summer 
2022. 
 
Holcomb Avenue Rehabilitation 
Amanda Callegari, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/holcomb-

avenue-rehabilitation/ 
 

Status: The project has completed preliminary engineering design. RTC and the City of Reno held a 
public information meeting on September 26th to discuss project related improvements, specifically 
reconfiguration of the Sinclair-Holcomb intersection and buffered bike lanes. Final design will be 
complete by the end of 2022 for spring 2023 construction. 
 
Peckham Lane Rehabilitation 
Andrew Jayankura, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/peckham-

lane/  
 

Status: Construction is ongoing, and will be complete this fall. 
 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-shared-use-path-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/truckee-river-shared-use-path-project/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/lemmon-dr-segment-1/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/lemmon-dr-segment-1/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-pkwy-rubblestone-to-virginia/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/arrowcreek-pkwy-rubblestone-to-virginia/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/holcomb-avenue-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/holcomb-avenue-rehabilitation/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/peckham-lane/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/peckham-lane/


 

 
 

 
Reno Consolidated 22-01 – Sky Valley Drive and Sky Mountain Drive 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/reno-

consolidated-22-01-sky-valley-sky-mountain/ 
 

Status: The project is substantially complete. 
 
Sutro Street & Enterprise Road Rehabilitation 
Maria Paz Fernandez, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/reno-

consolidated-23-01-sutro-enterprise/ 
 

Status: Final design plans have been completed and the project is being advertised for bidding.  
Construction is expected in spring 2023. 
 
OTHER PROJECTS 
 
4th Street Station Expansion 
Jeff Wilbrecht, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-

station-expansion/  
 

Status: Work during the last reporting period continued coordinating preliminary design elements 
associated with the project; specifically refining the preliminary site layout to ensure future electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure is accounting for current technologies. 
 
Peppermill BRT Station 
Scott Gibson, Project Manager  
Status: The project advertised bids for construction and Q&D Construction was awarded the contract. 
The project is expected to be constructed in early 2023. 
 
REPORT ON NEGOTIATED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS FOR THE ACQUISITION OF 
PROPERTY 
 

Project Property Owner Purchase 
Amount 

Amount 
Over 

Appraisal 
Bus Stop ICP FA Acquisition III, LLC 4,891.27 - 
 
CONTRACTS UP TO $100,000 
 
None 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/reno-consolidated-22-01-sky-valley-sky-mountain/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/reno-consolidated-22-01-sky-valley-sky-mountain/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/reno-consolidated-23-01-sutro-enterprise/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/reno-consolidated-23-01-sutro-enterprise/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-station-expansion/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/engineering-project/4th-street-station-expansion/


 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022                
 
From: Christian Schonlau, Director of Finance/CFO 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Procurement Activity Report. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
See Attachment A for background and discussion. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
There has been no previous board action taken. 
 



�������������	
��������

����������
���������������������������� �!�	��"#$�� �%#����#�&'(�
#)%#�������	��*���+���
 	!�	��"#$�� �%#����#�,-./0�12342526�,/377/�836592/�:3275/7;�<7=7>-?@75/�,/.;A� :B/-C73�DEF�GHGG�
�	�
���������������� �
������� �!��I�
��JKL�MNO�PPQR�MNO�PPS�TUV�NWXYZ�[TUT\K]KÛ�J_̀abc�JdeP�fJgLbhTZaU\Ri�̂hK�jkKbĝalK�maLKb̂_L�hTZ�Tĝh_Lâc�_̂�UK\_̂aT̂K�TUV�KkKbĝK�T�b_ÛLTb̂�nâh�̂hK�̀_nKẐ�LKZo_UZalK�TUV�LKZo_UZap̀K�paVVKL�_U�TU�qUlâT̂a_U�r_L�saV�tqusv�nâh_ĝ�X_]]aZZa_U�TooL_lT̀w�	��"#$�� ������$���� �x�������#� ������$���y�%���&'(�	
� ��������
����z��������{��{
�������JKL�NWXYZ�[TUT\K]KÛ�J_̀abc�JdeP�jkKbĝalK�maLKb̂_L�hTZ�Tĝh_Lâc�̂_�TooL_lK�b_ÛLTb̂Z�\LKT̂KL�̂hTU�|Q}R~~~�TUV�̀KZZ�̂hTU�t_L�K�gT̀�̂_v�|e~~R~~~w�	��"#$�� ������$���� ������$���y�%����>7���<���2B3-/36592/�,-�/�637�65;��A�/�832?9� ,?637��6C9F��5B�� ���FHHH�����{���
��
���������
��������������I������������������
����
��
�����	����	�
�����{�	�����������
����	��"#$�� ������$���� �**����+����#� ���z��y#�����%y�#�� ���z��y#�����y�%��� 
#���#������+�������$���y�%����2>>�,/377/��-@?>7/7�,/377/9� ,?65290�,?32549��-59/3.B/2-5� �'G�'GHGG� G� �D��FD�H���� �EFGHGF�������



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022  
 
From: Daniel Doenges, Director of Planning 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Planning Activity Report. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
See Attachment A for Background and Discussion. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
There has been no previous board action taken. 
 



ATTACHMENT A 
 
PLANNING STUDIES  
 
McCarran Boulevard Corridor Study 
Dan Doenges, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/mccarran-

boulevard-corridor-study/ 
 

Status: Draft project recommendations presented to TAC and RTC and NDOT leadership. 
Presentation scheduled for the October Board meeting. Preparing for final public outreach. 
 
Verdi Area Multimodal Transportation Study 
Xuan Wang, Project Manager https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/verdi-area-

multimodal-transportation-study/  
 

Status: The project team is preparing for the second project TAC meeting. 
 

Virginia Street Transit Oriented Development (TOD) Planning Study 
Graham Dollarhide, Project 
Manager 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-
virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/  
 

Status: Procurement process underway. 
 

Active Transportation Plan 
Dan Doenges, Project Manager N/A  
Status: Procurement process underway. 
 
 

ONGOING PROGRAMS 
 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Planning 
RTC Planning and Engineering 
Staff 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/metropolitan-planning/ 
 

Status:  Ongoing collaboration with partner agencies on several initiatives to improve bicycle and 
pedestrian safety & facilities: 

• RTC is collaborating with City of Reno with the Micromobility Study. 
• Agreement for the bicycle and pedestrian count program under development. 

 
 
Vision Zero Truckee Meadows 
James Weston, Project Manager https://visionzerotruckeemeadows.com/ 

 
Status: Meeting held on October 17, 2022 

• Staff has completed an update to the Vision Zero Action Plan. 
• Local jurisdictions have provided relevant pedestrian safety policies and programs that 

were included/referenced in the plan. 
• Regional crash analysis underway.   

 

https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/mccarran-boulevard-corridor-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/mccarran-boulevard-corridor-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/verdi-area-multimodal-transportation-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/verdi-area-multimodal-transportation-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/south-virginia-street-transit-oriented-development-tod-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/mpo-corridor-plan/verdi-area-multimodal-transportation-study/
https://www.rtcwashoe.com/metropolitan-planning/
https://visionzerotruckeemeadows.com/


 

COMMUNITY AND MEDIA OUTREACH ACTIVITIES 
 
 

Outreach Activities 
Lauren Ball, Project Manager 
Status: RTC staff conducted the following outreach activities from September 9 – October 20:  
   
September 9-11 FREE RIDE to Great Reno Balloon Race  
September 15            FHWA/NDOT Resource Agency Meeting RTC Air Quality                          
                                  Initiatives/Achieving CAA Compliance for Regional Projects 
September 26            Holcomb Avenue Project Community Meeting  
September 30           Governor's Infrastructure Summit, Panel participant - highlight local                           
                                 and regional accomplishments and opportunities through the            
                                 Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act 
October 5           Family Health Festival Event Table - transportation information for  
                                O'Brien Middle School students and their families 
October 12              Reno + Sparks Chamber Leadership – RTC Overview Presentation 
October 13          Western Regional Minority Supplier Development Council - Northern  
                                Nevada Small & Minority Business Opportunity Day 
October 13          Sparks Citizens Advisory Committee - Fuel Tax Presentation 
October 17              Vision Zero Truckee Meadows Task Force Meeting  
October 18          OSBA Carson City Small Business Resource Fair - Transportation  
                                Information for small businesses 
October 19             Nevada Traffic Safety Summit – Presentation: Traffic Safety Through                
                               Community Engagement 
October 20         Stuff A Bus: Children In Care Donation Drive 
 
Media Relations & Social Media 
Lauren Ball, Project Manager 
Status: The RTC issued 6 news releases and received 6 media inquiries regarding major closures 
and detours for the Sparks Boulevard Project, free transit to the Great Reno Balloon Race, the 
2021-2025 Regional Transportation Improvement Program Amendment No. 3 Public Comment 
and Participation Notice, a community meeting about the Holcomb Avenue Project, detours for the 
Peckham Lane Project, the transit service change, and the fuel tax.  
 
Social media was used to promote and provide information about the RTC Board Meeting,    
regarding major closures and detours for the Sparks Boulevard Project, free transit to the Great 
Reno Balloon Race, the 2021-2025 Regional Transportation Improvement Program Amendment 
No. 3 Public Comment and Participation Notice, a community meeting about the Holcomb Avenue 
Project, detours for the Peckham Lane Project, the transit service change, RTC VANPOOL, Keolis 
and MTM employees of the month, a traffic switch for the Oddie Wells Project, access changes for 
North Valleys Regional Park as part of the Sky Vista Project, the completion of the Mill Street 
Project, and more. 
 
Social media metrics for the month of September: 40,037 impressions on Facebook, Twitter, 
YouTube, and Instagram. 
 



 

 
Informational Materials and Video Production 
Lauren Ball, Project Manager 
Status:  Four topics were broadcast on KOLO-TV for The Road Ahead with RTC. Segments 
included information about the transit service change, the Sparks Blvd. marathon paving weekend, 
using transit to get to Wolf Pack games, and an update on the Oddie Wells Project. 
 
 



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022 
 
From: Jennifer Meyers, Contracts Administrator 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Acknowledge receipt of the monthly Public Transportation and Operations Report. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
See Attachment A for background and discussion. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
There has been no previous board action taken. 
 



ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
Highlights  
 

Senior Fest 2022 - RTC staffed a 
booth at the Annual Senior Fest 
event on September 6th at the Reno 
Town Mall. In its 25th year, this 
event gave seniors an opportunity 
to connect with senior service 
providers and businesses. 
Participants had an opportunity to 
tour one of RTC’s new FlexRIDE 
vans, and staff provided 

information on how to use the service. At the event, staff interacted 
with members of the public, providing answers to questions and 
information about RTC’s transit system. Staff also gave out 

information on the new RTC 
ACCESS Reservation Hours 
beginning September 10, 2022 
to all RTC ACCESS eligible 
clients who visited the booth. 
RTC Board Chair, Mayor Ed 
Lawson, RTC Commissioner Mayor Hillary Schieve, and 
alternate Commissioner Bonnie Webber attended the event. 
 

 
RTC Provides Free Bus Rides to the Great Reno 
Balloon Race – On Friday, September 9, Saturday, 
September 10, and Sunday, September 11 from 4 a.m. 
until 10:00 a.m., RTC provided free transportation to 
passengers boarding at the RAPID Virginia Line stop in 
front of the Reno-Sparks Convention Center, or returning 
from Rancho San Rafael Park to attend the Great Reno 
Balloon Race.   

 
 
 
RTC RIDE Key Highlights – September 

 
• New Uniforms for drivers were ordered 
• Recruiting took part in Labor Fest event to promote job openings in the company 
• HR conducted Diversity & Anti-Harassment classes with all employees 
• NFADA/NV Energy’s Test Drive Event on 9/24/22, at Mira Loma Park 



 
 

• Released 5 trainees to operations for revenue service 
• 3 driver resignations  
• Dana Nelson honored as Driver of the Month 
• Balloon Race service to Rancho San Rafael Park 9/9 – 

9/11 
• September Service Change effective 9/10/22 
• 1 open Shop Supervisor position  
• Maintenance Shop technicians are fully staffed 
• Maintenance Shop has started to perform in-house wheel 

alignments 
• Continuing to recruit for IT Manager  
• Successfully passed a 3rd Party audit with DMV  
• September Safety Meeting Topics: chartering the Safety Committee and Site Management 

team 
• No new ULPs or Grievances filed 

 
     Keolis represented staffing headcount as of September 30, 2022: 
 

Position Total Employed #Needed 
Coach Operator Trainees 7 7 
Coach Operators 151 14 
Dispatchers 6 0 
Road Supervisors 6 1 
Mechanic A 5 0  
Mechanic B 4 0 
Mechanic C 4 0 
EV Technician 1 0 
Electronics Tech 2 1 
Body Technician 2 0 

 
 
RTC ACCESS Key Highlights – September 
Safety 
Accidents:  1 
Injuries:  0 
YTD Preventable Accident Count:  9 
YTD Injury Count:   5 
   
September Safety Blitz – Fixed Objects, Mirror Station 
 
September Safety Meeting – Vehicle Emergencies 

 
Recruitment/Staffing Update 
2 new hires started 8/23/2022  
1 new hire started 9/6/2022  
2 new hires started 9/27/2022 
 



 
 

Employee Appreciation Event – Tuesday, September 20, 2022, Reno’s 1st Annual Fish Fry 
(Feast) 

 
 
MTM represented staffing headcount as of September 30, 2022: 
 

Position Total Employed #Needed 
Drivers 50FT – 3PT 5 FT – 0 PT 
Dispatchers 4 FT 0 
Reservationists 4.5 FTE’s 0 
Mechanic A 4 FT 0 
Utility Worker 0 1 

 
TRANSIT DEMAND MANAGEMENT (TDM) Update  
 

• Vanpools remained at 347.  
• RTC Washoe’s vanpool program set new highs in the month of August with 56,028 trips 

saved and 1,966,893 miles driven being saved. 
• Smart Trips staff met with Reno Tahoe Airport Authority staff to discuss 

marketing/advertising opportunities. 
• Smart Trips staff handed out Smart Trip and Vanpool brochures in Incline Village. 
• Staff met with the Governor’s Office of Small Business to work on transit access and 

programs for groups of small businesses. 
• The Washoe County Tahoe Transportation Plan Public meeting in Incline Village has been 

rescheduled to November 16 at 4:00 p.m., 948 Incline Way, Incline Village. RTC will be 
discussing the vanpool program and will have a vanpool vehicle available for participants to 
see.    

• The Northern Nevada Transportation Management Association (TMA) will meet in October 
to finish plans for its first outreach event. 

  



 
 

• Ridership numbers from the ED Pass Program through the month of August: 
 

 
 

 
 
The fixed-route driver strikes impacted October & November 2021 ridership numbers.  
 
AUGUST 2022 TRANSIT PERFORMANCE 
 

RTC RIDE 

    
  

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
FY 2019 4 521 3,669 4,198 3,137 2,178 2,227 3,017 3,200 3,217 2,890 1,993
FY 2020 2,779 5,218 8,159 9,127 6,808 6,592 7,312 9,084 5,873 1,818 1,877 2,410
FY2021 2,991 3,723 4,156 4,185 3,502 3,455 3,329 3,409 3,881 4,471 4,333 4,330
FY2022 4,670 3,581 6,584 0 0 2,447 3,376 4,924 5,936 6,410 5,716 6,033
FY2023 6,539 7,482

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000
9,000

10,000

UNR Ridership by Month

FY 2019

FY 2020

FY2021

FY2022

FY2023

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
FY2019 6 431 3,582 4,798 3,648 2,516 1,767 4,206 4,049 4,491 4,456 3,241
FY2020 1,933 4,086 8,193 9,311 7,479 5,413 5,945 9,668 6,227 2,193 1,968 2,310
FY2021 2,414 3,090 3,187 3,535 1,712 2,493 2,402 2,459 2,800 3,225 3,126 3,124
FY2022 2,208 1,584 3,516 0 0 1,480 1,858 2,875 3,773 3,889 3,585 3,287
FY2023 2,533 3,913

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

TMCC Ridership by Month

FY2019

FY2020

FY2021

FY2022

FY2023



 
 

 
RTC ACCESS  

   
 
RTC FlexRIDE 

 
 
TART 

  
 
RTC VANPOOL 

  
 



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022                
 
From: Daniel Doenges, Director of Planning 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Approve an Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with the Board of Regents, Nevada System of Higher 
Education, on behalf of the University of Nevada, Reno, for the Multimodal Traffic Data LiDAR Study 
and Analysis, in the amount of $100,000. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
The proposed agreement will allow RTC to collect data on active transportation modes to better inform 
future infrastructure investment, enhance safety analysis, conduct before-and-after comparisons on project 
implementation, and support future grant funding opportunities. There is a growing need to collect better 
data to inform planning-level decisions and incorporate best practices in data-driven project 
implementation. This program will better position RTC to achieve these outcomes. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Funding for this program in the amount of $100,000 is included in the FY 2022-2023 Unified Planning 
Work Program (UPWP). 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
4/16/2021  Approved the FY 2022 – FY 2023 UPWP. 
 



�

��

��������	���
	������	�	�����
�����
����	��������
���	�������
	�����	�
�������� �����������������	���� �!��"����#	���� �!�$%���� �&���!&��!����&��!����!����� '���()�*+**)�',��!&�'��-��!�����.���&��/�
���!��)�����&��,��� ��/���������&01����!)��!�'���2/��/������!�������,��/�����&�)�
�!��"�����!�/��������#�����
��3$%)��!&�����
����!�2����!���������!���  �����!��/����������0!�,�"�����!�/����#
��$%4�� ���
�	)���������������������	���� �!�������0'2�1����!1�����!&��0�����5�&�����!�����!�������� �!����!��11��&�!1��-�����
�*664+7+�����0���*664(7+8��!&�� ���
�	)��
�*664((+��0�����5����!,��-����� �����0'2�1����!1��������!�����!�������� �!���/�������#9��!���:��1�����/���-���)������2������!&��0������,$8��!&�� ���
�	)��0��0�!������
�*664(7+)��/������������!�'2,�/�������'2����������0'2�1����!1,�-�22�'����;0���&�����:��!&� �������!�<*=)+++����1���,��0���01���!������ �!�)���������� �!�� 0�������/�����/022,������0������)���-���)�������)��'9�1�������!&������!��'�2�������/������������)�'������/��&�',��������������//�1��2��1���!��/����������!�!��'�&,��/���1������,)��!&�'���!�-����!�8��!&�� ���
�	)������0�������/������	���� �!��������1�!&01�����02�� �&�2����//�1���������	
��0&,��!&�	!�2,���8��!&�� ���
�	)����������1������'�������&�&�',����������
��3�-�22�'���/�'�!�/����������
����!&������������2���/��������������0!�,)�����&�8��!&�� ���
�	)����������
��3)�����0�����������2��!��!����!�������� �!�)����-�22�!���!&��'2��������/�� �������1�!�1�2������1���!��&�&�����0��2� �!���������/�����
���/��������0�������/� 02�� �&�2��2�!!�!����2���&���0&���4�� ���)����
���
�)��!�1�!��&������!��/�������� ������!&��/����� 0�0�2�1���!�!��������!�1�!���!�&)������������&����/�22�-�>�� 	4�
������������>�� (4������� '0���������
��3��!��!�� �0!��!��?��?�:1��&�<(++)+++4������0�����5�&�&���1���!&��!&���1��1����������&�!��/��&��!�����'0&����90���/�1����!�����1��&�����:��'���	4�� *4�����22�-����������
��3�����'�����)������-)��!&��!���1������1����&� 02�� �&�2����//�1����9�1���-��������0!&�����!&�!��������22���� ���/�1�!1��!��������'���������&��������
��@�����9�1����!����4�� A4�����'�����)������-)��!&��!���1���22�-��B�����1����&�-�����������9�1��&0��!��� �2� �!�����!�����!�0����&����!1��������9�1�����!&��&�)����1�/�1����!�)��!&�1�������4��



�

��

���������	
�����������������	�����������������������	�	�	�������
��
�������	������	�������������	
�	����������	������	�����������
��	���	��������������������������������������	�����������������	�	�������	
����������	�������������� �������	
�	���������	��!���������
��������������	�	
�������	�����������
�����	����������	���� �	
�	
���"����!��	��� #���$�%&�'��(��������	�)�� *�������������	
�������	
����
��	��������&�����������+����	!��	��������������	������	���������������!��������!��	������������������������������	���������&,
���	�"��������������������	���� -������������	
�������������������	
���
���	�!������	���	
���!��	
���������	�	����!���	���	.�	�.�,����/*00�000��&�
���������
��������	����	
������	�����������	���	��������������	
�����������������������������
����	
���1�������	�����������	���	����������	���������	
�������	�2��	����	�����		�
������&,
���	�"���
���$�%&�'��(� ������������������	�������!��	�	����	
�	�	
�� ����������!��������!��	��	
��	������������������������3���	������������ ����	����!�	�������������	
�	)�� *����������!��	�������!�		���	������	��������4�	 ��
����!�����������!��	�	��!������50��������	���	
�������	���
����������
����������������
�������!������������������	�������	
��6�����"�������������	��� -���
��	��!����	
���"����!��	��
����������!�$���!����*��-0--�	��7	�����5*��-0-5��� 5���
��������!��������������	
���"����!��	����$���!����*��-0--�	��7	�����5*��-0-5��� ����
���"����!��	�!������	��!���	����	�����	�!�������	
������	�� �	
��	����������������	
�	���	��!���	�����
������	��������	������	���	
��	��8509��������	��������	��
���������� ��		�����	��������	
���	
������	����
�����	�����,��������������	
�	�	
���"����!��	��
�������	��!���	����!!����	�������������������������������������������	��	����	�����	
���"����!��	���� �	
��� �����!�	��������!�����������	
��������!��	����	��!���	����������	�	��	
�������������	
���$�%&�'��(��
�����������������������������������	���	
�������������������	
�����	��������	
����
�	
����	����������	���� ��		�����	������	��!���	������ :��"�����	��������	
����!!����	�������3������������!�		���	�����������������	
���"����!��	��
���������� ��	���������
����������!���	��
�����������������������������������������������
��������	����
��������!����������	�����!���� �	
���!��	���������������!��������!��������	������!�������	���������	���3���	�������	���������������	
����	�����	������������������	��	
���	
������	���	�	
������������	����	
����� )�



�

��

� ����������	
������	������������	
��� ������������������������� ������!"!#�� $�	 "!�� �� ��#�	 %! ���! %�� !"��&!�'������"�$���
� ��
� ������()**+,-.*/���� ���0++*1�+(2,./3/�4�5��0++*1�+(2,.3)-�	,��!#��6� %�7� ���$����8��
�����������	
���8��!9�������� &���$����:�9�&;3/*�9;��<�&������$'��� !"��&!�'������"�$���
� ���.==2�����!�%! !������
� �����"�$��()**+���� ���0++*1�+(2,2-2-�4�5��0++*1�+(2,==(-�	,��!#���&��$�! 7� ���$��� ������
���� �� ���� %�&���!��9��������#�  ! %�� 
�%!� �#���� &������!� �����!&&!� ��� ..-*�����! �#�>�'�
� ������()*-/���� ���0++*1�33*,.)-.�	,��!#��$$�� %�&7��9?�&����9���� =������
���$��&� ������"!$��� '�?���� �'�����������&�!�����!&�� ��99���������#�9�!� ���������! �#�9�&�������
���$!&9#�!�&�� '�&�9��?���� �'�������! �#�9�&�&���'�"��'�?!$�#'�$��� $! %�� ������'������?��@��&9�������?��@��� $�������  ���! �?�!9������?��@�!&���������$���##�����!�&��������&��##�A��?��'�! ����!����#!� 9��� ������&�!����&�&���������! ���!&��%����� ���� +��� '�� $��##�9���#���$�������&�������!�#&��&��$!�&�������%����&�� �%��!"�&��$��?! %&����������$�9��� �&��������$�! ������������� 9���A#!%��!� &�� $�����!&��%����� ��&��##�A��$����$���A#!9�! ������!� �� #�&&�&��9!�!9�##'�� $�#�?��##'�9#�&&!�!�$�9� �!$� �!�#��B��������!�&�&��##�� &���� ��&�9��$�9��� �&������&�$�����9�����9!�#������&�&���������� ��������� 9������A#!%��!� &�� $�����!&��%����� ���� (�����������##�&���5�� ������
����������2.�#!�A!#!�'�#!�!���!� &����9������'�&��##�! $�� !�'����#$�����#�&&�� $�$��� $����������������� $��%�! &���##�#!�A!#!�'��9#�!�&���9�!� &��$���%�&��#�&&�&��� $��5�� &�&��! 9#�$! %�A��� ���#!�!��$�������&� �A#������� �'&C����&�� $�9�&�&��9��&�$�A'����� �%#!%� 9��������&����!&&!� &����9@#�&& �&&����! �� �!� �#��!&9� $�9�������������'��!�&����!9��&�����#�'��&�� $��%� �&��?�!9����'��99���$��! %����?�!9����'���!&��������������������� 9�������!&��%����� �����9���A#!%��!� �&��##� ���A��9� &����$���� �%������A�!$%�����������?!&����$�9��� '��������!%�������A#!%��!� ����! $�� !�'�?�!9��?��#$������?!&���5!&���&����� '�����'�������&� �



�

��

����������	����
���	����
��
��������
����������
������
�����
������
��	���������
�������	�����������	�������������
���
��
��������
���
��
������������������������	����	�����������
��
����
������������	�������
�
���������������������
��
�����������	�
�������������	���
��
��������������
���������������������
��
������������������������
���	���
��
����
���������	����
��������������������������
������
�������
�����������
���������
�����������	���
��
������������������������������� ������
���������	��������������������	����������
�����!"#$%&'#�(��
��
�������������
����������
�����
��
���
�����������������
��������
������	��	����������
�����"&'�)*���+����,-�������������������������
���.���	�������������
����������
���
��
����������������������"&'�/	������)*�������������������
���
������������0�����
������������������	����������	����
���������1���������
��������������0������������������
��&�/������	��	����
������ ������	�����
�������
����	��	�	�������
����������������������
���
�����	���0�����
�������
������������������	����������������������
�� ����
�������	����������	�������	��� *���2�������������������������	�����	��������������������
������������������	�����	��0�����
��������������������
�
�������������������	����������	����
�����������������������������	�����������
������������	���������������������
����	��������	��� **��0
����������
�������������	��&�/��	��	�������
��������	�
�����	����������������������������	��� ���������
��
������	���0�����
������������
��������� �����������
���	������������������
��
�0�
��
���	��	��������������	��	��
�������
������������������	��������	����	����������
������� ����������	���������������������	�������	����
��
�����������
��� *-���	���0�����
���
���	�����	����
�����������
������	����������	�������	������������
��������
����
��������������
�������	�����������	��'��������"��������	������������
��
������	��1����������
�����	��"���������������������������
������
������	���0�����
���� *����	�����������������
�������������
����������
����������
�����	���0�����
���	����
�����������	���������������	������
��������	��0�����
���
���	���0�����
���	���������
����������������	���������
�����
���� ������	���
�
�������������������	���������
��	����
������	���������
�����
����	�����������
������������
������	���0�����
���
�
������������ *)��0�������
����������������
������
���������	����������	��������
��
����	����������
����
�����
����
�����	���0�����
����
���	�����	�������
�����
�����������������������
��	��������������
���	�������������	���0�����
���� *+��#�������������������������������
��	����������� �����
���	���0�����
���	���������
����
��
��������
������	����������
������
�����������	��0�����
�������������
��	�������������
��������	���������	������������
����������������	����
��������������	���3���
��
��
���������������	���0�����
�������
���
�����������������
����
1������������������������������
������	������������������
������	���0�����
����



�

��

���������	�
����
����������	������������������
����
���������	��������������	
����	�����������
����������	�����
���
�����������������	�
����������������
�����������	
��������������
�������������������������
���������
����	���������������������
�������������������	���������������������
�������
���
�����������������������������������������
���
�������������������������������������������
���
��� !"����
������
�������	����������������� �#��$���	�
������
���������������������������
��������
�����	�
	�����������������������������
������������
�������������	�
���������������������	��������������	�
������������������
�����������
�	�
������������	�
����������������
���������	�
��������������	�
���������
���������
����	�
��
�������������������������������������
��	������������������
�������
��������%�������������������������
������������������������
������
��������
�������	�
���
���	��
�&����������
�������
�����
����������	����������	����
'��	�������
�	
����	��'�������
��������
������
���������������������
��������������������
������
��	����������������������������������������������������������������
��������
���������
�	�
������(��%�����
�	�
�����������������
�����
���������
������
�������������
������������������
������������
�������
�������������������	
��
��
�������������������������
�	�
����� �)��$���	�
�������
����
�	
������������

�������������	�
�������������������
�������������������������	�
������������	���
����������
�����������
������������
��������������������	�
�������
�������
�*����������������������������	�
�������������������
�����
������ +,��-�
���������%.��+!)�,�,������
��������
�������������������	������	���������	�������������	�����$���	�
���������������������������������������������	�
������
�
���
��������������������������
������������������������������
������� +��������	�
������������	����������������������
������������������
���
���	
��������	
�	�
��������
�����
�
����������������	�
�������������������������������
�������������������������������
�����
�����
�/��
������������
��������� ++��$�����
����������������������������������������������������		
���������		
�	
�������������������������������
�����������������	�
����� +!��$�����
���������������������������
���
��������������	�
����������������������������������	������������������������������������	
��������
�	
�����������������������������������������������
��
����������������������������������������������������������&���������
���
�����0�������������
�������������������������
��������	��������������	��������������������������������	�
������
�	�
�����������
�����������
�������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������
��������������������������
������������
��������0����������
�������	
�����������
�*������������
������������
�������������������������
��������������������
������������������������	�������	�
����������������������������
����������������������
��	�������	�
�������
�����



�

��

���������	
��������������������������������������������� !�"�#�����������
���#�����$�%�#����&��'��������&�(���#��������%����)��������'���#)�	*��'����+���!�"�#�����������
�,'�#���%)�- �����"��.� -/�&�
���#�����������0�%%)����������1���#���2��#��#������1'���&�����3����#'���������#�"��������������14000&�$������'#�����0�%%)����2���5�����6�������	
��������#���������'�����#������������#������5�������������������������)������)�
�"������#�'��������������������������������5������)������������#���������������/�������2�#�����������'���������������#������#�����������)����������#���%)�������5����$���#����������#�����#����������%�������������1���#���7�����)�2�������#��������2����������������#�#����5������)�����'���#������2�#������&�����	
������#������������)��������������#���)�#�,'�#������'����������#������	*��%���8&�"�����$��������9���	���97	
	(1&�������#�������5�������5����'���������2�#����������%���*��'������������������#����%�5���#��������
	:�(�20��
2��;(
�2��(�� 8(2
$�(1�
	:	���&�"(<<����(��(1�92�7(	�"(���� �	�2$2� ���	<� (1� 7�:7	
�	$�"2��(�&����%����������������5�#���)������5���&�
������� � � ��8����������&�2�";&�	*��'��5��$�#����#� �������0��������� 2���������$�#����#&�������#���;#�=�������� �



�

��

�����������	
�������������



��������	�
��	��
�	�	
�������
��
���
�	����



�
�
�	��



���� !"#$�
%&$'' (
)$�$
*�++"&�
�"
,%-
.$/0"1

23,
*1&4 (1
*("+1
%"
,%-
.$/0"1
23,
-"5�$(�6
7$"
8�9
:0;);9
:;<;9
0$"=>�5&;1#�9
??@A?BCADEFE


G
HIJKLMNOJPLI

���� !"#$�
�&$'' (
#$�$
$&1
(& � ($�
�"
�01
&1Q "5$�
�&$5/+"&�$� "5
+�$55 5Q
+&"(1//
'"&
�&$'' (
+�$55 5Q9
/$'1�R9
$5#
"+1&$� "5
 5
�01
,15"A*+$&S/
!1�&"+"� �$5
$&1$;
. �0
23,T/
&"$#/ #1
U )V,
#$�$
("��1(� "5
#14 (1/9
#$�$
+&"(1// 5Q
�""�/9
$5#
+1&/"551�
1=+1&� /19
W1
W ��
+&"4 #1
!��� !"#$�
�&$'' (
#$�$
/�++"&�
�"
,%-
.$/0"1
 5
"51
/1&4 (1
R1$&9
W0 (0
 5(��#1/
XNYJPXLMZY
[P\]̂ 
MZJZ
OLYY_OJPLI
ZIM
̀KZMNZJ_
PIJ_KIabPc
dLKe
LI
fHg
MZJZh

i
gOLc_
Lj
kLKe
V
23,
Q&$#�$�1
 5�1&5/0 +
W ��
l1
$// Q51#
�"
W"&S
W �0
�01
,%-
:&"m1(�
�$5$Q1&
 5
�01
/1&4 (1
R1$&
�"
("��1(�
U )V,
#$�$9
+&"(1//
#$�$9
$5#
+1&'"&!
"�01&
#$�$
$5$�R/1/
W �0
no*;
%01
Q&$#�$�1
/��#15�
W ��
("��1(�
U )V,
�&$'' (
#$�$
W �0
�01
/�++"&�
"'
$
23,
&1/1$&(0
/( 15� /�9
l$/1#
"5
,%-
#$�$
&1p� &1!15�/;
U )V,
#$�$
"'
qF
 5�1&/1(� "5/
W ��
l1
("��1(�1#
 5
�01
"51AR1$&
/1&4 (19
l1/ #1/
�01
Q&$#�$�1
 5�1&5/0 +T/
$## � "5$�
no*
#$�$
$5$�R/ /
/�++"&�;
)$�$
&1p� &1!15�/
'"&
1$(0
�"($� "5
W ��
l1
#1�1&! 51#
l$/1#
"5
+�&+"/1
$5#
511#9
$5#
!$R
 5(��#1
$5R
("!l 5$� "5
"'9
l��
 /
5"�
� ! �1#
�"9
�01
'"��"W 5Q
r 5(��#1
 5 � $�
� /�s;

o'
5"
U )V,
#$�$
 /
l1 5Q
("��1(�1#
"&
+&"(1//1#9
"�01&
no*
#$�$
&1p� &1!15�/
W ��
l1
#1�1&! 51#
l$/1#
"5
511#9
$5#
W ��
l1
# /(�//1#
"5
$
l AW11S�R
l$/ /
23,
W ��
/�l! �
�01
#1� 41&$l�1/
'"&
1$(0
/ �1
W �0 5
"51
!"5�0
$'�1&
�01
#$�$
("��1(� "5;

th
gOb_MNY_

%01
!��� !"#$�
#$�$
/�++"&�
/1&4 (1
 /
'"&
$
"51
R1$&
�1&!
("!!15( 5Q
�+"5
1=1(�� "5
"'
�01
$Q&11!15�;

uh
vNM̀_J
%01
/1&4 (1
l�#Q1�
 /
wxFF9FFF
'"&
#$�$
("��1(� "5
$5#
+&"(1// 5Q
"'
qF
/1�1(�1#
 5�1&/1(� "5/
$5#
Q&$#�$�1
 5�1&5/0 +T/
no*
#$�$
$5$�R/ /
�5#1&
�01
,%-
+&"m1(�
!$5$Q1&T/
/�+1&4 / "5;
%01
l�#Q1�
#1�$ �/
$&1
� /�1#
 5
%$l�1
x;





��������	�
��	��
�	�	
�������
��
���
�	����



�
�
�	��






���� 
!
" #$%& 
'()* +

 ,-./0122
31.2
 456782
9:;2
 <=>82;
?@ABCDDEAFGH
IGJKHLM
NOJGPQROPSEFT
 UVQUWX
 VWYWWWQWW
30;:/
Z50[2\\607:/]Z0\;>0̂
 

 _̀à̀ b̀̀̀ 
c@GPKGLC
ODDEDLGFL
 deQfWX
 UWYWWWQWW
30;:/
g:/:562\
 

 h̀à̀ b̀̀̀ 
I@EFiC
jCFCBELDklGFKGH
mFL@M


 ddYnfWQWW
30;:/
g:/:562\
o
456782
 

 pqars̀b̀̀ 
lGLC@EGHD
GFP
tKuuHECD


 nYWnnQnf
vKELEAF

 nVYWUQWW
30;:/
w652̂;
x0\;\
 

 pyasqsbrsb̀̀ 
IzO
{GLC
 

 neXNdWRdRVWVV
|
eRUWRVWVUT
GFP
nfX
NfRdRVWVU
GFP
GBLC@}G@PDT
lAPEBECP
vALGH
~E@CJL
�ADLD
NC�JHKPC
LKELEAF
BA@
IzO
JGHJKHGLEAFT
 

 e�Y�dnQnf
IGJEHELECD
z
OPSEF
�ADLD
NIzOT
 

 UWYV�VQ�U
30;:/

 

 q̀ à̀̀ b̀̀̀ 







����������	
�
������
����
������
������ ������������������ !"!�����#$%&��'%()�*����+��������,-.����.���/-������/,�-���+
�/-�*.,
�-/���
���,-.��,���.-���
����.��������0123�����/�-*���
��
,
�+��-/�+�*
.��*�
��-�#$%&��'%()�����(�4�5�-*+���
���.�-/��
��.6
�+�*
.���/�-*�#$%&��'%()��-���
����,-.����.���7�����
�*�
�7����.�/�/�

.�0893�����/�
��
,�����,-.����.�:��7-�;��������/,�-�����,-*+�
�
�4�<.���
���-��+-��+-.
*
.��-/�+�*
.��*-.6���
�+���
��*���;
�+�,
�-.���/-��6--��,��
�.��7�����(�:��+��-��7����
.�++�-=�4�%/�#$%&��'%()��
�
�*�.
����
�7-�;�-/���
����,-.����.���-��
��.����/,�-��>����*����.-��/���(�:��+�-?
,��*.6
���**
���
����.�7����.6�.�����
���
��
�-.�4�(�
�/����
����#$%&��'%()��-�,-*+���7����������
����
*
.��7�����
�,-.����
���-��
����
,��-/���
��-.��,��.��*���
����?
,���-��.,��-.�����+
,�/�
���.���
��-.��,��-��.��-��
��-+��-.������
���.�@A��4	4�4�BC4BA4��D�� ���E!"F�!�!���!����G���.6���
�+
�/-�*.,
�-/�������-.��,�>�#$%&��'%()>�/-�����
�/>��������6.

�>�.����,,
��-����.��.�
�
��>�6�

����/-��-7�H��<4� �-*+��.,
�7�����
6����-.�4�#$%&��'%()������,-*+���7������
��
6����-.���
���=
��-�.-.���,��*�.��-.��.�GI(J�����
��+�-6�*�>�@A��4	4�4�5���B8>�����
��*���
�*
.�
��/�-*���*
��-���*
�0�
/
��
���-��.�������
,��-.�����
�K�
6����-.�L3>�7��,���
��
�
�.��.,-�+-��
������
/
�
.,
�.��*�
��+���-/�������-.��,�4���4� $-.���,��*�.��-.4�#$%&��'%()������.-�����,��*�.�
�-.���
�6�-�.���-/�6
>��,
>�,-�-�>��
�>�-��.��-.��-��6�.��.���
��
�
,��-.�.���
�
.��-.�-/����,-.����.��>��.,����.6�+�-,��
*
.��-/�*�
�����.���
�
��-/�
���+*
.�4�#$%&��'%()������.-��+���,�+�
>�
���
�����
,����-���.���
,���>��.���
����,��*�.��-.�+�-�����
�����'
,��-.�B849�-/���
��
6����-.�>��.,����.6�
*+�-�*
.��+�,��,
��7�
.���
��-.��,��,-=
����+�-6�*��
��/-�����.�<++
.������-/���
��
6����-.�4���4� '-��,����-.��/-��'��,-.��,��>��.,����.6�5�-,��
*
.��-/�M�
�����.������+*
.�4�%.�����-��,����-.�>�7�
��
�����,-*+
����=
�+�-+-��.6�-��.
6-����-.�*�
����#$%&��'%()�/-��7-�;��-��
�+
�/-�*
���.�
������,-.��,�>��.,����.6�+�-,��
*
.��-/�*�
�����-���
�
��-/�
���+*
.�>�
,��+-�
.�������,-.����.��-����++��
��*�����
�.-��/�
�����#$%&��'%()�-/�#$%&��'%():��-���6��-.���.�
������� �-.��,��.����
��
6����-.���
���=
��-�.-.���,��*�.��-.�-.���
�6�-�.���-/�6
>��,
>�,-�-�>��
�>�-��.��-.��-��6�.4��G4� %./-�*��-.�.���
+-���4�#$%&��'%()�*����+�-=��
�����./-�*��-.�.���
+-�����
����
�������
��
6����-.��-�����
,��=
������
��+����.����
�
�->�.��*����+
�*���,,
����-������--;�>��
,-���>�,,-�.��>�-��
���-��,
��-/��./-�*��-.>�.������/,�����
����*���
��
�
�*�.
������(���-��
�+
���.
.���-��,
���.�,-*+��.,
�7������,���
6����-.�>�-��
��>�.���.����,��-.�4�



����������	�
����	���	������	�����������	�
����	���	��	�����������	����������	����
������������
�	��������
�������
���	����	��	�
����	������������ !�����������	
����� "�������������
���������

����	�������������#�	�����	�
����	��$���$� ����	����
�����������	����$�������������
��������� !%����������	������	���������	���	�	��	�������	�	�����
��	��"�������� "�������	����������������������	�������	����������	�����#���������	����	�����	�&��#������	�	����'�()*��	�����	�&��
������������������� !����������"��������	���������� !������	�������+���(,*���������	�������	��	��������������	����
����"�������	�����������	�����$���������� !�������	��������������	�	�����
��	���������	����������#������$��������� !������-���������	����	�����������������#������������������������� "������	����������������
���
���	�&����������	�	�����	�����	�&�����	����
�����������	����$�.��������	
��������� !�#�������	��������	�����	������������	���		&�	����	������#���������������������
�������	���	������������ !������������� "��������	�������		&�	��������������	��������
�� "$��/0� 12234516378�1963:;�3;�85<=:>58;6���������� !���������������	���������	�	�����
����	���?@A��
��������#	�	�	���B���
�)CDA�(���E����#	�	�	���B�F*$��B$� �������� !��	�������	���	�	�����&�	�����������������������	����
�������������#��������
�����	�����������������	����	����&�������������		���
�����	����������������������	����
�������������	������	
	��$��������� !��&��������-���

	���	�����	���������������������	���������������������	�����������	
	�������	�������	��	�	�������	�����	���	�	��	���#������������	������	�����������������	����	��������������������	���������������
�����	�&'��������������&���	�&������	����������
���������	����������	�	�&������

�������	��	����������
�������������
������
���������	�������������	���
�����	�	�&��	�����	�&�������	����	�$��G$� �������� !��&���������������	��������������&���	�������������������������
��������������
�H�#��������������������#	�	�	���B�$��"$� ������������
��������� !%����������	������	���������	��������
��	������������	����
�����������	���������#���-���	��������������	��������������&���	�������������������������
��������������
�H�#��������������������#	�	�	���B�$��I$� �������� !��&�����������	�������	�����������������	��#�����������������������	�����
����������������	����	����
������#��������	#���#������	�����������	����#���������&�����������	�&��

	���$��������	���������������������� !%���#�	&�	�������������������-���

	���	�����	������������������������	����������������	
	�������	�������������������������	�����
����������������������	&����
�����	������������������$���$� �������� !�������	��������������	�	�����
��	���������	����������#����������



��������	
����	
�	�����	
�	�
��	������	��������	��	������	��������
���	
�	
�����	
�	���	���������	
�	������
�����
�	������	��������	�
	�����
�	���	
�	���	������������
�	����	�
	����	����	��
 ���
��	!���	��	�������	��
�	����	����
��������	
�	 ���
�"	#$%&'��%�(	!���	��)�	����	����
�	!���	�������	�
	���	����
������	
�	��������	
����	��	���	������
�	
�	���	*�����	
�	+������	,
������	,
��������	-�
�����	���	������	�
	���
���	����	��
 ���
���	���������	����
�	�
�	�
��
��������	./0	,"+"�"	1�23/0"/"/4"		56	 789:;:<9	=>	?:?@:;<	=>A	=;	B:C:DE9:<	9=A	F=8D;:<<		%�	���
������	!���	0G	#"�","	/�0�	�
	������	
��	
�	��������	�
�	���	,
������	
�	���	#�����	������	�����	��	��������	�
	���	�����	
�	����	
�	����	,
������	
�	�
	���	�������	�������	�������
�"		H6	 789:;:<9	=>	IJ@C7F	=>>7F7EC<		$
	�������	
�������	
�	����
���	
�	���	������	�
���	������	���	�������	
�	�
�	
��	.04	����	�����������	�����	�� �	���	���������	������	
�	���������	��	����	,
������	
�	���	��������	�����
�"		K6	 F7L7C	;7DM9<		���	�
��
!���	��N���������	�����	�
	���	����������	,
������O		�"	 $
�������������
�"	%�	���
������	!���	�����	&�	
�	���	,� ��	������	����	��	��������	/�	#"�","	������	�����
�	���	
�	���	���	P�����������
�	���	
�	0Q3��	��	��������	/�	#"�","	10���	�����
�	���	
�	���	���������	!���	P�����������	���	
�	0QQ��	/�	#"�","	0�0���	���	+������	�������	��!	��	/Q	#"�","	�����	#$%&'��%�(	������	����	��	!���	�
�	������������	�������	���	����
���	
�	���������	�
�	����
�����	�������	
�	�����	�
�
��	������	����
���	
������	����	���	
�	����������"			R"	 'N���	'���
�����	*��
�������"	���	�
��
!���	�N���	����
�����	
��
�������	��N���������	�����	�
	���	����������	�
������O		 STU	 �����	,
�
��	,�����	$���
���	*������	���"	%�	���
������	!���	�����	&��	
�	���	,� ��	������	����	��	��������	/�	#"�","	������	���	+������	�������	��!�	��	/Q	#"�","	�����	#$%&'��%�(	������	�
	�
����	!���	���	����������	�N���	����
�����	
��
�������	��N���������	
�	#"�"	P���������	
�	V��
�	.#"�"	P*V4	��������
���	W*�����	
�	+������	,
������	,
��������	-�
������	'N���	'���
�����	*��
��������	P���������	
�	V��
�X�	/0	,"+"�"	-����	1�	��	��N"�	.!����	���������	'������ �	*����	$
"	00�/1�	'N���	'���
�����	*��
�������X�	��	�������	��	'������ �	*����	$
"	00�3��	W��������	'������ �		*����		00�/1		��������		�
		'N���		'���
�����		*��
�������X�		/�	#"�","	�����	�
��4�	���	!���	���	����������	+������	���������	������� �	
������	��������
���	���	+������	�
������	����	���	��	���	������	������	�
��������
�	���� �����	�������)��	��	���	�
����	
�	���	-�
Y���"	#$%&'��%�(	������	�
	��)�	��������� �	����
�	�
	������	����	����������	���	����
����	���	����	����
����	���	�������	�N�����	������	����
������	!���
��	������	�
	�����	�����	�
�
��	������	



������������	��
���
�����	���������������������������
����������������������
�������������	������������
���	�����	
���������������������
��������������������������������������	
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	
���������	����������������������  	���!��������������������������"�������� 	��#�����������������$���������� ������%&'(
�����������
�)&�*���+��'),�����-����������������������"&�*���+��.,,)
�*/!0$1�!23��	�������������������������������������	�������������������������������������������������������	�����4�� #�������������!��������������������������%5)�������� ��������������#������������ ��
�����������
�")�*���+��%)%%)
�*/!0$1�!23��	������������������������������������6�������������*����$6����$����������7�����������+���������
�81�	������������!�������������$6����$����������9����������������� ��������������#������������ ��:
�)&�+�-�1��9����%',5
����������	�����������������������������������������������+�� */!0$1�!23�������	������������������������6��������������������������������;<� =>?@=A=B@?�C>=D?EF=GHF��!������������*/!0$1�!23�����������+�����������I������J��K�������!����	�����+���������������-���������������������������������L����
������������������������������
�����������
�����������������12+���M<� >NG=O?�NP�P?Q?ER@�E?SC=E?T?>GF��/���-�����������
���	��������
���������
������������������������������������������������������������������������+�������
�������������������������+���������!��-���������6��������������	�
���������	�����6����������������������������+���������������������������������U�����������+�������������6������� �����������������������������������������+����������������������������������������������������U���������������6������������V<� GW=EQXYREGH�E=AWGF��/�������������	��������	�����������������������
���������������������������������� 	������������������	�����������
�����������������������������������������������������������	����������������������
�����������Z���������������������������������[\<� E?ONEQF�E?G?>G=N>]�RCQ=G�R>Q�=>FY?OG=N>�NP�E?ONEQF��� �� */!0$1�!23�������������������������̂����������������������12+
�-_̀  
�����*����#�������������2�������������J��!���������I������
�/#72
���������+�����������I��������������*������������
�����������������������������̂����������������������������������������������������������������*/!0$1�!23��������	���������������������������������������������



���������	��
��
�������������	���	��������	���	������������������
���	�������� ������ �!"���������	#������
������������	�����$�
���	��������������	���
%���
���
��������������	��������$�
�����	���	#�������	���!�&�'()*&������� ��+��	�������
��!�	���
��	��
�,���������
��-����	�&��+.!&�	��������
����
�����-����	��
������������� �	���&�
��	���
�������������	���
��/������������	��%�����	��&����������������	��
��
�������������	���	��������	���	������������������$�
���	��&��	%��	�������
�	���������#����
���	�����	���$

0�&��
�������&��	����&�	������
����
��������$�
�����	�����������������������
�������
���	����!��������1��$�
���	��2�	�����������������	�������������3�������	���
�������
����������#�435&555�	���6����$�
���	����
�������	���
�������
����$���������������%�����	���	�������	$��������
������
���	�����	$�������
�����#����	����$��������� !�������
���
��	������	�����	���	��
��������$���	$
%�&��
�����
����7��������	����
�3��	���	�����������������������	����
��������
���	��&�6������#	��
��
�����������������
����	����	�����#�
���
����������
��	����
��������
���	��&�
������
����	������������
��������
���	����
�7�����	���������
���	��$�����	0���$�������� ���
����
�����-����	��
��	���
�����������	���
��/������������	��%��&���	����
������������������	���	��&�����#	��
�&���	����
���������
����	%��$��������
����
����889� :;�<=>=?@A�B;C=?:D=:E�;FAGB@EG;:�E;�EHG?>�I@?EG=J��*�� �!��	��������� �!"�	�0�
7���#��	���	#������	�&��
�7�����	����#�	����
����������$������'����	��-
%�����������
��	���
%	��
�������
�����	��
��
��	7	���
���������������#��
���	��&�	$�����������������7��������
������$������'����	��-
%�������&�����'����	��-
%������������
��	��	�����
�������
���	���	�����	����
��$����$K�����
�	���
$��#	��
���
����	$���������
��!�&��
�����	��&�
��	���
������	����7�������
���
��	��	�����
���	���
���	��������	����#��
�	����	�������������#���
���������������#��
���	�������� ������ �!"�	#������
�������������	$
%����	��������	�����$�
���	������������������	#�������	��������	������	����
��$���
������&���������
����������������$�
�����	���7�
�7����$����$K�����
�������
%���
�����8L9� >=F@?D=:EM�JNJI=:JG;:M�;EH=?�G:=AGBGFGAGEO�@:>�C;AN:E@?O�=PQANJG;:��*�� !�����
���	������	��
%�������	��	���
���
������
����
��6���'����R	���3655�	���6���'����R	���3S5��*������&������� �!"������T�������
�%��������	���
���
�������� �!"&������������	��&�	����������	��6���'����3S5�UUV&�
��	�����	���&�	����������	��6���'����3S5�U5V&�	������������
�����T�	�������	����������	��6���'����3S5�UW5�	���3S5�UWV������ ������ �!"������T�������
��
�����7����6���'����3S5&� �$�	����&�	����������������������T����������
��
�����7����6���'����3S5&� �$�	����&����	����
���	�����
���
7��X�������	��	���
���
%���46V&555�	������	����
�����	��
����
���
7���������
���	��������� ������ �!"�	#�������	�������	����
��0�
7��#������������
�	����
7��X������
%�����



�����������	
���	�	�����	��	����	
��	��	�������	��������	������	���������	��	�����������	������	����	�������������	��	����	���������		���	 ��� !"#$�%	&"'(	)%*%+#!	!�,,-"$.	 �!"�-			/�����	0123	��	4���	10�	5����	/����	6���	�������	��	����	����	��	�����������	�����	���	�	�����	��	��		�������	��	�	�����	���������	������	�����		��	���������	������	��	���	���	�����	��	����������	��	���������	��	�������	��	������	��	�����	��	���	������	�	7���	��	6�������	��	������	��	�����	��	6�������	��	��	�����	��	�	7���	��	6������	��	���������	
���	���	��	��	�����
���	�����	8����	�������9	��	�
������	��	���	8����	���������	��	��:���	��	���	8����	������	��	��:���	��	���	8����	�����	��	������	����	��	���	���������	�������		6����������	
��	�����	��	���	���	��	�
���	��	;0<<�<<<	��	���	�����	���	��	������������	�=����	��	>?	6�8�@�	A���	3<�	BC
	@����������	��	D��������E	F���	���	�������	��	��	���	����	����	��	
���	���	���	���	���	���	�����	�����������	�����	��	���	���	�����	��	������G�����	���	����������	��	���������	��	�������	��	������	��	�����	��	���	8����	H�����	�	����	��	6�������	��	������	��	�����	��	6�������	��	��	�����	��	�	����	��	6������	��	���������	
���	���������	���	�����	6��������	�����	��	���	����	�
���	�����	��	10	5�/�6�	0123�	F���	���	�����	����	�������	��	���	��	���	���������	����	��	D�������	I��������	H��	��	0??2	
��	���	���	��������	��������	��	���	�����	
���	���J�����	�����	
���	�����	��	����	�����	6��������	�����	��	�
���	�����	��	10	5�/�6�	0123�	/���	����������	��	���
����	����	���	��	���	��	��	��	��������		5CKLF@/K4M	����	����	��	������	���	�=�������	��	���	�����������	������	;0<<�<<<	�������	��	
���	��	��	����	
���	8����	����������		�N�	 +% �+'"$.	+%OP"+%�%$'Q			5CKLF@/K4M	�����	������	���	�����������	���	������	�=����	��	��	@����������	��	��������	�����	��������	�����	������	���	�����������	���	������	�=����	��	��	@����������	��	��������	�����	��������	������	���	�����	�����	�����	��	���	���������	��	���	�	�������	��	@46	��	��	8����	R���
��	H�������������	S8RTHU	��	�	�������	��	��������	���������	
���	����	@���������	��	���������		T��	���	�����������	�=����	��	�	6���������	��	��	��	�������	���������	��	������	
��	�����	��	�����	��	�������	����	������������	5CKLF@/K4M	�����	��	������	��	@46�	��	��	8RTH	��	�����������	���	�����	��	�����	
���	������	��	���	���	��	������	��	������������			 	



����������	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������� !�"#$%&'()*+�,'-.�/+01&(-'#)23���������
������4����������������
�����
�����
������5�����������6�������������������������
��������������7��������8������������������9�������68������������������������:!;!�	�����������������������������9�������<����6����������������49<=�5��������6���6��������������������������������������������������������������6�������������������������������������������!�>!�?#)@A'2*B'$')(-'#)3���������
����������������������������C������������6�����
�������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����
������������
��������
������������������������������������D
������!���������
����������������������������������6�������������6�����������������������������������6��������������������
�������������
���������6�����������������������������������7������6�����7��6�����E�������������������������������������F����GH��!9!�!�I����> !�J!�K#&'*'-(-'#)2�L#B�K1M*#)-B(*-2N�O)*&1A')0�PB#*1B+$+)-2�#L�Q(-+B'(&2�()A�RS1'%$+)-3�T�����������������������������6����������7������������������������������6���������
�������������C�����������������
��������
���������������
��������
������������������������������������D
������������������������
�����
����������
�������������������������6���������
�����������������
�����U�������������
������������������������������������������
��������������7��������8������������������������
�������������������������������������!��G!�O)L#B$(-'#)�()A�/+%#B-23���������
��������������7����������������������������������D
������6�����������������
��������������������7������
����
��
���������������������������������������������C����������������
�������������
���������������������������������������������6����������������6����������������������9<=������������������������������������������������
�����������
������������������
������!�=�������6���������������D
��������������
��������������������
��7����������������������������������������
��������
�������������������������������
��������������������6�������������������������9<=����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�V!�K()*-'#)2�L#B�?#)*#$%&'()*+3�T�������7�������������
�����U����������������������������8������������������7����������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������9<=����6����������������������������������
������
��������������������!��������������6�����������������
������
������������������
�������������
��������������W����X����!����������������������������
���������������������������������������!�Y!�O)*#B%#B(-'#)�#L�PB#Z'2'#)23���������
���������������
����������7����������������������������
����������7��6��
���������������
��������
�����������������������������������



���������	
������
�����
��
���
����	
���
�����������
���
����������
������
��������
��������
���
����������
����
����
������
����
�������
��
���
�����������
��
�����������
��
���
���������
��
���
� !�
���
������
��
�
�����
�"
��"������
����
����������
���������
���������
"��
��������������
#�������	
����
�"
���
����������
�������
��������
��	
��
��
����������
����
����������
��
�
�������������	
��
��������
�������
�"
����
���������	
���
����������
���
�������
���
���������
��
�����
����
���
����������
��
�������
���
���������
�"
���
����������
$�
��������	
���
����������
���
�������
���
%�����
&�����
��
�����
����
���
����������
��
�������
���
���������
�"
���
%�����
&������

 



































 




�����������	
��������
��
�����������������
�������������������
��������������������������	�����
��������
������
���������� �!������������!�������"����
��������������	��������	���
����#�����	������	���������������$�%&'()*&*(�+,*-.)/0')1)*2(),*�34(5,')()&/6�7� ��������������8�9����������:������;<=>�?>@��A�A8A�B�@CCC��DE�FDGA��HI�����A�@J@K��?�
������������
�������������������������
��������
������������
����K#�����><�8ALA�A�M�
��@;A�7� ��������
������������:�����������������M
��
� �:�N	��������M�������:������;<HC��?>@��A�A8A�B�>=C;K��?�
��������	����
��
����������
���������������
�!�����
��
� ����������N	�
�����	�����L�
����
�L�
��"�����
��
���������
�O���K#�7� L�
��":���P���!� �:������;<HQ��?@Q��A�A8A�B�Q@>�DE�FDGAK��?�
������������
���������������������������K#�7� �������JC>���������������������:������;<HQ��?@<��A�A8A�B�H<>�DE�FDGAK������������?�
������������
���������������������������������� K������><�8ALA�A�M�
��@H#�7� ���:������
����������:������;<HJ������������?>@��A�A8A�B�=;C;�DE�FDGAK��?�
������������
���������������������������K#�7� :�
��
������:�
!� ����
�9����:������;<I@��?><��A�A8A�B�>H;���������>H;@QK�����������?�
������������
������������������
�����
�������
������������
�������
���K#�7� ���8�9��������������
������:������;<IH��?MR�;CC"@C<K��?S
�����������������9
������������������� ������������������8�9����������:������;<=>�����:������
����������:������;<HJ������������JC>���������������������:������;<HQ��� ������������������������������
���T�
��
�����
�����9����T��������	�������������
��
�����
�����9�����������L�
��"����
����������	�"
������������8���	��������!���
��	����
��
�����
�����9������
�L�
��� ��	�����
����K#�7� �����������������������:�
������!����������������:����!������
�����������
���������������������������������� ���������
����������	��������������	����������
�9����
�����
�������� ����������������	�������������������������
�������������������?>@��A�A8A�BB�;@;Q;�U�;@;I<K�������������� ����
���������
�����
�������
�	�����������><�8ALA�A�M�
���QH�����QI#�7� ���L�
���:9�������:�������
�����V�����"����
��������������	��?><��A�A8A�B�>H;@QK�?�
������������
�������������������������
��������
������������
������������K#�7� ���	��9�W
�
�;@I<I��L�
���:����������:��
�����9�
��������X	��������Y���
�� �M��	������������R�!"������M��	���������!�������	
���������
������������������



���������	�	
��������������
�������	��������	�����������������������������	��	�����������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������	�	
���������� ����
��������������  ��!�	�������"�������#�����������$����������%��������������$������������������
��������������
������������������������������������������
���������������������
��������������������	�����������&%�$'(�)����
������	������������)�����*!����
��
����+��������������	������
��������%�$�	������������������
������������
��	�������&,-�.��(�/��(����,0-1,����,0�--'���� )�����!2����������
�������"�������������3,4�������������������	����������
������������������������
�������������
�������	��������������������&4-�5(#(6(�7�� 1������8'(���



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022  
 
From: Andrew Jayankura, Project Manager 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Approve a contract with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., to provide design services and optional 
engineering during construction for the Sparks Intelligent Corridor (IC) project on Sparks Boulevard and 
Vista Boulevard in an amount not to exceed $780,625. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
This Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., is for professional 
design services for the Sparks Intelligent Corridor (IC) project in the amount of $156,105, including design 
contingency of $44,000 and optional engineering during construction services (EDC) in the amount of 
$69,530.  The project includes design of a virtual Dynamic Message Sign (DMS) system to provide drivers 
real-time notification of traffic conditions and possible route information to potentially alleviate congestion 
from Spanish Springs.  Design for the virtual DMS system is $435,490.  Additional software and system 
implementation support in the amount of $119,500 is optional and includes software support for one year 
after project implementation. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Appropriations are included in the Proposed FY 2023 Capital Budget. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
10/21/2022  March 18, 2022 Approved the Qualified Consultant List for Traffic - ITS Engineering 
  Service. 
 



AGREEMENT 
FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 

This agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated and effective as of October 24, 2022, by and between 
the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (“RTC”) and Kimley-Horn and 
Associates, Inc. (“CONSULTANT”). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
 

WHEREAS, RTC has selected CONSULTANT from the Traffic Engineering and ITS shortlist to 
perform design and optional Engineering During Construction (EDC) in connection with the 
Sparks Intelligent Corridor (IC) Project 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, RTC and CONSULTANT, in consideration of the mutual covenants and 
other consideration set forth herein, do hereby agree as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 1 – TERM AND ENGAGEMENT 

 

1.1. The term of this Agreement shall be from the date first written above through December 
31, 2023, unless terminated at an earlier date, or extended to a later date, pursuant to the 
provisions herein. 

 
1.2. CONSULTANT will perform the work using the project team identified in Exhibit A – 

Scope of Work. Any changes to the project team must be approved by RTC’s Project 
Manager. 

 
1.3. CONSULTANT will promptly, diligently and faithfully execute the work to completion in 

accordance with applicable professional standards subject to any delays due to strikes, acts 
of God, act of any government, civil disturbances, or any other cause beyond the reasonable 
control of CONSULTANT. 

 
1.4. CONSULTANT shall not proceed with work until both parties have executed this 

Agreement and a purchase order has been issued to CONSULTANT. If CONSULTANT 
violates that prohibition, CONSULTANT forfeits any and all right to reimbursement and 
payment for that work and waives any and all claims against RTC, its employees, agents, 
and affiliates, including but not limited to monetary damages, and any other remedy 
available at law or in equity arising under the terms of this Agreement. Furthermore, prior 
to execution and issuance of a purchase order, CONSULTANT shall not rely on the terms 
of this Agreement in any way, including but not limited to any written or oral 
representations, assurances or warranties made by RTC or any of its agents, employees or 
affiliates, or on any dates of performance, deadlines, indemnities, or any term contained in 
this Agreement or otherwise. 



-2-  

 

ARTICLE 2 - SERVICES OF CONSULTANT 
 

2.1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

The scope of services consist of the tasks set forth in Exhibit A. 
 

2.2. SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 
 

Tasks and subtasks shall be completed in accordance with the schedule in Exhibit A. Any 
change(s) to the schedule must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

 
2.3. CONTINGENCY 

 

Contingency line items identified in the scope of services are for miscellaneous increases 
within the scope of work. Prior to the use of any contingency amounts, CONSULTANT 
shall provide a letter to RTC’s Project Manager detailing the need, scope, and not-to- 
exceed budget for the proposed work. Work to be paid for out of contingency shall proceed 
only with the RTC Project Manager’s written approval. 

 
2.4. OPTIONS 

 

RTC shall have the right to exercise its option(s) for all or any part of the optional tasks or 
subtasks identified in Exhibit A. CONSULTANT will prepare and submit a detailed scope 
of services reflecting the specific optional services requested, a schedule for such services, 
and a cost proposal. RTC will review and approve the scope of services and RTC and 
CONSULTANT will discuss and agree upon compensation and a schedule. 
CONSULTANT shall undertake no work on any optional task without written notice to 
proceed with the performance of said task. RTC, at its sole option and discretion, may 
select another individual or firm to perform the optional tasks or subtasks identified in 
Exhibit A. 

 
2.5. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

 

CONSULTANT will provide additional services when agreed to in writing by RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

 
2.6. PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 

Any and all design and engineering work furnished by CONSULTANT shall be performed 
by or under the supervision of persons licensed to practice architecture, engineering, or 
surveying (as applicable) in the State of Nevada, by personnel who are careful, skilled, 
experienced and competent in their respective trades or professions, who are professionally 
qualified to perform the work, and who shall assume professional responsibility for the 
accuracy and completeness of documents prepared or checked by them, in accordance with 
appropriate prevailing professional standards. Notwithstanding the provision of any 
drawings, technical specifications, or other data by RTC, CONSULTANT shall have the 
responsibility of supplying all items and details required for the deliverables required 
hereunder. 



-3-  

Any sampling and materials testing shall be performed by an approved testing laboratory 
accredited by AASHTO or other ASTM recognized accrediting organization in the 
applicable test methods. If any geotechnical or materials testing is performed by a sub- 
consultant, that laboratory shall maintain the required certification. Proof of certification 
shall be provided to RTC with this Agreement. If certification expires or is removed during 
the term of this Agreement, CONSULTANT shall notify RTC immediately, and propose a 
remedy. If an acceptable remedy cannot be agreed upon by both parties, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default. 

 
CONSULTANT shall provide only Nevada Alliance for Quality Transportation 
Construction (NAQTC) qualified personnel to perform field and laboratory sampling and 
testing during the term of this Agreement. All test reports shall be signed by a licensed 
NAQTC tester and notated with his/her license number. 

 
2.7. ERRORS AND OMISSIONS 

 

CONSULTANT shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any deficiencies, 
errors, or omissions caused by CONSULTANT in its analysis, reports, and services. 
CONSULTANT also agrees that if any error or omission is found, CONSULTANT will 
expeditiously make the necessary correction, at no expense to RTC. If an error or omission 
was directly caused by RTC, and not by CONSULTANT and RTC requires that such error 
or omission be corrected, CONSULTANT may be compensated for such additional work. 

 
ARTICLE 3 - COMPENSATION 

 

3.1. CONSULTANT shall be paid for hours worked at the hourly rates and rates for testing in 
Exhibit B. RTC shall not be responsible for any other costs or expenses except as provided 
in Exhibit B. 

 
3.2. The maximum amount payable to CONSULTANT to complete each task is equal to the 

not-to-exceed amounts identified in Exhibit B. CONSULTANT can request in writing that 
RTC’s Project Manager reallocate not-to-exceed amounts between tasks. A request to 
reallocate not-to-exceed amounts must be accompanied with a revised fee schedule, and 
must be approved in writing by RTC’s Project Manager prior to performance of the work. 
In no case shall CONSULTANT be compensated in excess of the following not-to exceed 
amounts: 

 
Total Design Services (Tasks A to F) $112,105 
Total System Services (Tasks G to I) $435,490 
Optional Services (Tasks J to K) $189,030 
Design Contingency $44,000 
Total Not-to-Exceed Amount $780,625 

 

3.3. For any work authorized under Section 2.4, “Additional Services,” RTC and 
CONSULTANT will negotiate not-to-exceed amounts based on the standard hourly rates 
and rates for testing in Exhibit B. Any work authorized under Section 2.4, “Additional 
Services,” when performed by persons who are not employees or individuals employed by 
affiliates of CONSULTANT, will be billed at a mutually agreed upon rate for such services, 
but not more than 105% of the amounts billed to CONSULTANT for such services. 



-4-  

3.4. CONSULTANT shall receive compensation for preparing for and/or appearing in any 
litigation at the request of RTC, except: (1) if such litigation costs are incurred by 
CONSULTANT in defending its work or services or those of any of its sub-consultants; or 
(2) as may be required by CONSULTANT’s indemnification obligations. Compensation for 
litigation services requested by RTC shall be paid at a mutually agreed upon rate and/or at a 
reasonable rate for such services. 

 
ARTICLE 4 - INVOICING 

 

4.1. CONSULTANT shall submit monthly invoices in the format specified by RTC. Invoices 
must be submitted to accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com. RTC’s payment terms are 30 days 
after the receipt of the invoice. Simple interest will be paid at the rate of half a percent 
(0.5%) per month on all invoices approved by RTC that are not paid within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of the invoice. 

 
4.2. RTC shall notify CONSULTANT of any disagreement with any submitted invoice for 

consulting services within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice. Any amounts not in 
dispute shall be promptly paid by RTC. 

 
4.3. CONSULTANT shall maintain complete records supporting every request for payment 

that may become due. Upon request, CONSULTANT shall produce all or a portion of its 
records and RTC shall have the right to inspect and copy such records. 

 
ARTICLE 5 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND PROPERTY 

 

5.1. Upon request and without cost to CONSULTANT, RTC will provide all pertinent 
information that is reasonably available to RTC including surveys, reports and any other 
data relative to design and construction. 

 
5.2. RTC will provide access to and make all provisions for CONSULTANT to enter upon RTC 

facilities and public lands, as required for CONSULTANT to perform its work under this 
Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 6 - OWNERSHIP OF WORK 

 

6.1. Plans, reports, studies, tracings, maps, software, electronic files, licenses, programs, 
equipment manuals, and databases and other documents or instruments of service prepared 
or obtained by CONSULTANT in the course of performing work under this Agreement, shall be 
delivered to and become the property of RTC. Software already developed and purchased by 
CONSULTANT prior to the Agreement is excluded from this requirement. CONSULTANT and 
its sub-consultants shall convey and transfer all copyrightable interests, trademarks, licenses, and 
other intellectual property rights in such materials to RTC upon completion of all services under 
this Agreement and upon payment in full of all compensation due to CONSULTANT in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement. Basic survey notes, sketches, charts, computations and similar 
data prepared or obtained by CONSULTANT under this Agreement shall, upon request, also be 
provided to RTC. 

 
6.2. CONSULTANT represents that it has secured all necessary licenses, consents, or approvals 

to use the components of any intellectual property, including computer software, used in 
providing services under this Agreement, that it has full legal title to and the right to 

mailto:accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com


-5-  

reproduce such materials, and that it has the right to convey such title and other necessary 
rights and interests to RTC. 

 
6.3. CONSULTANT shall bear all costs arising from the use of patented, copyrighted, trade 

secret, or trademarked materials, equipment, devices, or processes used on or incorporated 
in the services and materials produced under this Agreement. 

 
6.4. CONSULTANT agrees that all reports, communications, electronic files, databases, 

documents, and information that it obtains or prepares in connection with performing this 
Agreement shall be treated as confidential material and shall not be released or published 
without the prior written consent of RTC; provided, however, that CONSULTANT may 
refer to this scope of work in connection with its promotional literature in a professional 
and commercially reasonable manner. The provisions of this subsection shall not apply to 
information in whatever form that comes into the public domain. The provisions of this 
paragraph also shall not restrict CONSULTANT from giving notices required by law or 
complying with an order to provide information or data when such order is issued by a 
court, administrative agency, or other entity with proper jurisdiction, or if it is reasonably 
necessary for CONSULTANT to defend itself from any suit or claim. 

 
ARTICLE 7 - TERMINATION 

 

7.1. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT 
 

If CONSULTANT fails to perform services in the manner called for in this Agreement or 
if CONSULTANT fails to comply with any other provisions of this Agreement, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default. Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of 
termination on CONSULTANT setting forth the manner in which CONSULTANT is in 
default. CONSULTANT will only be paid the contract price for services delivered and 
accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in 
this Agreement. 

 
If it is later determined by RTC that CONSULTANT had an excusable reason for not 
performing, such as a fire, flood, or events which are not the fault of or are beyond the 
control of CONSULTANT, RTC, after setting up a new performance schedule, may allow 
CONSULTANT to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for 
convenience. 

 
7.2. CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

 

RTC may terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice to 
CONSULTANT when it is in RTC’s best interest. CONSULTANT shall be paid its costs, 
including contract closeout costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of 
termination. CONSULTANT shall promptly submit its termination claim to RTC to be 
paid CONSULTANT. If CONSULTANT has any property in its possession belonging to 
RTC, CONSULTANT will account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner RTC 
directs. 

 
 
 



-6-  

ARTICLE 8 - INSURANCE 
 

8.1. CONSULTANT shall not commence any work or permit any employee/agent to 
commence any work until satisfactory proof has been submitted to RTC that all insurance 
requirements have been met. 

 
8.2. In conjunction with the performance of the services/work required by the terms of this 

Agreement, CONSULTANT shall obtain all types and amounts of insurance set forth in 
Exhibit C, and shall comply with all provisions set forth therein. 

 
ARTICLE 9 - HOLD HARMLESS 

 

9.1.  CONSULTANT’s obligation under this provision is as set forth in Exhibit C. Said 
obligation would also extend to any liability of RTC resulting from any action to clear any 
lien and/or to recover for damage to RTC property. 

 
ARTICLE 10 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

 

10.1. During the performance of this Agreement, CONSULTANT agrees not to discriminate 
against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, 
age, disability, or national origin. CONSULTANT will take affirmative action to ensure 
that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated fairly during employment, 
without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin. Such 
action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, 
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates 
of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 
CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 
applicants for employment, notices to be provided by RTC setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 

 
10.2. CONSULTANT will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 

behalf of CONSULTANT, state that well qualified applicants will receive consideration of 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin. 

 
10.3. CONSULTANT will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted in all sub-agreements 

for any work covered by this Agreement so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
sub-consultant. 

 
ARTICLE 11 - RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 

 

11.1. NEGOTIATED RESOLUTION 
 

In the event that any dispute or claim arises under this Agreement, the parties shall timely 
cooperate and negotiate in good faith to resolve any such dispute or claim. Such 
cooperation shall include providing the other party with all information in order to properly 
evaluate the dispute or claim and making available the necessary personnel to discuss and 
make decisions relative to the dispute or claim. 

 



-7-  

11.2. MEDIATION 
 

If the parties have been unable to reach an informal negotiated resolution to the dispute or 
claim within thirty (30) days following submission in writing of the dispute or claim to the 
other party, or such longer period of time as the parties may agree to in writing, either party 
may then request, in writing, that the dispute or claim be submitted to mediation (the 
“Mediation Notice”). After the other party’s receipt or deemed receipt of the Mediation 
Notice, the parties shall endeavor to agree upon a mutually acceptable mediator, but if the 
parties have been unable to agree upon a mediator within ten (10) days following receipt 
of the Mediation Notice, then each party shall select a mediator and those two selected 
mediators shall select the mediator. A mediator selected by the parties’ designated 
mediators shall meet the qualification set forth in as provided in Rule 4 of Part C., “Nevada 
Mediation Rules” of the “Rules Governing Alternative Dispute Resolutions adopted by the 
Nevada Supreme Court.” Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the mediator 
shall have complete discretion over the conduct of the mediation proceeding. Unless 
otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the mediation proceeding must take place 
within thirty (30) days following appointment of the mediator. The parties shall share the 
mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in Washoe County, 
Nevada, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing. Agreements reached in 
mediation shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. 

 
11.3. LITIGATION 

 

In the event that the parties are unable to settle and/or resolve the dispute or claim as 
provided above, then either party may proceed with litigation in the Second Judicial 
District Court of the State of Nevada, County of Washoe. 

 
11.4. CONTINUING CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 

 

During the pendency of any dispute or claim the parties shall proceed diligently with 
performance of this Agreement and such dispute or claim shall not constitute an excuse or 
defense for a party’s nonperformance or delay. 

 
ARTICLE 12 – PROJECT MANAGERS 

 

12.1. RTC’s Project Manager is Blaine Petersen, P.E. or such other person as is later designated 
in writing by RTC. RTC’s Project Manager has authority to act as RTC’s representative 
with respect to the performance of this Agreement. 

 
12.2. CONSULTANT’ Project Manager is Michael Mosley, P.E. or such other person as is later 

designated in writing by CONSULTANT. CONSULTANT’s Project Manager has 
authority to act as CONSULTANT’s representative with respect to the performance of this 
Agreement. 

  



-8-  

5370 Kietzke Lane, Suite 100 

ARTICLE 13 - NOTICE 
 

13.1. Notices required under this Agreement shall be given as follows: 
 

RTC: Bill Thomas, AICP 
Executive Director 
Andrew Jayankura, P.E. 
RTC Project Manager 
Regional Transportation Commission 
1105 Terminal Way 
Reno, Nevada 89502 
(775) 332-2139 

 
CONSULTANT: Molly M. O’Brien, P.E., PTOE 

Vice President/Principal-in-Charge 
Michael S. Mosley, P.E., PTOE 
Project Manager 
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 
7900 Rancharrah Parkway, Suite 100 
Reno, NV 89511 
(775) 200-1979 

 
ARTICLE 14 - DELAYS IN PERFORMANCE 

 

14.1. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 
 

It is understood and agreed that all times stated and referred to herein are of the essence. 
The period for performance may be extended by RTC’s Executive Director pursuant to the 
process specified herein. No extension of time shall be valid unless reduced to writing and 
signed by RTC’s Executive Director. 

 
14.2. UNAVOIDABLE DELAYS 

 

If the timely completion of the services under this Agreement should be unavoidably 
delayed, RTC may extend the time for completion of this Agreement for not less than the 
number of days CONSULTANT was excusably delayed. A delay is unavoidable only if 
the delay is not reasonably expected to occur in connection with or during 
CONSULTANT’s performance, is not caused directly or substantially by acts, omissions, 
negligence or mistakes of CONSULTANT, is substantial and in fact causes 
CONSULTANT to miss specified completion dates, and cannot adequately be guarded 
against by contractual or legal means. 

 
14.3. NOTIFICATION OF DELAYS 

 

CONSULTANT shall notify RTC as soon as CONSULTANT has knowledge that an event 
has occurred or otherwise becomes aware that CONSULTANT will be delayed in the 
completion of the work. Within ten (10) working days thereafter, CONSULTANT shall 
provide such notice to RTC, in writing, furnishing as much detail on the delay as possible 
and requesting an extension of time. 



-9-  

14.4. REQUEST FOR EXTENSION 
 

Any request by CONSULTANT for an extension of time to complete the work under this 
Agreement shall be made in writing to RTC. CONSULTANT shall supply to RTC 
documentation to substantiate and justify the additional time needed to complete the work 
and shall provide a revised schedule. RTC shall provide CONSULTANT with notice of its 
decision within a reasonable time after receipt of a request. 

 
ARTICLE 15 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

15.1. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 
 

RTC and CONSULTANT bind themselves and their successors and assigns to the other 
party and to the successors and assigns of such party, with respect to the performance of 
all covenants of this Agreement. Except as set forth herein, neither RTC nor 
CONSULTANT shall assign or transfer interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the other. Nothing herein shall be construed as creating a personal liability on 
the part of any officer or agent or any public body which may be a party hereto, nor shall 
it be construed as giving any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

 
15.2. NON TRANSFERABILITY 

 
This Agreement is for CONSULTANT’s professional services, and CONSULTANT’s 
rights and obligations hereunder may not be assigned without the prior written consent of 
RTC. 

 
15.3. SEVERABILITY 

 

If any part, term, article, or provision of this Agreement is, by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, held to be illegal, void, or unenforceable, or to be in conflict with any law of 
the State of Nevada, the validity of the remaining provisions or portions of this Agreement 
are not affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced 
as if this Agreement did not contain the particular part, term, or provision held invalid. 

 
15.4. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES 

 

CONSULTANT is an independent contractor to RTC under this Agreement. Accordingly, 
CONSULTANT is not entitled to participate in any retirement, deferred compensation, 
health insurance plans or other benefits RTC provides to its employees. CONSULTANT 
shall be free to contract to provide similar services for others while it is under contract to 
RTC, so long as said services and advocacy are not in direct conflict, as determined by 
RTC, with services being provided by CONSULTANT to RTC. 

 
15.5. WAIVER/BREACH 

 

Any waiver or breach of a provision in this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
other provision in this Agreement and no waiver is valid unless in writing and executed by 



-10-  

the waiving party. An extension of the time for performance of any obligation or act shall 
not be deemed an extension of time for the performance of any other obligation or act. This 
Agreement inures to the benefit of and is binding upon the parties to this Agreement and 
their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

 
15.6. REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

 

A. CONSULTANT shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
government laws, regulations and ordinances. CONSULTANT shall be responsible 
for obtaining all necessary permits and licenses for performance of services under 
this Agreement. Upon request of RTC, CONSULTANT shall furnish RTC 
certificates of compliance with all such laws, orders and regulations. 

 
B. CONSULTANT represents and warrants that none of the services to be rendered 

pursuant to this Agreement constitute the performance of public work, as that term 
is defined by Section 338.010(17) of the Nevada Revised Statutes. To the extent 
CONSULTANT does engage in such public work, CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for paying the prevailing wage as required by Chapter 338 of the 
Nevada Revised Statutes. 

 
15.7. EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENT 

 

There are no verbal agreements, representations or understandings affecting this 
Agreement, and all negotiations, representations and undertakings are set forth herein with 
the understanding that this Agreement constitutes the entire understanding by and between 
the parties. 

 
15.8. AMENDMENTS 

 

No alteration, amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is 
in writing and signed by both parties. 

 
15.9. CONTINUING OBLIGATION 

 

CONSULTANT agrees that if, because of death or any other occurrence it becomes 
impossible for any principal or employee of CONSULTANT to render the services 
required under this Agreement, neither CONSULTANT nor the surviving principals shall 
be relieved of any obligation to render complete performance. However, in such event, 
RTC may terminate this Agreement if it considers the death or incapacity of such principal 
or employee to be a loss of such magnitude as to affect CONSULTANT’s ability to 
satisfactorily complete the performance of this Agreement. 

 
15.10. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE 

 

The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Nevada. The exclusive venue and court for all lawsuits concerning this 
Agreement shall be the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, County of 
Washoe, and the parties hereto submit to the jurisdiction of that District Court. 

 



-11-  

15.11. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 
 

In the event of a dispute between the parties result in a proceeding in any Court of Nevada 
having jurisdiction, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of costs and any 
reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 
15.12. CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY NEVADA SENATE BILL 27 (2017) 

 

CONSULTANT expressly certifies and agrees, as a material part of this Agreement, that it 
is not currently engaged in a boycott of Israel. CONSULTANT further agrees, as a material 
part of this Agreement, it will not engage in a boycott of Israel for the duration of this 
Agreement. If, at any time during the formation or duration of this Agreement, 
CONSULTANT is engaged or engages in a boycott of Israel, it will constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 

 
 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

 
 

By:   
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

 
 

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 
 

By:   
Molly O’Brien, P.E., PTOE, RSP 
Vice President/ Principal-in-Charge 



 

Exhibit A 
 

Scope of Services 



1  

EXHIBIT A 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
FOR THE 

SPARKS INTELLIGENT CORRIDORS PILOT PROJECT 
 

This scope of services includes design and construction support of the Intelligent Transportation 
System (ITS) Sparks Intelligent Corridors (IC) Project. This pilot project will augment the ability 
for the City of Sparks to effectively operate in real time key City corridors associated with traffic 
incidents on Pyramid Highway with the use of technology. During the pilot deployment, an 
evaluation will be performed to determine if the technologies met the goals and objectives of the 
pilot and if the technologies should be continued to be used in the City along the corridors, or if 
valuable, to be expanded for further use elsewhere within Washoe County. 

 
The project lies within City of Spark. Procurement and installation of actual infrastructure will 
be provided by the selected contractor after the bid has been awarded for the bidding documents 
provided by the CONSULTANT. 

 
The extent of planning and design work includes the improvement objectives at the following 
locations: 

 
# Main Street Side Street Improvement Objective 

City of Sparks 
1 Baring Blvd 

(1 mile of fiber) 
Sparks Blvd to 

Vista Blvd 
Design fiber interconnect and conduit will connect an 

existing signal controller and new CCTV for real time 
visuals at south intersection of Vista Blvd and Los Altos 
Parkway. (Use existing copper interconnect conduit.) 

2 Vista Blvd 
(0.5 mile of fiber) 

Baring Blvd to 
Los Alto 
Parkway 

Design fiber interconnect and conduit will connect an 
existing signal controller and new CCTV for real time 
visuals at south intersection of Vista Blvd and Los Altos 
Parkway. (Use existing copper interconnect conduit.) 

3 Los Altos Parkway 
(0.5 mile of fiber) 

Ion Drive to 
Sparks Blvd 

Design fiber interconnect and conduit connects existing 
signal controller and new CCTV for real time visuals at 
Sparks Blvd and Los Altos Parkway. 

4 Spark Blvd Prater Way Design installation of CCTV at intersection for real time 
visuals. 

5 McCarran Blvd Prater Way Design installation of CCTV at intersection for real time 
visuals. 

6 Real-Time Signal 
Timing Changes 

Pyramid Way, 
Vista Blvd, 

Sparks Blvd, 
Los Altos 

Parkway, Disc 
Drive, Baring 

Blvd, McCarran 
Blvd, Prater 

Way and I-80 

Support RTC’s development of pre-timed signal timing 
plans for the City of Sparks that could be activated when 
warranted based on traffic incidents. 

RTC (Region Wide) 
7 Real-Time Incident 

Data 
Inrix Addition of Inrix data would enable RITIS to be used to 

view real-time incident information for arterials. This 



2  

   real-time incident information would be viewable for the 
Washoe County region including NDOT for arterials 
streets, which would give the Cities, RTC, and NDOT 
situational awareness of what incidents are occurring on 
their roadways and in other jurisdictions that may impact 
transportation. This data can give operators the ability to 
modify signal timing to improve operations around 
incidents. The purchase of Inrix data would be for the 
Washoe County region and would be integrated in with 
the NDOT RITIS platform for any agency to use in the 
region. RTC to purchase Inrix incident management 
data. 

8 Real-Time Travel 
Times, Real-Time 
Speeds, and Future 

Signal Planning 
Data 

RITIS NDOT currently subscribes to the RITIS platform and is 
able to share the system with the City for free, resulting 
in no more additional cost for the use of this program. 

9 Traveler 
Information 

Virtual 
Dynamic 

Message Signs 
(vDMS) 

Virtual DMS will be an app that users can download 
onto their phones/into their cars via Apple CarPlay or 
Android Auto, which would then send out alerts to users 
about changing road conditions. If users are driving, 
alerts would then be played out loud to not distract the 
driver. Examples of messages that could be displayed are 
“Road maintenance operations ahead. Please seek 
alternative routes” and “Crash detected 2 miles ahead. 
Avoid area”. 

10 ATMS Upgrade 
Coordination 

Coordination 
with Cubic 

System integration of new feeds into ATMS.now will 
require significant coordination and software 
enhancements between Cubic and other data providers 
such as Inrix and RITIS. Coordination includes 
management of the system integration of the 
technologies for operations and maintenance of the 
system is ongoing and feeds/automation is maintained. 

 

A. Preliminary and General Items (Project Management): 
 

1. Coordination with RTC project manager and staff will be ongoing 
throughout the project. Project management and coordination meetings or 
conference calls will be held with the RTC and other parties as appropriate. 
CONSULTANT will coordinate kick-off meeting and hold progress 
meetings during course of project monthly. The anticipated schedule will 
be 16 months. Most meetings will be virtual. 

 
2. Coordination meetings with the City of Sparks, and NDOT. 

CONSULTANT will conduct up to five (5) in-person one-on-one agency 
meetings, outside of meetings included in other tasks, in order to confirm 
existing design conditions, needs, and coordinate design to complete project 
design objectives. The RTC Project Manager will determine appropriate 



3  

contact personnel at each agency to be met with. Meeting notes will be 
developed and provided as a summary of discussions. 

 
B. Data Collection, Analysis, and Design 

 
1. Investigate Existing Conditions and Field Inventory for interconnect design: 

a. CONSULTANT will obtain and review available as-built plans from 
City of Sparks, and the RTC. 

b. CONSULTANT will conduct a field review with City of Sparks to 
evaluate existing field conditions for new conduit paths. 

c. CONSULTANT will evaluate existing network equipment at locations 
identified herein for connection to network. 

d. CONSULTANT will not evaluate existing pedestrian ramps for general 
compliance with current ADA standards. If the ramps are in conflict 
with proposed improvements evaluation of ramps will be considered an 
additional service. 

 
2. Survey and Mapping for site #s 1-5 

a. Aerial Mapping: Aerial photography for these sites will be using 
NearMap or Washoe County aerials provided by the RTC. The aerials 
will be put in the same coordinate system for consistency. 

b. Center lines will be developed off of existing features. 
c. CONSULTANT will evaluate right of way and easement needs based 

on County GIS data and where new equipment is to be installed. 
d. Boundary Survey: Survey boundary services will not be done for these 

sites as work will be limited to infrastructure within existing right of 
way. 

e. Supplemental Design Survey (Optional): Supplemental Survey is not 
anticipated to be required for these project sites. Where required it will 
be considered an additional service. 

 
3. Subsurface Utilities: CONSULTANT will investigate and locate subsurface 

utilities within the roadway right-of-way, and areas reasonably effected, in 
accordance with the American Society of Civil Engineers Standard 
guideline for the Collection and Depiction of Existing Subsurface Utility 
Data, Quality Level C. Deliverables will include: Depiction of subsurface 
utilities on plan sheets developed under design. All located, existing 
underground utilities will be shown on the Plan Sheets accompanied with 
the following “Note: Subsurface utilities are depicted by their Quality 
Levels in accordance American Society of Civil Engineers Standard 
Guidelines for the Collection and Depiction of Existing Subsurface Utility 
Data (CI/ASCE 38-02). All utility information shown hereon is depicted to 
Quality Level ‘C’, unless otherwise noted.” 

 
4. Utility coordination: Based on field investigation, CONSULTANT will provide 

RTC a list of utility company whose utilities are likely to be within the project 
limits or reasonably affected by the project. RTC will issue the initial 



4  

notification to the utility agencies on the list and CONSULTANT will 
coordinate with the utility agencies for upcoming work, facility relocation and 
new installation, and to insure utilities likely affected by the project are drawn 
on the plans, evaluate potential conflicts through field investigation, investigate 
conflict resolution strategies. 

 
5. Traffic Signal Basis of Design: Existing traffic signal/ ITS equipment shall be 

depicted in a “greyed out” format using “new” and “existing” stipple patterns 
with new installations shown superimposed unless important details are 
obscured. 

 
6. A geotechnical evaluation will not be performed under this project as it is not 

required. 
 

7. Drainage Evaluations are not anticipated for this project and therefore excluded. 
 

8. Environmental Services are not anticipated for this project and therefore 
excluded. 

 
C. 60% Design 

 
1. Prepare 60% Plans and Specifications 

 
a. The construction plans will be on 11" x 17" size sheets and will show 

all elements of the project construction, including plan view, right- 
of-way lines, cross-sections and construction/slope limits. The final 
plan set will include, as a minimum: Cover Sheet, Interconnect Plan 
Sheets (at 1"=40' scale, double banked), Detail Sheets (scales as 
noted). 

 
b. Plan updates and further development. Prepare plans, and an OPC 

suitable for RTC and Local Government review. 
 

Project Plans (18) will include: 
i. Cover (1) 

ii. Sheet index (1) 
iii. General notes (1) 
iv. Project details (6) 
v. Project fiber splice details (3) 

vi. Plan sheets (6) 
(x) indicated the number of plan sheets 

 
c. CONSULTANT will perform a project walk through to evaluate 

that every aspect of the project scope has been captured. 
d. A quality control review of the plans, contract documents and 

technical specifications will be performed by the CONSULTANT 
which will focus on technical aspects of the plans and specifications 



5  

and will review that all items of work are adequately covered. The 
quality control reviewer will check, initial, and date each plan sheet 
as appropriate. 

e. CONSULTANT will submit 60% Plans to RTC, City of Sparks, and 
to utility agencies. 

 
D. 90% Design 

 
1. Prepare 90% Plans and Specifications 

 
a. CONSULTANT shall incorporate review comments from RTC, and 

City of Sparks into the 90% design process 
b. Plan updates and further development. Prepare plans and an OPC 

suitable for RTC and Local Government review. 
 

Project Plans (18) will include: 
vii. Cover (1) 

viii. Sheet index (1) 
ix. General notes (1) 
x. Project details (6) 

xi. Project fiber splice details (3) 
xii. Plan sheets (6) 

(x) indicated the number of plan sheets 
 

c. Project Specifications: CONSUTLANT will prepare Contract 
Documents and Technical Specifications which will reference the 
latest edition of Standard Specifications for Public Works 
Construction (Orange Book) for standard construction items. 

 
2. A quality control review of the plans, contract documents and technical 

specifications will be performed by the CONSULTANT which will focus 
on technical aspects of the plans and specifications and will review that all 
items of work are adequately covered. The quality control reviewer will 
check, initial, and date each plan sheet as appropriate. 

 
3. CONSULTANT will perform a project walk through to evaluate that every 

aspect of the project scope has been captured. 
 

4. CONSULTANT will submit 90% Plans to RTC, City of Sparks, and to 
utility agencies. A PDF cover sheet with digital signature blocks will be 
produced at this submittal for routing to the agencies for project bidding. 

 
5.  No NDOT Encroachment is anticipated for this project. If required for an 

unforeseen reason the permit will be an additional service. Services for a 
permit would include: 



6  

a. Prepare and Submit NDOT Encroachment Permit: CONSULTANT will 
prepare and process encroachment permit packages through the NDOT 
District 2. The CONSULTANT will submit the completed application 
and submit the color coded plans at the 90% submittal. One set of review 
comments will be processed by the CONSULTANT for the permit. The 
final submittal of permit will be at the 100% submittal. The RTC or 
appropriate local agency will be the applicant on the permit and will 
provide all applicant fees, signatures and submittal documentation 
needed by the CONSULTANT to process the permit. Permit Terms and 
Conditions will be incorporated into the project specifications. 

 
 

E. Final Design (100% Signed and sealed bid documents) 
 

1.  CONSULTANT shall incorporate review comments from RTC, and City of 
Sparks into Final Construction Document process. 

 
2. Prepare Final Plans and Specifications: Prepare Final Construction Plans, 

Contract Documents and Technical Specifications suitable for construction bid 
advertisement for the approved alignment in accordance with RTC standards 
and requirements. RTC will provide the boilerplate via e-mail in MS Word 
format. 

 
3. A quality control review of the plans, contract documents and technical 

specifications will be performed by the CONSULTANT which will focus on 
technical aspects of the plans and specifications and will review that all items 
of work are adequately covered. The quality control reviewer will check, initial, 
and date each plan sheet as appropriate. The RTC, Local Entity and Quality 
Control review comments will be incorporated into the final Plans and 
Specifications. 

 
4. The final construction plans will be on 11" x 17" size sheets and will show all 

elements of the project construction. The final plans and specifications will be 
signed and sealed by a Nevada Registered Professional Civil Engineer in 
responsible charge of preparation. Plans and specifications will be submitted 
to the RTC, City of Sparks, utility agencies and other affected parties for 
review at the 60%, 90%, and final (100%) stages of completion per the 
following: 

 
a. Electronic (pdf) 11”x17” plans and specifications will be sent to the 

review agencies at each submittal including the final cover sheet which 
will be routed digitally. 

 
 

F. Bidding Services 
 

1. Plan Set and Specification Distribution. CONSULTANT will provide the 



7  

RTC with final plans and specifications, including addenda, in Portable 
Document Format (PDF), for use in the Procureware system. 

2. Pre-bid Meeting. CONSULTANT will be available during the bidding 
process to answer technical questions and will participate in the pre-bid 
meeting. All questions and responses will be documented and provided to 
RTC. CONSULTANT will prepare and provide PDF addenda, if required. 
All questions regarding legal aspects of the contract documents will be 
referred directly to RTC. CONSULTANT will prepare and provide a PDF 
summary of the pre-bid meeting, as directed by the RTC. 

3. Bid Opening. CONSULTANT will attend the bid opening and review the 
bids received for irregularities and provide a recommendation for award. 
CONSULTANT will tabulate bid results into a MS Excel spreadsheet and 
check multiplication and addition of bid items. 

 
G. Real-Time Signal Timing Changes Plans 

 
a. CONSULTANT will support RTC in the development of pretimed 

signal plans for the following project corridors within the City of Sparks 
by developing three scenarios and working with RTC on the signal 
plans. 

a. Pyramid Way 
b. Vista Blvd 
c. Sparks Blvd 
d. Los Altos Parkway 
e. Disc Drive 
f. Baring Blvd 
g. McCarran Blvd 
h. Prater Way 
i. I-80 

b. These plans could be activated automatically when warranted due to 
traffic incidents if data is ingested by Cubic controller. 

 
Deliverables: 

• Corridor pretimed signal plans based on three scenarios 
 

H. Support for Real-Time Incident Data, Travel Times, Speeds, Signal Planning 
Data, and ATMS Upgrade Coordination 

 
a. Real-Time Incident Data: Coordination will be done by the CONSULTANT with 

RTC, NDOT, and Inrix for RTC to develop an annual purchase of data and 
recommend connections for data to other systems. The initial annual purchase will 
be completed by this project and is shown in the fee estimate. 

b. Real-Time Travel Times, Real-Time Speeds, and Future Signal Planning Data: 
Coordination will be done by the CONSULTANT with RTC, NDOT, and RITIS 
for RTC to use the data already available and recommend connections for data to 
other systems. 



8  

c. ATMS Upgrade Coordination: System integration of new data feeds into 
ATMS.now will require significant coordination and software enhancements 
between Cubic and other data providers such as Inrix and RITIS. Coordination 
includes management of the system integration of the technologies for operations 
and maintenance of the system is ongoing and feeds/automation is maintained so 
that data can be ingested into ATMS.now with the result of pre-time signals plans 
being implemented based on certain data criteria (operational scenario is 
satisfied.) Cubic will be required to complete software enhancements to 
ATMS.now. Cost for the enhancement will be paid for under this project to the 
budget limitations show in the fee estimate. 

d. Evaluation of pilot systems and memorandum summarizing recommendation use 
of system and further applicable deployment. 

 
Deliverables: 

• Coordination with project partners for results as outlined above. 
• Pilot Evaluation 

 
I. Virtual DMS for Traveler Information Pilot Deployment 

 
The City of Sparks would like to pilot intelligent corridor technology to better manage 
the real-time traffic impacts on their corridors. Traveler information is a critical element 
for the management of congestion. Traditional traveler information is typically provided 
pre-trip using 511 and en-route using DMS boards. Google maps, Waze, and other third- 
party providers such as Inrix may feed navigation directions to travelers. While crashes 
and incidents are sometimes available in third-party apps, there are still a wide variety of 
travel issues (train in crossing, signal dark, signal in flash, work zone ahead, slow vehicle 
ahead, etc.) that are not available to the public in real-time. Deployment of physical 
DMS is not cost-effective on a regional scale, and while physical DMS can be effective, 
they are only relevant to the travelers that can see them as they approach. 

 
Many connected infrastructure-to-vehicle (I2V) applications have been identified; the 
majority of which are traveler information applications (curve speed warning, queue 
ahead, signal phasing and timing (SPaT), etc.) that are geographically specific. Similar to 
the cost of deploying physical DMS, the cost of supplying region-wide CV2X roadside 
equipment (RSEs) is prohibitive and could take ten or more years to fully deploy. At the 
same time, no mandate has been made by NHTSA to require CV2X equipment in 
vehicles. The lack of a CV-equipped fleet makes it difficult for an agency to decide to 
invest heavily in CV infrastructure. While V2V active safety applications (electronic 
brake lights, red-light running protection, etc.) require the low-latency communications 
of CV2X, most I2V applications can be adequately served by existing 4G cellular 
communications with 1-2s latency. 

 
This emerging technology pilot intends to demonstrate the feasibility of distributing 
critical geofenced traffic-related events available throughout RTC jurisdiction using 
traffic management systems over the commercial cellular data network. The pilot will 
focus on users recruited from the participating agencies (and RTC partners, as identified 
by RTC). The findings of this pilot will allow the region to identify useful traffic 



9  

management system events that can be broadly shared with third-party Information 
Service Providers to enhance traveler information in the future. 

 
In this project, the Kimley Horn Virtual DMS Next Generation 511 app (“Traction 
Connect”) will be demonstrated to provide geo-specific traveler information for roadways 
in the map below. 

 

 
This Traction Connect system consists of: 

1. A smartphone app for Apple iOS and Android devices that integrates with Apple 
CarPlay and Android Auto 

2. A data aggregation API 
3. Connections to regional ATMS databases/APIs (ATMS.now) for posting virtual 

DMS 
4. Connection to the NDOT/RTC RITIS and Inrix data feeds 
5. Collection of app usage data from users for use in performance assessment 



10  

The intention of this app is not to replicate features in Waze or any other navigation app. The 
traveler information API will be open to allow other apps to pull such events into their 
applications. In the pilot phase, CONSULTANT will focus on providing geofenced real-time 
status of traffic events to the Traction Connect app and displaying those geo-specific alerts on 
the Apple CarPlay (Android Auto) infotainment displays of volunteer users (i.e. public agency 
staff and related agencies, not the general public, unless desired by RTC). Display of the 
messaging on the infotainment display and text-to-speech features will reduce driver distraction. 
It may also be possible for the driver to report issues back to the agency, such as “Siri, tell 
Traction Connect that this intersection is flooded” as a proof of concept for such features. 

 
At minimum, the Traction Connect app will be integrated with the RTC INRIX/RITIS incident 
feed. Geolocated incidents from RITIS will be displayed in the app. The warning limits will be 
configurable by agency administrators. Costs for adjustment to RITIS, ATMS.now or associated 
ATMS elements will be the responsibility of RTC. 

 
The results of the pilot will be shared with RTC for evaluation. The CONSULTANT will 
provide 1 year of software license fees associated with the Traction Connect system operations 
and maintenance for this pilot project. Should RTC or RTC partners wish to procure the system 
for permanent use, those fees will be applied as an optional service or in a future project. 

 
The Scope of Services for the vDMS for Traveler Information Pilot Deployment is found below: 

a. Technical design, software project management, and user recruitment 
i. : The CONSULTANT will design the prototype cloud service which will 

connect to the RTC/NDOT ATMS data feed(s) (“RITIS”). This task will 
include a kickoff meeting and monthly project progress meetings as 
associated with other project activities. All partner agency representative 
attendance at monthly project progress meetings is optional. This task will 
also include coordination with RTC/City of Sparks information 
technology (IT) staff to enable the connection from on-site ATMS 
(ATMS.now, RITIS/INRIX) to the Traction Connect cloud system. These 
connections will be one-way “push” transmittal of real-time data from the 
City/RTC ATMS to the Traction Connect cloud.  Traction Connect will 
not require two-way communications to RTC networks. RTC staff will 
determine which ATMS/RITIS status elements will be pushed to Traction 
Connect. 

ii. Any costs associated with effort by RITIS/511/ATMS contractors will not 
by paid by CONSULTANT. For example a contract would be drawn up 
between RTC and ATMS.now if they need to be reimbursed for efforts. 
Budget was allocated for this cost in the plan. 

iii. The CONSULTANT will optionally work with RTC to determine the 
appropriate interface for the RTC WZDx 4.0 feed. CONSULTANT will 
coordinate and make recommendation to RTC IT staff who will be 
responsible for all changes to RTC IT equipment and software, if 
necessary. 

iv. The CONSULTANT will maintain a project action item list during the 
project indicating schedules and responsible parties (RTC, 
CONSULTANT, contractor, other) to complete the project. 



11  

v. The RTC and partner agency representatives will be responsible for 
identifying the appropriate groups within their agency for recruitment of 
volunteer app users. The CONSULTANT will, at minimum: 

1. Support the agency representative in establishing 
webinars/meetings for prospective volunteers 

2. Developing presentation materials for sharing with volunteers 
3. Developing volunteer user terms and conditions 
4. Presenting on behalf of, or with agency representatives, (via 

webinar or in-person meetings, as appropriate) the purpose, 
technical details, expected level of participation, and privacy 
considerations of each user 

5. Providing training for prospective users 
6. Providing technical means for users to supply technical or usability 

feedback, such as periodic emails/sms with Microsoft Forms 
7. All feedback from volunteer users will be completely optional. All 

volunteer attendance at webinars/meetings to obtain usability and 
effectiveness feedback will be completely optional. 

vi. No minimum number of participants will be required of RTC or any 
partner agency. The CONSULTANT will provide a technical 
memorandum describing the final API integration design within one 
month of NTP. The CONSULTANT will provide a test subject 
recruitment plan, to include the volunteer user terms and conditions, 
project summary, and usability feedback plan within six weeks of NTP. 

 
Deliverables: 

• Prototype design memorandum 
• Test subject recruitment plan 
• Project action item list (updated monthly) 

 
b. vDMS cloud and on-site installation and configuration 

i. The CONSULTANT will develop an API service that connects 
(“subscribes”) to each of the RTC ATMS/RITIS database(s)/APIs to 
receive real-time alerts. The CONSULTANT will be responsible (if 
necessary) for installing the real-time data collection module on the RTC 
servers (if necessary) to push real-time event data to the Cloud vDMS 
service. These connections will be one-way “push” transmittal of real- 
time data from the RTC/City of Sparks ATMSs to the Traction Connect 
cloud. Traction Connect will not require two-way communications to 
RTC/City networks. RTC staff will determine which real-time status 
elements will be pushed to Traction Connect and be responsible for all 
IT configuration to allow one-way traffic transmission from the 
RTC/City networks or cloud services to the Traction Connect Azure 
cloud. Data collected from RTC/City ATMS systems will remain the 
property of RTC/City. CONSULTANT will use the collected ATMS 
data only for the purpose of evaluation of the project effectiveness. All 
RTC/City ATMS status data will be stored securely in the Traction 
Cloud system and not be shared with any other third party, monetized, or 



12  

sold. CONSULTANT will remove completely all RTC/City ATMS 
status data from the Traction Connect cloud at the completion of the 
project at the request of RTC. 

ii. The CONSULTANT will configure all traveler information messages in 
Traction Connect on behalf of the agency users. Agency users will 
advise the CONSULTANT of which alert types and which locations are 
desired to be configured. The CONSULTANT will provide the Traveler 
Information Message (TIM) creator interface in Traction Connect so that 
RTC/City staff, if desired, can select TIM message templates regarding 
alerts they wish to automatically communicate to the vDMS app. 
Templates of TIM messages will be provided for RTC staff to easily 
generate TIM messages with a location, a geofence zone configuration, 
and an expected time duration (now, as well as TIM messages to be 
broadcast in the future, or scheduled). TIM message templates will 
include, at minimum: 

1. Crash on roadway 
a. The TIM template allows configuration of the warning 

geofence. The data comes automatically from RTC/City 
RITIS/ATMS incident and status feeds. 

2. Work zone / lane closure 
a. The TIM template allows configuration of the warning 

geofence. The data comes automatically from RTC/City 
RITIS/ATMS incident and status feeds. 

3. Amber/Silver alert 
a. The TIM template allows configuration of the warning 

geofence. The data comes automatically from RTC/City 
RITIS/ATMS incident and status feeds. 

4. Road flooded, turn around, don’t drown or other applicable 
message 

a. Assuming a real-time interface is available for flood or 
other applicable sensors, otherwise such a warning could be 
enabled manually. 

5. Debris in roadway 
6. Suggested diversion 
7. Event information (parking availability, etc.) 
8. Signal in flash 
9. Signal in conflict 
10. Signal EV preempt 
11. Signal Railroad preempt 
12. Test/demo 

iii. The intent of the TIM message constructor is not to duplicate efforts by 
others to enter work zone or incident details. The TIM creator attaches a 
preferred geofence definition template to a TIM message type and 
allows the local agency to configure TIM messages manually when 
desired. TIMs can be scheduled to occur immediately with a designated 
time-out duration, or scheduled in the future. TIM messages will be 
configured in J2735 format with ITIS codes for future support of 



13  

broadcast of TIM to CV RSEs. If any TIM messages are not working as 
expected due to issues under the control of RTC/City (e.g. 
communications failure, controller failure, etc.), RTC/City will repair 
issues at their discretion, on a schedule acceptable to RTC. No 
guarantees of any kind are expected of RTC/City to maintain equipment 
uptime, communications status, or interface availability. 

 
Deliverables: 

• vDMS software module at RTC/City 
• vDMS cloud software module 
• vDMS TIM creator module 

 
c. vDMS mobile app 

i. The CONSULTANT will deploy the vDMS mobile app on the Apple 
Store and on the Android Play Store for private download using “Beta” 
for Android and “TestFlight” for Apple. Volunteer users will be 
privately invited to participate in the beta; vDMS app will not be 
available to the public. In the demonstration pilot, volunteers from 
CONSULTANT, RTC, City of Sparks, and other partner agencies and 
organizations (at the discretion of RTC) will be recruited to download 
the app and provide usability and effectiveness feedback to RTC on the 
value of such traveler information warnings and messages. As described 
in Task I, a., CONSULTANT will be responsible for all recruitment, 
training, and feedback processing from volunteers. Agency staff will be 
requested to support CONSULTANT where possible. 

ii. The vDMS app will be compatible with Apple CarPlay and Android 
Auto to reduce driver distraction. 

a. Deployment of Traction Connect on the Apple and Android app 
stores is subject to approval by Apple and Google. It may be 
necessary for the duration of the pilot to continue utilization of 
Google Play Beta and Apple TestFlight. 

iii. All agency-configured TIM messages and incident messages from 
RITIS/ATMS CAD will also be displayed (crash, work zone, road 
closure, etc.). The CONSULTANT will hold a minimum of one (1) 
design meeting with the agency representatives to review operational 
app design and TIM constructor software. CONSULTANT will make 
necessary improvements or changes to workflows for defects and 
irregularities as noted by RTC/City agency representatives. Additional 
adjustments to workflows during the pilot project will be at the 
discretion of the CONSULTANT, based on feedback from the volunteer 
users and the RTC agency representatives. 

iv. The vDMS app will transmit basic safety messages (BSM) data in J2735 
format (part 1) back to the vDMS cloud software, at ~5s frequency. For 
the purpose of conducting the pilot evaluation, in particular identifying 
the timeliness and effectiveness of message receipt within the geofence 
boundaries, all users will be required to supply their location data with 
the Traction Connect server while the Connect application is running. 



14  

While pilot users will be expected to engage the Connect app at 
minimum during business hours and during commuting, all participation 
from the users is completely voluntary and at the discretion of the 
volunteer. Use of the app when the user is off-duty, after-hours, on 
weekends, etc. will be at the discretion of the participant. 

 
Deliverables: 

• Design review meeting minutes 
• vDMS demo app on Apple App Store TestFlight 
• vDMS demo app on Google Play Store Beta 

 
d. Operational evaluation: 

i. A minimum of three months of operational testing will be conducted. 
During the testing, the CONSULTANT will adjust the geofencing zones 
as necessary to provide accurate and timely information on behalf of 
RTC as identified by volunteer users and agency representatives. The 
on-street test will last no more than three (3) months. Bi-weekly 
meetings (as needed) will be held with CONSULTANT, RTC, and 
appropriate partner agency representatives to receive feedback and 
identify any specific adjustments to the prototype that would be required 
to improve performance or functionality. Attendance of partner agency 
representatives and volunteers at all progress meetings will be 
completely optional and voluntary.  In addition, the CONSULTANT 
will email/SMS volunteer users periodically with user feedback forms to 
solicit feedback. As a pilot project, it will be the discretion of the 
CONSULTANT to add such features or functionality at the expense of 
the CONSULTANT or defer the implementation of such features or 
functionality to a future phase. At the conclusion of the testing period, 
the CONSULTANT will provide RTC with a technical memorandum 
which will summarize the results of the pilot, to include summary 
statistics and logs of alerts during the test period. The tech memo will 
include recommendations for potential roll out in a future project. In 
addition to the technical memorandum, the CONSULTANT will supply 
the following to RTC for evaluation (if desired): 

a. Two months of GPS trajectories from each vDMS app trip from 
all participating volunteers 

b. Two months of TIM messages (both manual and auto-created) 
from all participating agencies 

c. Two months of Geofence detection (IN and OUT) events 
d. Two months of anonymous user usage data 
e. Associated necessary metadata (geofence definitions, etc.) 
f. All user feedback response forms 

ii. As it may be likely that adjustments to geofences and algorithms are 
made during the test period, data provided to RTC will reflect the “final” 
configuration of the pilot area during the final month of the test. 



15  

Deliverables: 
• Pilot summary technical memorandum 
• Detailed database and metadata files for RTC Analysis 
• User feedback commentary reports 

 
e. Operations & Maintenance (O&M): 

i. After the completion of the Operational Evaluation, CONSULTANT 
will provide one year of full operational license for Traction Connect. 
During the operations and maintenance phase, CONSULTANT will 
provide all updates and upgrades to Traction Connect at no additional 
charge. CONSULTANT will maintain high availability of the software 
services (99.9% or better) under control of CONSULTANT. Downtime 
or connectivity issues determined to be the responsibility of others 
(RITIS, ATMS, etc.) will be repaired by others. CONSULTANT will 
make updates and revisions to Traction Connect software only during 
off-peak usage times, such as after business hours. CONSULTANT will 
support RTC in coordination with additional pilot user groups as 
necessary and onboarding of new users. 

a. It is likely by the time of full operations (October 2023) that the 
Traction Connect app will be fully available to the public on 
Google Play and Apple App stores. 

ii. RTC will be responsible for public outreach and advertisement of the 
vDMS Traction Connect app. Up to four (4) new user coordination 
training and on-boarding events will be supported by CONSULTANT 
during the O&M phase. 

iii. RTC may elect to brand the white-label Traction Connect as an RTC app 
during the operations and maintenance period. CONSULTANT will 
support RTC to skin the Traction Connect app with RTC badging and 
re-deploy the app to Google and Apple app stores, if desired. Approval 
of the new app by Google and Apple is subject to their policies and 
timeframe, which are not under the control of CONSULTANT. 

iv. There will be no limit on the number of configured TIM messages, both 
automated and manually configured and no limit on the number of 
distributed Traction Connect apps. The Traction connect app will be 
provided to any RTC-approved user at no fee. Data costs for receipt of 
TIMs (and optional opt-in to share GPS location back with RTC) are the 
responsibility of the user. 

v. As it may be likely that adjustments to geofences and algorithms are 
made during the test period, data provided to RTC will reflect the “final” 
configuration of the pilot area during the final month of the test. 

 
Deliverables: 

• One year of unlimited use of traction connect 
• Up to four (4) additional user recruitment events and all user 

configuration and training 



16  

J. Construction Phase Services or Engineering During Construction (Sole Option and 
Discretion of RTC) 

 
The RTC and CONSULTANT shall review Optional Construction Services following the 
completion of final design. The following tasks summarize the major elements of 
Construction Support Services anticipated with this project. 

 
1. Contract Administration: Provide contract administration services as follows: 

a. Pre-Construction Conference: CONSULTANT will attend a Pre- 
Construction Conference prior to commencement of Work at the 
Site. 

b. Visits to Site and Observation of Construction: CONSULTANT will 
provide on-site construction observation services during the 
construction phase. CONSULTANT will make visits at intervals as 
directed by RTC in order to observe the progress of the Work. Such 
visits and observations by CONSULTANT are not intended to be 
exhaustive or to extend to every aspect of Contractor's work in 
progress. Observations are to be limited to spot checking, selective 
measurement, and similar methods of general observation of the 
Work based on CONSULTANT’s exercise of professional 
judgment. Based on information obtained during such visits and 
such observations, CONSULTANT will evaluate whether 
Contractor's work is generally proceeding in accordance with the 
Contract Documents, and CONSULTANT will keep RTC informed 
of the general progress of the Work. CONSULTANT shall also 
provide recommendations to RTC for any construction changes 
necessitated by field conditions. 

c. The purpose of CONSULTANT’s site visits will be to enable 
CONSULTANT to better carry out the duties and responsibilities 
specifically assigned in this Agreement to CONSULTANT, and to 
provide RTC a greater degree of confidence that the completed 
Work will conform in general to the Contract Documents. 
CONSULTANT shall not, during such visits or as a result of such 
observations of Contractor's work in progress, supervise, direct, or 
have control over Contractor's work, nor shall CONSULTANT have 
authority over or responsibility for the means, methods, techniques, 
equipment choice and usage, sequences, schedules, or procedures of 
construction selected by Contractor, for safety precautions and 
programs incident to Contractor's work, nor for any failure of 
Contractor to comply with laws and regulations applicable to 
Contractor's furnishing and performing the Work. Accordingly, 
CONSULTANT neither guarantees the performance of any 
Contractor nor assumes responsibility for any Contractor's failure to 
furnish and perform its work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 

d. Review and provide recommendations on contractor’s traffic 
control plans. 



17  

e. CONSULTANT will review and provide feedback to the RTC on 
traffic control plans submitted to RTC for approval. 

f. Review and provide recommendations on contractor’s construction 
schedule and work progress CONSULTANT will review and 
provide feedback to the RTC on the construction schedule and work 
progress submitted to the RTC for approval. 

g. Submittals: CONSULTANT will review and approve or take other 
appropriate action in respect to Submittals, Shop Drawings, 
Samples, and other data which Contractor is required to submit, but 
only for conformance with the information given in the Contract 
Documents. Such review and approvals or other action will not 
extend to means, methods, techniques, equipment choice and usage, 
sequences, schedules, or procedures of construction or to related 
safety precautions and programs. 

h. Substitutes and "or-equal": Evaluate and determine the acceptability 
of substitute or "or-equal" materials and equipment proposed by 
Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents, but subject 
to the provisions of applicable standards of state or local government 
entities. 

i. Recommendations with Respect to Defective Work. 
CONSULTANT will recommend to RTC that Contractor's work be 
disapproved and rejected while it is in progress if, on the basis of 
such observations, CONSULTANT believes that such work will not 
produce a completed Project that conforms generally to Contract 
Documents. 

j. Clarifications and Interpretations: CONSULTANT will respond to 
reasonable and appropriate Contractor requests for information and 
issue necessary clarifications and interpretations of the Contract 
Documents to RTC as appropriate to the orderly completion of 
Contractor's work. Any orders authorizing variations from the 
Contract Documents will be made by RTC. 

k. Disagreements between RTC and Contractor: CONSULTANT will, 
if requested by RTC, render written decision on all claims of RTC 
and Contractor relating to the acceptability of Contractor's work or 
the interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents 
pertaining to the progress of Contractor's work. In rendering such 
decisions, CONSULTANT shall be fair and not show partiality to 
RTC or Contractor and shall not be liable in connection with any 
decision rendered in good faith in such capacity. 

l. Applications for Payment: Based on its observations and on review 
of applications for payment and accompanying supporting 
documentation, CONSULTANT will determine the amounts that 
CONSULTANT recommends Contractor be paid. Such 
recommendations of payment will be in writing and will constitute 
CONSULTANT’s representation to RTC, based on such 
observations and review, that, to the best of CONSULTANT’s 



18  

knowledge, information and belief, Contractor’s work has 
progressed to the point indicated and that such work-in-progress is 
generally in accordance with the Contract Documents subject to any 
qualifications stated in the recommendation. In the case of unit price 
work, CONSULTANT’s recommendations of payment will include 
determinations of quantities and classifications of Contractor's 
work, based on observations and measurements of quantities 
provided with pay requests. 

m. By recommending any payment, CONSULTANT shall not thereby 
be deemed to have represented that its observations to check 
Contractor's work have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of 
Contractor's work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the 
Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to 
CONSULTANT in this Agreement. It will also not impose 
responsibility on CONSULTANT to make any examination to 
ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the moneys 
paid on account of the Contract Price, nor to determine that title to 
any portion of the work in progress, materials, or equipment has 
passed to RTC free and clear of any liens, claims, security interests, 
or encumbrances, nor that there may not be other matters at issue 
between RTC and Contractor that might affect the amount that 
should be paid. 

n. Substantial Completion: CONSULTANT will, promptly after notice 
from Contractor that it considers the entire Work ready for its 
intended use, in company with RTC and Contractor, conduct a site 
visit to determine if the Work is substantially complete. Work will 
be considered substantially complete following satisfactory 
completion of all items with the exception of those identified on a 
final punch list. If after considering any objections of RTC, 
CONSULTANT considers the Work substantially complete, 
CONSULTANT will notify RTC and Contractor. 

o. Final Notice of Acceptability of the Work: CONSULTANT will 
conduct a final site visit to determine if the completed Work of 
Contractor is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents 
and the final punch list so that CONSULTANT may recommend, in 
writing, final payment to Contractor. Accompanying the 
recommendation for final payment, CONSULTANT shall also 
provide a notice that the Work is generally in accordance with the 
Contract Documents to the best of CONSULTANT’s knowledge, 
information, and belief based on the extent of its services and based 
upon information provided to CONSULTANT upon which it is 
entitled to rely. 

p. Inspections and Tests: CONSULTANT may require special 
inspections or tests of Contractor's work as CONSULTANT deems 
appropriate and as further defined in the scope of services below, 
and will receive and review certificates of inspections from 
Subconsultants within CONSULTANT’s area of responsibility or of 



19  

tests and approvals required by laws and regulations or the Contract 
Documents. CONSULTANT’s review of such certificates will be 
for the purpose of determining that the results certified indicate 
compliance with the Contract Documents and will not constitute an 
independent evaluation that the content or procedures of such 
inspections, tests, or approvals comply with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely on 
the results of such tests and the facts being certified. 

q. Change Orders: CONSULTANT may recommend Change Orders 
to RTC, and will review and make recommendations related to 
reasonable and appropriate Change Orders submitted or proposed 
by the Contractor. 

r. Limitation of Responsibilities: CONSULTANT shall not be 
responsible for the acts or omissions of any Contractor, or of any of 
their subcontractors, suppliers, or of any other individual or entity 
performing or furnishing the Work. CONSULTANT shall not have 
the authority or responsibility to stop the work of any Contractor. 

 
 

2. Inspection 
a. “Inspection services” means the observation of construction process for 

the purpose of determining that the Contractor is in substantial 
compliance with the plans and specifications and reporting to the RTC 
any observed deficiencies. The following tasks summarize the major 
elements of Inspection anticipated with this project. 

b. Construction of the project that requires inspection is anticipated at 45 
working days (9 weeks). A full-time (8 hours per day) primary inspector 
will be on site during working days that include trenching, pouring 
concrete, grading, utility adjustments and paving (15 working days 
anticipated). A part-time (3 hours per day) primary inspector will be on 
site during all other working days (30 working days anticipated). A full- 
time supplemental technician will be provided at 8 hours per day (5 
working days anticipated) and will perform asphalt sampling and 
density testing during paving operations. The primary inspector will be 
responsible for the following items: 

i. Attend the preconstruction conference. 
ii. Monitor the work performed by the Contractor to ascertain 

whether the work is in substantial accordance with the plans and 
specifications. 

iii. Assist in problem resolution with the RTC, contractor personnel, 
utility agencies, the public and others. 

iv. Prepare daily inspection reports, submitted weekly to RTC and 
copied to the appropriate government jurisdiction(s). The daily 
inspection will contain materials delivered to the site, excavation 
and earthwork, preparation of sub grades, placement of 
aggregate base material, asphaltic concrete, Portland cement 
concrete, the forming, placement or erection of structures, and 



20  

review of contractor daily progress logs. 
v. Provide materials quantity reports and assist in reviewing and 

analyzing contractor’s monthly progress payments. 
vi. Provide verification of the distribution of public relation notices 

required to be delivered by the Contractor. 
vii. Assist in preparation of the Punch List. 

viii. Maintain a field blueline set of drawings (bond copy) to 
incorporate contractor record drawing mark-ups. 

 
3. Materials Testing 

a. Upon receiving authorization from the RTC, the CONSULTANT will 
engage a Subconsultant to perform the Materials Testing services. The 
following tasks summarize the major elements of testing anticipated 
with this project: 

b. Provide Material Testing for compliance with the specifications per the 
latest edition of the Standard Specifications for Public Works 
Construction (Orange Book) testing requirements. Materials to be tested 
will include plantmix bituminous pavement, aggregate base, concrete 
cylinder samples, and trenching backfill material. Test reports, 
accompanied with CONSULTANT’s recommendation regarding 
acceptance/mitigation of materials, shall be submitted promptly to the 
RTC and CC’d to appropriate governmental jurisdiction(s). 

 
4. As-Built Information 

a. Record Drawings. Provide as-built record drawings for the completed 
project. A single file PDF format (11” x 17” at 300 dpi), will be provided 
to RTC for its files and distribution. The PDF file shall include all plan 
sheets in one file with index/bookmark for easy access to different 
sheets or sections of the plan set. 

b. The final record drawings must be identified, dated, and signed as the 
record drawings and must also contain the engineer’s stamp and 
signature. The Consultant may either: 

i. Provide the final revisions on the original engineer- 
stamped/signed reproducible drawings, which will then also be 
identified as the record drawings, or 

ii. Provide new engineer-stamped/signed reproducible drawings 
identified as the record drawings. 

c. The Record Drawings shall include a scan of the original title sheet 
(including the appropriate signatures by RTC, local government, signed 
and stamped by the CONSULTANT) and identified as record drawings. 

 
K. Additional Software and System Implementation Support (Optional) 

 
1. SPaT Countdown timer / Direct controller interface (Optional): 

a. In the event that the City of Sparks ATMS (ATMS.now) cannot be 
augmented with TMDD or other status API for operational events, the 
CONSULTANT will obtain status data directly from traffic controllers 



21  

that support NTCIP 1202 communications (Trafficware v76 or 
Commander, or other controller type). The Traction Connect 
communications service software will be installed on the City of Sparks 
center to field network. This communications service will support 
retrieval of the critical events identified in Task I, but also enable the 
deployment of the countdown timer feature of the Traction Connect app. 

b. Countdown timer information will ONLY be displayed on the app when 
the user is approaching a red light at a configured signal. The signal 
status display will update in real-time to indicate approximate time 
when the signal is expected to turn green. Traction Connect will revert 
back to TIM message mode when the user’s vehicle is clear of the 
supported signal (turns right or left or continues straight across the 
signal). Based on network reliability, latency differences of 1-5s may 
occur and are not correctable by CONSULTANT. 

a. At the time of this project, the countdown timer display may 
optionally also display a recommended travel speed, not to 
exceed the posted speed limit, but also generally much slower 
than the posted speed in order to allow the vehicle a higher 
probability of traversing the signal without having to stop. 

 
2. Additional year of Traction Connect Software License (Optional): 

a. After the pilot first year of operations subsequent years of use and 
support will be done under an extension of the services contract and an 
annual licensing fee. 

 
 

L. Design Contingency 
 

1. This is a contingency for miscellaneous increases within the scope of this 
contract. CONSULTANT shall provide a letter detailing the need, scope, and 
not-to-exceed budget for any proposed work. Work under this task shall 
proceed only with the RTC Project Manager’s written approval. A 8% 
contingency was added to the design tasks only. 



 

Exhibit B 
 

Compensation 



 

Exhibit "B"  
Exhibit B - Schedule of Services 
RTC Sparks Intelligent Corridors 

 

 
 

 
 

TASK 

 
 

DESCRIPTION 

 
 

TASK TOTALS 

   

   
A Preliminary and General Items $ 16,240.00 

   

B Data Collection and Analysis $ 15,970.00 
   

C 60% Design Phase $ 27,110.00 
   

D 90% Design Phase $ 30,815.00 
   

E Final Design Phase $ 17,625.00 
   

F Bidding Services $ 4,345.00 
   
 Total Design Services (Task A-F) $112,105.00 
   

G Signal Timing Plan Development $ 14,310.00 
   

H Data Support and Coordination $ 170,180.00 
   

I Virtual DMS $ 251,000.00 
   
 Total System Services (Task G-H) $435,490.00 
   

 
J 

 
Engineering During Construction (Optional Services) 

 
$ 69,530.00 

   

 
K 

(Optional) Additional Software and System 
Implementation Support 

 
$ 119,500.00 

   

L Design Contingency (8% of Design) $ 44,000.00 
   
 Total Not-to-Exceed Amount $780,625.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract No.: Page 1 of 4 



Contract No.: Page 2 of 4  

Exhibit "B" 
 

Exhibit B - Schedule of Services 
 

RTC Sparks Intelligent Corridors  
 

Prepared by Kimley-Horn 

 
 

MSM/DG 8/16/2022 v2.0 

 

TASK 

 

DESCRIPTION 

  
Hours 

Subtotal 

 

Expenses 

 
Expense 

Description 

 
Lump Sum 

Task Amounts 
ITS Sys. 
Manager/ 

Prof. II 

 
Senior 
Prof. I 

 
 

Prof. 

Senior 
Technical 
Support 

 
 

Analyst II 

 
 

Analyst I 

 
Technical 
Support 

 
Support 

Staff 
  $320 $260 $200 $185 $170 $140 $110 $120     

              

A Preliminary and General Items             

          0   $0.00 
 Project Management (12 months)         0   $0.00 
 Kickoff Meeting 1 4    4   9   $1,920.00 
 Monthly Progress calls  12 3  12    27   $5,760.00 
 Coordination Meetings (5) 1 8 8      17   $4,000.00 
 Planning  12      12 24   $4,560.00 
          0   $0.00 
 Subtotal Hours 2 36 11 0 12 4 0 12 77    

 Subtotal Fee $640.00 $9,360.00 $2,200.00 $0.00 $2,040.00 $560.00 $0.00 $1,440.00  $0  $16,240.00 
              

              

B Data Collection and Analysis             

          0   $0.00 
 Field Review with Sparks, RTC   8   8   16 $1,000 Travel $3,720.00 
 Aerial mapping     10  10  20   $2,800.00 
 Centerline development    2  2   4   $650.00 
 Utility mapping   1  15 15 15  46   $6,500.00 
 Utility Coordination   1  5 5 5  16   $2,300.00 
          0   $0.00 
 Subtotal Hours 0 0 10 2 30 30 30 0 102    

 Subtotal Fee $0.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 $370.00 $5,100.00 $4,200.00 $3,300.00 $0.00  $1,000  $15,970.00 
              

C 60% Design Phase             

              

 Cover, General Notes, Sheet Index (3)   1  5  5  11   $1,600.00 
 Project details (6)    12  12   24   $3,900.00 
 Project fiber splice details (3) 2  4 4     10   $2,180.00 
 Interconnect Plans (6)    15 18 18 18  69   $10,335.00 
 OPC   1   7 7  15   $1,950.00 
 Quality Control Review  4 10 4 8 8   34   $6,260.00 
 Submit 60% RTC and utilities    1  5   6   $885.00 
 Subtotal Hours 2 4 16 36 31 50 30 0 169    

 Subtotal Fee $640.00 $1,040.00 $3,200.00 $6,660.00 $5,270.00 $7,000.00 $3,300.00 $0.00  $0  $27,110.00 
              

              

D 90% Design Phase             

              

 Comment Review and Response   4 4  4   12   $2,100.00 



Contract No.: Page 3 of 4  

Exhibit "B" 
 

 

TASK 

 

DESCRIPTION 

  
Hours 

Subtotal 

 

Expenses 

 
Expense 

Description 

 
Lump Sum 

Task Amounts 
ITS Sys. 
Manager/ 

Prof. II 

 
Senior 
Prof. I 

 
 

Prof. 

Senior 
Technical 
Support 

 
 

Analyst II 

 
 

Analyst I 

 
Technical 
Support 

 
Support 

Staff 
 Cover, General Notes, Sheet Index (3)   1  1  1  3   $480.00 
 Project details (6)    10  10   20   $3,250.00 
 Project fiber splice details (3) 1 4 4 4     13   $2,900.00 
 Interconnect Plans (6)    8 8 8 8  32   $4,840.00 
 Prepare specifications 1 1 5 5  5   17   $3,205.00 
 OPC   1 1  7 7  16   $2,135.00 
 Quality Control Review  2 10 4 8 8   32   $5,740.00 
 Plan in Hand Field Walk   12   12   24 $1,000 Travel for Field Walk $5,080.00 
 Submit 90% RTC and utilities   1 1  5   7   $1,085.00 
              

 Subtotal Hours 2 7 38 37 17 59 16 0 176    

 Subtotal Fee $640.00 $1,820.00 $7,600.00 $6,845.00 $2,890.00 $8,260.00 $1,760.00 $0.00  $1,000  $30,815.00 
              

              

E Final Design Phase             

              

 Comment Review and Response   4 4  4   12   $2,100.00 
 Cover, General Notes, Sheet Index (3)   1  1  1  3   $480.00 
 Project details (6)    4  4   8   $1,300.00 
 Project fiber splice details (3)  1 1 4     6   $1,200.00 
 Interconnect Plans (6)    5 5 5 5  20   $3,025.00 
 Prepare specifications  1 5 5  5   16   $2,885.00 
 OPC   1 1  4 4  10   $1,385.00 
 Quality Control Review 1 1 5 3 4 4   18   $3,375.00 
 Submit Bid documents to RTC   3 1  6   10 $250 Printing/Delivery $1,875.00 
 Subtotal Hours 1 3 20 27 10 32 10 0 103    

 Subtotal Fee $320.00 $780.00 $4,000.00 $4,995.00 $1,700.00 $4,480.00 $1,100.00 $0.00  $250  $17,625.00 
              

F Bidding Services             

              

 Pre-Bid Meeting   1  3    4   $710.00 
 RFI Responses  1 2 5     8   $1,585.00 
 Bid Opening and Bid Tabs   4   3 3  10 $500 Travel $2,050.00 
          0   $0.00 
 Subtotal Hours 0 1 7 5 3 3 3 0 22    

 Subtotal Fee $0.00 $260.00 $1,400.00 $925.00 $510.00 $420.00 $330.00 $0.00  $500  $4,345.00 
              

G Signal Timing Plan Development             

              

 Support RTC in prepare timing plans for 3 
Scenarios 1 4 35 

 
35 

   
75 

  
$14,310.00 

          0   $0.00 
          0   $0.00 
 Subtotal Hours 1 4 35 0 35 0 0 0 75    

 Subtotal Fee $320.00 $1,040.00 $7,000.00 $0.00 $5,950.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $0  $14,310.00 
              

H Data Support and Coordination             



Contract No.: Page 4 of 4  

Exhibit "B" 
 

 

TASK 

 

DESCRIPTION 

  
Hours 

Subtotal 

 

Expenses 

 
Expense 

Description 

 
Lump Sum 

Task Amounts 
ITS Sys. 
Manager/ 

Prof. II 

 
Senior 
Prof. I 

 
 

Prof. 

Senior 
Technical 
Support 

 
 

Analyst II 

 
 

Analyst I 

 
Technical 
Support 

 
Support 

Staff 
              

 Inrix Coordination and License Purchase  4 10  10    24 $48,000 Regional License $52,740.00 
 RITTIS Coordination  4 10  10    24 $1,000 Travel (2 trips) $5,740.00 
 

ATMS.now Coordination 4 20 35 
 

30 
   

89 $80,000 ATMS.now 
Enhancements $98,580.00 

 Evaluation Memo 1 5 15  50    71   $13,120.00 
 Subtotal Hours 5 33 70 0 100 0 0 0 208    

 Subtotal Fee $1,600.00 $8,580.00 $14,000.00 $0.00 $17,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $129,000  $170,180.00 
              

I Virtual DMS             

 Software Project Management and User 
Recruitment 12 25 40 

 
62 63 

  
202 

  
$37,700.00 

 vDMS Cloud Installation and Configuration 5 30 60  90 90   275   $49,300.00 
 vDMS Mobile app 5 30 60  120 120   335   $58,600.00 
 Operational Evaluation 10 20 65  120 120   335 $1,000 Travel (2 trips) $59,600.00 
 Pilot ) 5 40 45  80 80   250   $45,800.00 
          0   $0.00 
 Subtotal Hours 37 145 270 0 472 473 0 0 1,397    

 Subtotal Fee $11,840.00 $37,700.00 $54,000.00 $0.00 $80,240.00 $66,220.00 $0.00 $0.00  $1,000  $251,000.00 
              

J Engineering During Construction (Optional Services)            

 45 Working Days         0   $0.00 
 Construction Administration  4 10 10 10 42  4 80 $1,000 Travel (2 trips) $13,950.00 
 Inspection   10 50 25 160   245 $750 Mileage $38,650.00 
 Material Testing   2 4 4 15   25 $8,000 Materials Testing $11,920.00 
 As-built information   4 2 2 25   33   $5,010.00 
          0   $0.00 
 Subtotal Hours 0 4 26 66 41 242 0 4 383    

 Subtotal Fee $0.00 $1,040.00 $5,200.00 $12,210.00 $6,970.00 $33,880.00 $0.00 $480.00  $9,750  $69,530.00 
              

K (Optional) Additional Software and System Implementation Support           

 
SPaT Countdown timer / direct controller 
interface (optional) 

 
10 

 
20 

 
60 

  
80 

 
75 

   
245 

   
$44,500.00 

  
One Year, Post Pilot License Fee 

         
0 

 
$75,000 Traction Connect 

License fee 

 
$75,000.00 

          0   $0.00 
 Subtotal Hours 10 20 60 0 80 75 0 0 245    

 Subtotal Fee $3,200.00 $5,200.00 $12,000.00 $0.00 $13,600.00 $10,500.00 $0.00 $0.00  $75,000  $119,500.00 
              

L Design Contingency (8% of Design)           8% of Design $44,000.00 
              

 Total Services Hours 60 257 563 173 831 968 89 16 2,957    

 Total Services Fee $19,200.00 $66,820.00 $112,600.00 $32,005.00 $141,270.00 $135,520.00 $9,790.00 $1,920.00  $217,500  $780,625.00 
              



 

Exhibit C 
 

Indemnification and Insurance Requirements 



1  

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

[NRS 338 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL] 
2022-03-09 Version 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
IT IS HIGHLY RECOMMENDED THAT CONSULTANTS CONFER WITH THEIR 
INSURANCE CARRIERS OR BROKERS TO DETERMINE THE AVAILABILITY OF THESE 
INSURANCE CERTIFICATES AND ENDORSEMENTS IN ADVANCE OF PROPOSAL 
SUBMISSION. IF THERE ARE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THESE INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS, IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT THE AGENT/BROKER CONTACT RTC’S 
FINANCE DIRECTOR AT (775) 335-1845. 

 
2. INDEMNIFICATION 

 
CONSULTANT agrees, subject to the limitations in Nevada Revised Statutes Section 338.155, to 
save and hold harmless and fully indemnify RTC and City of Sparks including their elected 
officials, officers, employees, and agents (hereafter, “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all 
claims, proceedings, actions, liability and damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
defense costs incurred in any action or proceeding (collectively “Damages”) arising out of the: 

 
A. Negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT 

or CONSULTANT’s agents, employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else 
for whom CONSULTANT may be legally responsible, which are based upon or arising out 
of the professional services of CONSULTANT; and 

 
B. Violation of law or any contractual provisions or any infringement related to trade names, 

licenses, franchises, patents or other means of protecting interests in products or inventions 
resulting from the use by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, equipment, 
or other deliverable (including software) supplied by CONSULTANT under or as a result 
of this Agreement, but excluding any violation or infringement resulting from the 
modification or alteration by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, 
equipment, or other deliverable (including software) not consented to by CONSULTANT. 

 
CONSULTANT further agrees to defend, save and hold harmless and fully indemnify the 
Indemnitees from and against any and all Damages arising out the negligence, errors, omissions, 
recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’s agents, 
employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else for whom CONSULTANT may be 
legally responsible, which are not based upon or arising out of the professional services of 
CONSULTANT. 

 
The Damages shall include, but are not limited to, those resulting from personal injury to any 
person, including bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and injury to real property or personal 
property, tangible or intangible, and the loss of use of any of that property, whether or not it is 
physically injured. 



2  

 

If the Indemnitees are involved in defending actions of CONSULTANT or anyone else for whom 
CONSULTANT is legally responsible, CONSULTANT shall reimburse the Indemnitees for the 
time spent by such personnel at the rate of the Indemnitees pay or compensation for such services. 

 
If an Indemnitee is found to be liable in the proceeding, then CONSULTANT’S obligation 
hereunder shall be limited to the proportional share of the liability attributed to CONSULTANT. 

 
In determining whether a claim is subject to indemnification, the incident underlying the claim 
shall determine the nature of the claim. 

 
In the event of a violation or an infringement under paragraph 2.B above and the use is enjoined, 
CONSULTANT, at its sole expense, shall either (1) secure for the Indemnitees the right to continue 
using the materials by suspension of any injunction or by procuring a license or licenses for the 
Indemnitees; or (2) modify the materials so that they become non-infringing. This covenant shall 
survive the termination of the Professional Services Agreement. 

 
The provisions of this Agreement are separate and severable and it is the intent of the Parties hereto 
that in the event any provision of this Agreement should be determined by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, voidable or too restrictive for any reason whatsoever, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain valid and binding upon said Parties. It is also understood 
and agreed that in the event any provision should be considered, by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, to be void because it imposes a greater obligation on CONSULTANT than is 
permitted by law, such court may reduce and reform such provisions to limitations which are 
deemed reasonable and enforceable by said court. 

 
3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
Prior to the start of any work on a RTC project, CONSULTANT shall purchase and maintain 
insurance of the types and limits as described below insuring against claims for injuries to persons 
or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work 
hereunder by CONSULTANT, its subconsultants, or their employees, agents, or representatives. 
The cost of all such insurance shall be borne by CONSULTANT. 

 
4. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE 

 
CONSULTANT shall furnish RTC with a certificate(s) of insurance, executed by a duly authorized 
representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance requirements set forth 
herein, on forms acceptable to RTC. All deductibles and self-insured retentions requiring RTC 
approval shall be shown on the certificate. All certificates and endorsements are to be addressed 
to RTC’s Finance Director and be received by RTC before work commences. Upon request, 
CONSULTANT agrees that RTC has the right to review CONSULTANT’S and the Sub’s 
insurance policies, or certified copies of the policies. Copies of applicable policy forms or 
endorsements confirming required additional insured, waiver of subrogation and notice of 
cancellation provisions are required to be provided with any certificate(s) evidencing the required 
coverage. 



3  

 

5. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION 
 
CONSULTANT or its insurers shall provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to RTC 
prior to the cancellation or non-renewal of any insurance required under this Agreement. An 
exception may be included to provide at least ten (10) days’ written notice if cancellation is due to 
non-payment of premium. CONSULTANT shall be responsible to provide prior written notice to 
RTC as soon as practicable upon receipt of any notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in 
required limits or other material change in the insurance required under this Agreement. 

 
6. SUBCONSULTANTS & SUBCONTRACTORS 

 
CONSULTANT shall include all Subcontractors and Subconsultants (referred to collectively as 
“Subs”) as insureds under its liability policies OR shall cause Subs employed by CONSULTANT 
to purchase and maintain separate liability coverages and limits of the types specified herein. If 
any Subs maintain separate liability coverages and limits, each shall include the RTC and City of 
Sparks as additional insureds under its commercial general liability policy, subject to the same 
requirements stated herein, without requiring a written contract or agreement between each of the 
additional insureds and any sub-consultant or sub-contractor. Any separate coverage limits of 
liability maintained by Subs shall be at least $1,000,000 per occurrence and at least $2,000,000 for 
any applicable coverage aggregates or the amount customarily carried by the Sub, whichever is 
GREATER. If any Subs provide their own insurance with limits less than required of the 
Contractor, Contractor shall include Subs in their coverage up to the full limits required of the 
Contractor. When requested by RTC, CONSULTANT shall furnish copies of certificates of 
insurance evidencing coverage for each subconsultant. CONSULTANT need not require its non- 
design subcontractors to carry Professional Errors and Omissions Liability insurance. 

 
7. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS 

 
Any deductibles or self-insured retentions that exceed $25,000 per occurrence or claim must be 
declared to RTC’s Finance Director prior to signing this Agreement. RTC is entitled to request and 
receive additional documentation, financial or otherwise, prior to giving its approval of the 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any changes to the deductibles or self-insured retentions 
made during the term of this Agreement or during the term of any policy must be declared to 
RTC’s Finance Director prior to the change taking effect. 

 
8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS 

 
Required insurance is to be placed with insurers with a Best's rating of no less than A-VII and 
acceptable to RTC. RTC may accept coverage with carriers having lower Best's ratings upon 
review of financial information concerning CONSULTANT and the insurance carrier. RTC 
reserves the right to require that CONSULTANT'S insurer(s) be licensed and admitted in the State 
of Nevada or meet any applicable state and federal laws and regulations for non-admitted insurance 
placements. 



4  

9. OTHER CONDITIONS 
 

A. Failure to furnish the required certificate(s) or failure to maintain the required insurance 
may result in termination of this Agreement at RTC’s option. 

 
B. If CONSULTANT fails to furnish the required certificate or fails to maintain the required 

insurance as set forth herein, RTC shall have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase 
said insurance at CONSULTANT's expense. 

 
C. Any waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to furnish such certificate or maintain such 

insurance must be in writing and signed by an authorized representative of RTC. Failure 
of RTC to demand such certificate or other evidence of full compliance with these 
insurance requirements or failure of RTC to identify a deficiency from evidence that is 
provided shall not be construed as a waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to maintain 
such insurance, or as a waiver as to the enforcement of any of these provisions at a later 
date. 

 
D. By requiring insurance herein, RTC does not represent that coverage and limits will 

necessarily be adequate to protect CONSULTANT, and such coverage and limits shall not 
be deemed as a limitation on CONSULTANT's liability under the indemnities granted to 
RTC in this contract. 

 
E. If CONSULTANT’S liability policies do not contain the standard ISO separation of 

insureds condition, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 
cross-liability coverage. 

 
10. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 

 
CONSULTANT shall maintain commercial general liability (CGL) and, if necessary, commercial 
umbrella insurance with a limit of not less than $2,000,000 each occurrence. If such CGL insurance 
contains a general aggregate limit, it shall be increased to equal twice the required occurrence limit 
or revised to apply separately to this project. 

 
CGL insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 04 13 (or a substitute form 
providing equivalent coverage) and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
products-completed operations, personal and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an 
insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract). 

 
RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in Section 2. INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement shall 
be included as an additional insured under the CGL, using ISO additional insured endorsement CG 
20 10 07/04 or CG 20 33 07/04 or a substitute providing equivalent coverage, and under the 
commercial umbrella, if any. 

 
This insurance shall apply as primary insurance with respect to any other insurance or self- 
insurance programs afforded to RTC or any other Indemnitees under this Agreement. 



5  

CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in section 2. 
INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are 
covered by the commercial general liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance maintained 
pursuant to this agreement. CONSULTANT’s insurer shall endorse CGL policy to waive 
subrogation against RTC with respect to any loss paid under the policy. 

 
11. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 

 
CONSULTANT shall maintain automobile liability and, if necessary, commercial umbrella 
liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. Such insurance shall 
cover liability arising out of any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos). 

 
Coverage shall be written on ISO form CA 00 01, CA 00 05, CA 00 25, or a substitute form 
providing equivalent liability coverage for all owned, leased, hired (rented) and non-owned 
vehicles (as applicable). RTC may agree to accept auto liability for non-owned and hired (rented) 
vehicles under the CGL if CONSULTANT does not own or operate any owned or leased vehicles. 

 
CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its officers, employees and volunteers for recovery 
of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the automobile liability or commercial 
umbrella liability insurance obtained by CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
12. INDUSTRIAL (WORKER’S COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY) 

INSURANCE 
 
It is understood and agreed that there shall be no Industrial (Worker’s Compensation and 
Employer’s Liability) Insurance coverage provided for CONSULTANT or any subconsultants by 
RTC. CONSULTANT, and any subconsultants, shall procure, pay for and maintain the required 
coverages. 

 
CONSULTANT shall maintain workers’ compensation and employer’s liability insurance meeting 
the statutory requirements of the State of Nevada, including but not limited to NRS 616B.627 and 
NRS 617.210. The employer’s liability limits shall not be less than $1,000,000 each accident for 
bodily injury by accident or $1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. 

 
CONSULTANT shall provide a Final Certificate for itself and each subconsultant evidencing that 
CONSULTANT and each subconsultant maintained workers’ compensation and employer’s 
liability insurance throughout the entire course of the project. 

 
If CONSULTANT, or any subconsultant is a sole proprietor, coverage for the sole proprietor must 
be purchased and evidence of coverage must appear on the Certificate of Insurance and Final 
Certificate. 

 
CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its elected officials, officers, employees and agents 
for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the workers compensation and 
employer’s liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance obtained by Tenant pursuant to this 



6  

agreement. CONSULTANT shall obtain an endorsement equivalent to WC 00 03 13 to affect this 
waiver. 

 
13. PROFESSIONAL ERRORS AND OMISSIONS LIABILITY 

 
CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance applying to liability for a 
professional, error, act, or omission arising out of the scope of CONSULTANT’S services 
provided under this Agreement with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each claim and annual 
aggregate. CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance during the term of this 
Agreement and, if coverage is provided on a “claims made” or “claims made and reported” basis, 
shall maintain coverage or purchase an extended reporting period for a period of at least three (3) 
years following the termination of this Agreement. 

 
14. NETWORK SECURITY AND PRIVACY LIABILITY 

 
If CONSULTANT will have access to RTC computer or network systems for any reason and/or 
data including personal information (as defined in NRS 603A.040) or confidential information, 
CONSULTANT shall maintain network security and privacy liability insurance insuring against 
loss resulting from (1) privacy breaches [liability arising from the loss or disclosure of confidential 
information] (2) system breach (3) denial or loss of service (4) introduction, implantation, or spread 
of malicious software code (5) unauthorized access to or use of computer systems and (6) system 
failure. Coverage shall be provided with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per claim and annual 
aggregate. 



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022  
 
From: Amanda Callegari, Engineer II 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Approve a contract with Nichols Consulting Engineers, CHTD, to provide design services and optional 
engineering during construction for the North Virginia Street University Rehab Project, in an amount not 
to exceed $478,819.50. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
This Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Nichols Consulting Engineers, CHTD is for 
professional design services for the North Virginia Street University Rehabilitation Project in the amount 
of $263,857.50 and optional engineering during construction services (EDC) in the amount of $214,962.00. 
The project includes pavement rehabilitation of Virginia Street from the Lawlor roundabout to McCarran 
Boulevard. 
 
Nichols Consulting Engineers, CHTD was selected from the Civil Engineering Design and Construction 
Management Services for the Streets & Highways Program Qualified List as a qualified firm to perform 
engineering, construction management and quality assurance. Negotiation of Nichols Consulting 
Engineers, CHTD’s scope, schedule and budget indicated the amount for design services is within the 
appropriated budget. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Appropriations are included in FY 2023 Capital Budget. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
There has been no previous board action taken. 
 
 



����������	
	����������������������������������������������� ��!�"#�$#����%&� ��!�"#'(������#����"���))�*#�������+)�� � � ,�����,�-.��"��-�#/��"�#�������+"�0�� �"�1+ #�#�+"�2+!!����+"�+)�3���+��2+4"#.�$%��2'(��"��5�*�+0��2+"�40#�"��6"��"�� �,�27�8�$%295:;<�&5�'(=��3>�56::6�7?��376�6&:,���2�������0�*#���295:;<�&5��) +!�#���2���0�6"��"�� �"��8����"��"��2+"�# 4*#�+"�@�"���!�"#�:� ��*���)+ �#���:# ��#��A�7���/�.��B +� �!���+ #0��#�#+�1� )+ !�8����"��"��6"��"�� �"��:� ��*����"�*+""�*#�+"�/�#��#���5=�C� ��"���:# ��#�;"��� ��#.�����-�0�#�#�+"�B +D�*#=��593,��76�6E9�6,���2��"��295:;<�&5�,��"�*+"���� �#�+"�+)�#���!4#4�0�*+��"�"#���"��+#�� �*+"���� �#�+"���#�)+ #���� ��",��+��� �-.��� ������)+00+/�?�� &��>2<6���F��6�@�&58�65G&G6@65����=�=������#� !�+)�#����&� ��!�"#����00�-��) +!�#�����#��)� �#�/ �##�"��-+���#� +4���8�*�!-� �H�,����I,�4"0����#� !�"�#����#��"��� 0�� ���#�,�+ ��J#�"����#+���0�#� ���#�,�14 �4�"#�#+�#���1 +����+"���� ��"=���=�=��295:;<�&5��/�00�1� )+ !�#���/+ K�4��"��#���1 +D�*#�#��!����"#�)�����"�#���6J��-�#�&=��&".�*��"����#+�#���1 +D�*#�#��!�!4�#�-���11 +����-.���2L��B +D�*#�@�"��� =���=H=��295:;<�&5��/�00�1 +!1#0.,���0���"#0.��"��)��#�)400.��J�*4#��#���/+ K�#+�*+!10�#�+"��"��**+ ��"*��/�#���110�*�-0��1 +)����+"�0��#�"�� ����4-D�*#�#+��".���0�.���4��#+��# �K��,��*#��+)�G+�,��*#�+)��".��+�� "!�"#,�*���0����#4 -�"*��,�+ ��".�+#�� �*�4���-�.+"��#��� ���+"�-0��*+"# +0�+)�295:;<�&5�=���=I=��295:;<�&5�����00�"+#�1 +*����/�#��/+ K�4"#�0�-+#��1� #����������J�*4#���#����&� ��!�"#��"����14 *�����+ �� �����-��"����4���#+�295:;<�&5�=��>)�295:;<�&5����+0�#���#��#�1 +��-�#�+",�295:;<�&5��)+ )��#���".��"���00� ���#�#+� ��!-4 ��!�"#��"��1�.!�"#�)+ �#��#�/+ K��"��/�������".��"���00�*0��!������"�#���2,��#���!10+.���,����"#�,��"���))�0��#��,��"*04��"��-4#�"+#�0�!�#���#+�!+"�#� .���!����,��"���".�+#�� � �!��.�����0�-0���#�0�/�+ ��"��M4�#.�� ���"��4"�� �#���#� !��+)�#����&� ��!�"#=��E4 #�� !+ �,�1 �+ �#+��J�*4#�+"��"�����4�"*��+)���14 *�����+ �� ,�295:;<�&5�����00�"+#� �0.�+"�#���#� !��+)�#����&� ��!�"#��"��".�/�.,��"*04��"��-4#�"+#�0�!�#���#+��".�/ �##�"�+ �+ �0� �1 ���"#�#�+"�,����4 �"*���+ �/�  �"#����!����-.���2�+ ��".�+)��#�����"#�,��!10+.����+ ��))�0��#��,�+ �+"��".���#���+)�1� )+ !�"*�,�����0�"��,��"��!"�#���,�+ ��".�#� !�*+"#��"����"�#����&� ��!�"#�+ �+#�� /���=��



����

������	
������
����
��������	���������������
����
����
���� �������������������������������������� �!���������������
"��#���������������$
%�	
����
����
���� � �!�� �&��'#� �!���� ((�#����)�(���&���� ����& ����*������������&'(�����
"��#���������+��� �,�-�.������������&'(��)'���#�� ������&�#+����/�����0����1 � ,�������2��������3
��4�� ������,���+�(�������)���&�������&�������������������������� �������)����(( ���'������� ����*�������������������*��!����������������'������ �+�������,���+� )�'���5�����	������� ((������&�� �(������������/�����0����1 � ,���&�� �(��,��������&5������5� �&���������"���&�#'&,������������������&�*��!���6��!����#��� �&������'�����������,���+��� ((�������&���(+�*���������������0����1 � ,��/��*������� ����� (�������7���������� ������ ((�� ���������,�������"�����������������-�.����� ((���� �+�� ���������������� (�� �!������'#� �!���&�������&����
"��#�����������	�����*�((����� ��� �&��'#)��� �&�� �(�&����������������������(�����,�������������������� (������������8'����&5� �����&'(�������'�����������5� �&� ������������ (�������*�((������*� �&� ����������������������������� �&����� �&�����	�����*�((�&���'��� �&� ,����'������)���� ����� �&� �����&'(�������	������� ((�'�&��� !�����*��!���� �+������� (�� �!�*����'��*�����������������������&�*��������������) �������� �&�� �!������5� ��������(��������� �&�&���������5�) +���(���� ���������&���&' (�������)����������)����������� (�� �!������'#� �!���&�������&����
"��#���������9����%%�����	��
����
��� ����	�����*�((������&�� &&����� (����������*���� ,���&�������*�����,�#+����� �&�����	���������:����
���1���
��
;���
1
����� ��+� �&� ((�&���,�� �&���,�������,�*��!��'������&�#+�����	������� ((�#��������)�&�#+����'�&��������'���������������������(������&������ ������ ��������'��5���,�������,5�����'���+��,�- �� ��(�� #(�.���������� ��������� & 5�#+���������(�*��� ���� ���'(5��!�((�&5��"��������&� �&���)����������������������������� &�����������������5�*��� ������������� ((+�8' (����&����������)�����*��!5� �&�*����� ((� ��')������������ (���������#�(��+��������� ��'� �+� �&���)�(�����������&��')��������� ��&��������!�&�#+����)5���� ����& ����*���� ������� ������� �(��,����������� (��� �& �&�������*����� �&��,������������������ �+�



����

�����	
������	����������������	������������������������������������������ ����������	������������!�����	
�������"���	�����������#!���������������� ����������#!���������!	���$���	����"���	
��	��"�����������	
����������������"�������	������ ������	
���������������������������%��������������&�����
	�'�����������	
���
�	�'���	��	������������������"�����$�(���	��
�����	��������"�����������	
����������"���������!����	�!��	���������������������"��	��	������#!���������������	$��)������������������	������������� ��������������������
���"�	$��(������������	��*��������������"� ����!��	
������"���������
���"�	�������������������	����������""����������	��������������"���$��(���	�������������"������		������
�����!��	��������������������"�����"�	��������
���"�	���������!�$���������������������� �����	����� ���������	�������+!��������	�������	���	��!���	�,��+��-�#!�������������		�����������"��������	��������������"���	
��	�����	
��!��	
������"���������
���"�	$���������������������������
	������������	������+���������	��	������������.��������	���	!"���$��/$0$��1��������2��&(��(����� ����������������������!�������	�����"��	����	�������������� �����	���������	������������������"�����	����!�������������������	�����	�����������������	����� ����$�������������������
������������	������������"�����	������!	��������������������*������!����"�3�����	�����������������	����	���*��	��������$��(���	�����������"�����	���������������!�������������	��	�����������������	��������#!���������!�������������"�����	�������������������������"��������"��	����������!���������	������3$�� ���(��1�������&)1����(�����$4$���������������������������������!������3����������!����������	��������������	
��	�1*�����5$������������	����������	�����������	����������������*��	�����*���������� ������	�1*�����5$�����$/$������"�*�"!"��"�!	��������������������������"������������3�����#!��������	�����*������"�!	�����	�������	�1*�����5$����������������	���#!����	�����	
�������6��)��7���&�	�
�������������	�����*������"�!	�������	���3�$������#!���������������	�����*������"�!	��"!���������"��	������������ ��������������!�����	��"!���������� ����	�����	
�������6��)��7���&�	�
�����������������"�	������������3$��(	�	�����������������������������"��	������	��*������������������	
�	�����*������"�!	�8������������ �����,���3������%-� 9/:��;<0$<=�����	���2���
	���	�	
�	���,���3�(-� 9/=�===$==�����	���12����� �����,���3�>����-� 94?:�?@/$==�����	���12����	�	
�	���,���3��-� 9/=�===$==�����������1*������"�!	� 9:0;�;4?$<=�



����

�����������	
������	�����������
����������
��������������
	�������������� !�	
��!"#�$% �# ������
�&���	���
�������'�����	(��
���)	�����
�������	
�	�����������	����	
���	����*��������
&��
�+'��)���,����
������	�����������
����������
��������������
	����������������
�-��*��(���)��-����
������	���
����(-�����������
������	����(-������)��	**���	�����*�!"#�$% �# �������)��)������	��	�(���	����	&������-�
��	���*������������������)���
���(������	
�./01��*�����	(��
���)���������!"#�$% �# �*�������������������������!"#�$% �# ���	�������������(-�
�	���
�*���-��-	��
&�*���	
�2���	--�	��
&��
�	
������&	���
�	��������3������*�� !���'��-�4�5.6��*����������&	���
�������	����
�������)��!"#�$% �# ��
���*�
��
&�������������������������������*�	
���*�������)���
����	
��7����5�6�	��(	��)����3������)��!"#�$% �# 8���
��(
�*��	���
��)��&	���
����!�(-�
�	���
�*�������&	���
������������3�������)��� !���	���)��-	���	��	�(���	����	&������-�
��	���	
�2���	��	���	��
	)����	���*������������������� �� 9!%+�����9#:"9!9#;����.���!"#�$% �# ���	�����)(���(�
������
��������
�����*��(	���-���*����)��� !���9
�������(����)����)(���������	����
��-	�	)��<����	�������(���� !8��-	�(�
�����(��	����/��	���	*�������������-���*������
����������(-����
������������)��-	���	�������	����*��	�*�	�-����
��5/�016�-���(�
����
�	����
�������	--������)��� !���	��	���
���-	��������
��������5�/6��	����*������-���*������
��������������� !���	���
���*��!"#�$% �# ��*�	
�����	&���(�
�������	
����)(�������
������*�����
�����
&���������������
��������5�/6��	����*������-���*�	
��
���������
��	(��
���
����
����-������	���)��-��(-����-	���)��� !���������!"#�$% �# ���	���(	�
�	�
���(-���������������--����
&���������3�����*���-	�(�
����	��(	��)���(��������$-�
���3������!"#�$% �# ���	���-�������	������	�-�����
��*�������������	
��� !���	����	���������&�������
�-����	
����-����������������� �� 9!%+�0����!!+��� "�9#�"�=� 9"#��#>�?�"?+� @��0�.���$-�
���3�����	
������������������!"#�$% �# ��� !������-�������	���-����
�
���
*��(	���
���	�������	��
	)���	�	��	)������� !��
�����
&������������-�����	
��	
���������	�	����	������������&
�	
����
��������
���0������ !������-�������	���������	
��(	��	���-�������
��*���!"#�$% �# �����
�����-�
�� !�*	���������	
��-�)�����	
����	����3������*���!"#�$% �# ����-��*��(����������
����������&���(�
���� �� 9!%+�A���"B#+��C9?�"��B"�D��A�.���?�	
�����-�����������������	��
&���(	-�����*��	�����������
���*����������
�����-��&�	(����3��-(�
��(	
�	����	
���	�	)	����	
������������(�
�������
����(�
����*���������-��-	����



����

�������	
����������������	
����������������������	
��������
������	���������
� ����!!������!	"���������
������������������������#��$�����������!�������"�!������
���������������������������	�����������������
��	���%�!������������	����&�	����
�$��������������
��	���������
��!��
������!!���
"���
�����
������!!�����	�����!��	
������� ����������� �!	��
��� ��
��������	
��!!�����!����������	�����	
�����������	�!�����#������
�����!��	�
�����!!����"	�����
������	���������
���
�����
�����
��	
���!!�����!!������
���	�
�������������������	
��������
����	������������������	���������
�$��'��	�����"��
���� ��������� ������� ���������	�
���
���	�	!������������������������	
�����������������
������	���������
�����!! ����
���&���� ��!���������"	�������#��$��($)$��������������������
��������	���������������!!�
��������!	��
��� ���
��
�� ���������"�!������������������
�
�������
�	
��!!�����!�������� �	
�!��	
������������������� ������	
����"	�	
�����"	�����
������	���������
� ������	��������!!�!���!��	�!������
�������	���������������������������	�!� ��
�������	�����������	���������
"��������	�!���
��������
���������	������
��	
�����������#��$��($*$����������������!!�������!!���������	�	
����������������������
��� �����	����� ������������� ���������������������	�!� ��&�	���
� ���"	��� ��������������������
����	
�����������	
��������"	�����
�������	�!������������
������	���������
�$��($+$��������������������������!!�������� ������
	���	�
� ��!�����
	���	!�� ���������� �������
�� ��
��	
������	�
������	������	
��������������	
���

���	�
��	����������	
����	���������
�����!!�����������������
�	��
�	�!������	�!��
�����!!�
��������!������������!	������	������������	�����	���
���
��
�����#��,����"	��� �����"�� �������������������������������	����������������	
���

���	�
��	���	���������	�
�!�!	���������	
����������	�
�!��
���������	�!!������
��!����

��$���������"	�	�
�������	���������	�
����!!�
������!����	
������	�
�	
������"�������������������	
����������!	������	
$���������"	�	�
�������	�������������!������!!�
��������	��������������������	"	
��
��	������&�	������!����������!	
���	����
�������������"	���	
������	�
������������
������������	��	��������������� ����	
	�����	"�����
� �����������
�	���	����������-��	��	��	�
 ����	��	��	�������
��!�
������������������������������
��	���!��������
���	������!�	�$�� �#�.��/�0����/#1.���.����0$2$������#�����/#1.���.���3�#�4/3������ .���������������	!����������������"	����	
�������

�����!!�������	
���	���������
�����	���������������	!���������!��	����
����������"	�	�
�������	���������
� �#����������	
������	���������
�����������!�$������	
��	�
����!!������������������"	
����
��	����������	
��	�
��
����������������	
��������������

���	
���	��������������	��	
������!�$��������������	!!��
!������	��������
��������	����������"	������!	"������
���������� �������"	��������������	
��������
����	���������

��������������
�������������	
���	���������
�$�� .��	��	��!�����������	
�����#������������������������
��%�����!�������
�����
����������	
� ������������	�� ��!��� �����"�
�����	�������
����������!���������������
������



����

������	��
�����������������
������������������������
��������������	����� ��		���������������������������!��������������������������������������������
������"�������#��$#%#�����������&�'(��(��)�����*&(&�&�������� ���������������������������������	������������������� ������+ ���������������������������������������������,��+������������#��������������		�+���������������������	����������������	���������������������
���������!����
����������������������
������������#��������������		�������	 ���+���������������������	��������������+���������������#��(
���������������� �������� �������������������+�	��������������������������		���������
��������������������������
�����������������������������#�� ���(��&�-���(�����&��-#.#��������������		���������������� ����!������������� ����	� ��/�������������������� ����!�����	������
����� �����
�����+������+��������������������		�������������0������������"��+�������#��-#%#��(�����1��������������������
���������
��������"����/���!���0������+ ������������
�����������������������������		��+������		�� �����������������
���������������
��������&2��+�������������		�����	 �������		����"�����������
������������#��� ���(��&�3���4��5�4��'�&����3#.#����������,���+	����������������������"����������������
��������&2��+����#��������+	�����������	���	����2���������� �	��+�	�� ��
���������	�����
������ ������������	������ �	�������/����������"���
������������������������ #�� ���(��&�.6���&7����&'8��9'&���88����(�9��.6#.#��5�������������
���������
��������������������������������������������������������������� ����	� ���������	������
������	� �����+��������
���������	������	���������2�����������+�	�� ������������	�������#�������������		���!���

������"���������������������������	��������������	� ����������������	� ����������������
���	 �����������	� ��������������������������������������	������	���������2�����������+�	�� ������������	�������#�����������������		����	�����+�������+��	���������������
�		�����:�����	� �����������������������������������
��;������������������������������"��������;�	� �

���������������;��������
��� ����������
������
�������������;�������	�������
����������������	��������������������#������������������������������������������	�������"��	�+	��������	� �����������	�������
������	� �����������������+�����"�����+ �������������
������������"��������
�������������������������	����#��



����

��������	
����
����������������������������������������������������� ��!���� ������"!�������"�#��������	
����
����������#��������$%���������  ���������������������������������������� ��!��������#�%����&������������������������&�������'���&�������"����!�����������������&��������(����	
����
���������%����#������&���&� �������������"�������������������%"��&���������������!����)���������"!��#����&������������#����%�#� ���������������"��"�����&�% ������#��%"�����%�������� �*�+�,������*,�	��+	
�	-���+.���
/�/+�0��,����������
,1	�+��,/�*,�	��+	
�� +���#���������#�����!���� %�������������������%������#����&����������#�� ��������#���������!���� ������������&����������&��������#��������������!��%�#���� %��������������%�#���� ���������#��������%��� �������&��#����#��� ���!����#����������������������������� �� ���!�����%�����#����� %������������������)��&�������"����#����������!� ����������������%���������)�������������������������#����� %���������������������.,/+��+	
�� +���#�� �������#����"����%��"����������#���������������&�������������%���������#����� %���������������#����#���!�2(�3���!����������&��%"�����������������&�����#����� %����������������#����#��� ���!������%�#����&��� ������������������#�� ���������!��&����������������&�����#��� ���!���!��#�����$%��������������&���#����#����� %������������"���%"��������������������2�#��4.���������
�����53����������#����#��� ���!6������� ����������������� ������#��.���������
��������#�� ��������#�����������������&����% ������%�%���!����� ��"�������������"%������#�� �������#����"����%��"�������&����% �����������������#�������2��3���!����������&������ ������#��.���������
��������#������#� ���!��#���������������������������#����������������������������#������������#���������������������������������"!��#�� ������6�����&�����������������#����������#��$%��������������������#������� �����������*%���7����0��������4
������.���������*%���5�����#��4*%����1�������&�������������/�� %���*����%��������� ����"!��#��
�������% �������%���5�����������#��������&��������"!��#�� �����������������&���#������������#����#������� ����������������������#������%�������#������������ ��������&������������#��������&��������"!��#�� �����������������&���#������������ ��������&��%�����)�� ��������#����#���!�2(�3���!����������&��  �������������#��������������#�� ��������#�����#�����#����������6������������!������&�������$%���!����#�������������#����"��#�������8��#�����%��!��
�������%��������#��������&��������"!��#�� �����������������&����&�������������#�����������������#����"����������"������������������&��������������!���%���#����&�9%������������#������������(���+�+1��+	
�� +���#���������#����#�� �����������%��"����������������:������������#����� %��������������� ���������"������#������#��� ���!���!� ����������#�����&����������#���������;%�������/����������%�������#�����������
���������%��!����8��#�����



����

���������	
�	��	���	
���
���������	���� ������������������ �!"�#� ���$�����!���%#�&������#����$�$�#%%���!�������%�����% �'�������"!�&#����!"����$������&����#���$������$�����!���%#�&�$�#%%��!���!�$�������#���(��$��!����"��$��"!��#��#�� )$��!����"!�&#����!����%# ���� ��
��*���+�,����-��
���	���.���+������
�)$���!/�����#�#�����$��&#��#��#%%��#���!��$����!��������$!��#$��$�%#������$���#�������'�������0 ��
�����
�)$���!/�����#�#�����#$�#���!��� ��!�#���#$��
�)$������$���#��1��'������$������!��������"!�&#����!"����$������&���������+�+�����	.�*
�	
)���!/�����#�#�����$�����%#�2��"�%��!��$����!��������$!��#$��$�%#������$���#�������'�������0 ���	.�*
�	
�����	.�*
�	
)$���!/�����#�#�����#$�#���!��� ��!�#���#$���	.�*
�	
)$������$���#��1��'������$������!��������"!�&#����!"����$������&�������� ��
��*���3���	�
������3�����	!����$���4���������������$������&����$�#%%�0����1���#$�"!%%!'$5�� �
�5� 6�%%�
�!&#$7������� �(�����1��������!��� �&#��#��#%%��#��7������� �
����!/�����#�#����� ����!�#%�
�#�$�!��#��!���!&&�$$�!��� ��89�
��&��#%�:# �� ���!7�	�1#�#���;98+�� <==9>�339���������	.�*
�	
5� ����%#�2��"�%�7������� �������%��� 	���� ���9�.����%����!�7�.���������� ���!7�	?��;98;�� <==9>�3+;��;99�� ��
��*���������*�@.��	���������	�����������
�����.����
2���..�	���� ����$������$�!!��#���#��������#��#%%���&�$�$�#����#�����"�������!��������#���!"������$$�������
�������!��"!�����"!�&#����&# �0���(�������0 ��
�)$��(�����1��������!�����$�#����!�������!��$$�$����"�������������	!��(���$�!��!"���&��$�#%%�0��1#%�����%�$$����������!�'�������#���$������0 ��
�)$��(�����1��������!����



����

��������	
���
�������
���� ������������������������������� �!"��� �#�$�!���� �
%!������� ��#�$�&��#�'"��$'&���$��'��$(�)*+��'���,���$������������!������������������ �
%!���������!�������  ���'�������#�&�!����$'� �+�	���*
	*�-' ��,�# '&���$��'��$���
�$��'��� �#�'"��$'&���������������$��'��� �����!�' ��'&����,�����$�������#!���������������-�����!�$#!��%�+�	���*
	*. ���!��!�'���(�� ������'# �$�$�!�������!� #& �'���'����&��'�� (����  ��� (���%��%������!��� �'/� ����+�	���*
	*(�� � #& �'���'��'�$�����'����'# � �+�	���*
	*������  � �������$������������$'�� (�'�$��'�����'$�0#'�����&��%#'!$�$�'%'�� ��&������!'��#'���!���%'����'� ������1���	�*2+
*�	��2����
���� +�	���*
	*� �'����������)*+�' � ����' �+�	���*
	*��' �/��-��$%����'��'���"�����' ����#!!�$��!�����!-� ��&����� �'-'!����'��+�	���*
	*�-����&��$��'��$��������������������������-�!/��3����������4�56�-�!/��%�$'� ����!�'���!(�+�	���*
	*� �'����!�"�$�� #�������������)*+(����-!����%(��#!�� ���%�' ��#���$��'����������$��'��' ���  �&���'�$�!�0#� ���%�'���,��� ���������������������)�7���*�2�)��8*�	��	�� 
���!�0#� ��&��+�	���*
	*���!�'���,��� ����������������������������-�!/�#�$�!���� �
%!������� �'���&���'$�����-!����%����)*+���+�	���*
	*� �'��� #��������)*+�$��#����'�������� #& �'���'���'�$�9# ���������'$$�����'����������$�$�����������������-�!/�'�$� �'����!�"�$��'�!�"� �$� ���$#�����)*+� �'����!�"�$��+�	���*
	*�-���������������� �$��� ����-������'�!�' ��'&��������'���!�!����������'�!�0#� ���� 
)*+����:���;�	�)
��<)����	����:�������++����)��
	��
��;	��� )*+�'�$�+�	���*
	*�&��$����� ��"� �'�$�����!� #���  �! �'�$�'  �%� ������������!��'!���'�$�������� #���  �! �'�$�'  �%� ���� #����'!��(�-����!� ��������������!��!�'�������'�����"��'�� ������� �
%!����������,�����' � �����!�����!���(�������!�)*+���!�+�	���*
	*� �'���'  �%���!��!'� ��!�����!� �������� �
%!�������-����#������-!��������� ���������������!���	�����%���!���� �'���&����� �!#�$�' ��!�'���%�'���! ��'����'&��������������'!�����'���������!��!�'%�����!�'����#&����&�$��-������'��&��'��'!�����!���(���!� �'������&����� �!#�$�' �%�"��%�'���!�%�� ��!�&������ ���!�#�$�!����'����������!���'��)*+�'�$�+�	���*
	*����:�����	�	�*)
	�2�)
��*��� *�� �
%!�������� ���!�+�	���*
	*. ��!���  ���'�� �!"��� (�'�$�+�	���*
	*. �!�%�� �'�$��&��%'���� ���!�#�$�!��'������&��'  �%��$�-����#�������!��!�-!��������� �������)*+���



�����

��������	
	��������� ���������������������������������� �!��������"�!��#���������!��$������%����������������&%��!'��������"��'����$������#���� ��'�����%���������$����������$��������������(��"�������(�����"�����������)� �'����"�� ���'��������"����������#���� �!���!�����������!�����"�!��#�����������������������'����'��"����#"�!���'��$��#�����!�����"��������!�!"����$�����!��%�'���'��������'��!�����"�!��#��������'�'��������������"��������%���������������������� �!����"��'��� ���'������*����	����+)�,�-�+.�-����	��� /+)�0���)���!������'����'��������������������/�%�'����"�!��#���������������'��#����/+)�0���)���!������������'�����������������������������������'������'�������!�������"����"���!%����������!������"���$������!���/���� �'�!������!���������!���/+)�0���)��!"����$������������������������� �'��!�������!�� ���!�������"��!�("��������!�%�'�����������������/��!�����#��!�!��'�!�� ���!���'��' �����������������'�����������������!�'��������'�$����/��(��"�!�� ���!�$���#���� �'�'�$��/+)�0���)�������/����������1��
	�2�	�/,�� ����(�� ������$����"��������� �!��������"�!��#��������!"��������$��'����'���(�� ������������"������ �!��������"�!��#����������'����(�� ����!� ���'�%���!!����(�����#���'��3��%��'�$���"��(�� ��#�������������3���!��������"�������������������������������$��#�������������!"��������$��'����'�����3���!�����������������"�����������������������"����$��#����������������"�!��#����������%��!�����"��$������������'��!�$��'��#�%�����"��������!�����"�!��#����������'��"������!����� ��"���!��!%���!!��!���'��!!�#�!������4����	50���+���/+6-���)/	�� ��� /+)�0���)��!"�����������(��"������������$�����'������!�������'�������#� ����������(!����#%������!���'���'������!���/+)�0���)��!"����$����!���!�$��������$������#���������!!����������!���'������!�!��������������������!�� ���!�%�'����"�!��#����������0������7%�!�������/��/+)�0���)��!"�����%���!"���/������������!���������������(��"�����!%�"���(!����'��!���'���#%������!��� �� /+)�0���)�������!���!���'�(������!��"������������"��!�� ���!����$�����'���'��%�!%��������"�!��#�����������!���%����"������������������%$����(��8���!��"���������!�'�����'�$������������9����:�;<�����"��)� �'���� �!�'�����%��!�������"���3�����/+)�0���)��'��!���#�#�����!%�"��%$����(��8��/+)�0���)��!"����$����!���!�$������������#��"����� �����#�(�#���!���7%���'�$��/"��������9�����"��)� �'���� �!�'�����%��!������;���	=/�0��
	��5�		6	)��� �"����������� ��$����#�������!�������!��������!����%�'��!���'��#!���������#��"�!��#�����������'�������#��������!�������!��������!���'�%�'����8��#!�����!�������"�"������(��"�



�����

������	�
����	��������������
�������������������������
����	�
����	��������	���������������
������������������������� ���� ��
����!�����	������
���	"�������"�������
����������  �����""���#���� �����������
������	�����	�����������
���������$���%&��'�('�)�&*+')��'&��� %&��(+�������
���������"!����������"�	������
���������
�����

��������������������� ��"�
������
���� ��
���� ������"�%&��(+��������
��	�
�������
#����
�,�
�	���	�
�������
������!������
�%&��(+�������
�������
##����
���� �����  ����
� �#�	��"������� ���������
��	�
����� ������
"�
��������-���#�
!���������#���!�.�%�������
������������
�������"�������	�
������	������
�����������"�������
���� ��
���� ������������� �����"������������	���������""����%&��(+����/���� ����������"����
 ������ ����������
"�
�������"�������
�������������0����11+'%�*+��+�2�����3��(���� �����
�#������"�������
����������  ������#�
��	���	������
��	�������
	������������� �����"������������"���#�	���������4� ��#��#�������	����
��"�
��  � ������������
����������
����������  �������������	�5�	�� ����
���%��
���"������������"���#�	�!�%�������"�2�����!���	�������
������
�����������������6�
�	������"���������
���%��
���������������&.��7�/�8����� '�������#�����"���	��������������������
����
��� �������
����	���������%��
���"���#�	����#���6�
�	����!������
�#� �����
������  �������� �	����������
	��"���������	�����
������� ������
����/�"����������9���%�.�'8'%��'&��.�:('.���*7���3�����������*'++�9;�<90�;=�� %&��(+������4�
��� ����
�"�����	���
���!����������
� ���
���"�������
������!����������������

��� ��������	��������������"�'�
�� ���%&��(+�����"�
���
���
���!����������
� ���
���"�������
������!����  �������������������������"�'�
�� �"�
�����	�
������"�������
���������'"!������������	�
�������"�
�������
�	�
������"�������
������!�%&��(+�������������	��
����������������������"�'�
�� !����  �����������������
� ��
������"�������
��������



�����

�������	

���	�	�������������������������������������������������� !��������������"�����"����#������$����%������&��� �	'�� (��� �
)�� ����*++�

������ 
�	�*,��-��� ."/�� � � � � � � �.�00��������� �*)��	���������1����������� � � � � ��*�(
�*�
,(���'�	�'��		�
��*��1�� �."/�� � � � � � � � �!�0�����#�0���)&	&��)�������0����



�

����������	
������	���
��� �



���

��������	��
�������
������
�������������������	�
������������
�������	�����	������������������� ����������� !"����� ��#�$%&'#&�()**�+,-.)/0�012)100,)12�30,.)403�5-,�670�#��!),2)1)8��6,006�$1).0,3)69� 078:)*)686)-1��,-;046��&70�+,-;046�*)<)63�)14*=/0�#��!),2)1)8��6,006�5,-<�670�%8(*-,�,-=1/8:-=6�6-�#��>4�8,,81�?*./���8.0<016�,04-136,=46)-1�()**�0@601/�)16-�670�-=60,�*)<)63�-5�670�#��>4�8,,81�?*./��)160,3046)-1�6-�670�0@)36)12�;-)16��#��!),2)1)8��6,006�)3��)69�-5� 01-�,)276A-5A(89�81/�670�#��>4�8,,81�?*./��)160,3046)-1�)3�#0.8/8�B0+8,6<016�-5�&,813+-,686)-1�C#B�&D�,)276A-5A(89��'16)4)+860/�)<+,-.0<0163�)14*=/0�+-,6)-13�-5�3)/0(8*EF�4=,:�81/�2=660,F�<0/)81F�/,).0(89F�81/�+0/036,)81�,8<+�,0+*840<016F�,-8/(89�,04-136,=46)-1F�:)E0�*8103F�=6)*)69�8/;=36<0163F�81/�6,855)4�*--+�,0+*840<0163��#-�10(�=6)*)69�-,�=6)*)69�,0*-486)-1�/03)21F�-670,�6781�=6)*)69�8/;=36<0163F�)3�)14*=/0/���&70�34-+0�-5�30,.)403�()**�2010,8**9�4-13)36�-5�670�5-**-()12�683E3G�� ����'���,-;046�>81820<016�� ��� &08<�81/��,-;046�>81820<016�� 8����#�$%&'#&H���,-;046�>81820,�()**�30,.0�83� &�H3�3)12*0�+-)16�-5�4-16846�-1�670�4-16,846�81/�()**�78.0�+,)<8,9�,03+-13):)*)69�5-,�4--,/)186)12�670�055-,63�-5�670�+,-;046�608<�81/�3=:4-13=*68163����+04)5)4�+,-;046�<81820<016�683E3�6-�:0�4-1/=460/�:9���#�$%&'#&H���,-;046�>81820,�)14*=/0�<-167*9�:=/206)12F�)1.-)4)12F�3470/=*)12F�3=:4-13=*6816�)1.-)4)12F�81/�2010,8*�+,-;046�8/<)1)36,86)-1���"6�)3�833=<0/�670�+,-;046�/03)21�/=,86)-1�()**�:0��I�<-1673��� ��� �,-;046��--,/)186)-1�� 8����#�$%&'#&H���,-;046�>81820,�()**�E00+�670� &���,-;046�>81820,�(0**�)15-,<0/�-5�+,-2,033�()67�:)A(00E*9�)15-,<8*�:,)05)123�.)8�0<8)*�-,�+7-10�48**�����#�$%&'#&H���,-;046�>81820,�()**�+8,6)4)+860�)1�IJK�81/�LJK�/03)21�,0.)0(�<006)123���� ����?���"1.036)286)-1�-5��@)36)12��-1/)6)-13�� ��� �8**)12�M0)276�B05*046-<060,�C�MBD�&036)12���#-6�8++*)48:*0���� ��� !)3=8*��-1/)6)-1��=,.09��� 8�� ��#�$%&'#&�()**�.)3=8**9�0.8*=860�81/�/-4=<016�670�4-1/)6)-1�-5�670�0@)36)12�+8.0<016�6-�)14*=/0�4,84E)12F�+-67-*03F�,=66)12F�81/�



���

������	
�������	������	
��������	��������������������	
���������������������� �����������������������������	 �������	��
����� ��������� ��	���������!��""�������������"�	�#�������������������������������������������������$����	
�"��������	���"��%�����"���	�������������	���&�����	�������� '��� ���%%���&������ ��� ���%%�����������	�����������������%������()*��"�+�����""�������	�����������������,������%����������������	-����	��������	�����
	��.��������������������������	%������	��	������
������!����%%���/�����	���	��%�����0 �������"����	��
����	��������%�������������������������%�������#�
��	������	�"�������	��������	 ����!��%�#�	���	�-��������������&������%%����������������� #���1���#�����2��"��������	����3��
�	���������������
������"��4�����������.���������������������#��������"����������������!"� ��������
�� ��	���"�����	
����������/�����	���	��%�����0����������������%������()*��"�+�����""�������	��%������������������� 5�� �����	�������������.	�����
����	����� ��� ����	
-1���	
��.	%������	�%����������������	�����	������!��������������������	���������	��%���"����	������	
��	������	
������������	��%�����!�������������	������������	���""�������!�����#��������&�
�����������	�������"��������������	
�����	
-����	
��.������	����"����������������/'0�"����	��������������	���	��	�	��/60������-�������"�����%����
�����������������������,������/'�"�������	
��������	���������	��	��
�������%������������!������	
0�����������������������	���	�*������	�������	��"�����%����������!��%�#�	��%�������	
-�������"��	
�����%%�����	�����/��	���������0���������"����������� ����"����!���4��������%���������	
�"��
������������������������"����	����!��������	����� �������	��������	
���"�� ��	��������	���%�����""�	
����"����	���#��������������������7����	�����"��4����"����	������
	���"������ 8������	
�"����	������	
 �����������%��������������������
������������"����%�������%�������������	�����������	�����%��

��
���������"����	���	����������	���"�����%��������
�����������%���������%������	���#�"����	���������"�����%��������
������������	���	�������������������%�������%������	
����������!������	
9������������%������	 ��. �������� �
�������	 ��	��#*�����������������:�(�#��������������&���
	�;�����%���8��$����������	�� �����/�0�#*��������������������



���

�������	��
	����
�������������������	����������	�������������������������������������	���������  �
�	����������	�	��!������������"#$��	��	��������%	��������	�������	��	�����������	���	�����$	������������������	���%�����&��	�����������%	�������'	�����������	���	
������(�� )�*�������������&������+���

���%�	��� ,�� �	$	��
� -	��%�	� "	�%��������."	������������� ���	����$	����/0+�12��+���������	����&��	��%�	�
$	�	����	�%�����������.����	���������������	����$	��������	�
��3	�������������	���	����$	�����������%	�������	�	���	4�� 5�-����"	�������������5�"��%	����������������	���������������1
������
�	����������	�
$	�	���������������$	��������!�/0+�12��+��������		�������"�/����
�	�	����	��%�	��	�%�����������	����$	���/0+�12��+�������

�&���	��	�����
���	���	��������	�������	�677�����8�0�9���	������	��������:$	�	�����������	�������	��;�6�"�/������������	�����9���	�����-�	<�%�	�:$	�	�������	�	��	���	��	������&	������*�	���������	�������	���
$	�	�����	����$	��� =�� /�������2��	#/&��	�/�������&�������+����

���%�	��� ��� ��	����&�0
������"	�%��������."	����������������	����$	���)�	���
����������&���!����	��������	�
��������������������������	������!�/0+�12��+�������
�	
�	���	��	����	��	���	�%�������������	���������������	����$	����������	�
��3	������ 7�� 1�����&���$	��������.�	
�������� �� 0$	��	��1������	�4��/0+�12��+���������$	�����	��������	�����$	��	���������	�����������	�����&�����������&�����	���	���%�&���	��	�����	��$	�%�	������������	��	
��������������$	��	���������	�����������	�����&������#��#�&����
�����	$	��
	�����	���	��������6�-!�:�	������&��	������� %�� ��%�����	�1������	�4�/0+�12��+���������$	�����	��������	���%�����	��������	�����������	�����&������#��#�&!�����	���	���%�&���	��	�!�����������	��������	���	���������	�&����/�$���>����		��������������	���	�������	�/���	����������	
����������><���������%�����	�1�����&���!�?����&�2	$	��/��� ��� 1�����&�/����������4��)�	�������	�����$	��������!�/0+�12��+�������
��$��	�"�/����������������&����
��	������	��������	���	���*	�&����%	����������	�
��3	��������������	���%�&���	��	��%&���	�
��3	�����



���

����������		
��������������������������������
��������������	���������	����������������������������������������
��������������	�����
������������ �������������������������������	��������� ����������	
���
�������	�����������������!��������"������������������������������������ ��#��
����������������������	����
����������#�	�������� ���#�	������������������	��
�����	��������	$�������������������		�	�������������������
�������	���������������	�!����������������������	�������#�������
������%	���	���&��	�������������������������������!
�	�������������������&�����������������������
����������������������������	$�����������������������������	������!������������������������������
���������������	$���������������������������������������	������������'��"����(������ �����������������������	 ��������#������������	
������	���������������������$��)���	��		
���������*+,�
���������������������������	������!�����$�� ������������������	���!
�����	������#����	
!������	�*-./�0�1./,����
��������������	�������#�����������������������#������������	�����
��������������	����#�������	������#����	
!������	����������������������#�����������	$���$� ��������'������23���������4����
�����	
���������������������!���#����!���������3�	�����������	�����������������������������������	�!���������������	�������������3�	�����
�������	���������
� ���������������	������5
�	�������#������������������������	
����������
�!��������������	���������	
����������������� ��	�����������	��6$7) �8�	���������������$��7.$� ������$������������	�������������������	�������������������������	�	�����������������������6$7$9�*��������3��������������
���������#�	�����������	�,�	����!��	
!�������!�������������!���
�����
���������$�������#��������	����	������	��!��	
!�������������������2��������������������������#������	�������#����	���������2������	�	�������	$��� 6$7�$������������(�������� 7$� ������������
�#��$�������������������	��!��	������:����������#��������	
�#���������������������;	����������������	����������������������8��
��*��8�<+&1�, ���#����������'�����=�	��>�������:���������
������������!������������������7$...71?1+1�������������@������������������	����!�	��������������������@��������8��
��*��@8�<<,�#�����������
�$������������������
����:�����	
�#��������������������������
����������������	
�#������������������������;��;��������$�@�������������������7-.%�	�
���	�������������������������������	������ �7..%�������	�����������	�����8��#�������	������ �����-.%���	������������7A������7?��������������	������	$����	
�#�����������	�	��������������	
�#���������		���������������
������������������������������
��	 �



���

�������	�
��
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�������������������
����������������������
��	���������������������	��������������������������������������������
���
��������������������	�������������	����
�����
�������������������������
���������
�������������������������������

������������ � !"#$%&!%���������������������'�����������(��)*"������������
��������������������������	��+��+�����������������������������
���������������,������������������ !"#$%&!%�����������-������������������,�������������������������������������
��
�����������������������	�������
�	��
�������������	��+��������������������������.����������������
��,��������(��������������%������������	��+��+������������������������������������
��,����
�������!�������������������������������������	��+��+��������������������������.��� !"#$%&!%�����������-�����������	�������������	�������
�	��
����������������,�����������������)*"����������������������
����
��
��������	������������
���������
��,��������������� /�01��2�	��+��+'��3�	�������	�� 
��������0��� 4����������%�����2�
������� !"#$%&!%��������������
������������00��
������������������
�������������	�����
�����������
�������� !"#$%&!%��������������������������
��������
����������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������.���������������������
�������������������������������	���� !"#$%&!%�������������������������������������������
������������������
�����������������������
������ !"#$%&!%�����������������������������
������������������
��������2%����� !"#$%&!%��������������
��������������������00���������
���������������5������������������������������
��,������� !"#$%&!%����������������������
������������������������
��������������������
��������������
��������2%���/��� 6�������"���������$�	���1�����
�������*���������������������������7�����
�������������������������������������
��
�����������������5��������������������������
����������
�����������.��������
���
������������ !"#$%&!%���������������������
�����������������������������7�����,����
�������������������������	������������������������

��	��
�����������������8��������������	���������
������������������������������
������
�����������������
������� !"#$%&!%�����������-��������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������� !"#$%&!%���������������������������������������	�����&����&1�����������������.��������������	��������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������,���������������������
���������� � !"#$%&!%�����������
��������������������������������������,����
���������1����	�������������������������	�
��
����������������������������������2�	��+��+'���������������������������������5�����������������������	������������������������,����
���������



���

� ������	
�	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �������������� ������������ !��	������������ ������������������������������� "��� ��������������� "� �����������#��#��� ���������������������������� !���� ������	
�	�������������������������� �����������������������$������� �������� ������%������������ !����&����#��#���������� �"��������������������������� "�� �������������������������������������������������������������� ��� '!���$!� &����#��#(����������!�������	
�	�������������������������������� ������������#��#������)�������� ����������������!�������	
�	����������������������������������������� ������!��������	
�	�������������������#��#���� ��������������������� ����� ����� �����  ���������� �����������������������������)�� ����� "����������)�� ����� "������������� ����� "���������������� ����� "�������������� ����������� ����� "����������  ��� ������� �����!��	��� �����������������
*�"���������������"������  "��� ����������"��� ������ ���"������� ����������� �!�	��� ���������������������� �������������������������������������������������+� ��������� ������������ ����� !�,!�� &����#��#(���-�� !�������	
�	�����������������#��#������� �����������%� �������������� ����� ����� "��%� ����������#��#���"�
*�"������������������"����� ��������������������� ����� �����!�	��������#��#������� ���������������� �������������������������������������������������+� ��������� ������������ ����� !��� � � .��+����� /�0!�*��������������������� �������������+� ��������� �1!�&����#��#���� �������������������������� �������$!�&����#��#���� �������,!�&����#��#������� �2!�������� �������� ������%����� ��� 1!03!�*��������������� 0!� *�����4�����������-������!��������	
�	����������������������%����� ���������506��������������������������!�
�+��������� �����������������������&	�������������� ����������������������������'����������� ��  ��������������+����� "����� "� ����"��������+�� ������"��������������� "����+���������  "����������������������)�������� "������������ ���������������������� ��������������� ����� ������������ �������������!���� ������	
�	����� ���������������������506������������������������������ ������&	�� ���������� ��  �������+�����%����� "������ "������������������� ��� � ����)�� ���� !�������	
�	�������+����&	�������



���

���������	�
������������������������������������������������	�����������������������	����������� �����������������������������
�����������������������������������	�������������������������������������������������	�������������	��	���������	�����������������������������������������	���������������������������������������������������������	���������������	���������������������� !�"#�$!�%�������� &�����������'�(��)����	����������������������*��������+���  ��,��, ���-��������������������
���������������� !�"#�$!��������������������������,��,�������������.����������������������������������	�������
�������������������/��������
���������)��0�	��-�������������������	����������������� !�"#�$!������������������������123����,��,���������������������.���������������������������0�	���� !�"#�$!�������������������������������������	�����
������� &�����������'�(����������
����������������������*����������������������� +�(�4��)���������
�&���������� (�� )���������5����������)�������678�����������
�)���������������������
�	����������������������������������#�	���9�������������������������	�����������������	������������������	���������	�����	���:��������������������������������	�	��������������������	�����������������	�����������	�	��������������������	������������	�����������������������������������������������	������		�������������������������	��������
��������������������������������� +�� #����&���	�����)������� !�"#�$!������������������������	���	���������������������1)�;53��������������	������������������	������������!��<�������.!��-	�����������!��<�������.!��������.������	���������	��������=��� >����#����$������������&������������� !�"#�$!��������������������������1=3������
���������������������������		�����������������������������������)��0�	�����������	������	�������	�������������	����,��	��������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������678����������	��������������������������'�� ?����((@*(�@�������������	�����	�1)&43������������	�����	�1)&43��������#�	���5����
���������	�����	�1)&43������������������	��������������



���

��������	
����	���������������	���������	�������������	��	���������	�������������������������������	��������	���������� ������� �����!�������� ��� "������� �����"���������#����������	���� ��� "������� �����$	��������	��"����%�$	�������!	����������������������#����������	�������������	���	��������	��������
������������	����������	
�������������������	������������&�$�����������������'������������&�$��������	
���������	����������
������������(#�)	����	����������&�$%�*	����+���������,������$	���	����
�����	������������������	��	���������	�����������"���������#����������	����� �����������	��������	����������������	����-�.�/0-���1��������������������	���������������	��������	2�����	��������	�%���������������3��	�����
���%������4	�4��������%���	��4�����	��%������	��������	�3��	������������������������������������������%�������������5�� 6�$	
���#�����6�*�����%���������7	���%�����8����
����	���6�"���3"�	�����#������9����-:��;������<�6�=���������	�%��������%�����"����������&����#������9����-:��;������<�6�*		��!������	��"����#������9����>�:��?������<�6�#�����������#��������#������9����-:��;<�6�!������#������9�����������	���<�� !������	���.���������������������������	�������������������������������@��������	����	�������������������������������	���	��.������	������������	�
���������������������8����	�����%��.��������������	������������������������	���	������"����#���������	������������������	��	�����A7	��5�#�����������������������������������������,������*�
����������	�������8��������#	�����	��$�
���+���������#��������������������	������$	������	������!������	��	��+.�������#����������B������!����9$=38#$+�/�4��<���8�������������	�����	����	�������	���������������	�,������*�
���A$>%��������	����������	����>������$	�������!	����������������������#����������	����������������������������������	��	��#��������#����������	����	��"������)	�@��$	��������	��9C������D		@<��	������������	��������	���������������������	
���	���������������������	������	
�����
����	�����	������C������D		@��������'����	��������	���������	�����'�������	
������������C������D		@����������������������������������	���������������������������������7�
����&����������"�	�����	����$�
���



���

��������������	
��	��������������
��
�������������	�����	
�����������	�������	�������������������������������������������������	��������������������
�����	�������������������� !��� !��"  !�����������	����	�������
������
��������������#��$�� !�%�� !����	�&�����""'(")'�	��	���������������*�+,-�������������������*�+,-�	������.��������������������������*�+,-�	��������������������������������������������
�����	��$�� !�/
�����������	�&�0����������
����������������*�+,-����������������������*�+,-����.������������$�"  !����	�&�����""'(")'�	��	���������������*�+,-��������������������������*�+,-�	������.������������$�"  !�/
�����������	�&�0����������
����������������*�+,-����������������������*�+,-����.������������$�,����1��2��������/���&�0���33'(45'�	���������������""'(")'�	��	���������������*�+,-����������������������*�+,-�	������.������������$�,����1��2����/
������������+��������&�0���	�����������������*�+,-����������������������*�+,-����.������������������
�����6/�1���������������������������+�������	��������������/
�����������	������������ � 7���
�����������2����8������
�����������2����������2�����������������������
���	�������8�9���������������������������
��	�������������������	��������������	
�����������	�������
����������������������	��������������	
���	��������
��	�����	
�����������	����������	���������������	�������2��������9����������������3�� ,������������:	�0
��������������������	�����������	�	����������������������������������;	��
���������
����������	�����������	�	���������
��<������	�����������������	����������������������	�����
����	��������	���
�������������������	������������	���������
��
�	���������������������������������������	��8�9�����������������������������	���
������������
�����������������0=/>.�8=��������0=/>.�8=������	���	������������������������2������������������	���	��

��
������������������	����������������
��<���	���4�� =+0�������?��?1���0���
������������8

�����������0=/>.�8=�����
��
��������	�������������?��?��������
�����
�������

�����������=+0������
��������
��������	��������=��6��������@�����0=/>.�8=��������
��������	������������
�����
������������������������������������������������	��	����������������?�������������	���9���������������

���������������

�������������	��������������	�
������������0=/>.�8=�:	������	���������0=/>.�8=���		���	�������������
����	������	����������
�������
����������
����������(���	���������������������2�	��������������9��������



����

����������		�
���������� ��� ���
�����
	������������
������������
�������� !"�!�#���������	�$!��#��%���
������
���
	������������
�&��
���	�
���		
	�&��
�������������'
��(��'���)��(*&���������
��%�������+����,��'��� ��� ��-��	�.��
��������� !"�!�#���������������	���
���%���		�
�������������
�#����%
�����/�����
���
	�#����%��	��%���-��	�'��
���"���/�����
���
	�����
���#������	���'
�	��
	������		����$!�������� !"�!�#�����������
	������	���(��		
	�&�����/���	���"���/�����
������	�
������������������%���
������	���'
���#����������	�	�����,����$!�������� !"�!�#�����������
	������	�����(���''��,�����%���-��	�'��
�&����	����	��,��%�$!���� 0�� ��	���
�
��������� !"�!�#�������
	��%���	���
�
���
	����#��%���	������	�������������������
	������	������''
	����
������#��	�������� !"�!�#��������������	���������
�����.��12�������	�%���
	��%�3�'������������
��
	��		����
������	���'��������4�������
���
��
�
�,�)�����
��*�� ��� !%����������
��
�
�,�����'������
�����
������#��%�
��%����������%�����
�������
��%������'�
�������������
	��!��3������"��������������4������� !"�!�	��'�
���%���������
�����,���������'�#��3���������	����������
��
�
�,&������ !"�!��%���������	��������	�����
���%�
	&�����&��
	�
��-��-2�	���	��������
,�������	�#��3���+��3��
	���%������3��%��������	��
�,�#��%��%�$!�����5���.�
���6��������#����
������������ ����7�-�����
��������
��������)�����
��*�-�!%�$!���
	������ !"�!��%�������#������
�����
��������
�������������#�
���%���'�����
������
���	���
����	��'�
��%�������������
�������%����5����� ����7����
������"	'�
��������
�)�����
��*�� ��������	���
�������	'�
��������
����������������#�8�� 9���������
���'	����
���
	������������
��9�"��
	��%�����
��������
���
��
��9������'���
��������
�����	�
����
�9�$��#��
	������	����''
	����
���
���
�������6������������
��������
��9�$��#��
	����'����
�������:�����'������������
���'�
������%���
������	���'
��&��
���	�
�����
�'�2�����'�
�������'
���
	�������
	��'
����
����'�2�	���
��9�$��#��
	������	����''
	����
���
������������



����

���������	
���������������
�	���
���
���
�	��������
�������
����������	
������������������������
�������
����	�����	
���	
���������	���
����������������	���
�	
��	����	�������
�	��������
������	�������������������������
�������
��������
���	
���	���	�������
��	�������������������������
�	���
���������� !����	
��
�����	����
�������
���	
�������������������
�����
����"�������
���	
�������������	
��	����	��� #$�$%$�!�
�������
�������
��&'����
	�(�� ���������
�������
���	��
��	���������)�� ��'
�����������	�������������*�	
��������	
����	������������
����������
���������������	
�����
����������
����	�����������������*�	
��������������	�����������	
�	����������	��	��
���	
������	
���*�$��!�
�������
���	���������*������	��	
�������
�����	���*�	����	��������
������
����
���������	
�	������������	
�	����+����
���	��
����*����
���*���
�	
���
����������	����*���
�	
���
������������	
�����
����
���
��
�������,�����-.����	���
��
����
����
��	
��
���
��	
��#-���
����
���	��
�������$�����'
�����������	������������	��	����������
����������
���������������	
�����
����������
����	������������������������	��	
�����/�
�	���	��	����
����
��	���
��
��$��!�
�������
���	���������*������	��	
�������
�����	���*�	����	��������
����*���
�	
���
��������/�
�	��	
�������	��������������	
���������
�����������	���������	
�����
����
���
��
�������,������..����	���
��
����
����
��	
��
���
��	
��-.���
����
���	��
�������$����	���������*���	�����������
�	�����
����
���������	����������������������	��	����
����
����
�������	����	
�������������������	��	����	���
�
��������������	
�����	
���	��
����������������������������
����
�$����0��
����������
�����	��
����
�����������	����������	���
������	���	
���	���	�������������������	�������	
��	�������	
��������	�
��	
������	
����������
���
������������	�����	��������	���
�������
�����	�����0��
����������
�����	��
�������������
����
����������
���
���� #$�$1$�2
�������
�&'����
	�(�� �$� �������2
������$����������
�������������
����������
��	�����
�������
�	���������$���.3���������	���	
��	�45�����
���	����
�	���������	��	
�����	���$�� �����
�����������)�� ��"���
����������
�������
���
���
�����6�
��������������������*������!�
�	����	
����������	��������������
�	����	
��������������	
��	
����������	���
����"�������
���*������������
����������� !����
�	��������

������������	��
������������*����	
��������



����

������	���
	�������������������������������
�
	����������	�
��������������	�������	�������������������
������ �!"��������
��#�	�������������	�
�	��������������	����$�������������������	�������������
������%��	������%�����
�������������%�����������	���������������#����
�������
�������
������������	�������&�������������	�	������%�����������'������(	���	���	�%���
���������������%�
�	�����������������	��������	����������
�
�	������	��)����� �"� �����
��&

�����	��*���������+�������	�����,���	�����"�������
��	

�����	������������
�������	��������	�����
	���������������	����-�������������	���������	�������	�
���)��	���
�����������"�./��������%�%���
������������	�
��	�������	���	������	��
"�� �"�"("�(	����	����������� ,�����	�!�� �"� �����
��(	����	����������%���������	������������������%��	���������������	������
�������%�����0�	�
	�
�0����%��	������%����������1������������������ ,�	����2���!�����������#���������"��(	����	��������������
�����������
����	����-�������������	��������	�����	����	�����	����������	
���	����	�����������	��%�����	����	��	�
������	�
����������������"���������������	�����	���
�������,304'�&3�$����������
	��������	�
����	�����	���5�����	������%��	����	������	��������������
��������������������	�
���$
����	�������	�������������	�������
������ �!"�� �"� �����
��&����	���*����������	�
��������"������
����	����-�������������	���������	��������������	�
��	���	����	�����	����������"�6�������%�����	����������	�
��	�������	���	������	��
"��'	���	������������������������%�������	�	���������������%���	���%�	�����
�%	�����	�
���	���������
�-"�� 7"� �����
��&���	�����������������"��0	�������	�
����������%�	���	�������������
����	����	����	���������	����
	���������0��������"8�&�&0�9&'���:(:3���%��������$��0����	���������	��0����%��	�����"��;����	����	�����
	�������,304'�&3�$��
�����	��
����������	�������	�������
��	��������	�
���������	���	�������������
����	������%��������
�����	��
���	������������	����"������,304'�&3�$��
�����	��
����������	�������	��������������
������	����	�����������	�����"��:	����	����������������������	����
�	�
������
��%%�����������������	�����"��&��	�������	�������	����
�������������
��������%��	���<���=� >88����!��%���	����-�������������	�����������������	���������	�������	��	�#�	��������?�"���,304'�&3������������	���	���	�������������
����	�������������3��	
	�+��	��������%���	������	����� 3+,�!��(	����	��'	���	�����%����������"��&����	�����������
�	�����	�������	�3+,��%���������
�<��	������	��%���&���	���0	�����=������������
�
����������"��



����

��� ���	
������
���������������������
����������
������
������������������������������ ���������
��������
���!������
�������������
"� 
���
�������	���������������!���������
����##�����
����������
����$%&�����������
��������
����������
�
�����!������� ������'�������(
���
���������
����������
�'����	��!�)���� �����
�
��!������
�	������'�
������������*����'������������'�(
����������������
�
����������������+��,��� -�� ���	
���������
"�+
���
�������	����������
��������	
���������
"� 
���
�������	���������������������.���/�0-11�����2����������3� ������'������������
��������"�����
��!�����������������
��!�����
�
�����	
�'!����(������ 
�
�'!�����4����������
��(�
������5�������(
��������
�������	�
���
���������
"�����	�
����
������� 6�� ���	
���������
"�+
���
�������	���������
�������3� �����
�����3� ������������
��������������
��(�
�������������������(
���
����������������������
�����7�� ���	
�������3
���3���
���
����8�
�������
�������#��
����������������
�'�����
���(
��� ���������������������
��������������
���
����9�
�������:11������
����	���������	��'��!111���������������)������(
��� ����,���
���	��'��!111�������������������������
���������������������
�'���������������
����������9�
���(
���������(���������9�
�������
�'�������������(
��� �����������������
�
�����	
�'�0�
��	�
��������������
��2�������������������(
���
�����������	
��������������;���<#�������
����������� :������)��+�
���=�������
���0��
����2�� 5������;��(
���������	
������ �
�������������(
�������������������������9�������(������������������
�����(
���!�
���
������
����;>��������0::/�"���/�����11���
2!������������
	���(
��� �����	
�������5�#�����
����
���������
���
 ��
����������3�����?��
�'��������;>��
���������
�����������������������
�������
���(
���
���"< ��,���,��������'������������
����������������������
���������������������������
��������������(
��������� ��
����
�
��!������!������
����������������������(
�����������������������
���������
����@�������������
�������������#������������'��
����A����� ���	
��������
������	
�
�������������
�
�������
������������<�
�������������
 ������(
���!�(�
���(
������������� ��
����
�
��������������������(
���!�����:�� ���	
�����(����
������������<�
�������������
 ������(
����
����
�
��������������������(
����������5������;��(
����������
�����������������������
�
�����
����������0
�����
��������������
�����
��������� '�5�#!���������	�������!��
����������������� '�����#��B3�)��2�����
����
�
����������������(
������



����

��������	
������	���	��	��	���������	������ ���
��
�����	��	��	���������
�����	��
��	����
�
������	�����
�����������
���	�������	�������������	������
������
�	������
�
����� ���������!���"����!#$%�&!���������	�
����������
�	���

�����������������������'���������������	��	��	��(���!#$%�&!��
�����������������������������	������	���(�
����(��	��	��)��)�*�����'����������	�������
����������+����	�������
���
��
��������������	������������,���-��.����/�	����0
�������������	������������ �



���

� ��������	
����������	����������������������������������  �����! �"��#� $�%�&�����'����'( )�����& "�'� � � ���� ��*� �+����'������'��*�	,,�'!�&� �)�'% ��-.--� � ����� �)�'% ��-.--� � ���! "������'��'/��0�"������'�*���'�"� �'! 1% ��-.--� ���+��#�-.-2� �.�3  4"��� &�1����#�� "���� ���+��#�-.-2� ���)$�-.-2� 5�3  4"�6���&�� "������)&+*����� !� 3"� ���)$�-.-2� 	+�+"��-.-2� -.�3  4"����&��#��''�*�����'�� ���)$�-.-2� 	+�+"��-.-2� 7�1'��$"��+%&�)���/'�1���'���  ������ � ,� 1% ��-.-2�� ,� 1% ��-.-2� ��*�#���$��'/�8�#� �+� �-.-2� ���+��#�-.-9� 5�1'��$"�	*! ���" � ���+��#�-.-9� ���+��#�-.-9� 9�3  4"��'�"��+)��'������ ��#�-.-9� � ��'�"��+)��'���'1,& ��'�� �+&#�-.-9� � 5�3  4"������



���

���������	
�������������������������������������� �!��!"������#�$!���$�% �&�� '�(�����)%�*!��+�,-�.�,��#�$!�/��������'�0���1�)�� �����+�,-�.�2(324�'�/�$"���5�� �+�,-�.�,��#�$!�-���������'�6�$"�����7"�**���8�4(9�9���������'�:�**�7!�;��"��+�,-.�/�!�������-���������'�9�$<�/��!��.�4���!�%$!����/�����;��!3=����$!�����'�-��<�>��+�,-�?@@AB�.�C�������"�$�/��������� �7%�D���'�E���!�(��F�� ��+�,>7�?@@AB�.�5��"!8�*8G���7��D�$���'�)�� H���C�������!�!����.�C��**�$�9������'�4/-�.�>�I���!����7��D�$����� �/�!�������C��!�����



�

����������	
�������
��� �



�

�

������������	�
�������	���������	�	����������	�����
����������������������������������������� � ���������                                                                      �!"#$%&'(��� � )**'���+,�                                                                    �!""$%&'(��� � -,��'��..�                                                                     �!/0$%&'(��� � -,��'��.��                                                                      �!/#$%&'(��� � ��'1,�+�..�                                                                    �!/2$%&'(��� � ��'1,�+�.�                                                                     �!/3$%&'(��� � -+�44�..�                                                                       �!/$$%&'(��� � -+�44�.�                                                                        �!/5$%&'(���	������������������ � -,��'��6'�*+�(�+�'��7���8,��                                         �!/$9%&'(��� � 6'�*+�(�+�'��.�*�,�+'��                                                  �!/:9%&'(��� � -,��'��;,*�8�,��                                                           �!/39%&'(��� � 6);;�;,*�8�,��                                                            �!/59%&'(���� � 6);;�<,�&�������                                                          �!/"$%&'(��� � -,��'��=�,�>�-��,�+�*+�                                                    �!/"$%&'(��� � =�,�>�-��,�+�*+�                                                              �!/9$%&'(��� � -,��'��<,�&�������                                                         �!/:9%&'(��� � =�,�>%?�8��,,���8�<,�&�������                                          �!/9$%&'(��� � ��'1,�+�)>@���*+��+'��                                                    �!//$%&'(��� � <,�&������?>�+'��                                                           �!/9$%&'(��� � 6�,������                                                                         �!0$%&'(�����	���	������� =�'@�+�@,�+'�+�@,A�B6?��,+���*�'(+*�>,���'4,**�'������>�+,�&��������C'��'����+,@�'���D�C�*�*�+'�@,,+��,�E�F'�E�'�>�>,@��>* �-(�&��'�+���+���C'��F����C,��&��8,>��+��,8(����-�&,>(�,��&��8,* ���	���	�����
����	�� � ?�8��,,�%-��,�+�*+�                                                        �!:5$%&'(��� � 6'(�+�)��,�����,*�G�;,�'*�+�'�*�                                   �!$2$%&'(���H
��I��	�� � ��'++,��J*�8,�                                             �K*,����+,�4,,�*�&,>(�,L�� � <�(�E�                                                                           �!/9$%>�D�� � )(+'@'C��,�                                     �.M-�-+��>��>�7��,�8,�M�+,N$O�� � =�����8�P,�8&+�;,4�,�+'@,+,��<,*+��8�                             �!5A999%;�D�� � 6'���8�                                                                       �!$A999%;�D�� � ?�Q��'�@,�+���?R(��@,�+�                            �K*,����+,�4,,�*�&,>(�,L��
	�������������� M,�+���'4�,R(��@,�+��'+�'�>������D�4(���*&,>�CD�B6?���>�����'+&,���'*+*�*(�&��*�*�,���������+��8A��&'+'8���&���F'�EA�+��Q,��CD��'@@'�������,�A�*(C*�*+,��,A�*(C�'�+���+'�*A�,+� �                                    ��'*+�N�$O���II
����	���S�������
�	����� � � .�T&'(*,��'*+*�4'���'*+�8,A�����+��8���>��'�D��8�                             ��� � � �                                                          ���'1,�+���C'���&��8,*�U�$O�	��I�� V�����8*���,���D�C�,�(�'����,*,�+�+�'����>���,���*+�>(,�:9�>�D*�4�'@���Q'��,�>�+, �)�4�����,��&��8,�'4�/ $O��,��@'�+&A�'��+&,�@�U�@(@��@'(�+����'F�C�,�CD���FA�F����C,��&��8,>�'����*+T>(,����'(�+* �B6?�@�E,*��'�F�����+DA�,�+&,��,U��,**,>�'���@���,>A��*�+'��+*�4��>��8*A��,�'@@,�>�+�'�*A�*�,��4���+�'�*A�'����'4,**�'�����>Q��,�,U�,�+�+&�+�+&,D���,���,���,>���>��**(,>�������'�>���,�F�+&�8,�,����D����,�+,>���'4,**�'��������+��, �� �



����������	
�������� ����������	�������������
�����	��
��	�����������

�
�	������

�����������
�������	
�������	��

���������  �
������� ������� �������

�!�����������
��	��� ������� !�����"������ #	�	���������� �������	�$� !�����"������  ��������!
����	


 %&�������"�����"
�	��� '���
"(���)*� +	��"�,
-./012�

3�"�
���	��456)�7
7455)�774

89)�7748:)�77
48:7�7748;7�77

48;)�7748)7�
7748<7�77

4=)�77
>?@ABC.DEF/�G0H0I

EJEH/
KLM

K@N
KK

KK
K@M

65
8��	+�	�(���������#	

�	��+���
56

864877
46O887�77

5��������!���(��	����
57

8:
4;7

49O867�77
PQR/./01�SEE2

TK?KKT@KUMKK?K K
TK?KKT>UNLK?KK

TK?KKTK?KK
TK?KKTK?KK

TK?KKT@UV@K?KK
T@LK?KKTK?K

KT@WU>XK
?KK

>?@YZH[E2/\I0/\.H�
.]�̂_\2/\HI�̀.Ha\/\.H

2
@>@>

bLVN
KK

W>K
>L@>

555
5�	!��(�������"����

88
;:

6
4877�77

4<O<;7�77
5��!"��$c"������"����

;
6

4877�77
48O677�77

<�	��	�������	
����
8:

5
48O:7)�77

;�	�	��+�������"��"�
	
� �������	����

5;
;

64
)O777�7749O777�

7748;O6)
7�77

:����
�����	���
���
�
���	����

85
66

4<O;))�77
6����
� ������++��(

�(��
����	����
55

;;
45O<67�77

=�	�d�=�����
���� �������
	����

5
8:

<:
;4;7�77

46O6)7�77
=�����
����!���(��	����

<
57

8:
;455)�77

49O767�77
87����	���e���������

����
<;

685
;45)�77

4)O);7�77
PQR/./01�SEE2TbU

L>K?KKT>UVKK?KK
TWUXWK?KKT@>UWL

K?KKTK?KK
TK?KKTVUWLK?KK

TK?KKTbU@>K?KK
T@U@LK?KKTWULXK

?KKTVUKKK?KK
TLMUXKK?KK

>?@̀-.f.IC0fg\F�G
0ff\HI

KK
KK

KN
KK

KK
:

8������	�����"����
:

4<)O89)�77
4<:O78)�77

PQR/./01�SEE2
TK?KKTK?KK

TK?KKTK?KK
TK?KKTMLK?KK

TK?KKTK?KK
TK?KKTK?KK

TK?KKTbWU@VW?KK
TbNUK@W?KK

>?@hi\Ig/�.]�j0k�̂
HI\HEEC\HI�lmf/\.H01n

NK
K>L

@K>K
KK

KK
:7

8���
�+��	������
�����
����

5
;

46O::5�)7
4=O6=5�)7

5o�"�(	����"�����	�(
�p��	
�������������

8
;

;
49O69)�77

4=O<67�77
<��������e	���������

5
85:

4<7�77
4<O);7�77

;��������e	��#	��
8

;;
8:

4<7�77
4<O6))�77

PQR/./01�SEE2T@U
V@K?KKTK?KK

TK?KKTbUXNK?KK
T@UNKK?KKT>UMKK?

KKTK?KK
TK?KKTK?KK

TK?KKTMUV>>?WK
TVUMVW?KK

T>NUNNV?WK
>?@̂BQR1\F�mQ/CE0

Fg
bK

K>>
K@K

KK
KK

<)
8�"�
��� ����+	�����#

������
8

:
87

45O:9)�77
5q��r��rq���#������

5
8:

4877�77
4<O<87�77

PQR/./01�SEE2T
MWW?KKTK?KK

TK?KKTbUNbK?KK
TK?KKT@ULKK?KK

TK?KKTK?KK
TK?KKTK?KK

T@KK?KKTK?K
KTWUXMW

?KK
>?@SBCE1\J\H0Ck�hE

2\IH
@KK

K>L
L>@KK

LKK
KK

58:
8����	���)7*��d%

6
8:;7

:78:
48)7�77

455O8=7�77
5p���������������
	�

4<O8)7�77
4<O8)7�77

<o����p	 ����
����	����
������
��+���

5
65

;75;
49)�77

488O<:)�77
PQR/./01�SEE2T>U

MWK?KKTK?KK
TK?KKTbUXNK?KK

TNUV>K?KKT@LUKKK?
KKTWUMKK?KK

TK?KKTK?KK
TK?KKT>>W?KK

TbU@WK?KK
TbNUVKW?KK

>?@sS\H01�hE2\IH
>MK

XK>L
@>@WL

NKK
KK

<:6
8�	����	���=7*���d%

8:
:7

6=7
<5

48)7�774)O5)7�7
74<6O=67

�77
8�	����	���877*�	�(

����	
���d%
6

<7
;;7

85
48)7�7745O877�7

7489O9:7
�77

5����	������	
�%�����
��t��%���+	��

5
6

8:
45)�77

4;O5<)�77
<��q� ��qe�q��"�	

�������+��
5

8:
5;

45)7�77
4:O657�77

PQR/./01�SEE2TVU
XMK?KKTK?KK

T@WUVWK?KKTbUX
NK?KKT@UX>K?KK

T>@UWNK?KKTMUV
KK?KKTK ?KK

TK?KKTK?KK
TWVW?KKTVUbWK?K

KTNVUVXW
?KK

>?@uY\aa\HI�PEC[\
FE2

@K
K@M

>@M
KK

KL
;<

8�������"������	
���d%
;

;
5

48O;87�77
5!��("������ro�(�#��

�����d��((��(	
8

65
8;

45)�77
4<O=87�77

<�����( �o�(�q�������d
��	�"
	���o�(�

:
5

48O867�77
PQR/./01�SEE2T

>MW?KKTK?KK
TK?KKT>UXVK?KK

Tb>K?KKT>UW>K?KK
TK?KKTK?KK

TK?KKTbMK ?KK
T>W?KKTK?KK

TNUWKK?KK
>?@?ZhE2\IH�̀.H/\H

IEHFk�lmf/\.H01n
T>KUKKK?KK

T@VU@KK?KKT@bUWKK?K
KT>@UVKK?KKT

bbUNNK?KKT@KUWNK?K
KTLbU@>K?KK

T>>UKLK?KKT
K?KKTbU@>K?KKT

bU>bK?KKT@WU>VV?
WKTNKUWWK?KK

T>NbUMWV?WK
>?@?vwm.̀H2/CQF/\.H

�PEC[\FE2�lmf/\.H01n
MK

KLM
K>L

>L@KK
LKK@N

:57
x�!����	����(+������	�

����'q�����	
,
:

;7
5;

877
8:4877�77

4)O;:7�77
4<<O9)7�77

y�!�����"�������"����
����'q�����	
,

4<8O)77�77
4<8O)77�77

p� ����������'q�����	

,

;77
4;O777�774=O<5=

�5)4:)O<5
=�5)

#�#	����	
����������'q
�����	
,

4)6O855�9)
4)6O855�9)

����ro"�
���'q�����	
,
5

6
5;

4)7�7746;7�77
4:O5:7�77

q�!�����"������!�����
������'q�����	
,

457O777�77
PQR/./01�̀.H2/CQF/\.H

�PEC[\FE2�SEE2�lmf/\.
H01nT>U>MK?KK

TK?KKTK?KK
TVUX>K?KKTK?K

KTbUbNK?KK
TbULMK?KKT@WUKKK

?KKTW>UKKK?KKT@
UW>K?KKTLU@WK?K

KT@KWU>W>?KK
T>@LUXN>?KK

�-./01�SEE2T@XUbMK?K
KT@bUWKK?KKT>@U

VKK?KKTL@UWMK?K
KT@KUWNK?KKTL

NULMK?KKT>WUW>K
?KKT@WUKKK?KK

TWWU@>K?KKTLUVWK?K
KT@XUL>V?WKT

@NWUMK>?KK
TLVMUM@X?WK

PQRw-./01�hE2\IH�PEC
[\FE2

=$55$5755
8



�

����������	
��
��������
��
��	
����
�����������
�����



��

���������	
�����
�������
�	��������������������������
������	��
�������������������������������
���������������� !"#$��%&��������	������'(�')�*'+*,-�./0122/34/4�(*5(�013)6,(53()�0137/.�8'(*�(*/'.�'3)6.530/�05..'/.)�1.�9.1:/.)�(1�4/(/.2'3/�(*/�5�5',59','(-�17�(*/)/�'3)6.530/�0/.('7'05(/)�534�/341.)/2/3()�'3�54�530/�17�;.1;1)5,�)692'))'13<��'7�(*/./�5./�53-�=6/)('13)�./+5.4'3+�(*/)/�'3)6.530/�./=6'./2/3()>�'(�')�./0122/34/4�(*5(�(*/�5+/3(?9.1:/.�013(50(�.(0@)�7'3530/�4'./0(1.�5(�A��BC�DDB���EB<��F&����������	
������013)6,(53(�GH ��!>�!IJK�LM�M#�MN��O"P"MGM"#$!�"$�3�QGRG�.�Q"!�R�)MGMIM�!�)�LM"#$�DD�<�BB>�M#�!GQ��G$R�N#OR�NG PO�!!�G$R�SIOOT�"$R�P$"ST�.(0�G$R�0"MT�#S�.�$#�"$LOIR"$H�MN�" ��O�LM�R�#SS"L"GO!>�#SS"L� !>��PUO#T��!>�G$R�GH�$M!�AN� �GSM� >�V'$R�P$"M��!WC�S #P�G$R�GHG"$!M�G$T�G$R�GOO�LOG"P!>�U #L��R"$H!>�GLM"#$!>�O"GJ"O"MT�G$R�RGPGH�!>�"$LOIR"$H� �G!#$GJO��GMM# $�T!@�S��!�G$R�R�S�$!��L#!M!�"$LI  �R�"$�G$T�GLM"#$�# �U #L��R"$H�AL#OO�LM"Q�OT�V4GPGH�!WC�G "!"$H�#IM�#S�MN�X�� 5<�3�HO"H�$L�>��  # !>�#P"!!"#$!>� �LYO�!!$�!!�# �"$M�$M"#$GO�P"!L#$RILM�#S�013)6,(53(�# �013)6,(53(@!�GH�$M!>��PUO#T��!>�#SS"L� !>�R" �LM# !>�!IJL#$!IOMG$M!>�# �G$T#$���O!��S# �ZN#P�013)6,(53(�PGT�J��O�HGOOT� �!U#$!"JO�>�ZN"LN�G ��JG!�R�IU#$�# �G "!"$H�#IM�#S�MN��U #S�!!"#$GO�!� Q"L�!�#S�013)6,(53([�G$R��9<��"#OGM"#$�#S�OGZ�# �G$T�L#$M GLMIGO�U #Q"!"#$!�# �G$T�"$S "$H�P�$M� �OGM�R�M#�M GR��$GP�!>�O"L�$!�!>�S G$LN"!�!>�UGM�$M!�# �#MN� �P�G$!�#S�U #M�LM"$H�"$M� �!M!�"$�U #RILM!�# �"$Q�$M"#$!� �!IOM"$H�S #P�MN��I!��JT�MN��'$R�P$"M��!�#S�G$T�PGM� "GO!>�R�Q"L�!>�U #L�!!�!>��\I"UP�$M>�# �#MN� �R�O"Q� GJO��A"$LOIR"$H�!#SMZG �C�!IUUO"�R�JT�013)6,(53(�I$R� �# �G!�G� �!IOM�#S�MN"!�5H ��P�$M>�JIM��]LOIR"$H�G$T�Q"#OGM"#$�# �"$S "$H�P�$M� �!IOM"$H�S #P�MN��P#R"S"LGM"#$�# �GOM� GM"#$�JT�MN��'$R�P$"M��!�#S�G$T�PGM� "GO!>�R�Q"L�!>�U #L�!!�!>��\I"UP�$M>�# �#MN� �R�O"Q� GJO��A"$LOIR"$H�!#SMZG �C�$#M�L#$!�$M�R�M#�JT�013)6,(53(<���013)6,(53(�SI MN� �GH ��!�M#�R�S�$R>�!GQ��G$R�N#OR�NG PO�!!�G$R�SIOOT�"$R�P$"ST�MN��'$R�P$"M��!�S #P�G$R�GHG"$!M�G$T�G$R�GOO�4GPGH�!�G "!"$H�#IM�MN��$�HO"H�$L�>��  # !>�#P"!!"#$!>� �LYO�!!$�!!�# �"$M�$M"#$GO�P"!L#$RILM�#S�013)6,(53(�# �013)6,(53(@!�GH�$M!>��PUO#T��!>�#SS"L� !>�R" �LM# !>�!IJL#$!IOMG$M!>�# �G$T#$���O!��S# �ZN#P�013)6,(53(�PGT�J��O�HGOOT� �!U#$!"JO�>�ZN"LN�G ��$#M�JG!�R�IU#$�# �G "!"$H�#IM�#S�MN��U #S�!!"#$GO�!� Q"L�!�#S�013)6,(53(<��(N��4GPGH�!�!NGOO�"$LOIR�>�JIM�G ��$#M�O"P"M�R�M#>�MN#!�� �!IOM"$H�S #P�U� !#$GO�"$KI T�M#�G$T�U� !#$>�"$LOIR"$H�J#R"OT�"$KI T>�!"LY$�!!>�R"!�G!��# �R�GMN�G$R�"$KI T�M#� �GO�U #U� MT�# �U� !#$GO�U #U� MT>�MG$H"JO��# �"$MG$H"JO�>�G$R�MN��O#!!�#S�I!��#S�G$T�#S�MNGM�U #U� MT>�ZN�MN� �# �$#M�"M�"!�UNT!"LGOOT�"$KI �R<���



��

����������	�
�����������������	����	����	����������������������������������������������
��������������������������������� ��������������������
�!����������	�
�����������������
������������!��������������������������������	�
���������������
��������������!�����������"���������	�
�����������!�	��������������������������	��� ����������������#����������������!�	�������������
���	����������������������������������������������!��	��������������"�����	����
������������������
�����!�$���������	�
��������� ���������	����!�	���������������
������	����
����������!�������������
"�����������������������������������������
����!�	�����������"%�������	�����!��������$����	 ����������� �������������&����� �������������'()����!�������������	�
��������������������������!��!���������
�����������!�����������������$!�����������������!������������������������������������	�
������*����'�)�
�	��������
�����������������������
�����+����������"��������������������!�������������
��������������,�������������������������
���"������������������������������
���������������	�����������	�������������������������,��������������������������������������������������������
�������!�	����	����
���	���������!��������
�������$!���	����������������	 ����	��������������������������������������������� �������
������������������������������
�����������
������	��	����	����!������	�,�����"�����������!�	������	��	�����	����������������������������������!�	���������	���	 ���������!��������
�������$!���	������ ����������	����!�������
������������������������������������������������
����	������ ��!�����!���
����	!����	������
��!�������������������
�����������������	��
�	�����������	�����������������	���!��"��-.�/010234�20567208019:��,��������������������������;�����<������$��� ������������������!�������	�
���������!�������������������	���
������	�������	����������!��������������
��������$!�������������������	
����������������������
����������
���������������������������������
��������������;�����!�	���������������� ������!�����!����� �����������
������� ������ ������������������"������������������!������!��������������������������������"��=.�>027?7@397A1�A?�@A>023/0�������������������!������<�������������������'�)�������!���� ��&��!��	�����	!���!�����B�	�������������������������!��� �����������
�������������������!�������C!���
��������������������� �������
��������������<��"������	�	!���������	�����+���!��	��������������C!������<�����������������������������������������"�������������������	���	����
��������������		�����	����<��#��D������E���������	�����������	����<�������������;���

�����"���������C!��� ����������������������<������������������������������������#���	������!�#�����!������������� ������������	�����������������������"������������������������������
�������	����
�����������
������C!���	�		����������!��	 �����������!����������	��������������������������������������C!���	������������	�	�������������������'�)����	�������������C!���	��������"�



��

��������	
����	��	
�������������������������������������  �!��"�#����� ����������$�%�&'�#�$�(�!�����)�����������*�����+���!������������*��*�  ������������,����)� ��-���$��������*����.����#���#���������/���0���1�����2*�!�����0�$�3����* �#�#����!��"�#����� ���������%4&'�#�$�5�)�����������*���-�*��*�  ���������#���������,!�$0�����-�!��0��01���������������  �3�����!����3 �����!��"�#��!�����)�����������*�����+��������������!��*��*�3 ���!�����*��!���-���$�����*���-�*��*�  �����6����,����)� 6���#�*����������.����#� �0�������������0������ �*���/����������������*����.����#���#���������/���0���1��7��89:	��89����8�;�89:	���<�	��<8����������������  ���* �#���  ���3*�����*�������#���3*���� ������%��-����#����*�  �*��"� $����=��3�>'����������#����#������� ��3� ��$�!� �*�����+����  �*�������3���0! �$�#�3$���������������!��*�������#�0����������!������ ��3� ��$�*�"���/�����#� �0�����-������$!����!�*�-��#�������1�?-���$���3��0����������!������ ��3� ��$�*�"���/�����#� �0���6���*�����  ���* �#������+�����#����$��-�+��������##������ �������#����#�������*�00��*�� �/����� � ��3� ��$�!� �*$6���3@�*�����������0����.����0����������#�������6�)���������.�����/���)�������*�����*������/���0����3��)������*���-������##������ �������#����#���$���3,*���� ����������3,*�����*���1���$���!������*�"���/�� �0�����-� ��3� ��$�0��������#�3$���3�����  �3����� �����ABCDDDCDDD�!����**�����*����#���� �����AECDDDCDDD�-�����$��!! �*�3 ��*�"���/���//��/�������������0�����*����0��� $�*�����#�3$�������36�)��*��"������F+G��G+1��?-���$���3��!��"�#���������)���������*��)���� �0���� �����������.����#��-�����������*���6�������*�������  ���* �#����3�����������*�"���/���!��������-�  � �0������.����#��-�����������*���1��H������.�����#�3$�+��6���������������  �-�������*�!�����-�*����-�*������-��������*���"�#��*��/�*�"���/��-�����*����3*���� ����1���������������#�������.������������,#���/����3*�����*��������*���$�I��-������� �G��������#��0�����������3� ��$��������*�1��J��K
K9	��:
8���K�8
�L��89<
K�<
�
�����8����$�#�#�*��3 �������� -,������#������������������2*��#�MNO6&&&�!����**�����*�����* ��0�0����3��#�* ���#����+��5��P����*��Q���*����!����������/���/�������/���0���1�+����������� �#������.�������#���*��"���##������ �#�*�0��������6�-����*�� ���������)���6�!��������/�"��/������!!��"� ��-�����#�#�*��3 �����#��� -,������#�����������1���$�*���/����������#�#�*��3 �������� -,������#������������0�#��#����/��������0��-�������/���0�������#����/��������0��-���$�!� �*$�0����3��#�* ���#����+��5��P����*��Q���*����!������������*���/����R��/��--�*�1��S���		
T��:���U������89<
<8��+�.����#��������*��������3��! �*�#�)�������������)������V���(�������/��-���� ����������,W??���#��**�!��3 �����+��1��+���0�$��**�!��*�"���/��)����*����������"��/� �)���V���(�������/���!�����"��)��-�-����*�� ���-��0������*��*�����/��������������#������������*��*������1��+��������"���������/��������.��������������������(���������%�'�3�� �*����#���#��#0����#���������������-���"�#�����0������$��!! �*�3 ����������#�-�#��� � �)����#���/� �������-������,�#0����#��������*��! �*�0����1��



��

�������	�
��������� ����������������������������������� ������ ���!�"���������������#���������������������������� ��#�$��������������#�����������������%���#�������&'()���*�������+��,��(-./01'�.'������������������������������� ������ ����������������#���������������������������� ���������������������2�&'(���������3��������%��2�4������������4��%�����2����*�� ����������������� �����(-./01'�.'5���6*�������(����$�7��3������(-./01'�.'5���4��%������������������� �� ������ �������#���������� ��������� ��#����4�����7�����%�������%����4$�����������8�����*���������3�����&'(�������������&'(������#������ �� ������ ��������������3���� ���������� �#*���� ��7����������������� ���������#�������������������&'(�����������$������� ��� $����#��3���� ����������*��3���������������4�� ��������������7��3������(-./01'�.'5���4��%���������#���������� ��������� �2���������7��3������������������ �#���������$����������*��3�������������������������9��+$���������%�������� ��������2�&'(������������*������������ �3���%��������#����7������ �������$�4��������������*���� ��(-./01'�.'2������� �� �3���%��������#��������������4�����#����������#�����������(-./01'�.'5�����4����$���������������#�������%����������&'(��������� ����� ����:��,��(-./01'�.')/����4����$�*��� ����������� ��������������������,/-���*�������������������� ��������2��������4���������$���#����� �����2����$�������4��������������*��3���� ����;���4����$� �3���%����<=��
�>>�	
?@�A���	?@�@?B@�C��(-./01'�.'�������#�������� �##�� ����%����������4����$�!(D1"����2������ �����$2� �##�� �����#4������������� ��7��������#��������������������EFG===G===��� ���  ����� ���,���� ��(D1�������� �� ����������%��������%%��%������#��2����������4���� �����������������7� ����������������  ����� ����#��������3���������**�$���*������$���������*��H� ����(D1�������� ��������4��7����������,/-��  ����� �����#�(D�II�IJ�I��JK�!�������4�����������#�*��3����%�����3������ �3���%�"����������� �3������4����$�������%����#�*��#����2��*��������2�*���� ��; �#*�������*��������2�*��������������3�������%���H��$2��������4����$�����#�������������������� ����� ��!�� �����%�������������4����$����������������#��������4�������� ����� �"���&'(�������$�������,���#�����������������/� �����L��,.9:M.,�,(�',-.����������%���#����������4���� �����������������������������������������(D12�����%�,/-���������������������������#����(D�LI�JI�INOI�����(D�LI�KK�INOI���������4��������*��3����%�����3������ �3���%�2��������������� �##�� �����#4�����2������$����'����������� ���������**�$����*��#��$�������� ��7�������*� �������$�������������� ���������;������� ��*��%��#��������������&'(������$�������,���#�������������������%���#�����



��

������	
�	�������������������������	����������������������������������������������� !"��#��
	�����$�����
���������$�������������$�����������������%�������������������������������&��������������������������&�����������������'�&��������&������'���������������('��'����������������������������	
�	)����'�������������������*��(��������������'&����������������	���������(����������������(���'���������(�������++,�-.//01-234�356./.7240�423724268��������	
�	���������������'����&�����&�������9�$����������9�����������'�&��������&������'�����������������$���������������:+;<<<;<<<����������������'�����'��������������������&�����������'���$������'���=���'���������9�����9��������>�������'���?������������������&����������������$�����
�@@�@A9��
�@@�@�9��
�@@���9�������'&���'���$����(��������B'���������&�������������$������������9�������9������=������?��������>��������������=����((���&��?����	�������������������(���'�����&����$������>���������������=������?���������'����������*��$�������	
�	������������������(�������������������������������������������	
�	�������������������������	�9�����$$����9���(��������������'�������$�������������$�����������������%�������������������������������&�������'����&�����&�����������������'�&��������&������'�������&������&��������	
�	�('��'�����������
�����������+C,�2DE5F61234�GH.1I01JF�-./K0DF362.D�3DE�0/K4.801JF�423724268L�2DF513D-0�������'��������������������������������������&��������'������=M��N��)�����(������������!�(�����)����&���?����'���������������(�������$���������	
�	���������'&����'�������&���	����������	
�	9����������'&����'������9�������(���'��9�(���$��������������������B'������������������������	
�	�����������������N���)����(��������������(�����)����&������'���������������������'�������B'���������$������������$�������9����'����&'�������������������OAOP�O�Q���������OAQ��A@��	�����(�����)����&�������������������&������������:+;<<<;<<<��������������$���&������R'���&�������������:+;<<<;<<<��������(������$���&������R'���&�����������������	
�	�������(��������#��������$�����$�������$�����������'&����'��������������������������	
�	�����������'&����'������������������N���)����(��������������(�����)����&������'����������'���'��������������'�����$�����(��R�������$�������	
�	9���������'&����'���������������(��(�����9����������$������������(��(�������'���&��('���������������������$�����������'����((���������������$������$����'����������#��������$�������������	
�	�������������������������	�9�������������$$����9��$$����9���(������������������$�������������$�����������������%�������������������������������&���������N�������(��������������(�����)����&�����������������'�&��������&������'�������&������&��	������('��'�����������



��

��������	
������������������	�����������������	����������	�	����������� ��	���!!�"	�	����#�����
��$%&�'()*+,,-)./0�+(()(,�/.1�)2-,,-).,�0-/3-0-45���������������������	����6��!����������������	7��������"���66�7����	���������	7�!�����6��!��������������8���������8������������	��"	�����������	��!�	����"�6���!���������9�������"���6��������������	������������	�#�	��������	��!���	������	����:$;<<<;<<<���"��"�����������������������	�
��������������������	����6��!����������������	7��������"���������	���	�����!�	������������	����8��!�"�����������6�������������="����������>����="�����������������6��	��>������8�����������	����"�����������6��"���������?	��������6��	����6������!�����6�������!��	�����	�	�����@�A�7�����!����#����	���	������	�����!�	������������	
���



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022                
 
From: Kimberly Diegle, Project Manager 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Approve a contract with Eastern Sierra Engineering to provide design services and optional engineering 
during construction for the Stanford Way Rehabilitation Project from Greg Street to Glendale Avenue in 
an amount not to exceed $451,635. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
This Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Eastern Sierra Engineering is for professional design 
services for the Stanford Way Rehabilitation Project in the amount of $215,635, and optional engineering 
during construction services (EDC) in the amount of $236,000.  The project includes the rehabilitation of 
Stanford Way from Greg Street to Glendale Avenue and the addition of sidewalk on one side of Stanford 
Way along the same limits.  
 
Eastern Sierra Engineering was selected from the Civil Engineering Design and Construction Management 
Services List as a qualified firm to perform engineering, construction management and quality assurance. 
Negotiation of Eastern Sierra Engineering’s scope, schedule and budget indicated the amount for design 
services is within the appropriated budget. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Appropriations are included in the FY 2023 Capital Budget 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
6/17/2022 Approved the Qualified Consultant List for Engineering Design and Construction  
  Management Services 
 



 

AGREEMENT 
FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 
This agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated and effective as of    , 2022, by and 
between the Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County (“RTC”) and Eastern Sierra 
Engineering, P.C. (“CONSULTANT”). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, RTC has selected Eastern Sierra Engineering, P.C. from the RTC Design and 
Construction shortlist to perform Design and Engineering Services in connection with the Stanford 
Way Rehabilitation Project. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, RTC and CONSULTANT, in consideration of the mutual covenants and 
other consideration set forth herein, do hereby agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE 1 – TERM AND ENGAGEMENT 
 

1.1.  The term of this Agreement shall be from the date first written above through December 
31, 2024, unless terminated at an earlier date, or extended to a later date, pursuant to the 
provisions herein. 
 

1.2.  CONSULTANT will perform the work using the project team identified in Exhibit A.  Any 
changes to the project team must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 

 
1.3.  CONSULTANT will promptly, diligently and faithfully execute the work to completion in 

accordance with applicable professional standards subject to any delays due to strikes, acts 
of God, act of any government, civil disturbances, or any other cause beyond the reasonable 
control of CONSULTANT. 

 
1.4.  CONSULTANT shall not proceed with work until both parties have executed this 

Agreement and a purchase order has been issued to CONSULTANT.  If CONSULTANT 
violates that prohibition, CONSULTANT forfeits any and all right to reimbursement and 
payment for that work and waives any and all claims against RTC, its employees, agents, 
and affiliates, including but not limited to monetary damages, and any other remedy 
available at law or in equity arising under the terms of this Agreement.  Furthermore, prior 
to execution and issuance of a purchase order, CONSULTANT shall not rely on the terms 
of this Agreement in any way, including but not limited to any written or oral 
representations, assurances or warranties made by RTC or any of its agents, employees or 
affiliates, or on any dates of performance, deadlines, indemnities, or any term contained in 
this Agreement or otherwise. 

  



-2- 

 
ARTICLE 2 - SERVICES OF CONSULTANT 

 
2.1.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 The scope of services consist of the tasks set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
2.2.  SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 
 
 Tasks and subtasks shall be completed in accordance with the schedule in Exhibit A.  Any 

change(s) to the schedule must be approved by RTC’s Project Manager. 
 
2.3.  CONTINGENCY 

 
Contingency line items identified in the scope of services are for miscellaneous increases 
within the scope of work.  Prior to the use of any contingency amounts, CONSULTANT 
shall provide a letter to RTC’s Project Manager detailing the need, scope, and not-to-
exceed budget for the proposed work.  Work to be paid for out of contingency shall proceed 
only with the RTC Project Manager’s written approval.   
 

2.4.  OPTIONS 
 

RTC shall have the right to exercise its option(s) for all or any part of the optional tasks or 
subtasks identified in Exhibit A.  CONSULTANT will prepare and submit a detailed scope 
of services reflecting the specific optional services requested, a schedule for such services, 
and a cost proposal.  RTC will review and approve the scope of services and RTC and 
CONSULTANT will discuss and agree upon compensation and a schedule. 
CONSULTANT shall undertake no work on any optional task without written notice to 
proceed with the performance of said task.  RTC, at its sole option and discretion, may 
select another individual or firm to perform the optional tasks or subtasks identified in 
Exhibit A. 

 
2.5.  ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 

CONSULTANT will provide additional services when agreed to in writing by RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 
 

2.6.  PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Any and all design and engineering work furnished by CONSULTANT shall be performed 
by or under the supervision of persons licensed to practice architecture, engineering, or 
surveying (as applicable) in the State of Nevada, by personnel who are careful, skilled, 
experienced and competent in their respective trades or professions, who are professionally 
qualified to perform the work, and who shall assume professional responsibility for the 
accuracy and completeness of documents prepared or checked by them, in accordance with 
appropriate prevailing professional standards.  Notwithstanding the provision of any 



-3- 

drawings, technical specifications, or other data by RTC, CONSULTANT shall have the 
responsibility of supplying all items and details required for the deliverables required 
hereunder. 
 
Any sampling and materials testing shall be performed by an approved testing laboratory 
accredited by AASHTO or other ASTM recognized accrediting organization in the 
applicable test methods. If any geotechnical or materials testing is performed by a sub-
consultant, that laboratory shall maintain the required certification.  Proof of certification 
shall be provided to RTC with this Agreement.  If certification expires or is removed during 
the term of this Agreement, CONSULTANT shall notify RTC immediately, and propose a 
remedy.  If an acceptable remedy cannot be agreed upon by both parties, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default. 
 
CONSULTANT shall provide only Nevada Alliance for Quality Transportation 
Construction (NAQTC) qualified personnel to perform field and laboratory sampling and 
testing during the term of this Agreement.  All test reports shall be signed by a licensed 
NAQTC tester and notated with his/her license number. 

 
2.7.  ERRORS AND OMISSIONS 
 

CONSULTANT shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any deficiencies, 
errors, or omissions caused by CONSULTANT in its analysis, reports, and services.  
CONSULTANT also agrees that if any error or omission is found, CONSULTANT will 
expeditiously make the necessary correction, at no expense to RTC.  If an error or omission 
was directly caused by RTC, and not by CONSULTANT and RTC requires that such error 
or omission be corrected, CONSULTANT may be compensated for such additional work. 

 
ARTICLE 3 - COMPENSATION 

 
3.1.  CONSULTANT shall be paid for hours worked at the hourly rates and rates for testing in 

Exhibit B.  RTC shall not be responsible for any other costs or expenses except as provided 
in Exhibit B.   

 
3.2.  The maximum amount payable to CONSULTANT to complete each task is equal to the 

not-to-exceed amounts identified in Exhibit B.   CONSULTANT can request in writing 
that RTC’s Project Manager reallocate not-to-exceed amounts between tasks.  A request to 
reallocate not-to-exceed amounts must be accompanied with a revised fee schedule, and 
must be approved in writing by RTC’s Project Manager prior to performance of the work.  
In no case shall CONSULTANT be compensated in excess of the following not-to exceed 
amounts:   
 
Design and Bidding Services (Tasks 1 to 6) $205,635.00 
Design Contingency(Task 7) $10,000.00 
Optional EDC Services (Tasks 8 to 12) $216,000.00 
EDC Contingency (Task 13) $20,000.00 
Total Not-to-Exceed Amount $451,635.00 



-4- 

3.3.  For any work authorized under Section 2.4, “Additional Services,” RTC and 
CONSULTANT will negotiate not-to-exceed amounts based on the standard hourly rates 
and rates for testing in Exhibit B.  Any work authorized under Section 2.4, “Additional 
Services,” when performed by persons who are not employees or individuals employed by 
affiliates of CONSULTANT, will be billed at a mutually agreed upon rate for such 
services, but not more than 105% of the amounts billed to CONSULTANT for such 
services. 

 
3.4.  CONSULTANT shall receive compensation for preparing for and/or appearing in any 

litigation at the request of RTC, except: (1) if such litigation costs are incurred by 
CONSULTANT in defending its work or services or those of any of its sub-consultants; or 
(2) as may be required by CONSULTANT’s indemnification obligations.  Compensation 
for litigation services requested by RTC shall be paid at a mutually agreed upon rate and/or 
at a reasonable rate for such services. 

 
ARTICLE 4 - INVOICING 

 
4.1.  CONSULTANT shall submit monthly invoices in the format specified by RTC.  Invoices 

must be submitted to accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com.  RTC’s payment terms are 30 days 
after the receipt of the invoice.  Simple interest will be paid at the rate of half a percent 
(0.5%) per month on all invoices approved by RTC that are not paid within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of the invoice. 

 
4.2.  RTC shall notify CONSULTANT of any disagreement with any submitted invoice for 

consulting services within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice.  Any amounts not in 
dispute shall be promptly paid by RTC. 

 
4.3.  CONSULTANT shall maintain complete records supporting every request for payment 

that may become due.  Upon request, CONSULTANT shall produce all or a portion of its 
records and RTC shall have the right to inspect and copy such records. 

 
ARTICLE 5 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND PROPERTY 

 
5.1.  Upon request and without cost to CONSULTANT, RTC will provide all pertinent 

information that is reasonably available to RTC including surveys, reports and any other 
data relative to design and construction. 

 
5.2.  RTC will provide access to and make all provisions for CONSULTANT to enter upon RTC 

facilities and public lands, as required for CONSULTANT to perform its work under this 
Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 6 - OWNERSHIP OF WORK 

 
6.1.  Plans, reports, studies, tracings, maps, software, electronic files, licenses, programs, 

equipment manuals, and databases and other documents or instruments of service prepared 
or obtained by CONSULTANT in the course of performing work under this Agreement, 

mailto:accountspayable@rtcwashoe.com


-5- 

shall be delivered to and become the property of RTC. Software already developed and 
purchased by CONSULTANT prior to the Agreement is excluded from this requirement.  
CONSULTANT and its sub-consultants shall convey and transfer all copyrightable 
interests, trademarks, licenses, and other intellectual property rights in such materials to 
RTC upon completion of all services under this Agreement and upon payment in full of all 
compensation due to CONSULTANT in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  
Basic survey notes, sketches, charts, computations and similar data prepared or obtained 
by CONSULTANT under this Agreement shall, upon request, also be provided to RTC. 

 
6.2.  CONSULTANT represents that it has secured all necessary licenses, consents, or approvals 

to use the components of any intellectual property, including computer software, used in 
providing services under this Agreement, that it has full legal title to and the right to 
reproduce such materials, and that it has the right to convey such title and other necessary 
rights and interests to RTC. 

 
6.3.  CONSULTANT shall bear all costs arising from the use of patented, copyrighted, trade 

secret, or trademarked materials, equipment, devices, or processes used on or incorporated 
in the services and materials produced under this Agreement. 

 
6.4.  CONSULTANT agrees that all reports, communications, electronic files, databases, 

documents, and information that it obtains or prepares in connection with performing this 
Agreement shall be treated as confidential material and shall not be released or published 
without the prior written consent of RTC; provided, however, that CONSULTANT may 
refer to this scope of work in connection with its promotional literature in a professional 
and commercially reasonable manner.  The provisions of this subsection shall not apply to 
information in whatever form that comes into the public domain.  The provisions of this 
paragraph also shall not restrict CONSULTANT from giving notices required by law or 
complying with an order to provide information or data when such order is issued by a 
court, administrative agency, or other entity with proper jurisdiction, or if it is reasonably 
necessary for CONSULTANT to defend itself from any suit or claim. 

 
ARTICLE 7 - TERMINATION 

 
7.1.  CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT 
 

If CONSULTANT fails to perform services in the manner called for in this Agreement or 
if CONSULTANT fails to comply with any other provisions of this Agreement, RTC may 
terminate this Agreement for default.  Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of 
termination on CONSULTANT setting forth the manner in which CONSULTANT is in 
default.  CONSULTANT will only be paid the contract price for services delivered and 
accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in 
this Agreement. 

 
If it is later determined by RTC that CONSULTANT had an excusable reason for not 
performing, such as a fire, flood, or events which are not the fault of or are beyond the 
control of CONSULTANT, RTC, after setting up a new performance schedule, may allow 



-6- 

CONSULTANT to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for 
convenience. 
 

7.2.  CONTRACT TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 
 
RTC may terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice to 
CONSULTANT when it is in RTC’s best interest.  CONSULTANT shall be paid its costs, 
including contract closeout costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of 
termination.  CONSULTANT shall promptly submit its termination claim to RTC to be 
paid CONSULTANT.  If CONSULTANT has any property in its possession belonging to 
RTC, CONSULTANT will account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner RTC 
directs. 

 
ARTICLE 8 - INSURANCE 

 
8.1.  CONSULTANT shall not commence any work or permit any employee/agent to 

commence any work until satisfactory proof has been submitted to RTC that all insurance 
requirements have been met. 

 
8.2.  In conjunction with the performance of the services/work required by the terms of this 

Agreement, CONSULTANT shall obtain all types and amounts of insurance set forth in 
Exhibit C, and shall comply with all provisions set forth therein. 

 
 ARTICLE 9 - HOLD HARMLESS 
 
9.1.  CONSULTANT’s obligation under this provision is as set forth in Exhibit C.  Said 

obligation would also extend to any liability of RTC resulting from any action to clear any 
lien and/or to recover for damage to RTC property. 

 
ARTICLE 10 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

 
10.1.  During the performance of this Agreement, CONSULTANT agrees not to discriminate 

against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, 
age, disability, or national origin.  CONSULTANT will take affirmative action to ensure 
that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated fairly during employment, 
without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin.  Such 
action shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  employment, upgrading, 
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates 
of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship.  
CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 
applicants for employment, notices to be provided by RTC setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 

 
10.2.  CONSULTANT will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 

behalf of CONSULTANT, state that well qualified applicants will receive consideration of 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, disability, or national origin. 



-7- 

 
10.3.  CONSULTANT will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted in all sub-agreements 

for any work covered by this Agreement so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
sub-consultant. 

 
ARTICLE 11 - RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 

 
11.1.  NEGOTIATED RESOLUTION 
 

In the event that any dispute or claim arises under this Agreement, the parties shall timely 
cooperate and negotiate in good faith to resolve any such dispute or claim. Such 
cooperation shall include providing the other party with all information in order to properly 
evaluate the dispute or claim and making available the necessary personnel to discuss and 
make decisions relative to the dispute or claim. 

 
11.2.  MEDIATION 
 

If the parties have been unable to reach an informal negotiated resolution to the dispute or 
claim within thirty (30) days following submission in writing of the dispute or claim to the 
other party, or such longer period of time as the parties may agree to in writing, either party 
may then request, in writing, that the dispute or claim be submitted to mediation (the 
“Mediation Notice”).  After the other party’s receipt or deemed receipt of the Mediation 
Notice, the parties shall endeavor to agree upon a mutually acceptable mediator, but if the 
parties have been unable to agree upon a mediator within ten (10) days following receipt 
of the Mediation Notice, then each party shall select a mediator and those two selected 
mediators shall select the mediator.  A mediator selected by the parties’ designated 
mediators shall meet the qualification set forth in as provided in Rule 4 of Part C., “Nevada 
Mediation Rules” of the “Rules Governing Alternative Dispute Resolutions adopted by the 
Nevada Supreme Court.”  Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the 
mediator shall have complete discretion over the conduct of the mediation proceeding.  
Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing, the mediation proceeding must take 
place within thirty (30) days following appointment of the mediator.  The parties shall share 
the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally.  The mediation shall be held in Washoe 
County, Nevada, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, in writing.  Agreements reached 
in mediation shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof.  

 
11.3.  LITIGATION 
 

In the event that the parties are unable to settle and/or resolve the dispute or claim as 
provided above, then either party may proceed with litigation in the Second Judicial 
District Court of the State of Nevada, County of Washoe. 

  



-8- 

11.4.  CONTINUING CONTRACT PERFORMANCE 
 

During the pendency of any dispute or claim the parties shall proceed diligently with 
performance of this Agreement and such dispute or claim shall not constitute an excuse or 
defense for a party’s nonperformance or delay.  

 
ARTICLE 12 – PROJECT MANAGERS 

 
12.1.  RTC’s Project Manager is Kimberly Diegle or such other person as is later designated in 

writing by RTC.  RTC’s Project Manager has authority to act as RTC’s representative with 
respect to the performance of this Agreement.   
 

12.2.  CONSULTANT’ Project Manager is Shawn Jenkins or such other person as is later 
designated in writing by CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT’s Project Manager has 
authority to act as CONSULTANT’s representative with respect to the performance of this 
Agreement.   

 
ARTICLE 13 - NOTICE 

 
13.1.  Notices required under this Agreement shall be given as follows: 
 

RTC: Bill Thomas, AICP 
 Executive Director 
 Kimberly Diegle, P.E. 
 RTC Project Manager 
 Regional Transportation Commission 
 1105 Terminal Way 
 Reno, Nevada  89502 
 (775) 335-1844 
 
CONSULTANT: Shawn Jenkins, P.E. 
 Principal Engineer 
 Eastern Sierra Engineering, P.C. 
 4515 Towne Drive 
 Reno, NV 89521 
 (775) 828-7220 x201 

 
ARTICLE 14 - DELAYS IN PERFORMANCE 

 
14.1.  TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 
 

It is understood and agreed that all times stated and referred to herein are of the essence.  
The period for performance may be extended by RTC’s Executive Director pursuant to the 
process specified herein.  No extension of time shall be valid unless reduced to writing and 
signed by RTC’s Executive Director. 

 



-9- 

14.2.  UNAVOIDABLE DELAYS 
 

If the timely completion of the services under this Agreement should be unavoidably 
delayed, RTC may extend the time for completion of this Agreement for not less than the 
number of days CONSULTANT was excusably delayed.  A delay is unavoidable only if 
the delay is not reasonably expected to occur in connection with or during 
CONSULTANT’s performance, is not caused directly or substantially by acts, omissions, 
negligence or mistakes of CONSULTANT, is substantial and in fact causes 
CONSULTANT to miss specified completion dates, and cannot adequately be guarded 
against by contractual or legal means. 

 
14.3.  NOTIFICATION OF DELAYS 
 

CONSULTANT shall notify RTC as soon as CONSULTANT has knowledge that an event 
has occurred or otherwise becomes aware that CONSULTANT will be delayed in the 
completion of the work. Within ten (10) working days thereafter, CONSULTANT shall 
provide such notice to RTC, in writing, furnishing as much detail on the delay as possible 
and requesting an extension of time. 

 
14.4.  REQUEST FOR EXTENSION 
 

Any request by CONSULTANT for an extension of time to complete the work under this 
Agreement shall be made in writing to RTC.  CONSULTANT shall supply to RTC 
documentation to substantiate and justify the additional time needed to complete the work 
and shall provide a revised schedule.  RTC shall provide CONSULTANT with notice of 
its decision within a reasonable time after receipt of a request. 

 
ARTICLE 15 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
15.1.  SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 
 

RTC and CONSULTANT bind themselves and their successors and assigns to the other 
party and to the successors and assigns of such party, with respect to the performance of 
all covenants of this Agreement.  Except as set forth herein, neither RTC nor 
CONSULTANT shall assign or transfer interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the other.  Nothing herein shall be construed as creating a personal liability on 
the part of any officer or agent or any public body which may be a party hereto, nor shall 
it be construed as giving any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than RTC and 
CONSULTANT. 

 
15.2.  NON TRANSFERABILITY 
 

This Agreement is for CONSULTANT’s professional services, and CONSULTANT’s 
rights and obligations hereunder may not be assigned without the prior written consent of 
RTC. 

 



-10- 

15.3.  SEVERABILITY 
 

If any part, term, article, or provision of this Agreement is, by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, held to be illegal, void, or unenforceable, or to be in conflict with any law of 
the State of Nevada, the validity of the remaining provisions or portions of this Agreement 
are not affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced 
as if this Agreement did not contain the particular part, term, or provision held invalid. 

 
15.4.  RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES 
 

CONSULTANT is an independent contractor to RTC under this Agreement.  Accordingly, 
CONSULTANT is not entitled to participate in any retirement, deferred compensation, 
health insurance plans or other benefits RTC provides to its employees.  CONSULTANT 
shall be free to contract to provide similar services for others while it is under contract to 
RTC, so long as said services and advocacy are not in direct conflict, as determined by 
RTC, with services being provided by CONSULTANT to RTC. 

 
15.5.  WAIVER/BREACH 
 

Any waiver or breach of a provision in this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
other provision in this Agreement and no waiver is valid unless in writing and executed by 
the waiving party.  An extension of the time for performance of any obligation or act shall 
not be deemed an extension of time for the performance of any other obligation or act.  This 
Agreement inures to the benefit of and is binding upon the parties to this Agreement and 
their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

 
15.6.  REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 
 

A. CONSULTANT shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
government laws, regulations and ordinances.  CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for obtaining all necessary permits and licenses for performance of 
services under this Agreement.  Upon request of RTC, CONSULTANT shall 
furnish RTC certificates of compliance with all such laws, orders and regulations. 

 
B. CONSULTANT represents and warrants that none of the services to be rendered 

pursuant to this Agreement constitute the performance of public work, as that term 
is defined by Section 338.010(17) of the Nevada Revised Statutes.  To the extent 
CONSULTANT does engage in such public work, CONSULTANT shall be 
responsible for paying the prevailing wage as required by Chapter 338 of the 
Nevada Revised Statutes. 

 
15.7.  EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENT 
 

There are no verbal agreements, representations or understandings affecting this 
Agreement, and all negotiations, representations and undertakings are set forth herein with 



-11- 

the understanding that this Agreement constitutes the entire understanding by and between 
the parties. 

 
15.8.  AMENDMENTS 
 

No alteration, amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is 
in writing and signed by both parties. 

 
15.9.  CONTINUING OBLIGATION 
 

CONSULTANT agrees that if, because of death or any other occurrence it becomes 
impossible for any principal or employee of CONSULTANT to render the services 
required under this Agreement, neither CONSULTANT nor the surviving principals shall 
be relieved of any obligation to render complete performance.  However, in such event, 
RTC may terminate this Agreement if it considers the death or incapacity of such principal 
or employee to be a loss of such magnitude as to affect CONSULTANT’s ability to 
satisfactorily complete the performance of this Agreement. 

 
15.10.  APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE  
 

The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Nevada.  The exclusive venue and court for all lawsuits concerning this 
Agreement shall be the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, County of 
Washoe, and the parties hereto submit to the jurisdiction of that District Court. 

 
15.11.  ATTORNEYS’ FEES 
 

In the event of a dispute between the parties result in a proceeding in any Court of Nevada 
having jurisdiction, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of costs and any 
reasonable attorneys’ fees. 
 

15.12.  CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY NEVADA SENATE BILL 27 (2017) 
 

CONSULTANT expressly certifies and agrees, as a material part of this Agreement, that 
it is not currently engaged in a boycott of Israel.  CONSULTANT further agrees, as a 
material part of this Agreement, it will not engage in a boycott of Israel for the duration of 
this Agreement.  If, at any time during the formation or duration of this Agreement, 
CONSULTANT is engaged or engages in a boycott of Israel, it will constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement. 

  



-12- 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement the day and 
year first above written. 
 
 

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF WASHOE COUNTY 

 
 

By:         
Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 

 
 
     EASTERN SIERRA ENGINEERING, P.C. 
 

 
By:         

Shawn Jenkins, P.E., Principal Engineer 
 
 
 



 

 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 

  



1  

Exhibit A 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

1. PROJECT MANAGEMENT 

 

Prepare monthly progress reports, invoices, and billing. 

 

Coordination with RTC project manager and staff will be ongoing throughout the 

project. Project management and coordination meetings or conference calls will be 

held with the RTC and other parties as appropriate throughout the project. 

 

Other interested parties will include the City of Sparks.  

 

Deliverables – Invoicing and progress reports. 

 

2. PUBLIC AND AGENCY INVOLVEMENT 
 

Public Information Meeting 

 

Public Information Meeting will be held once during preliminary design and once 

again before construction with the property owners adjacent to the project work 

zone to discuss project limits, scope, tentative schedule, traffic controls, driveway 

access, public notification requirements, and concerns of adjacent properties before 

the plans and specifications are finalized. 

 

CONSULTANT will provide flyers (in English and Spanish) to RTC for 

distribution. CONSULTANT will provide addressed post cards for the meeting 

(anticipated to include properties within 500-feet of the project area) to RTC to mail 

(RTC will pay postage separately). CONSULTANT will perform email of post card 

notifications as necessary.  

 
The CONSULTANT will provide materials to RTC staff for presentation to the 

RTC Board and Reno and Sparks City Councils as required. 

 
Deliverables – Meeting materials, power point presentations  

 

One-on-one Meetings with Community Stakeholders 

 

CONSULTANT will be available for one-on-one briefings/meetings with and 

presentations to community stakeholders as requesting by the RTC Project 

Manager. It is anticipated that the CONSULTANT will attend up to two (2) one-

on-one presentations and/or meetings during this project. CONSULTANT will 

provide the meeting minutes as directed by RTC. 

 

Deliverables – Community stakeholder meeting exhibits and summaries 

 



2  

3. INVESTIGATION OF EXISTING CONDITIONS 

3.1 Traffic Data 

 

The CONSULTANT will obtain traffic data from the RTC Planning and/or City 

of Sparks. Utilities within the project area will be located and assessed for possible 

conflict with the proposed project. Topographic mapping and Boundary will be 

determined to meet design needs. 

 

3.2 Visual Condition Survey 

 

CONSULTANT will visually evaluate and document the condition of the existing 

pavement to include cracking, potholes, rutting, and raveling.  

 

CONSULTANT will evaluate existing curb and gutter and driveway approaches 

based upon RTC criteria. CONSULTANT will evaluate existing pedestrian ramps 

for compliance with current ADA standards. 

 

 

3.3 Geotechnical Investigation and Pavement Design  

 

CONSULTANT will prepare a traffic control plan and an encroachment permit 

application will be submitted to the City of Sparks for approval. 

 

Field exploration will consist of excavating four (4) test pits with a rubber tired 

backhoe to maximum depth of 5 feet below the existing ground surface. The test 

pit will be backfilled immediately after exploration. Backfill will be loosely 

placed and the area regraded to the extent possible with the equipment on hand. 

 

CONSULTANT’s final soil testing program will be developed around the soils 

encountered during investigation. Anticipated laboratory testing includes: soil 

moisture (ASTM D2216), gradation (ASTM D6913), plasticity (ASTM D4318), 

and Resistance Value (ASTM D2844). 

 

Upon completion of the geotechnical investigation and pavement design, 

CONSULTANT will meet with RTC to present feasible rehabilitation alternatives. 

CONSULTANT will apply the design procedures contained in the 1993 AASHTO 

Guide for Design of Pavement Structures and the 2021 RTC Structural Design 

Guide for Flexible Pavement to generate the design layer thickness associated with 

each pavement alternative. 

 

Identify Optimum Rehabilitation/Reconstruction Alternative.  Based upon cost 

analysis, as well as some practical construction considerations, CONSULTANT 

will prepare the recommended rehabilitation or reconstruction alternative(s) for the 

project. 

 

Deliverables – Geotechnical Investigation and Pavement Design Report



3 

 

3.4 Utility Investigation/Depiction 

 

Overhead Utilities: CONSULTANT will investigate and locate all overhead utilities 

within the roadway R/W, and areas reasonably affected.  

 

CONSULTANT will investigate and locate subsurface utilities within the roadway 

R/W, and areas reasonably affected, in accordance with the American Society of 

Civil Engineers Standard guideline for the Collection and Depiction of Existing 

Subsurface Utility Data, Quality Level C. Additionally, CONSULTANT will 

coordinate with Utility Owners to remove lids of surface features and document 

depth of utility device, or invert of pipe, within such surface features. 

 

Based on field investigation, CONSULTANT will provide RTC a list of utility 

companies whose utilities are likely to be within the project limits or reasonably 

affected by the project. RTC will issue the initial notification to the utility agencies 

on the list and CONSULTANT will coordinate with the utility agencies for upcoming 

work, facility relocation and new installation, and to insure utilities likely affected by 

the project are drawn on the plan and profile, evaluate potential conflicts through field 

investigation, investigate conflict resolution strategies. 

 

Deliverables - Depiction of overhead and subsurface utilities on plan sheets 

developed during Preliminary Design. An inventory of subsurface utility surface 

features by Owner, type, location, and depth of feature or pipe invert. 

 

3.5 Utility Potholing (Sole Option and Discretion of RTC) 

 

Should insufficient information be available from existing records to determining 

whether or not conflicts between the proposed work and existing utilities will occur, 

CONSULTANT will request approval from RTC to hire a potholing contractor to 

investigate and locate specific subsurface utilities within the roadway R/W, and 

areas reasonably effected by the project that are deemed to have potential conflicts 

with construction. This is estimated at a single day of potholing for the project 

limits. Deliverables will include: Depiction of subsurface utilities on plan sheets 

developed during Preliminary Design and information collected at each pothole. 

 

3.6 Topographic Survey 

 

CONSULTANT will obtain cross-sections at critical locations within the length of 

project. Cross sectional topographical intervals shall be provided at 50' maximum 

spacing; surveying shall include: grade breaks, curb returns, point of tangents, point 

of curves, and critical locations identified within the project reconstruction limits and 

all legs of each intersection. Topographic data shall include but not be limited to: 

curb and gutter, sidewalk, driveway aprons wings, alley ways, valley gutters, 

pedestrian ramps, survey roadway monuments, signs, landscape walls, fences, 

retaining walls, trees, and connectivity of all surface and sub-surface utilities. Any 

street monuments that will be disturbed during construction will be tied so that they 



4 

 

can be replaced after construction activities have been completed 

 

CONSULTANT will provide field topo survey in a digitized format for plan view at 

a scale of 1"=20' with a width at least 40 feet behind the curbs along the length of the 

project to provide for consideration of improvements and grade continuity behind the 

curb.   

 

All key existing features of the project site will be located and shown on the plan. 

These features shall include but not be limited to, buildings, road cross section 

features, drainage features,  hardscape features, and all utility features and structures. 

 

Deliverables – Topographic survey in CAD format 

 

3.7 Right of Way Mapping 

 

CONSULTANT will obtain record R/W based upon Washoe County GIS 

information. The record Right of way information will be shown on the project 

plans. No further resolution of the roadway right of way is included within this 

task. 

 

Deliverables – Record Right of Way in CAD format 

 

3.8 Right of Way Engineering Services  

 

It is estimated approximately four (4) parcels will require permanent and/or 

temporary easements and/or potentially partial fee takes to construct the planned 

improvements. CONSULTANT will perform boundary surveying including 

preparation of full Metes and Bounds descriptions of 4 individual parcels. This will 

include Property record research, drafting of property boundaries from record 

descriptions, calculation of search coordinates for field boundary survey, field 

boundary survey on each affected parcel, post processing and reduction of field 

data, boundary resolution based upon field findings, preparation of legal 

descriptions and Exhibit maps of individual affected parcels. A grant, bargain, sale 

deed or easement document will be prepared for each subject parcel and will be 

sent to the RTC for review. All comments will be addressed prior to recordation. 

 

It is estimated approximately sixteen (16) parcels will require Permission to Construct 

to construct the planned improvements.  CONSULTANT will provide an 

encroachment exhibit for each parcel for use in RTC’s discussion with property 

owners to acquire Permission to Construct. 

 

Right of Way Appraisal, Property Owner Negotiations, Escrow Coordination and 

Title Clearance is not included within this task. 

 

Deliverables – property boundary for four (4) parcels along with exhibit maps, legal 

descriptions, and title report for permanent and/or temporary construction easements 



5 

 

on each parcel.  Right-of-Way summary spreadsheet detailing easement type, size, 

and reason by parcel.  Sixteen (16) permission to construct exhibits to also be 

provided. 

 

4. PRELIMINARY DESIGN 

 

4.1 Preliminary Roadway Design (50% Design) 

 

CONSULTANT will prepare for and attend one in-person meeting with RTC and 

City of Sparks staff at the project site to discuss the preliminary design layout of the 

new sidewalk. 

 

Plans and Specifications. CONSULTANT will prepare preliminary Roadway, an 

outline of Technical Specifications, and a preliminary cost estimate suitable for 

RTC and Local Government review. Construction plans shall cover an area 

sufficient for contractor's later use as a base for traffic control plans, e.g., coverage 

should include traffic control taper areas across intersections. Curb, gutter, sidewalk, 

and drainage features that are deficient according to both RTC and local entity 

standards shall be identified. 

 

Deliverables – Preliminary (50%) Plans submitted to RTC and City of Sparks 

 

4.2 Sidewalk Connectivity 

 

CONSULTANT will evaluate the installation of a five-foot sidewalk for the length of 

the project on one side of the roadway. The evaluation will include potential right-of-

way impacts and will be coordinated with the City of Sparks.  

  

4.3 Stanford Way/Greg Street Traffic Signal Inventory 

 

CONSULTANT will inventory the existing traffic signal to include identification of 

pull box(s) size and locations, determine the number and size of conduits, identify 

existing equipment installed in the controller cabinet and recommend necessary 

modifications to the traffic signal to allow for push button stations to be upgraded to 

audible stations.  

 

5. FINAL DESIGN 

 

5.1 Prepare Final Plans and Specifications 

 

Prepare Final Construction Plans, Contract Documents and Technical 

Specifications suitable for construction bid advertisement for the approved 

alignment in accordance with RTC standards and requirements. RTC will provide the 

boilerplate via email in MS Word format. The RTC, Local Entity and Quality 

Control review comments will be incorporated into the final Plans and 

Specifications. 



6 

 

 

The final construction plans will be on 22" x 34" size sheets and will show all 

elements of the project construction, including plan/profile view, R/W lines, cross- 

sections and construction/slope limits. The final plan set is anticipated to include 

approximately 20 sheets and will include approximately the following sheets: 

• Cover Sheet 

• Notes, Legend and Abbreviations Sheet 

• Horizontal Control 

• Plan/Profile Sheets (at 1"=20' scale) 

• Pedestrian Ramp Grading  

• Signing and Striping Plan Sheets (at 1"=20') 

• Traffic Signal Modifications Sheets 

• Detail Sheets (scales as noted). 

 

Depths of existing sanitary sewer and storm drain utilities will be checked and noted 

on the plans if there is any reason to expect conflict due to vertical clearances. All 

located, existing underground utilities will be shown on the Plan Sheets 

accompanied with the following “Note: Subsurface utilities are depicted by their 

Quality Levels in accordance American Society of Civil Engineers Standard 

Guidelines for the Collection and Depiction of Existing Subsurface Utility Data 

(CI/ASCE 38-02). All utility information shown hereon is depicted to Quality 

Level “C”, unless otherwise noted.” 

 

The Contract Documents and Technical Specifications will reference the latest 

edition of Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction (Orange Book) 

for standard construction items. Technical provisions will be prepared for approved 

deviations from the Orange Book and unique construction items not adequately 

covered in the Orange Book. The final plans and specifications will be signed and 

sealed by a Nevada Registered Professional Civil Engineer in responsible charge of 

preparation. Plans and specifications will be submitted to the RTC, City of Sparks,  

utility agencies and other affected parties for review at the 50%, 90% and 100% 

stages of completion per the following: 

 

• 50% & 90% Plans – One 11”x17” set and electronic (PDF) to 

RTC, PDF set to City of Sparks, and  PDF set each to utility 

agencies. 

• 90% Specifications – One set and PDF to RTC and PDF to City of 

Sparks 

• 100% Plans – One 11”x17” set and PDF to RTC, PDF set to City of 

Sparks 

• 100% Specifications – One set  and PDF to RTC, PDF to City of 

Sparks 

• Final Working Plan Set – One 22”x34” set to RTC, two 11”x17” sets 

to RTC and electronic (PDF) set to RTC and City of Sparks. 



7 

 

• Final Working Specification Document – One set to RTC and 

electronic (PDF) to City of Sparks, one copy in MS Word format of the 

Contract Documents and Technical Specifications to RTC.   

 

An independent checker will check, initial and date each plan sheet. A quality 

control review of the plans, contract documents and technical specifications will be 

performed which will focus on technical aspects of the plans and specifications and 

will ensure that all items of work are adequately covered. 

 

Deliverables – Final Plans and Specifications delivered to the RTC, City of Sparks 

and Utilities. 

 

5.2 Final Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Costs and Time 
 

Provide a final Engineer's opinion of probable construction costs for the project 

based on the final design and any alternatives or options. The cost opinion will be in 

the same format as the bid proposal form included in the contract documents. A 

quality control review of the cost opinion will be performed by the CONSULTANT. 

The CONSULTANT will also estimate the number of working or calendar days, as 

appropriate, for the construction of the projects. 

 

Deliverables – Opinion of Probably cost and time of construction. 

 

5.3  NDOT Right-of-Way Occupancy Permit Application (Sole Option and 

Discretion of RTC)   

 

CONSULTANT will prepare and submit a right-of-way occupancy permit 

application to NDOT for pedestrian ramp and paving improvements within Glendale 

Avenue if the project encroaches in NDOT right-of-way. CONSULTANT will attend 

a pre-submittal meeting with NDOT to identify the category and requirements of the 

permit application, complete the standard occupancy permit form, drainage 

information form, and four sets of detailed color-coded drawings required for the 

application.  The application fee is not included as part of the CONSULTANT’s fee 

estimate. CONSULTANT assumes a traffic impact study, stormwater pollution 

prevention plan, and noxious weed management checklist will not be required. 

 

5.4  Traffic Signal Modification Design Stanford Way/ Greg Street (Sole 

Option and Discretion of RTC)   

 

CONSULTANT will prepare traffic signal plans to include establishing new 

equipment locations consistent with intersection modifications (new pedestrian 

ramps, new pedestrian push buttons/poles), design of new conduit, conductors, push 

button locations and vehicle detection loops within rehabilitation limits.  Design 

plans will include required notes, equipment schedules, and conduit/conductor 

schedules. 

 

 



8 

 

6. BIDDING SERVICES 

 

Plan Set and Specification Distribution: CONSULTANT will provide RTC with 

final plans and specifications, including addenda, in Portable Document Format 

(PDF), for use in the ProcureWare system. 

 

Pre-bid Meeting: CONSULTANT will be available during the bidding process to 

answer technical questions and will hold the pre-bid meeting. All questions and 

responses will be documented and provided to RTC. CONSULTANT will prepare 

and provide PDF addenda, if required. All questions regarding legal aspects of the 

contract documents will be referred directly to RTC. CONSULTANT will prepare 

and provide a PDF summary of the pre-bid meeting, as directed by the RTC. 

 

Bid Opening: CONSULTANT will attend the bid opening and review the bids 

received for irregularities and provide a recommendation for award. 

CONSULTANT will tabulate bid results into a MS Excel spreadsheet and check 

multiplication and addition of bid items. 

 

Deliverables – Attendance at Pre-Bid meeting and Bid Opening, bid review. 

 

7. DESIGN CONTINGENCY (Sole Option and Discretion Of RTC) 

 

This is a design contingency for miscellaneous increases within the scope of this 

contract. CONSULTANT shall provide a letter detailing the need, scope, and not- to 

exceed budget for any proposed work. Work under this task shall proceed only with 

the RTC Project Manager’s written approval. 

 

8. CONSTRUCTION SERVICES (Sole Option and Discretion Of RTC) – 

ANTICIPATE A 60 WORKING DAY CONTRACT 

 

Provide contract administration services as follows: 

• Prepare conformed plans and specifications 

• Attend the preconstruction conference 

• Perform construction coordination 

• Review and provide recommendations on contractor’s traffic control 

plans 

• Review and stamp contractor's submittal for conformance to the 

contract documents, including plantmix bituminous pavement and 

Portland Cement concrete mix designs 

• Review and provide recommendations on test results 

• Review and provide recommendations on contractor’s construction 

schedule and work progress 

• Review construction for acceptance and/or mitigation 

• Provide verification and approval of contractor’s monthly pay request 

• Supervise the inspection, surveying and material testing activities 



9 

 

• Provide recommendations to the RTC for any necessary construction 

changes due to field conditions 

• Assist in change order review and approval 

 

 

9. CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING (Sole Option and Discretion Of RTC) 

 

CONSULTANT shall provide construction surveying for the project  to  

include:  

• One set of preliminary grading stakes at 50' stations denoting offsets 

and cut or fill to finish grade.  This set of stakes will also delineate 

clearing and grubbing limits. 

• One set of red tops at 50 feet centers for subgrade preparation. 

• One set of final curb and gutter stakes at 50 foot stations and 25 foot 

stations at returns. 

• Roadway monuments, referenced in four directions.  

 

 

10. CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION (Sole Option and Discretion Of RTC) 

 

CONSULTANT shall provide one full time inspector during all construction 

activities.  10-hour work days and a 60 working day contract period are anticipated.  

This inspector will: 

 

• Attend the preconstruction conference 

• Monitor the work performed by the Contractor and verify that the work 

is in accordance with the plans and specifications 

• Assist in problem resolution with the RTC, contractor personnel, 

utility agencies, the public and others 

• Prepare daily inspection reports, submitted weekly to RTC and CC’d 

to the appropriate government jurisdiction(s). 

• Provide quantity reports and assist in contractor’s monthly progress 

payments 

• Provide verification of the distribution of public relation notices 

required to be delivered by the contractor 

• Assist in preparation of the Punch List 

• Maintain a field blueline set of drawings to incorporate contractor 

record drawing mark-ups 

 

CONSULTANT shall provide an additional inspector during paving operations.  

Provide additional inspector during mainline paving days to monitor plantmix 

bituminous pavement placement.  

  



10 

 

11. MATERIAL TESTING (Sole Option and Discretion Of RTC) 

 

Provide Material Testing for compliance with the specifications per the latest edition 

of the Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction (Orange Book) testing 

requirements.  Materials to be tested will include plantmix bituminous pavement, 

aggregate base, native subgrade material, structural fill material and Portland Cement 

Concrete. Test reports, accompanied with CONSULTANT’s recommendation 

regarding acceptance/mitigation of materials, shall be submitted promptly to the RTC 

and CC’d to appropriate governmental jurisdiction(s). 

 

12. RECORD INFORMATION (Sole Option and Discretion Of RTC) 

 

Provide record drawings for the completed project in PDF format.  Two sets of 

electronic drawings, in single file PDF format (22” x 34” at 300 dpi), on diskette will 

be provided to RTC for its files and distribution to the Local Entity.  The PDF file 

shall include all plan sheets in one file with index/bookmark for easy access to 

different sheets or sections of the plan set. 

 

The final record drawings must be identified, dated, and signed as the record 

drawings and must also contain the engineer’s stamp and signature. The 

CONSULTANT may either: 

 

1. Provide the final revisions on the original engineer-stamped/signed 

reproducible drawings, which will then also be identified as the record 

drawings, or 

 

2. Provide new engineer-stamped/signed reproducible drawings identified as 

the record drawings. 

 

The Record Drawings shall include a scan of the original title sheet (including the 

appropriate signatures by RTC, local government, signed and stamped by the 

CONSULTANT) and identified as record drawings. 

 
 

13. CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY (Sole Option and Discretion Of RTC) 

 

This is a contingency for miscellaneous increases within the scope of this contract 

in the performance of services under Tasks 8 through 12.  If CONSULTANT 

determines that it is necessary to perform work to be paid out of contingency, 

CONSULTANT shall provide a letter detailing the need, scope, and not-to-exceed 

budget for any proposed work.  Work under this task shall proceed only with the 

RTC Project Manager’s prior written approval. 

 



Exhibit A - Project Schedule

Milestone Begin End Duration

RTC Board Approval 10/21/2022

NTP 10/21/2022

Preliminary Design 10/24/2022 3/3/2023 19 weeks

Preliminary Design Submittal - 50% 3/3/2023

Submit R/W Summary Spreadsheet 3/3/2023

Agency Review 3/6/2023 3/31/2023 4 weeks

Final Design - 90% 4/3/2022 7/7/2023 14 weeks

Submit R/W Exhibits, Legal 

Description and Title Reports *
7/7/2023 6 months

Final Design Submittal - 90% 7/7/2023

Agency Review 7/10/2023 7/28/2023 3 weeks

Final Plans - 100% 7/31/2023 8/18/2023 3 weeks

Final Plans Submittal - 100% 8/18/2023

Submit Permissions to Construct 

spreadsheet and figures
8/18/2023

Agency Review 8/21/2023 9/1/2023 2 weeks

Advertise 9/13/2023 10/18/2023 5 weeks

Open Bids 10/25/2023

Construction NTP 4/8/2024

Construction Complete 6/28/2024 60WD

* - Right-of-way acquisition to be completed by RTC

Project Schedule 

Stanford Way Reconstruction Project 

8



Design:

Debbie Jenkins, P.E., Senior Engineer (ESE)
Brian Fitzgerald, P.E., Senior Engineer (ESE)
Peter Sebaaly, Project Engineer (ESE)
Davis Buckley, Staff Engineer (ESE)
Baily Mirtle, Staff Engineer (ESE)

ESE Project Manager
Shawn Jenkins, P.E.

Geotechnical Investigation and 
Pavement Design:

Shawn Jenkins, P.E., Project Manager (ESE)
Mike Phelps, Senior Technician (ESE)

Construction Services:
Shawn Jenkins, P.E., Project Manager (ESE)
Mike Phelps, Senior Technician (ESE)
Dennis Brown, Senior Technician (ESE)
Scott Lazear, Senior Technician (ESE)
Bill Caraway, Senior Technician (ESE)

Design and Construction Survey:
Erik Lee , P.L.S- Battle Born Ventures

RTC Project Manager
Kimberly Diegle, P.E.

Exhibit  A – Project Team



 

 

Exhibit B 

Compensation 

  



Exhibit B

Cost Proposal for the Stanford Way 
Reconstruction Project 

Task Description
Project 

Manager 
($130/hr)

Senior 
Engineer 
($140/hr)

Project 
Engineer 
($120/hr)

Staff 
Engineer 
($100/hr)

Senior 
Tech 

($100/hr)

Senior 
Tech 

Overtime 
($120/hr)

 Expenses Sub-
consultant

Task 1 - Project Management
    Monthly Progress reports, invoices and  billings 120

Task  1 Hours Subtotal 120 0 0 0 0 0
    Task 1 Labor Costs 15,600.00$ -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            
    Task 1 Non Labor Costs -$            -$            
    Task 1 Non Labor Markup (5%) -$            
    Task 1 Total 15,600.00$     

Task 2 Public and Agency Involvement
    Public Information meeting (s) 12 20 12

Task 2 Hours Subtotal 12 0 20 12 0 0
    Task 2 Labor Costs 1,560.00$   -$            2,400.00$   1,200.00$   -$            -$            
    Task 2 Non Labor Costs -$            -$            
    Task 2  Non Labor Markup (5%) -$            
    Task 2 Total 5,160.00$       

Task 3 Investigation of Existing Conditions
    3.1 Traffic Data 2 4
    3.2 Visual Condition Survey 2 8 8
    3.3 Geotechnical Investigation and Pavement Design

      Field Exploration (4 test pits) (Sierra Nevada Construction) 20 7,500.00$   
      Pavement Design 12 5,610.00$   
      Report 12 8 8 20

3.4 Utility Investigation/Depiction 4 10

3.5 Utility Potholing 

3.6 Topographic Survey (Battle Born Ventures) 8 18,000.00$ 

3.7 Right of Way Mapping (Battle Born Ventures) 4 3,000.00$   

3.8 Right of Way Engineering Services
Four (4) Permanent and/or temporary easements (Battle Born Ventures) 12 12 15,000.00$ 
Sixteen (16) Permissions to Construct 8 8 40 -$            

Task 3 Hours Subtotal 60 20 32 58 40 0
    Task 3 Labor Costs 7,800.00$   2,800.00$   3,840.00$   5,800.00$   4,000.00$   -$            -$            
    Task 3 Non Labor Costs 5,610.00$   43,500.00$ 
    Task 3  Non Labor Markup (5%) 2,175.00$   
    Task 3 Total 75,525.00$     

Task 4 Preliminary Design
4.1 Preliminary Roadway Design (50% Design) 40 20 120 120

4.2 Sidewalk Connectivity

4.3 Stanford Way/Greg Street Traffic Signal Inventory (Headway) 2,000.00$   

Task 4 Hours Subtotal 40 20 120 120 0 0
    Task 4 Labor Costs 5,200.00$   2,800.00$   14,400.00$ 12,000.00$ -$            -$            
    Task 4 Non Labor Costs -$            2,000.00$   
    Task 4  Non Labor Markup (5%) 100.00$      
    Task 4 Total 36,500.00$     

B-1



Exhibit B - Cost Proposal for the Stanford Way
Reconstruction Project 

Task Description
Project 

Manager 
($130/hr)

Senior 
Engineer 
($140/hr)

Project 
Engineer 
($120/hr)

Staff 
Engineer 
($100/hr)

Senior 
Tech 

($100/hr)

Senior 
Tech 

Overtime 
($120/hr)

 Expenses Sub-
consultant

Task 5 Final Design
 5.1 Prepare Final Plans and Specifications 100 40 120 120
 5.2 Engineers Opinion of Probable Construction Cost and Time 12 8
 5.3 NDOT Right-of-way Occupancy Permit Application 20 20 20
5.4 Traffic Signal Modification Design (Headway) 13,000.00$ 

Task 5 Hours Subtotal 132 60 128 120 20 0
    Task 5 Labor Costs 17,160.00$ 8,400.00$   15,360.00$ 12,000.00$ 2,000.00$   -$            
    Task 5 Non Labor Costs -$            13,000.00$ 
    Task 5  Non Labor Markup (5%) 650.00$      
    Task 5 Total 68,570.00$     

Task 6 Bidding Services
Prebid meeting, bid opening and bid review 20 12

Task 6 Hours Subtotal 20 12 0 0 0 0
    Task 6 Labor Costs 2,600.00$   1,680.00$   -$            -$            -$            -$            
    Task 6 Non Labor Costs
    Task 6  Non Labor Markup (5%) -$            
    Task 6 Total 4,280.00$       

 Task 7 Design Contingency 
Design Contingency 10,000.00$     

   Total Task 7 10,000.00$     

Total Design Services Design Through Bidding (Tasks 1 -6) 205,635.00$   
Total Design Contingency  (Task 7) 10,000.00$     

 Task 8  Construction Contract Administration (Optional)
Contract Administration (60 Working Days) 180 80 80

Task 8 Hours Subtotal 180 80 80 0 0 0
    Task 8 Labor Costs 23,400.00$ 11,200.00$ 9,600.00$   -$            -$            -$            
    Task 8 Non Labor Costs
    Task 8  Non Labor Markup (5%) -$            
    Task 8 Total 44,200.00$     

Task 9  Construction Surveying  (Optional)
Set Centerline, offsets, utility and striping (Battle Born Ventures) 20 32,000.00$ 

Task 9 Hours Subtotal 20 0 0 0 0 0
    Task 9 Labor Costs 2,600.00$   -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            
    Task 9 Non Labor Costs 32,000.00$ 
    Task 9  Non Labor Markup (5%) 1,600.00$   
    Task 9 Total 36,200.00$     

Task 10  Construction Inspection (Optional)
Full time inspector (assume 60 working days) 20 480 120
Additional inspector as needed 160
Traffic Signal Modification Support (Headway) 8,000.00$   

Task 10 Hours Subtotal 20 0 0 0 640 120
    Task 10 Labor Costs 2,600.00$   -$            -$            -$            64,000.00$ 14,400.00$ 
    Task 10 Non Labor Costs 8,000.00$   
    Task 10  Non Labor Markup (5%) 400.00$      
    Task 10 Total 89,400.00$     

B-2



Exhibit B - Cost Proposal for the Stanford Way
Reconstruction Project 

Task Description
Project 

Manager 
($130/hr)

Senior 
Engineer 
($140/hr)

Project 
Engineer 
($120/hr)

Staff 
Engineer 
($100/hr)

Senior 
Tech 

($100/hr)

Senior 
Tech 

Overtime 
($120/hr)

 Expenses Sub-
consultant

Task 11  Material Testing (Optional)
Material Testing per Orange Book 20 80 120 15,000.00$ 

Task 11 Hours Subtotal 20 0 0 80 120 0
    Task 11 Labor Costs 2,600.00$   -$            -$            8,000.00$   12,000.00$ -$            
    Task 11 Non Labor Costs 15,000.00$ -$            
    Task 11  Non Labor Markup (5%) -$            
    Task 11 Total 37,600.00$     

Task 12  Record Information (Optional)
Provide as-built drawings 20 40 20

Task 12 Hours Subtotal 20 0 0 40 20 0
    Task 12 Labor Costs 2,600.00$   -$            -$            4,000.00$   2,000.00$   -$            
    Task 12 Non Labor Costs -$            
    Task 12  Non Labor Markup (5%) -$            
    Task 12 Total 8,600.00$       

 Task 13 Construction Contingency (Optional)
Construction Contingency 20,000.00$     

   Total Task 13 20,000.00$     

Total Construction Services (Tasks 8 -12) (Optional) 216,000.00$   
Total Construction Contingency  (Task 13) (Optional) 20,000.00$     
Total Not-to-Exceed Amount 451,635.00$   

B-3



 

 

Exhibit C 

Indemnification and Insurance Requirements 
  



1 

Exhibit C 

 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

[NRS 338 DESIGN PROFESSIONAL] 

2022-07-08 Version 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 
IT IS HIGHLY RECOMMENDED THAT CONSULTANTS CONFER WITH THEIR 
INSURANCE CARRIERS OR BROKERS TO DETERMINE THE AVAILABILITY OF THESE 
INSURANCE CERTIFICATES AND ENDORSEMENTS IN ADVANCE OF PROPOSAL 
SUBMISSION.  IF THERE ARE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THESE INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS, IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT THE AGENT/BROKER CONTACT 
RTC’S FINANCE DIRECTOR AT (775) 335-1845. 
 
2. INDEMNIFICATION 

 

CONSULTANT agrees, subject to the limitations in Nevada Revised Statutes Section 338.155, to 
save and hold harmless and fully indemnify RTC and City of Sparks including their elected 
officials, officers, employees, and agents (hereafter, “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all 
claims, proceedings, actions, liability and damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
defense costs incurred in any action or proceeding (collectively “Damages”) arising out of the: 
 

A. Negligence, errors, omissions, recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT 
or CONSULTANT’s agents, employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else 
for whom CONSULTANT may be legally responsible, which are based upon or arising 
out of the professional services of CONSULTANT; and 
 

B. Violation of law or any contractual provisions or any infringement related to trade names, 
licenses, franchises, patents or other means of protecting interests in products or inventions 
resulting from the use by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, equipment, 
or other deliverable (including software) supplied by CONSULTANT under or as a result 
of this Agreement, but excluding any violation or infringement resulting from the 
modification or alteration by the Indemnitees of any materials, devices, processes, 
equipment, or other deliverable (including software) not consented to by CONSULTANT.  

 
CONSULTANT further agrees to defend, save and hold harmless and fully indemnify the 
Indemnitees from and against any and all Damages arising out the negligence, errors, omissions, 
recklessness or intentional misconduct of CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’s agents, 
employees, officers, directors, subconsultants, or anyone else for whom CONSULTANT may be 
legally responsible, which are not based upon or arising out of the professional services of 
CONSULTANT. 
 
The Damages shall include, but are not limited to, those resulting from personal injury to any 
person, including bodily injury, sickness, disease or death and injury to real property or personal 



2 

property, tangible or intangible, and the loss of use of any of that property, whether or not it is 
physically injured.   
 
If the Indemnitees are involved in defending actions of CONSULTANT or anyone else for whom 
CONSULTANT is legally responsible, CONSULTANT shall reimburse the Indemnitees for the 
time spent by such personnel at the rate of the Indemnitees pay or compensation for such services. 
 
If an Indemnitee is found to be liable in the proceeding, then CONSULTANT’S obligation 
hereunder shall be limited to the proportional share of the liability attributed to CONSULTANT. 
 
In determining whether a claim is subject to indemnification, the incident underlying the claim 
shall determine the nature of the claim. 
 
In the event of a violation or an infringement under paragraph 2.B above and the use is enjoined, 
CONSULTANT, at its sole expense, shall either (1) secure for the Indemnitees the right to continue 
using the materials by suspension of any injunction or by procuring a license or licenses for the 
Indemnitees; or (2) modify the materials so that they become non-infringing. This covenant shall 
survive the termination of the Professional Services Agreement. 
 
The provisions of this Agreement are separate and severable and it is the intent of the Parties hereto 
that in the event any provision of this Agreement should be determined by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, voidable or too restrictive for any reason whatsoever, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain valid and binding upon said Parties. It is also understood 
and agreed that in the event any provision should be considered, by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, to be void because it imposes a greater obligation on CONSULTANT than is 
permitted by law, such court may reduce and reform such provisions to limitations which are 
deemed reasonable and enforceable by said court. 
 
3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

Prior to the start of any work on a RTC project, CONSULTANT shall purchase and maintain 
insurance of the types and limits as described below insuring against claims for injuries to persons 
or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work 
hereunder by CONSULTANT, its subconsultants, or their employees, agents, or representatives.  
The cost of all such insurance shall be borne by CONSULTANT. 
 

4. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE 

 
CONSULTANT shall furnish RTC with a certificate(s) of insurance, executed by a duly authorized 
representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance requirements set forth 
herein, on forms acceptable to RTC.  All deductibles and self-insured retentions requiring RTC 
approval shall be shown on the certificate.  All certificates and endorsements are to be addressed 
to RTC’s Finance Director and be received by RTC before work commences.  Upon request, 
CONSULTANT agrees that RTC has the right to review CONSULTANT’S and the Sub’s 
insurance policies, or certified copies of the policies. Copies of applicable policy forms or 
endorsements confirming required additional insured, waiver of subrogation and notice of 



3 

cancellation provisions are required to be provided with any certificate(s) evidencing the required 
coverage. 
 

5. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION 

 

CONSULTANT or its insurers shall provide at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to RTC 
prior to the cancellation or non-renewal of any insurance required under this Agreement. An 
exception may be included to provide at least ten (10) days’ written notice if cancellation is due to 
non-payment of premium. CONSULTANT shall be responsible to provide prior written notice to 
RTC as soon as practicable upon receipt of any notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in 
required limits or other material change in the insurance required under this Agreement. 
 
6. SUBCONSULTANTS & SUBCONTRACTORS 

 
CONSULTANT shall include all Subcontractors and Subconsultants (referred to collectively as 
“Subs”) as insureds under its liability policies OR shall cause Subs employed by CONSULTANT 
to purchase and maintain separate liability coverages and limits of the types specified herein. If 
any Subs maintain separate liability coverages and limits, each shall include the RTC and City of 
Sparks as additional insureds under its commercial general liability policy, subject to the same 
requirements stated herein, without requiring a written contract or agreement between each of the 
additional insureds and any sub-consultant or sub-contractor. Any separate coverage limits of 
liability maintained by Subs shall be at least $1,000,000 per occurrence and at least $2,000,000 for 
any applicable coverage aggregates or the amount customarily carried by the Sub, whichever is 
GREATER.  If any Subs provide their own insurance with limits less than required of the 
Contractor, Contractor shall include Subs in their coverage up to the full limits required of the 
Contractor.  When requested by RTC, CONSULTANT shall furnish copies of certificates of 
insurance evidencing coverage for each subconsultant. CONSULTANT need not require its non-
design subcontractors to carry Professional Errors and Omissions Liability insurance. 
 

7. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS 

 
Any deductibles or self-insured retentions that exceed $25,000 per occurrence or claim must be 
declared to RTC’s Finance Director prior to signing this Agreement. RTC is entitled to request 
and receive additional documentation, financial or otherwise, prior to giving its approval of the 
deductibles and self-insured retentions. Any changes to the deductibles or self-insured retentions 
made during the term of this Agreement or during the term of any policy must be declared to 
RTC’s Finance Director prior to the change taking effect. 
 

8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS 

 
Required insurance is to be placed with insurers with a Best's rating of no less than A-VII and 
acceptable to RTC.  RTC may accept coverage with carriers having lower Best's ratings upon 
review of financial information concerning CONSULTANT and the insurance carrier.  RTC 
reserves the right to require that CONSULTANT'S insurer(s) be licensed and admitted in the State 
of Nevada or meet any applicable state and federal laws and regulations for non-admitted insurance 
placements. 



4 

 

9. OTHER CONDITIONS 

 
A. Failure to furnish the required certificate(s) or failure to maintain the required insurance 

may result in termination of this Agreement at RTC’s option. 

 
B. If CONSULTANT fails to furnish the required certificate or fails to maintain the required 

insurance as set forth herein, RTC shall have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase 

said insurance at CONSULTANT's expense. 

 
C. Any waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to furnish such certificate or maintain such 

insurance must be in writing and signed by an authorized representative of RTC. Failure 

of RTC to demand such certificate or other evidence of full compliance with these 

insurance requirements or failure of RTC to identify a deficiency from evidence that is 

provided shall not be construed as a waiver of CONSULTANT's obligation to maintain 

such insurance, or as a waiver as to the enforcement of any of these provisions at a later 

date. 

 
D. By requiring insurance herein, RTC does not represent that coverage and limits will 

necessarily be adequate to protect CONSULTANT, and such coverage and limits shall not 

be deemed as a limitation on CONSULTANT's liability under the indemnities granted to 

RTC in this contract. 

 
E. If CONSULTANT’S liability policies do not contain the standard ISO separation of 

insureds condition, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 

cross-liability coverage. 

 

10. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY 

 

CONSULTANT shall maintain commercial general liability (CGL) and, if necessary, commercial 
umbrella insurance with a limit of not less than $2,000,000 each occurrence. If such CGL insurance 
contains a general aggregate limit, it shall be increased to equal twice the required occurrence limit 
or revised to apply separately to this project. 
 
CGL insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 04 13 (or a substitute form 
providing equivalent coverage) and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
products-completed operations, personal and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an 
insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract). 
 
RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in Section 2. INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement shall 
be included as an additional insured under the CGL, using ISO additional insured endorsement 
CG 20 10 07/04 or CG 20 33 07/04 or a substitute providing equivalent coverage, and under the 
commercial umbrella, if any.  
 



5 

This insurance shall apply as primary insurance with respect to any other insurance or self-
insurance programs afforded to RTC or any other Indemnitees under this Agreement. 
CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC and any other Indemnitees listed in section 2. 
INDEMNIFICATION of this Agreement for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are 
covered by the commercial general liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance maintained 
pursuant to this agreement. CONSULTANT’s insurer shall endorse CGL policy to waive 
subrogation against RTC with respect to any loss paid under the policy. 
 
11. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 

 

CONSULTANT shall maintain automobile liability and, if necessary, commercial umbrella 
liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. Such insurance shall 
cover liability arising out of any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned autos). 
 
Coverage shall be written on ISO form CA 00 01, CA 00 05, CA 00 25, or a substitute form 
providing equivalent liability coverage for all owned, leased, hired (rented) and non-owned 
vehicles (as applicable).  RTC may agree to accept auto liability for non-owned and hired (rented) 
vehicles under the CGL if CONSULTANT does not own or operate any owned or leased vehicles.  
 
CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its officers, employees and volunteers for recovery 
of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the automobile liability or commercial 
umbrella liability insurance obtained by CONSULTANT pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
12. INDUSTRIAL (WORKER’S COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY) 

INSURANCE 

 

It is understood and agreed that there shall be no Industrial (Worker’s Compensation and 
Employer’s Liability) Insurance coverage provided for CONSULTANT or any subconsultants by 
RTC.  CONSULTANT, and any subconsultants, shall procure, pay for and maintain the required 
coverages.   
 
CONSULTANT shall maintain workers’ compensation and employer’s liability insurance meeting 
the statutory requirements of the State of Nevada, including but not limited to NRS 616B.627 and 
NRS 617.210. The employer’s liability limits shall not be less than $1,000,000 each accident for 
bodily injury by accident or $1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. 
 
CONSULTANT shall provide a Final Certificate for itself and each subconsultant evidencing that 
CONSULTANT and each subconsultant maintained workers’ compensation and employer’s 
liability insurance throughout the entire course of the project. 
 
If CONSULTANT, or any subconsultant is a sole proprietor, coverage for the sole proprietor must 
be purchased and evidence of coverage must appear on the Certificate of Insurance and Final 
Certificate. 
 
CONSULTANT waives all rights against RTC, its elected officials, officers, employees and agents 
for recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the workers compensation and 



6 

employer’s liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance obtained by Tenant pursuant to this 
agreement. CONSULTANT shall obtain an endorsement equivalent to WC 00 03 13 to affect this 
waiver. 
 
13. PROFESSIONAL ERRORS AND OMISSIONS LIABILITY 

 

CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance applying to liability for a 
professional error, omission, or negligent act arising out of the scope of CONSULTANT’S 
services provided under this Agreement with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 each claim and 
annual aggregate. CONSULTANT shall maintain professional liability insurance during the term 
of this Agreement and, if coverage is provided on a “claims made” or “claims made and reported” 
basis, shall maintain coverage or purchase an extended reporting period for a period of at least 
three (3) years following the termination of this Agreement. 
 



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022 
 
From: Michele Chrystal, Property Agent 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Approve the proposed sale of a remnant parcel acquired in connection with the Moana Lane Widening 
Project (A.P.N. 020-051-02) to an adjoining property owner and adopt a resolution required by NRS 
277A.255(1)(b). 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
The RTC acquired property for the Moana Lane Widening Project.  A.P.N. 020-051-02 is a remnant of a 
larger parcel that was needed for the project.  RTC acquired this parcel on January 7, 2011 for $1,280,000.  
The project construction reduced the size of the parcel by half.  The parcel is currently 26,092 square feet 
located at the southeast corner of Kietzke Lane and Moana Lane. This is a corner lot that has no access 
from the streets. The adjoining owners have access from their parcels without acquiring an easement.  The 
highest and best use is assemblage. 
 
The RTC disposes of property pursuant to RTC Management Policy P-63 – Real Property Disposition.  
The RTC is authorized to sell the parcel for a reasonable price if a sale by means of a public auction or 
sealed bids is uneconomical or impractical and the Board adopts a resolution required by NRS 
277A.255(1)(b).  The following are the terms of the proposed sale: 
 
A.P.N. 020-051-02 
Buyer: Gator Investments 
Sale Price:  $400,000 
 
If the Board approves the sale and adopts the resolution attached hereto, the Executive Director will execute 
a sale agreement and other documents necessary to complete the sale.  The sale will be quitclaim in nature, 
and RTC will not warrant title, furnish title insurance or pay the tax on transfer of real property.  NRS 
277A.255(3). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Sale proceeds will be returned to the fund of origin. $400,000 will return to the Street and Highway fund. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
3/19/2021 Approved a staff recommendation to commence with the sale of five (5) remnant parcels 
  acquired in connection with the Moana Lane Widening Project (A.P.N. 024-020-11;  
  024-02-08; 020-255-15; 020-255-16; 020-051-02) by sale to adjoining property owners, 
  sealed bids, public auction, or direct sale as may be authorized by law. 
 



��������	�
��������������	�
�������	�	
�������������������
�
�������������	����	
���

���	�
��	����������
����
���	��
	
�������������
������������������ �!"#�$#%&'()*�+,)(-.',!)!&'(�/'00&--&'(�'1�2)-"'#�/'3(!4 �5#6)7)�89$+/:;�<'0.*#!#7�!"#�=')()�>)(#�2&7#(&(%�?,'@#<!�8!"#�9?,'@#<!:;�&(�ABCAD�)(7�� ������� �!"#�?,'@#<!�,#E3&,#7�!"#�$+/�!'�)<E3&,#�,#)*�.,'.#,!4�!",'3%"�',�3(7#,�!"#�!",#)!�'1�#0&(#(!�7'0)&(�.,'<##7&(%-�.3,-3)(!�!'�/").!#,�FG�'1�!"#�5#6)7)�$#6&-#7�H!)!3!#-�895$H:;D�)(7���������� �!"#�.),<#*�7#.&<!#7�'(�!"#�0).�)!!)<"#7�"#,#!'�)-�IJ"&K&!�L�8L?5M�BABNBOCNBA;�&-�)�,#0()(!�'1�)�*),%#,�.),<#*�!")!�P)-�(##7#7�1',�!"#�?,'@#<!D�)(7��������� �.3,-3)(!�!'�5$H�AGGLQAOO8C;8K; �!"#�$+/�0)4�-#**�!"#�.),<#*�1',�)�,#)-'()K*#�.,&<#�)-�7#!#,0&(#7�K4�,#-'*3!&'(�!'�K#�&(�!"#�K#-!�&(!#,#-!�'1�!"#�$+/Q��
��R� ���������R� S�� 	�� �����T��� SU� ���� ���	�
������
�������	�
�����	��	�
��������������
�UR�
�T���V��� CQ� W!�&-�&(�!"#�K#-!�&(!#,#-!�'1�!"#�$+/�!'�-#**�!"#�.),<#*�8L?5M�BABNBOCNBA;�!'�)(�)7@'&(&(%�.,'.#,!4�'P(#,�1',�!"#�1'**'P&(%�.,&<#X�YZBB BBBQ�� �� AQ� +"#�IJ#<3!&6#�[&,#<!',�&-�)3!"',&\#7�!'�#J#<3!#�)�-)*#�)%,##0#(!�)(7�'!"#,�7'<30#(!-�(#<#--),4�!'�<'0.*#!#�!"#�-)*#Q�� ������R����������
�������T���'(�]<!'K#,�AC �ABAAQ��� � � �I7�>)P-'( �/")&,�$#%&'()*�+,)(-.',!)!&'(�/'00&--&'(�'1�2)-"'#�/'3(!4� ��



����������	�
�������
��

���������
��������



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022 
 
From: Christian Schonlau, Director of Finance/CFO 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Approve revenue contract with State of Nevada allowing the Department of Public Health - Temporary 
Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) to purchase bus passes from RTC. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
The State of Nevada requires a formal agreement to be entered into in order to make payments to any party 
including governmental agencies. This document will give the Department of Public Health - Temporary 
Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) the ability to pay RTC for bus passes which will be given to clients 
of TANF. This contract is being presented retroactively to comply with RTC's management policy on 
interlocal agreements. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
This contract will allow for up to $116,000 in revenue to be received in fiscal year 2023 from TANF. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
There has been no previous board action taken. 
 



������������















 
  

 
   

 
 

 
 

    
 

 
  

 
    

    
 

  
          

    
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
               

 
 

 
 

 
 

Meeting Date: 10/21/2022 

From: Paul Nelson, Government Affairs Officer 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve a contract with Kaempfer Crowell, LTD, for Nevada Government Affairs Services in an amount 
not-to-exceed $65,000 per year for two years. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 

Staff seeks to retain Kaempfer Crowell, LTD (Consultant) to provide government affairs services related 
to Nevada legislative matters and executive branch matters.  The Consultant will represent the RTC before 
the Nevada Legislature to advocate RTC’s position on matters of funding, policy and regulation, to identify 
legislative bills and amendments that would impact the RTC, and to build strong legislative relationships 
on behalf of RTC. In addition, the Consultant will monitor appropriate Bill Draft Requests for potential 
impacts to the RTC and will also monitor the interim Legislative committees and studies in areas of interest 
to RTC. In addition, the Consultant will work with outside groups (construction industry, labor 
organizations, transportation agencies…) to educate them on RTC positions and legislative priorities. 

The term of the contract is December 1, 2022 to November 30, 2024. The not-to-exceed cost of the contract 
is $65,000 per year for two years, payable in equal monthly installments. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for year one of this item is included in the approved FY 2023 budget, and funding for year two 
will be included in the FY 2024 budget. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

There has been no previous Board action taken. 



����������	������� �����������
��������������������

��������������� !!"������"�"�##$%������&%'���()*+�,-.//0/1(�23�45674�584�7997:62;7�53�<9�=7:7>?7@�AB�CDCCB�?E�584�?76F778�6G7�.7H2<85I�(@583J<@6562<8�K<>>2332<8�<9�L53G<7�K<M86E�NO.(KPQB�584�R57>J97@�K@<F7IIB�S64T�NOKU1+VS(,1(PQT��� W%�������XY�WX�����B�.(K�4732@73�6<�<?6528�6G7�37@;2:73�<9�KU1+VS(,1(�6<�J@<;247�@7ZM2@74�3MJJI7>7865I�H<;7@8>786�59952@3�37@;2:73B�5II�53�><@7�3J7:292:5IIE�473:@2?74�?7I<F[�584�WX�����B�KU1+VS(,1(�G53�6G7�87:7335@E�7\J7@278:7�584�ZM5I292:562<83�6<�J7@9<@>�6G7�@7ZM2@74�3MJJI7>7865I�H<;7@8>786�59952@3�37@;2:73[�584�WX�����B�.(K�584�KU1+VS(,1(�4732@7�6<�J@<;247�5�9MII�36567>786�<9�6G72@�@73J7:62;7�@2HG63B�<?I2H562<83�584�4M6273�28�:<887:62<8�F26G�6G7�J7@9<@>58:7�<9�KU1+VS(,1(]3�4M6273�G7@7M847@T���W �̂�X�������B�28�:<83247@562<8�<9�6G7�>M6M5I�:<;785863�:<8652874�G7@728B�6G7�J5@6273�5H@77�53�9<II<F3_��̀ �'�!��������&%'��KU1+VS(,1(�3G5II�J7@9<@>�584�5::<>JI23G�6G7�J@<97332<85I�37@;2:73�376�9<@6G�286G7�+6567>786�<9�L<@a�5665:G74�G7@76<�53�/\G2?26�,�N6G7�+:<J7�<9�L<@aQ�28�5J@<97332<85I�584�62>7IE�>5887@T#̀ �����������������(G7�67@>�<9�6G23�,H@77>786�3G5II�?7�9@<>�=7:7>?7@�AB�CDCCB�6<�1<;7>?7@�bDBCDCcT'̀ !�$���������'��� "����ATK<>J783562<8T��.(K�3G5II�J5E�6G7�KU1+VS(,1(�9<@�6G7�F<@a�473:@2?74�286G7�+6567>786�<9�L<@a�28�5::<@458:7�F26G�6G7�d5E>786�+:G74MI7�5665:G74�53/\G2?26�eTCTK<>J783562<8�9<@�,44262<85I�+7@;2:73T��*9�.(K�>5a73�5�F@26678�@7ZM736�9<@544262<85I�653a3�<@�37@;2:73�6G56�KU1+VS(,1(�?7I27;73�6<�?7�<M63247�6G73:<J7�<9�6G7�F<@a�:<867>JI5674�?E�6G23�,H@77>786B�KU1+VS(,1(�>M363M?>26�263�@7ZM736�9<@�544262<85I�:G5@H73�6<�6G7�.(K�/\7:M62;7�=2@7:6<@�9<@5JJ@<;5I�J@2<@�6<�58E�:<36�?728H�28:M@@74T

fggfhijklg�f�



�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������������������������������������
��������������������

�������������� !"���#�$�%"������$�%"����#�&�'�&(!)�'�'��**�+��"����!������#�**�,!�-�"����&.�� ���/01234 51 �'��**�'6+"!��"����*%�7&�-&�''�&�7�&�'������))�"7��%!�-�!�(�!)�'����8 /���9�(�!)�'�"6'��+��'6+"!���������))�6��'7�%�+*�:&�),�'����)�"����+��26+;�)�����8 /�&�(!�,������77&�(�*��#�!�(�!)�'<�8 /�'��**�7�%�/01234 51 �,!��!����!&�%�=�>?�)�*����&���%'��#��&�����������#�����!�(�!)����)��/01234 51 �'��**�"�!���!��)�"7*����&�)�&�'�'677�&�!�-��(�&%�&�@6�'��#�&�7�%"���������"�%�+�)�"���6����8 /�'��**���(������&!-������&�)�!(������)�7%�'�!��&�)�&�'���A��/�"7��'��!����#��&� �&"!���!�����9#���!'�5-&��"����!'���&"!�����<�/01234 51 �'��**�+��7�!��#�&�'�&(!)�'�7&�(!�����#��&�����7�&!���)�(�&���+%�����*�'��!�(�!)����&�6-������������#�&�)�!7���#�,&!��������!)���#���&"!���!�����BC� DEFGH�IHDJKLKDML��N�� !"��!'��#�����O''��)����9��!'�6���&'����������-&����������**��!"�'�'����������&�#�&&��������&�!���&���#������''��)���� ����!"�'�'����������&�#�&&������"�%�+���P�������+%�����8 /�OP�)6�!(��Q!&�)��&�#�&�'6)�����!�!���*�7�&!��'��'�����8 /�OP�)6�!(��Q!&�)��&�"�%��77&�(����1���P���'!����#��!"��'��**�+��(�*!��6�*�''�&��6)������,&!�!�-�����'!-����+%�����8 /�OP�)6�!(��Q!&�)��&���R��1��S &��'#�&�+!*!�%��� �!'�5-&��"����!'�#�&�/01234 51 T'�7&�#�''!���*�'�&(!)�'<�����/01234 51 T'�&!-��'������+*!-��!��'���&�6���&�"�%�����+��'6+)���&�)�����&��''!-����,!���6������7&!�&�,&!�����)��'�����#�8 /������ �&"!���!��������?�8 /�'��**���(������&!-������)��)�*���!'�5-&��"�������!�'�'�*���!')&��!���67�����!&�%�=�>?���%'�7&!�&�,&!��������!)��-!(���76&'6�������$�&�-&�7��U��#���!'�'�)�!�����9�������(�����#�'6)��)��)�**��!���+%�8 /<�/01234 51 �'��**�+��7�!��76&'6�������'�)�!���/SN�#�&�,�&V�)�"7*�������&�6-�������##�)�!(��������#���&"!���!�����+?�9#�/01234 51 �7&�(!��'����!)�������!��!'�6�,!**!�-��&�6��+*�����)�"7*����������'V'��&�'�&(!)�'�)���&�)���������&�!�<�/01234 51 �'��**�+�����"������+��!����#�6*����9��'6)���(���<�8 /�'��**���(�������7�!����#���)*�&!�-�����)���&�)����&"!�������&��!&!�-�������&�)��'6*�����#�&�����&�"�!���&��#������P!'�!�-���&"���/01234 51 �'��**�+��*!�+*�����8 /�#�&���%�&��'���+*�����!�!���*�)��'6*�����#��'�!�)6&&�������+��!��&�7*�)�"����'�&(!)�'����



�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������������������������������������
��������������������

��������������  ���!"#$%&'(#'� )������*�+�,�-+���+-*.,��+��)����/'!,�-0 ��**-1-�� ,���2��.�� ,��+���3�+0 �)�����  �*�����+.��+������1��-� ,�����+� ,�����10-�+ �*���2�� �+���-+45�.����2��2��0.�����3��0��0)���60�+0�0)�.���- ��*����!"#$%&'(#'7 ��10 ������-  -�+ ,����0)��+�3�-3�+0�2��*����+1���*� ��8-1��5+����0)��(3�����+0���$)�5���/'!�9��4�-+������+������ ���2��0.�-+��+.�1��-�,� 5-0,��10-�+,�����0)�����3���2��1���-+3 ���- -+3��50��*�0)�� ��8-1� �2��*������9.�!"#$%&'(#'�5+����0)- �(3�����+0,�!"#$%&'(#'� )������*�+���+��)����/'!,�-0 ��**-1-�� ��+����2��.�� �)�����  �*���� ���,��+�� )����2�.�����1� 0 ��+���62�+ � ,�-+1�5�-+3��00��+�.�*�� ��+����*�+ ��1� 0 ,�-+15�����-+�1�++�10-�+�0)���:-0)���')- �2���3��2)� )����+�0��22�.�0���� -05�0-�+�:)�����-�9-�-0.���- � � ����.�*����0)��+�3�-3�+0����-+0�+0-�+����10 ,��*��+.��**-1��,���2��.�������3�+0��*�/'!���;��/���0-�+ )-2��*�<��0-� ����!"#$%&'(#'�- ��+�-+��2�+��+0�1�+0��10���0��/'!�5+����0)- �(3�����+0���!"#$%&'(#'� )����9��*����0��1�+0��10�0��2��8-��� -�-���� ��8-1� �*����0)�� �:)-���-0�- �5+����1�+0��10�0��/'!,� ����+3�� � �-�� ��8-1� ��+����8�1�1.�����+�0�-+��-��10�1�+*�-10,�� ���0���-+���9.�0)��/'!�=6�150-8��>-��10���-+�0)���6��1- ���*�)- ���� �+�9����- 1��0-�+,�:-0)� ��8-1� �9�-+3�2��8-����9.�!"#$%&'(#'�0��/'!���� -3+-*-1�+0�.�-�2�������-�2�-��!"#$%&'(#'7 ��9-�-0.�0��2��8-���0)�� ��8-1� �1�+0��10���*���-+�0)- �(3�����+0���!"#$%&'(#'�- �+�0��+0-0����0��2��0-1-2�0��-+��+.���0-����+0,���*������1��2�+ �0-�+,�)���0)�-+ 5��+1��2��+ ,�����0)���9�+�*-0 �/'!�2��8-�� �0��-0 ���2��.�� ���?��#�0-1� ���(+.�+�0-1�����1���5+-1�0-�+���@5-�������2���-00���0��9�� ��8����+���2��0.�)���0����.�9�� ��8���9.�2�� �+������-8��.�0��0)���**-1���*�0)��2�� �+����2�� �+ �-��+0-*-���9���:���$��8-1����.��� ��9���**�10���9.���3- 0��������1��0-*-�����-�,�9.�2��1-+3�0)��+�0-1�����1���5+-1�0-�+�-+��+��+8���2�������  ���� �-+�-1�0���9���:,��+����2� -0-+3� �-���+8���2��-+�0)��%�$��A�-����/'!B� C-���')��� ,�(D!<�=6�150-8��>-��10���/�3-�+���'��+ 2��0�0-�+�!���-  -�+�EEF;�'���-+���G�.�/�+�,�#�8�����HI;JF�KLL;M�N�HOF�FF��!"#$%&'(#'B�� A-1)����>���-����9.��� � � P���2*���!��:���,�(00��+�. ��0�&�:��� � � ;F�G� 0�&-9��0.�$0���0,�$5-0��LFF��� � � /�+�,�#�8����HI;FE��� � � KLL;M�H;JONIFF�� �')��2�� �+�0��9�� ��8����+��0)�������  � )�:+��9�8����.�9��1)�+3����0��+.�0-���9.�+�0-1��0��0)���0)���2��0-� ���$��8-1�� )����9��1��2��0���52�+�



������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��
������������������

���������������� ����!"����#$%��� ��&����'��(�!"��!�)��!"����!�*��������!�+ �,-.-�/���0���(��!��������*��!�&���0�'�!"����!�(���������-���1-�2������3�'�4������-��5"��������������&�!"���4(���)��!��"����+��(������������*���!�6�������**�����*��'�!"�!"����'���&�!"��.!�!���&�2�����-��5"���7*�6��������6������*�6�!�&���������'�6�!��*��*�����(�!"���4(���)��!��"����+��!"��.�*����86��*����9��!��*!�:�6�!��&�!"��.!�!���&�2�����0�:�6�! ��&�;��"�������!"�����!����"���!���6+)�!�!��!"��<6�����*!�����&�!"�!�9��!��*!�:�6�!-���=-�>7*�6�����4(���)��!-��5"��������������+����(���)��!�0���������!�!����0����6�����!�����(���&&�*!��(�!"���4(���)��!0�����������(�!��!����0���������!�!����0�����6����!�?��(��������!�&��!"�"������'�!"�!"��6�����!�����(�!"�!�!"���4(���)��!�*���!�!6!���!"����!����6�����!�����(�+ �����+�!'����!"�����!���-��@-�4)���)��!�-��2����!���!���0��)���)��!0����)���&�*�!�����&�!"���4(���)��!��"����+���&&�*!����6�������!�������'��!��(�������(����+ �+�!"����!���-���AB-�C�(6��!�� �:�)�����*�-��:D2.,35425��"����*�)�� �'�!"����������*�+���&������0��!�!��������*���(�����)��!���'�0���(6��!����0������������*��-�� AA-�4� �'���������+���*"��&����������������!"���4(���)��!��"������!�+�����)�����'�������&��� ��!"����������������!"���4(���)��!��������'���������������6���������'��!��(������7�*6!���+ �!"��'�����(����! -��4���7!��������&�!"��!�)��&������&��)��*���&��� ��+��(�!��������*!��"������!�+�����)�������7!��������&�!�)��&���!"�����&��)��*���&��� ��!"����+��(�!��������*!-��5"���4(���)��!���6����!��!"��+���&�!��&��������+�����(�6����!"�����!����!��!"���4(���)��!�����!"���������*!����"����0��6**���������������(��-��EF�GEHFIJJ�GKILIMN0�!"�����!����"���!��"����)���������7�*6!���!"���4(���)��!�!"���� ����� ����&���!��+����'��!!��-���� C>OPD243�5C42.QDC545PD2�:D//P..PD2�DR�;4.SD>�:D,25T�� ��U V� ���������� U����5"�)��0�4P:Q0�>7�*6!����9���*!�����W4>/QR>C�:CD;>330�359�� ��U V� ���������������������������������������������������������������.�������4-�:������0�Q��!�����



����������	
������������� ���������������
���������������� ��!�"#�$��%���������# ������#&��'������(%#�� ��� ���$����������������������������)����� �����#&��'��������!�"#�$��#���)�&&#�������� *��� ���#�'�$�"#�$��#����#$$���� ��&�� &����������+�%$ �#&��)����
��� ���$����� ���$����������#�����������������������#�#�#��#������ ,���%#$ ������"�$�"#�$��#�����$��#����#����������$�������
��� -��.���$������#&%&���$#�#)�$����#�#��#�"�������
��'�� %)��#�"�$�+&�/�����������%�#(%����$�������
�$�)�$$'��� ������������������	����0�������������#����'���&��� 1��2��#�����������#�����#$$�.�������(%���������������#�$�#&��)�������
��� ������&#����&�������
��� 3��2��#����#����#&�!�"#�$��#���)�&&#�������� ���% #���#�����������#�������������
��� 4��2��#������ ���"�"�������)�����'�+#�������	�%���������� ����%&�5#�)$% #�"��%�$#)��"��)'��� �$�"#�$�����&�&����6��� ���
����	�%���������� �����%� ������ ����#��!�"#�$��#�����#��#�#����� ���'�#&��)��������&�'�����������
����������7�����/�+#����%��# ��"��%���5)�����%)�#���#� %���'8�$�������"��#9��#���8������������#����"��)#��:6����� %)�������&������
����#�#������ �$�"#�$��#�����#��#�#����� ;�����#������ #��)�� �#����
0��������"#)��$���#�"����<������#)#�����#��+��/$'�� ���$=	��������&�)�$$���



�����������	
������	���������������������������������������������� �!"�����#�������������������$%�����$�"!&�'�����������������()**���������+,-./***0**1��������"0��&����������2������������'�%������2������������������#�������/�3����#����������"��	������������%%�����%�� ��������2���� ��#�������"���"������%������/� ������������������%���#���2����$������4�� 
����(5����� � ���������������������������������%��6���7*77����������������� ,./8)-0-9�����������������������:�����"�7*7;��������������������� ,./8)-0-9�� � &�6����"�7*7;�� � ,./8)-0-9�� � 
��%��7*7;�� � ,./8)-0-9�� � ������7*7;� � � ,./8)-0-9�� � 
�"�7*7;� � � ,./8)-0-9�� � :����7*7;� � � ,./8)-0-9������������������ :��"�7*7;� � � ,./8)-0-9������������������ ��#����7*7;�� � ,./8)-0-9������������������ �����6���7*7;� � ,./8)-0-9�������������	%��6���7*7;�������������� ,./8)-0-9�������������������������'��6���7*7;����������������� ,./8)-0-;����%��6���7*7;����������������� ,./8)-0-9�����������������������:�����"�7*78��������������������� ,./8)-0-9�� � &�6����"�7*78�� � ,./8)-0-9�� � 
��%��7*78�� � ,./8)-0-9�� � ������7*78� � � ,./8)-0-9�� � 
�"�7*78� � � ,./8)-0-9�� � :����7*78� � � ,./8)-0-9������������������ :��"�7*78� � � ,./8)-0-9������������������ ��#����7*78�� � ,./8)-0-9������������������ �����6���7*78� � ,./8)-0-9�������������	%��6���7*78�������������� ,./8)-0-9�������������������������'��6���7*78����������������� ,./8)-0-;��� ���������������������������



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022               
 
From: Daniel Doenges, Director of Planning 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Acknowledge receipt of a report on the update to the Vision Zero Truckee Meadows Action Plan and RTC 
Transportation Safety Program. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
The Vision Zero Truckee Meadows Task Force developed an Action Plan in 2019 shortly after its 
inception. The initial Plan identified four "focus areas" based on historical crash data and anecdotal 
surveys. Several action items were developed to establish Vision Zero policies, strategies, education 
campaigns, and program and infrastructure improvements. While most of these action items are on-going, 
significant progress has been made on the majority of them to date. This past summer, the Task Force set 
out to update the Plan in an effort to develop a refined data-driven approach to transportation safety. This 
update coincided with federal discretionary funding opportunities, and was in part a response to policy 
established in the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA). The 2022 update to the Plan builds upon 
the previous version, and establishes the High Injury Network (HIN) as a focus for future safety initiatives. 
It also identifies new Action Items to address as well as provides examples of Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) proven safety countermeasures that can be implemented throughout the region. 
In addition, the Plan reinforces the focus on the most vulnerable roadway users by inclusion of 
communities in historically underserved areas. The Plan is intended to be a "living document" which will 
guide future actions of the collective Task Force. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact related to this action. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
7/19/2019 Approved a resolution endorsing the Vision Zero Truckee Meadows (VZTM) Action Plan 
  and the goal to eliminate pedestrian deaths in Washoe County by the year 2030. 
 



Vision Zero Truckee Meadows Action Plan & 
RTC Transportation Safety Program

October 21, 2022



BENEFITS OF VISION ZERO

• Focus on most vulnerable 
road user

• Creation of safety culture
• Promotes innovative solutions
• Collaborative by nature
• Application of Safe System 

Approach as foundation of VZ
• Data-driven

What is Vision Zero?
“Vision Zero is a global movement to end traffic-related fatalities and
serious injuries by taking a systemic approach to road safety.”



VZTM ACTION PLAN – 2022 UPDATE

• Task Force initiated 2017
• Action Plan adopted 2019 -

“Focus Areas” based on 
available data and surveys

• Action Plan updated 2022
• More data-driven
• Developed in coordination 

with federal grant application 
(SS4A)



SPECIFIC CHANGES

Update meets requirements for SS4A Implementation Grants 
• Incorporation of local policies and plan elements
• Development of a High Injury Network (HIN)
• Expanded Action Items and inclusion of short-term projects
• Emphasis on equity, underserved areas, and vulnerable users
• Identification of proven safety countermeasures and crash 

modification factors
• Commitment to stronger data collection and analysis



NETWORK SCREENING

 3-5 years of crash data used to identify 

possible safety problems



CRASH DATA - REACTIVE

 Average Crash Frequency
Sites are ranked based on the total 
number of crashes or by a particular 
crash severity or type during a given time 
period. The site with the highest number 
of crashes is ranked first.

 Crash Rate
The crash rate normalizes the crash 
frequency based on exposure.

 Equivalent Property Damage Only 
(EPDO) Average Crash Frequency –
Each crash is weighted based on the 
crash severity and the equivalent 
property damage only crash cost.



HIGH INJURY NETWORK (HIN)

3

4



NETWORK SCREENING TYPES

Predictive Method

This method counts the number 
of crashes that have occurred at 
a given location (along a 
roadway section or at an 
intersection) over a specified 
time period (3-5 years).  The 
results are ranked from highest 
to lowest crash frequency or 
rate.  Locations with relatively 
higher crash frequency are 
selected as possible sites for 
detailed investigation.

A process to estimate crash 
frequency and severity. This 
method can be used to make 
informed decisions throughout 
the project development 
process, including planning, 
design, operations, 
maintenance, and the roadway 
safety management process. 
Specific examples include 
screening potential locations for 
improvement and choosing 
alternative roadway designs.

Observed Crashes



MODEL INVENTORY ROADWAY ELEMENTS 
(M.I.R.E.)



FHWA PROVEN COUNTERMEASURES



CRASH MODIFICATION FACTORS



THANK YOU

Dan Doenges, PTP, RSP

Director of Planning

Regional Transportation Commission 
of Washoe County

ddoenges@rtcwashoe.com

Building A Better Community Through Quality Transportation
rtcwashoe.com



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022                
 
From: Bill Thomas, AICP, Executive Director 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Update, discussion, and potential direction to staff regarding legislative issues being reviewed by the 
Nevada Sustainable Transportation Funding Study for the 82nd Session of the Nevada Legislature. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
In the 2021 Legislative Session, AB413 created an advisory working group directed meet during the 2021-
2022 interim to study: 

• The needs of all users of different modes of transportation, including bicyclists, pedestrians, 
drivers of motor vehicles and public transit users; 

• Social and user transportation equity; 
• The reduction of greenhouse gas emissions; 
• The sustainability of the State Highway Fund including, without limitation, an analysis of the 

Natural Resources Defense Council funding model presented to the Legislative Committee on 
Energy on August 24, 2020, and Utah’s Road Usage Charge Program; and 

• The role of land use and smart growth strategies in reducing transportation emissions and 
improving system efficiency and equity. 

Following their review, the advisory working group will make a final report to the Legislature on their 
findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 
 
Kristina Swallow, Director of the Nevada Department of Transportation, and Travis Dunn, with CDM 
Smith, will present legislative issues being reviewed by the Nevada Sustainable Transportation Funding 
Study for the 82nd Session of the Nevada Legislature in order to receive direction from the Board. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Funding for this item is included in the approved FY 2023 budget and there is no additional cost in 
connection with this agenda item. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
6/17/2022 Approved the RTC Goals for Fiscal Year 2023, including "Participate in advisory groups 
  created during the 81st session of the NV Legislature by...AB413 (Advisory Working  
  Group to Study Certain Issues Related to Transportation)." 



October 21, 2022

Nevada Sustainable Transportation 
Funding Study

Presentation to the Board of the Regional Transportation Commission
Washoe County

Travis Dunn
CDM Smith



The state gasoline tax currently generates about 0.8 cents for each mile driven by 
vehicles on Nevada’s roads. In less than 20 years, per-mile revenue will decline 50%. 

2

 $‐

 $0.005

 $0.010

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

State Excise Gasoline Tax Per VMT (2010 – 2040)



Unfunded Backlog: Estimated 10-year needs compared to forecasted revenues

3



AB 413 – Legislative direction for this study

“The Advisory Working Group shall study during the 2021-2022 interim: 

(a)The needs of all users of different modes of transportation, including bicyclists, pedestrians, 
drivers of motor vehicles and public transit users;

(b)Social and user transportation equity; 
(c) The reduction of greenhouse gas emissions; 
(d)The sustainability of the State Highway Fund including, without limitation, an analysis of the 

Natural Resources Defense Council funding model presented to the Legislative Committee 
on Energy on August 24, 2020, and Utah’s Road Usage Charge Program; and

(e)The role of land use and smart growth strategies in reducing transportation emissions and 
improving system efficiency and equity.”



The Sustainable Transportation Funding Study is in the final stretch

5

The Advisory Working Group will hold it’s final scheduled meeting on November 9 online only  to consider 
adoption of the Final Report and Recommendations.



Guiding Principles for Future Transportation Revenue Sources

6

Alone or in combination, transportation revenue sources should be capable of:

Financial Sustainability: Yielding sufficient revenue that correlates with ongoing maintenance needs; and demand for future 
transportation needs, regardless of changes in population, vehicle technologies, ownership, travel patterns, fuel sources, or
consumer spending. 

Sufficiency: Generating sufficient revenue over targeted investment timeframes for existing and future transportation 
infrastructure needs. 

User Equity: Recovering a proportionate share of the costs from those who use the transportation network. 

Social Equity: Improving the distributional impact on historically underserved communities and low-income households.

Flexibility: Funding a wide range of transportation-related projects, programs, or priorities across various agencies to meet the 
needs of system users across all modes. 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Aligning with state transportation GHG reduction goals. 

Transparency/ Efficiency and Ease of Compliance: Simple to explain, with awareness of how funds are used, cost-effective, 
and readily administered at statewide and local levels. 



Example: Guiding Principles used to evaluate revenue options

1

2

3



Fuel taxes

1. Increase rate of flat per-
gallon excise tax

2. Add inflation index to 
flat per-gallon excise tax 
rate

3. Add fuel efficiency 
index to flat per-gallon 
excise tax

4. Add sales tax based on 
price of fuel

5. Add variable-rate excise 
tax based on price of 
fuel

Vehicle fees

6. Increase basic license 
fee

7. Increase value-based 
rate of governmental 
services tax

8. Add fee based on vehicle 
weight

9. Add fee based on vehicle 
fuel economy rating

10. Add fee based on vehicle 
engine type

11. Add fee based on vehicle 
age

All revenue mechanisms were analyzed

8

Usage-based fees

Direct
12. Add a distance-based 

charge for light-duty 
vehicles

13. Add a weight-distance-
based charge for 
medium- and heavy-
duty vehicles

Indirect
14. Add a tax on batteries
15. Add a tax on tires
16. Add a tax on EV 

electricity consumed

Other

17. Value added tax on 
goods movement

18. Parcel delivery fees
19. Ride-share surcharges
20. Cordon charges in urban 

areas
21. Carbon tax
22. Street utility fee
23. Payroll tax
24. Land use impact fees



9

Six remaining revenue options for analysis and consideration

Key: 
 Guiding Principles composite rating.         possible policy recommendations forthcoming f  flexible transportation funding

Distance-based charge for light-duty 
vehicles RUC

Increase value-based rate of 
governmental services tax GST  f

Increase rate of flat per-gallon gas and 
diesel excise tax

Increase the basic vehicle license fee 
for all vehicles
Add inflation index to flat 
per-gallon excise tax rate 
Distance-based charge for EVs RUC , 
with option to pay flat fee for 
unlimited mileage in lieu of RUC

Better suited as 
local revenue sources

Street utility fee f
Cordon charge in urbanized areas 
Ride-share surcharges  f
Land use impact fees  

Parcel delivery fee  f
Add a tax on tires f
Add fee based on vehicle 
engine type 
Land use impact fees 

Carbon tax  f

Add fee based on vehicle weight  

Add fee based on vehicle fuel 

Add fee based on vehicle age

No longer under consideration

Weight-distance-based charged 
and heavy-duty vehicles 

Taxes on electricity consumed by 
vehicles f
Add a tax on EV batteries f

Payroll tax f

Value added tax on goods 

General fund transfers f

Income tax f

Longer-term sustainable statewide 
revenue sources

Near-term statewide revenue 
sources



10

DRAFT ONLY – NO FINAL DECISIONS MADE: 
A blueprint for sustainable transportation funding in Nevada

• Develop a mileage-based charge to capture road usage by electric vehicles EVs

• Until a mileage-based charge for EVs can be implemented, enact a special registration fee

• EV owners should have a choice between a mileage-based charge or a fixed annual fee

• The initial mileage-based charge program should build upon odometer readings reporting to DMV

• Effective dates for a mileage-based charge option for EVs should align with DMV’s modernization effort

• By 2035, extend the per-mile charge developed for EVs to all new vehicles



11

DRAFT ONLY – NO FINAL DECISIONS MADE : 
Transportation revenue sources best suited to meet immediate needs
To address the current backlog of transportation projects and services, the Legislature should rely on the following 
mechanisms: 

A Statewide fuel taxes gasoline and diesel ;

B Statewide fuel tax indexing on portions not already indexed outside of Clark and Washoe Counties

C County fuel tax indexing by empowering county commissions to enact inflation adjustments

D Vehicle registration fees

E Governmental Services Tax GST , with revenue restricted to transportation purposes



12

DRAFT ONLY – NO FINAL DECISIONS MADE: 
Statewide land use commission to examine transportation impacts

Establish a broad-based statewide land use commission to examine land use laws and regulations, and 
address, among other things, the cost of land use decisions on transportation & other public infrastructure 
and mechanisms for capturing these costs.

This land use commission must include representation from state and local governments, and a broad 
range of stakeholders and industry sectors beyond transportation.



Final report to the Legislature: Findings, Conclusions, & Recommendations

Research & 
investigation Findings Conclusions Recommendations

 Information and data
 Presentations and 

discussions at AWG 
meetings 

 Reliability and relative 
importance of 
information  deliberated

 AWG member-experts

 Statements of fact that 
the AWG decides are 
relevant and 
important

 The AWG’s collective 
interpretation and 
judgment related to 
the findings

 The AWG’s general 
consensus on a 
proposed response or 
course of action that 
should or could  be 
taken.

 Not all Findings and 
Conclusions require a 
recommendation!



14

Final report to the Legislature: remaining milestones for on-time delivery

November 2022 | FINAL AWG Meeting online only :

 Final report edited and produced

 Formal transmittal to the Legislature by December 31, 2022

December 2022 | Final Report Production and Delivery:

 Review, discuss, and approve final report and recommendations



www.NVTransportationFuture.org info@NVTransportationFuture.org

15



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022                
 
From: Daniel Doenges, Director of Planning 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Acknowledge receipt of a report on the status of the McCarran Boulevard Corridor Study. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION 
 
The RTC, in partnership with the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT), is conducting a corridor 
study to evaluate transportation safety and operations for the entire McCarran Boulevard loop. The purpose 
of this study is to develop a vision for the corridor in the context of the surrounding land use along the 23-
mile loop. The study was initiated in September 2021. With support of consultant services, a 
comprehensive data collection and analysis of the corridor was performed. Preliminary findings were 
shared with the public and stakeholders via a variety of media, including a virtual meeting and StoryMap. 
Feedback was obtained through a survey, interactive map, open comment, and social media outlets. The 
project team has identified several needs throughout the corridor based on the initial data collection and 
stakeholder and public input. Proposed recommendations have been developed based on these identified 
needs, and have been shared with the members of the project Technical Advisory Committee (TAC), as 
well as NDOT and RTC leadership. Staff will present these project recommendations for RTC Board 
review and comment. Next steps toward study completion are to publicly share project recommendations 
via an updated project StoryMap and notification through a press release and several media outlets to 
receive any final comments prior to finalizing the report for future Board approval. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Consultant expenditures are being reimbursed by NDOT through an existing agreement. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
 
6/18/2021 Approved a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with CA Group, Inc. for consulting 
  services in an amount not-to-exceed $349,868. 
 



McCarran Boulevard Corridor Study
October 21, 2022



PURPOSE & NEED

• Identify regional vision for corridor operations
• Develop blueprint for project implementation
• Reach consensus and alignment on project 

prioritization
• Acknowledge land use challenges and 

opportunities



DATA COLLECTION & ANALYSIS

• Intersection counts & 
operations analysis (existing & 
forecast)

• Existing and forecast roadway 
segment traffic counts

• Evaluate crash data
• Inventory of existing facilities 

& services
• Review of existing plans and 

reports (RTP, SMPs, etc.)
• Land use inventory/proposed 

development review
• Identification of location-

specific issues



STAKEHOLDER & PUBLIC OUTREACH

• Public comment period 
Mar-Apr 2022

• Virtual meeting (video, 
information boards)

• GIS StoryMap
• Survey
• Interactive map
• Social media



STAKEHOLDER AND PUBLIC INPUT

• Project TAC Meetings
• Tech memo review
• Written & verbal input

• Virtual Meeting
• 813 unique visitors
• 2,762 page views

• Online survey
• 679 responses

• Interactive comment map
• 61 comments

• Social media



CORRIDOR CHARACTERISTICS

• Industrial
• I-80 to Longley

• High Density Retail
• Longley to 

Plumas
• Clear Acre to 

Pyramid
• Prater to I-80

• Caughlin Ranch
• Plumas to 4th 

Street
• Low Density Retail

• 4th Street to 
Kings Row

• San Rafael/UNR
• Kings Row to 

Clear Acre
• Sparks Residential

• Pyramid to 
Prater



VEHICULAR NEEDS

INTERSECTIONS



PEDESTRIAN & BICYCLE NEEDS

3

4



NEXT STEPS

3

4

• Public outreach/comment 
through November

• Update StoryMap
• Present transportation 

needs
• Draft report by 2023

• RTC Board approval
• NDOT acceptance

• Incorporation into RTP 
update and NDOT One 
Nevada process



THANK YOU

Dan Doenges, PTP, RSP

Director of Planning

Regional Transportation Commission 
of Washoe County

ddoenges@rtcwashoe.com

Building A Better Community Through Quality Transportation
rtcwashoe.com



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022  
 
From: Bill Thomas, Executive Director 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Monthly verbal update/messages from RTC Executive Director Bill Thomas – no action will be taken on 
this item 
 
 



 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022  
 
From: Bill Thomas, Executive Director 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Monthly verbal update/messages from RTC Executive Director Bill Thomas on federal matters related to 
the RTC – no action will be taken on this item 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 

A. Written report prepared by Cardinal Infrastructure. 



1 

Federal Update for Regional Transportation Commission of Washoe County 
Prepared by Cardinal Infrastructure 
October 21, 2022, Board Meeting 
Prepared October 18, 2022 

Congressional Update 

The House passed a short-term government funding bill providing appropriations through December 16, 2022. 
President Biden signed the Continuing Resolution hours before a shutdown would’ve kicked in at midnight on 
September 30th. The lower chamber cleared the measure in a 230-201 vote, with only 10 Republicans 
supporting it. The funding bill also provides billions in additional Ukraine aid and disaster relief.  

The temporary funding package buys time for congressional negotiations on a broader government spending 
deal that would increase agency budgets in the new fiscal year, which began October 1. But much hinges on the 
outcome of the elections, which will determine the makeup of Congress in 2023, including how both parties 
want to flex their leverage in spending talks. 

BIL Implementation 

On September 21, the U.S. Senate Committee on Environment and Public Works held a hearing on state and 
local perspectives of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL). Witnesses included Nicole Majeski, Delaware 
Secretary of Transportation (home State of the Committee Chair); Jimmy Wriston, West Virginia Department of 
Transportation (home State of the Ranking Member); Regine Romero, Mayor of Tucson; and Jim Tymon, head 
of AASHTO and former House T&I staffer. Tymon and Wriston highlighted concerns with the emphasis of funding 
in discretionary grants (available to state and locals) in BIL, which has resulted in a complex application process 
across numerous existing and new grant programs. Under the first year of BIL and FY22 appropriations, US DOT 
is responsible for administering $28 billion in discretionary grants, compared to $5 billion the previous year. 
However, BIL also significantly increased the formula funding levels for highway and transit programs.  

States prefer the flexibility of formula programs (largely available to only state DOTs). Mayor Romero said he 
has not found the application process overly cumbersome but did mention the city has had to hire consultants 
to help navigate the grant programs. Secretary Majeski similarly noted that Delaware has turned to consultants 
for assistance while acknowledging the large amount of work required for grant applications. 

EV Charging Formula Grants Awarded 

All 50 states along with Washington, D.C. and Puerto Rico had their electric vehicle charging plans approved by 
DOT, allowing for the disbursement of $1.5 billion to begin building out a nationwide EV charging network as 
envisioned by the infrastructure law. Ultimately, DOT approved every plan after earlier approving 35 plans, 
despite some states arguing that their drivers don’t use EVs and that the money would be better spent 
elsewhere. 

Secretary Buttigieg said the approval ensures “every part of the country — from the largest cities to the most 
rural communities — can be positioned to unlock the savings and benefits of electric vehicles.” The $1.5 billion 
in formula funding to states will be doled out in fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2023 for chargers intended to cover about 

ATTACHMENT A



2 

75,000 miles of highways. In total, the infrastructure law provides $5 billion for the next five years to build and 
maintain a nationwide EV charging network. 
 
 
DOE State Energy Program  
 
The Department of Energy (DOE) has announced funding levels for the "State Energy Program" (SEP) to expand 
state clean energy programs. DOE is currently accepting applications from states and the list of eligible projects 
is quite flexible. This is a formula grant program, and each state's allocated amounts can be found here.  
 
It may be worthwhile for you to connect with your state energy office to determine if any activities or buildings 
that you own could be eligible for some of this funding. Per DOE, SEP funding affords states broad flexibility to 
finance a range of activities and projects, such as: Installation of renewable energy systems and clean energy 
infrastructure; Innovative clean energy technology demonstration projects; Energy efficiency upgrades; Clean 
energy financing programs; Critical planning for clean energy and workforce development programs. The 
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law expanded the list of eligible projects and specifically included transportation 
efficiency and electrification.  
 
Examples of previous projects that were funded through the program include:  
- In Maryland, a partnership with IKEA to install a solar canopy and EV chargers in parking lots 
- In Kentucky, the creation of a solar project siting tool  
- In Wisconsin, improving energy security and resiliency for local and tribal governments  
- In Arizona, completing critical energy efficiency upgrades to a city-owned building 
- In Wyoming, distributing funds to local governments and businesses for efficiency upgrades 
 
Click here for more resources from DOE's state and local solution center. 
 
 
EV Tax Credit  
 
U.S. lawmakers passed and Biden signed a provision in the Inflation Reduction Act that most legal experts see 
as an obvious violation of international trade rules. The new tax credit for U.S. buyers of qualifying electric 
vehicles made in North America has ignited the specter of a trade war as a domestic imperative of the Biden 
administration and Democrats collides with the complex realities of globalization. European Commission 
spokeswoman Miriam Garcia Ferrer said, “we think that it’s discriminatory, that it’s discriminating against 
foreign producers in relation to U.S. producers," calling the credits a “new, potential, trans-Atlantic trade 
barrier.” “Of course this would mean that it would be incompatible with the WTO,” she said. 
 
 
Buy America 
 
Three key House Transportation Committee Republicans are asking DOT’s inspector general to investigate the 
Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority’s compliance with FTA Buy America requirements with 
regard to a railcar procurement from the state-owned China Railway Rolling Stock MA Corporation. The $138 
million contract was awarded in 2017 and its initial delivery date of 2019 was pushed back to 2023. 
 
 
 

https://www.energy.gov/articles/biden-harris-administration-announces-425-million-expand-state-clean-energy-programs
https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-08/SEP_IIJA_Formula_Grant_Allocations.pdf
https://www.energy.gov/eere/wipo/articles/eere-success-story-maryland-ikea-partnership-spurs-energy-savings-and-electric
https://www.energy.gov/eere/wipo/articles/eere-success-story-kentucky-releases-unique-solar-project-siting-tool
https://www.energy.gov/eere/wipo/articles/eere-success-story-wisconsin-invests-doe-funding-innovative-energy-security
https://www.energy.gov/eere/wipo/articles/eere-success-story-doe-funding-helps-keep-key-employer-douglas-arizona-afloat
https://www.energy.gov/eere/articles/wyoming-state-energy-grant-program
https://www.energy.gov/eere/slsc/popular-tools-and-resources
https://www.courthousenews.com/new-electric-vehicle-tax-credits-raise-talk-of-trade-war/


3 

Chairman Dfazio Letter 
 
Chairman DeFazio, of the House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee sent a letter to FTA Administrator 
Fernandez expressing concerns over enforcement of the provisions prohibiting transit agencies from purchasing 
rolling stock from Chinese manufacturers.  Specifically, the chairman is calling for FTA to implement enhanced 
oversight of State Owned Enterprises doing business with transit agencies, particularly those agencies that were 
exempt from the original legislation.  
 
The letter suggests steps to be taken by FTA. “Such oversight standards could include recommendations to 
conduct additional audits beyond the currently mandated pre-award and post-delivery audits, as I understand 
has been done by one exempt transit agency in the past; practices for deeper vetting and verification of 
component and subcomponent cost and origin data; and other oversight enhancements as identified by FTA. 
While thorough Buy America compliance reviews are critical for all federally-funded procurements, they take 
on even greater significance for transit agencies purchasing rolling stock from entities that are intent on gaming 
the system and undermining legitimate competition. While transit agencies may be inclined to assume good 
faith by manufacturers in most of their procurements, this assumption should not be extended to predatory 
SOEs. FTA issuing a set of targeted oversight standards specifically for SOE procurements could help transit 
agencies ensure SOE compliance with Buy America until such time as Congress can fully prohibit transit agencies 
from making such procurements with federal funds.” 
 
 
APTA 
 
APTA’s TRAMSform conference was held in Seattle, WA October 9-11.  Leaders representing all facets of the 
public transportation industry converged at APTA’s TRANSform Conference this week in Seattle, WA. Hosted by 
King County Metro, the event was APTA's largest ever annual conference, with more than 3,000 attendees and 
135 exhibitors.  
  
TRANSform began with the Opening General Session Mon., Oct. 10. APTA President and CEO Paul P. Skoutelas 
welcomed attendees. APTA Chair Dorval R. Carter Jr., president, Chicago Transit Authority; and Immediate Past 
Chair Jeffrey A. Nelson, CEO/managing director, Rock Island County Metropolitan Mass Transit District 
(Metrolink), Moline, IL, also gave remarks. 
  
Terry White, general manager, King County Metro; Julie Timm, CEO, Sound Transit; King County Executive Dow 
Constantine; and Adiam Emery, director, transportation operations division, Seattle DOT, offered a welcome to 
the city. Veronique Hakim, senior vice president and national transit and rail market sector leader, HNTB 
Corporation, gave the sponsor remarks. 
  
Francis “Buddy” Coleman, chief customer officer, Clever Devices Ltd, introduced keynote speaker Kal Penn, 
actor, writer, producer, and former associate director of the White House Office of Public Engagement. 
  
The event included a General Session from FTA on Transit Workforce Solutions with FTA Administrator Nuria 
Fernandez, and an FRA Listening Session and Update with FRA Administrator Amit Bose and Deputy 
Administrator Jennifer Mitchell. 
 
 
 
 



4 

APTA Legislative Committee Meeting 
 
The Legislative Committee heard from Paul Kincaid, Assistant Secretary for Legislative Affairs regarding current 
actions before Congress. He recapped the funding levels from the IIJA, particularly the large increases in funding 
for bus procurement and CIG. He emphasized the Buy America provisions as benefiting American workers and 
manufacturers.  He brought attention to the flexibility available for transit agencies to use FHWA funds for some 
projects and encouraged everyone to visit the Flex Funding Website. 
 
Kincaid also discussed the status of FY 2022 appropriations and the fact the current CR expires on December 
16th. With passage of an omnibus appropriations bill in December the Department can move forward with FY 
23 discretionary programs. 
 
He announced the White House, DOT, EPA and Corps of Engineers would be holding a Webinar on Accelerating 
Infrastructure projects on October 13th.  The summit will address resources made available by the $1.2 trillion 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (enacted November 2021) as well as the $739 billion Inflation Reduction 
Act (enacted in August) to rebuild roads, bridges, airports, rail and transit lines, and ports; expand access to 
high-speed internet; deploy clean energy; and strengthen the nation’s resilience to climate change. 
 
Kincaid mentioned the supply chain challenges and said that FTA is working with Mayor Landrieu and the White 
House to find solutions.  He is particularly aware of the shortage of cutaways.   
 
Former U.S. Senator Doug Jones spoke about the challenges APTA and the transit industry face in the upcoming 
congress, especially if one or both houses were to change partisan control.  He reminded all agencies of the 
importance of holding their Members of Congress’ feet to the fire and the need to invite their Member of 
Congress to see the infrastructure that is being put in place as a result of the IIJA.   
 
Ward McCarragher – APTA Legislative Director 
 
Ward provided an overview of the IIJA funding levels and the current status of the FY 23 Appropriations.  Of the 
Covid Relief funding that was provided to transit agencies, 90% has been obligated and 70% outlayed.  The FY 
23 Appropriations bills differ in the amount of funding for the CIG program.  The Senate is recommending $4.11 
Billion while the House has passed $4.61 for CIG. These amounts will be reconciled in the final bill to be 
considered in December. He pointed out that there is a sizeable number of Republican Members of the House 
that oppose passage of any FY 23 Appropriations bill until next year when they hope to be in the majority. 
 
The FTA and FRA have released notices of funding availability totaling $5.3 billion so far, and they expect to 
release an additional $7.6 billion.  The remaining NOFO’s are the Rail Vehicle Replacement and the Federal State 
Partnerships for Inter-City Passenger Rail programs. 
 
The IRA contained extensions of the Clean Vehicle and Fuel Tax Credits as well as new climate and equity 
investments.  The Commercial Clean Vehicle Tax Credit will apply to transit vehicles but APTA is awaiting 
Department of Treasury rules and guidance on implementation.   
 
Ward also discussed the challenges facing the industry implementing the IIJA programs, including financial 
capacity, supply chain, inflation and workforce.  The good news is that transit ridership has returned to 70% of 
pre-pandemic levels. 
 

https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/grant-programs/flexible-funding-transit-and-highway-improvements
https://aashtojournal.org/2021/11/19/biden-signs-infrastructure-bill-outlines-implementation-priorities/
https://aashtojournal.org/2022/07/29/reconciliation-bill-includes-climate-transportation-funds/


 
Meeting Date: 10/21/2022  
 
From: Kristina Swallow, Director of NDOT 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Monthly verbal update/messages from NDOT Director Kristina Swallow – no action will be taken on this 
item 
 
 


	Board Agenda 10-21-2022
	4.1.1 8-19-2022 Minutes Draft
	4.1.2 9-16-2022 Minutes Draft
	4.1.3 10-13-2022 Minutes Draft
	4.2.1 Engineering Activity Report
	4.2.2 Procurement Activity Report
	4.2.3 Planning Activity Report
	4.2.4 Public Trans Activity Report
	Public Trans attachment.pdf
	BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION


	4.3.1 UNR Multimodal Traffic Data ICA
	4.4.1 Sparks Intelligent Corridor PSA
	AGREEMENT FOR
	Exhibit A
	EXHIBIT A
	A. Preliminary and General Items (Project Management):
	B. Data Collection, Analysis, and Design
	C. 60% Design
	D. 90% Design
	E. Final Design (100% Signed and sealed bid documents)
	F. Bidding Services
	G. Real-Time Signal Timing Changes Plans
	H. Support for Real-Time Incident Data, Travel Times, Speeds, Signal Planning Data, and ATMS Upgrade Coordination
	I. Virtual DMS for Traveler Information Pilot Deployment
	J. Construction Phase Services or Engineering During Construction (Sole Option and Discretion of RTC)
	K. Additional Software and System Implementation Support (Optional)
	L. Design Contingency
	Exhibit B
	Exhibit "B"
	Exhibit C
	1. INTRODUCTION
	2. INDEMNIFICATION
	3. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
	4. VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE
	5. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION
	6. SUBCONSULTANTS & SUBCONTRACTORS
	7. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS
	8. ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS
	9. OTHER CONDITIONS
	10. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
	11. COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
	12. INDUSTRIAL (WORKER’S COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY) INSURANCE
	13. PROFESSIONAL ERRORS AND OMISSIONS LIABILITY
	14. NETWORK SECURITY AND PRIVACY LIABILITY

	4.4.2 N. Virginia University Rehab PSA
	4.4.3 Stanford Way Rehabilitation PSA
	4.4.4 Resolution 22-03 Moana Lane Widening
	4.5.1 TANF Revenue with State of Nevada DWSS
	4.5.2 Kaempfer Crowell for Nevada Government Affairs Services
	5.1 Vision Zero Truckee Meadows Action Plan
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13

	5.2 Nevada Sustainable summary sheet
	5.3 McCarran Blvd Corridor Study
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10

	6.1 Executive Director Report
	6.2 Federal Report
	6.3 NDOT Report



